
 

  

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 
A Delaware Trust 

Sponsored by 

Grayscale Investments, LLC 

636 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, New York 10011 

Telephone: (212) 668-6682 

Facsimile: (917) 677-8691 

Primary Standard Industrial Code: 6221 

2014 ANNUAL REPORT 

Shares Representing Common Units of Fractional Undivided Beneficial Interest 

No Par Value Per Share 

Unlimited Shares Authorized 

1,382,400 Shares Issued and Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 

 

OTCQX: GBTC 

Grayscale Investments, LLC (the “Sponsor”), on behalf of Bitcoin Investment Trust (the 

“Trust”), is responsible for the content of this annual report for the year ended December 

31, 2014 (the “Annual Report”), which has been prepared to fulfill the disclosure 

requirements of the OTCQX U.S. Premier marketplace. The information contained in this 

Annual Report has not been filed with, or approved by, the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (the “SEC”) or any state securities commission. Any representation to the 

contrary is a criminal offense.  

All references to “the Trust,” “the Sponsor,” “the Issuer,” “Bitcoin Investment Trust,” “we,” “us” 

or “our” refers to the Trust or the Sponsor, as the context indicates.  The Trust is a passive entity 

with no operations, and where the context requires, we provide disclosure with respect to the 

Sponsor, which administers the Trust. 

 

Dated as of April 1, 2015



 

2 
    

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PART A. GENERAL COMPANY INFORMATION        9 

Item 1. The Exact Name of the Issuer and its Predecessor (if any)      9 

Item 2. The Address of the Issuer’s Principal Executive Offices      9 

Item 3. The Jurisdiction and Date of the Issuer’s Incorporation or Organization     9 

PART B. SHARE STRUCTURE         10 

Item 4. The Exact Title and Class of Securities Outstanding        10 

Item 5. Par or Stated Value and Description of the Security       10 

Item 6. The Number of Shares or Total Amount of the Securities Outstanding for Each Class of Securities Authorized 11 

Item 7. The Name and Address of the Transfer Agent       12 

PART C. BUSINESS INFORMATION        13 

Item 8. Nature of the Issuer’s Business         13 

Item 9. Nature of Products and Services Offered        75 

Item 10. The Nature and Extent of the Issuer’s Facilities       76 

PART D. MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION     77 

Item 11. The Name of the Chief Executive Officer, Members of the Board of Directors, as well as Control Persons 77 

Item 12. Financial information for the issuer’s most recent fiscal period     78 

Item 13. Similar financial information for such part of the two preceding fiscal years as the issuer or its predecessor  

has been in existence           78 

Item 14. Beneficial Owners          78 

Item 15. The names, address, telephone number, and email address of each of the following outside providers that advise 

the issuer on matters relating to operations, business development and disclosure    78 

Item 16. Management’s Discussion and Analysis         80 

PART E. ISSUANCE HISTORY         85 

Item 17. List of the Securities Offerings and Shares Issued for Services in the Past Two Years   85 

PART F. EXHIBITS           85 

Item 18. Material Contracts          85 

Item 19. Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws        92 

Item 20. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers      92 

Item 21. Issuer’s Certifications         93 

 

 

 

Exhibit 1  Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2014  

    

Exhibit 2 Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust and Trust Agreement of Bitcoin Investment Trust  

dated as of December 26, 2014 



 

3 
  

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

This Annual Report includes “forward-looking statements” which generally relate to future events 

or future performance.  In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by 

terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” 

“estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.  

All statements (other than statements of historical fact) included in this Annual Report that address 

activities, events or developments that will or may occur in the future, including such matters as 

changes in currency prices and market conditions (for the bitcoins and the Shares (as defined 

below)), the Trust’s operations, the Sponsor’s plans and references to the Trust’s future success 

and other similar matters are forward-looking statements.  These statements are only predictions.  

Actual events or results may differ materially.  These statements are based upon certain 

assumptions and analyses the Sponsor made, based on its perceptions of historical trends, current 

conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors appropriate in the 

circumstances.  Whether or not actual results and developments will conform to the Sponsor’s 

expectations and predictions, however, is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including 

the special considerations discussed in this Annual Report, general economic, market and business 

conditions, changes in laws and regulations, including those concerning taxes, made by 

governmental authorities and regulatory bodies and other world economic and political 

developments.  See “Risk Factors.”  Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this 

Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements, and there can be no assurance that the 

actual results or developments that the Sponsor anticipates will be realized or, even if substantially 

realized, that they will result in the expected consequences to, or have the expected effects on, the 

Trust’s operations or the value of the Shares.  Moreover, neither the Sponsor nor any other person 

assumes responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the forward-looking statements.  

Neither the Trust nor the Sponsor is under a duty to update any of the forward-looking statements 

to conform such statements to actual results or to reflect a change in the Sponsor’s expectations or 

predictions. 
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Glossary 

In this Annual Report, each of the following terms has the meaning assigned to it here:  

“Actual Exchange Rate” — The highest exchange rate and lowest fees the Sponsor can find within 

a reasonable time frame in order to pay the Combined Fee in USD. 

“Annual Report” — This Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

“Assumed Fee” — The Constituent Fees, the Shareholder Communications Hub fee, Transfer 

Agent fee, Trustee fee, OTCQX Fees and expenses related to public trading on OTCQX in an 

amount up to $600,000 annually (including legal and audit fees and expenses), any other legal and 

accounting fees, regulatory fees, printing and mailing costs, and applicable license fees. 

“Authorized Participant” — Certain eligible financial institutions that have entered into an 

agreement with the Trust and the Sponsor concerning the creation and redemption of Shares.  Each 

Authorized Participant (i) is a registered broker-dealer, (ii) has entered into a Participant 

Agreement with the Sponsor and the Trust, and (iii) has access to an Authorized Participant 

Self-Administered Account. 

“Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account” — a bitcoin wallet address previously 

known to the Custodian as belonging to the Authorized Participant. 

“Basket”—A block of 100 Shares. 

“Basket Bitcoin Amount” — The number of bitcoins that will be required for each Creation Basket 

or Redemption Basket, as determined from time to time by dividing the number of bitcoins owned 

by the Trust at such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time (calculated to one 

one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying the quotient obtained by 100. 

“Bitcoin”— A type of a virtual currency based on an open source cryptographic protocol existing 

on the Bitcoin Network, facilitating units of bitcoins which comprise the assets underlying the 

Trust’s Shares. 

“Bitcoin Account” — is a hot wallet which is online and connected to the internet.  The Bitcoin 

Account is used along with the Trust Storage Account and Trust Safekeeping Account, as 

applicable, to receive Creation Basket deposits from Authorized Participants.  Shortly after receipt 

of the appropriate number of bitcoins, the bitcoins are then transferred to the Trust Storage 

Account and/or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable. 

 “Bitcoin Exchange” — An electronic marketplace where exchange participants may trade, buy 

and sell bitcoins based on bid-ask trading.  The largest Bitcoin Exchanges are online and typically 

trade on a 24-hour basis, publishing transaction price and volume data. 

“Bitcoin Exchange Market”—The global bitcoin exchange market for the trading of bitcoins, 

which consists of transactions on electronic Bitcoin Exchanges. 

“Bitcoin Foundation” —  The Bitcoin Foundation is a group that works to organize the bitcoin 

community and to standardize, protect and protect bitcoins. 

“Bitcoin Market Price” — As defined in the “Description of the Trust– Bitcoin Market Price.” 
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“Bitcoin Network”—  The online, end-user-to-end-user network hosting the public transaction 

ledger, known as the Blockchain, and the source code comprising the basis for the cryptographic 

and algorithmic protocols governing the Bitcoin Network. 

“Blockchain” — The public transaction ledger of the Bitcoin Network on which miners or mining 

pools solve algorithmic equations allowing them to add records of recent transactions (called 

“blocks”) to the chain of transactions in exchange for an award of bitcoins from the Bitcoin 

Network and the payment of transaction fees, if any, from users whose transactions are recorded in 

the block being added. 

“CEA” — Commodity Exchange Act, as amended. 

“CFPB” — Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.  

“CFTC”—The Commodity Futures Trading Commission, an independent agency with the 

mandate to regulate commodity futures and option markets in the United States. 

“Combined Fee” — Accrues daily at an annual rate of 2% of the NAV of the Trust and is payable 

to the Sponsor by the Trust at such times as determined in the Sponsor’s sole discretion, and 

generally expected to occur monthly in arrears.  Calculated in USD but paid in the equivalent 

number of bitcoins. 

“Combined Fee Exchange Rate” — The exchange rate that will be used to convert the Combined 

Fee from USD to the appropriate number of bitcoins.  It is calculated based upon the Bitcoin 

Market Price at 4:00 PM New York time in the case of daily accruals and as of the day of each 

withdrawal and payment in arrears.  The Combined Fee Exchange Rate does not include fees and 

expenses for converting USD into bitcoins. 

“Constituent Fee” — The Marketing Fee, Custodian Fee, and the Sponsor Fee which constitute the 

Combined Fee. 

“Covered Person” — As defined in the section “Material Contracts — Trust Agreement — 

Fiduciary and Regulatory Duties of the Sponsor.” 

“Creation Basket” — Basket of Shares issued by the Trust in exchange for deposits of the Creation 

Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

“Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount” — The number of bitcoins that will be required for each 

Creation Basket, as determined from time to time by dividing the number of bitcoins owned by the 

Trust at such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time (calculated to one 

one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying the quotient obtained by 100. 

“Custodian” — SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. 

“Custodian Fee” — Fee paid by the Sponsor to the Custodian from the Constituent Fee. 

“DDoS Attack” — Distributed denial of service attacks are coordinated hacking attempts to 

disrupt websites, web servers or computer networks in which an attacker bombards an online 

target with a large quantity of external requests, thus precluding the target from processing 

requests from genuine users.  



 

6 

   

 “Distributor” — SecondMarket, Inc. 

“ERISA” — Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. 

“Extraordinary Fee” — In certain extraordinary circumstances, the expenses paid by the Trust in 

addition to the Combined Fee and the Assumed Fees, such as, but not limited to, taxes and 

governmental charges, expenses and costs of any extraordinary services performed by the Sponsor 

(or any other Service Provider) on behalf of the Trust to protect the Trust or the interests of 

Shareholders, indemnification expenses, fees and expenses related to public trading on OTCQX in 

excess of $600,000 annually, and extraordinary legal fees and expenses. 

“FDIC” — The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

“FinCEN” — The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, a bureau of the U.S. Department of the 

Treasury. 

“FINRA” — Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. 

“GAAP” — United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

“Independent Auditor” — Ernst & Young LLP. 

“Index”— The TradeBlock XBX Index. 

“Initial Purchaser” — SecondMarket, Inc. 

“Internal Revenue Code” —Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

“Investment Company Act” —Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.  

“IRS” — The Internal Revenue Service. 

“Marketer” — SecondMarket, Inc. 

“Marketing Fee” —  Fee paid by the Sponsor to the Marketer from the Constituent Fee. 

“Mt. Gox” — Mt. Gox K.K., a Japan-based Bitcoin Exchange. 

“Non-GAAP NAV” — unless otherwise noted, net asset value (“NAV”) has been calculated on a 

non-GAAP basis as described in more detail in the section entitled “Description of the Trust– 

non-GAAP Net Asset Value.”  

“OTCQX” means the OTCQX tier of the OTC Markets Group Inc. 

“OTCQX Application” means the application that is required by the OTCQX which, if approved, 

will then enable the Shares to be traded on the OTCQX. 

“OTCQX Fees” means the fees outlined by Part 5 of the OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies, as 

amended from time to time. 

“Participant Agreement” — An agreement entered into by each Authorized Participant with the 

Sponsor and the Trust that states the procedures for the creation and redemption of Baskets and for 

the delivery of bitcoins from the Authorized Participant required for Creation Baskets and the 

distribution of bitcoins from the Trust for Redemption Baskets. 
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“Redemption Basket” — Baskets of Shares redeemed in exchange for bitcoins in an amount equal 

to the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

“Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount” — The number of bitcoins that will be required for each 

Redemption Basket, as determined from time to time by dividing the number of bitcoins owned by 

the Trust at such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time (calculated to one 

one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying the quotient obtained by 100. 

“SEC” — The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Securities Act”  — Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

“Securities Exchange Act” — Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

“Service Providers” — Collectively, Grayscale Investments, LLC, Continental Stock Transfer 

Corporation, SecondMarket, Inc., SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. and SM Systems, Inc. 

“Shareholder” — Any beneficial owner of a Share. 

“Shareholder Communications Hub” — SM Systems, Inc. 

“Shares” —  Common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. 

“SIPC” — The Securities Investor Protection Corporation. 

“Sponsor” — Grayscale Investments, LLC. 

“Sponsor Fee” — The remaining amount, if any, paid to the Sponsor after the Constituent Fees 

and/or Assumed Fees from the Combined Fee have been paid first. 

“Transfer Agent” — Continental Stock Transfer Corporation. 

“Trust” — Bitcoin Investment Trust. 

“Trust Agreement” — The Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust and Trust 

Agreement between the Trustee and the Sponsor establishing and governing the operations of the 

Trust, as the same may be amended from time to time.  

“Trust Safekeeping Account” — is a wallet that is not online and not connected to the internet.  

Bitcoins in the Trust Safekeeping Account are in “deep” cold storage.  Approximately 80% of the 

Trust’s bitcoins may be held in the Trust Safekeeping Account, although such amount may vary 

materially from time to time.  The Trust Safekeeping Account will be stored in a safety deposit 

box.  Bitcoins in the Trust Safekeeping Account are not readily accessible to the Trust.  Access to 

the bitcoins deposited in the Trust Safekeeping Account can only be accessed as provided by the 

rules of the Custodian and will require a delay with respect to withdrawing bitcoins from the Trust 

Safekeeping Account. 

“Trust Storage Account” — is a wallet that is not online and not connected to the internet.  Bitcoins 

in the Trust Storage Account are in cold storage.  Up to approximately 20% of the Trust’s bitcoins 

may be held in the Trust Storage Account, although such amount may vary materially from time to 

time.  Bitcoins in the Trust Storage Account are readily accessible to the Trust and such bitcoins 

may be used to pay Redemption Baskets and Trust expenses. 
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“Trustee” — Delaware Trust Company (formerly known as CSC Trust Company of Delaware). 

“USD” or “$” — United States Dollar or Dollars. 
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PART A. GENERAL COMPANY INFORMATION 

Item 1.  The exact name of the issuer and its predecessor (if any). 

The name of the trust is the Bitcoin Investment Trust.  

Item 2.  The address of the issuer’s principal executive offices. 

The address of the Sponsor is: Grayscale Investments, LLC, 636 Avenue of the Americas, New 

York, New York 10011. The Sponsor’s telephone number is (212) 668-6682 and its facsimile 

number is (917) 677-8691. The Sponsor maintains a corporate website, www.grayscale.co, which 

contains general information about the Trust and the Sponsor. The reference to our website is an 

interactive textual reference only, and the information contained on our website shall not be 

deemed incorporated by reference herein. 

Investor relations contact: Terrence Dempsey 

Manager 

    Grayscale Investments, LLC 

    636 Avenue of the Americas 

New York, New York 10011 

Telephone: (212) 668-6682 

Facsimile: (917) 677-8691 

Email:  info@grayscale.co 

Item 3.  The jurisdiction(s) and date of the issuer’s incorporation or organization. 

The Trust was formed as a statutory trust in the State of Delaware on September 13, 2013. 
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PART B. SHARE STRUCTURE 

Item 4 . The exact title and class of securities outstanding. 

The only class of securities outstanding is common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest 

(“Shares”) which represent ownership in the Trust. The Trust’s trading symbol on the OTCQX 

U.S. Premier Marketplace of the OTC Markets Group Inc. is “GBTC” and the CUSIP number for 

its Shares is 09173T108. 

Item 5 . Par or stated value and description of the security. 

A. Par or Stated Value 

The Shares represent units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in and ownership of the Trust 

and have no par value.  

B. Common or Preferred Stock 

The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares. The Trust issues Shares only in 

Baskets (a Basket being a block of 100 Shares) and only upon the order of an Authorized 

Participant. The Shares represent common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in, and 

ownership of, the Trust and have no par value. 

The Shares may be purchased from the Trust or redeemed on a continuous basis, but only upon the 

order of Authorized Participants and only in blocks of 100 Shares, or Baskets. The Trust creates 

and redeems the Shares on a continuous basis, but only in Baskets. Initially, each Share 

represented 1/10
th

 of a bitcoin. Shareholders that are not Authorized Participants may not purchase 

from the Trust or redeem Shares or Baskets.  

Management; Voting by Shareholders 

The Shareholders take no part in the management or control of the Trust, and have no voice in the 

operation of the business of the Trust. Shareholders, may, however, remove and replace the 

Sponsor by the affirmative vote of a 75% of the outstanding Shares. The owners of 75% of the 

outstanding Shares may also compel dissolution of the Trust. 

Redemption of Shares 

The Shares may be redeemed only by or through an Authorized Participant and only in Baskets. 

See “Creation and Redemption of Shares” for details on the redemption of Shares. 

On September 23, 2014, the Distributor received a letter from the staff of the SEC’s Office of 

Compliance Inspections and Examinations summarizing the staff’s findings from an onsite review 

of the Distributor’s broker-dealer activities conducted in June 2014. Among other things, the staff 

stated that it had concluded that the Trust’s redemption program appears to violate Regulation M 

under the Securities Exchange Act because redemptions of Shares take place at the same time the 

Trust is in the process of creating Shares. The Distributor and the Trust are in discussions with the 

staff of the SEC in order to resolve the staff’s concerns, although the Distributor and the Trust 

cannot at this time predict the impact such a resolution may have on their respective activities. See 
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“Risk Factors – The Trust has suspended its redemption program for Shareholders, which could 

have a material adverse effect on an investment in the Shares.” 

Transfer Restrictions 

Shares may be purchased and sold on the OTCQX U.S. Premier marketplace. The Shares may not 

otherwise be resold except in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 

1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and state securities laws and any such transaction must 

be approved by the Sponsor.  Any attempt to sell Shares, other than on the OTCQX U.S. Premier 

marketplace, without the approval of the Sponsor in its sole discretion will be void ab initio.    

Book-Entry Form 

Upon the settlement date of any creation, transfer or redemption of Shares, the Transfer Agent 

credits or debits, on its book-entry registration and transfer system, the number of the Shares so 

created, transferred or redeemed to the accounts of the appropriate parties. 

Ownership of Shares is shown on, and the transfer of ownership is affected only through, a register 

of Shareholders maintained by the Transfer Agent. Shareholders will receive a written 

confirmation that their ownership has been reflected in the register of Shareholders. 

Individual certificates will not be issued for the Shares. Instead, one or more global certificates will 

be deposited by the Trustee with The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) and registered in the 

name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. The global certificates will evidence all of the Shares 

outstanding at any time. Under the Trust Agreement, Shareholders are limited to (1) participants in 

DTC such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies (“DTC Participants”), (2) those who 

maintain, either directly or indirectly, a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant (“Indirect 

Participants”), and (3) those banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and others who hold 

interests in the Shares through DTC Participants or Indirect Participants. The Shares are only 

transferable through the book-entry system of DTC. Shareholders who are not DTC Participants 

may transfer their Shares through DTC by instructing the DTC Participant holding their Shares (or 

by instructing the Indirect Participant or other entity through which their Shares are held) to 

transfer the Shares. Transfers will be made in accordance with standard securities industry 

practice. 

Distributions 

Although the Trust may make distributions at the discretion of the Sponsor, the Sponsor does not 

expect to make any distributions. 

Item 6 . The number of shares or total amount of the securities outstanding for each 

class of securities authorized. 

As of December 31, 2014, the Trust had unlimited Shares authorized.  As of December 31, 2014, 

there were 1,382,400 Shares issued and outstanding. 
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The following table shows the number of the Shares outstanding: 

 As of 

Year Ended 

December 31, 

2014 

As of 

Year Ended 

December 31, 

2013 

(i)  Number of shares authorized ...................................  Unlimited
 

Unlimited
 

(ii)  Number of shares outstanding ................................  1,382,400 701,100 

(iii) Number of shares freely tradable (public float) ....  0 0 

(iv) Number of unaffiliated beneficial holders of freely 

tradable shares ................................................................  

0 0 

(v) Number of holders of record ....................................  184 106 

 

 

Item 7 . The name and address of the transfer agent. 

The Trust’s transfer agent is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (the “Transfer Agent”).  

The Transfer Agent’s address is 17 Battery Place, 8
th

 Floor, New York, New York 10004, and its 

telephone number is (212) 509-4000. Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company is registered 

under the Securities Exchange Act and is regulated by the SEC.  
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PART C. BUSINESS INFORMATION 

Item 8 . The nature of the issuer’s business. 

A. Business Development 

The Trust was formed as a Delaware statutory trust on September 13, 2013.   The Trust holds 

bitcoins and, from time to time, issues Creation Baskets in exchange for deposits of bitcoins and 

distributes bitcoins in connection with Redemption Baskets.  The investment objective of the Trust 

is for the net asset value (“NAV”) per Share to track the Bitcoin Market Price per Share, less the 

Trust’s liabilities (including estimated accrued expenses).   

The Shares represent common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in, and ownership 

of, the Trust.  The Trust is not managed like a business corporation or an active investment vehicle.  

In accordance with the Trust Agreement, during the life of the Trust, proceeds from the creation of 

Shares in Baskets will only be (1) owned by the Trust and held by the Custodian, (2) disbursed (or 

converted to USD, if necessary) to pay the Trust’s expenses, (3) distributed to Authorized 

Participants upon receipt of Redemption Baskets, (4) liquidated in the event that the Trust 

terminates, or (5) liquidated as otherwise required by law or regulation.  The payment of expenses 

by the Trust will result in a taxable event to Shareholders. See “Certain United States Federal Tax 

Considerations — Taxation of U.S. Shareholders.”  

The Trust is not regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. 

1. The form of organization of the issuer. 

The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust. 

2. The year that the issuer (or any predecessor) was organized. 

The Trust was formed on September 13, 2013. 

3. The issuer’s fiscal year end date. 

The Trust’s fiscal year end date is December 31.  

4. Whether the issuer (or any predecessor) has been in bankruptcy, receivership or any 

similar proceeding. 

The Trust has not been in, and is not in the process of, any bankruptcy, receivership or any similar 

proceeding within the last three years. 

5. Any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or sale of a significant 

amount of assets. 

The Trust has not undergone any material reclassification, merger, consolidation, or purchase or 

sale of a significant amount of assets within the last three years.  
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6. Any default of the terms of any note, loan, lease, or other indebtedness or financing 

arrangement requiring the issuer to make payments; 

The Trust has not experienced any default of the terms of any note, loan, lease, or other 

indebtedness or financing arrangement requiring the Trust to make payments within the last three 

years.  

7. Any change of control. 

The Trust has not experienced any change of control within the last three years.  

8. Any increase of 10% or more of the same class of outstanding equity securities. 

The Trust has experienced increases of more than 10% of the same class of outstanding equity 

securities within the last three years.  The Trust is an open ended trust and, as such, there is no limit 

on the number of shares that can be issued.  The Trust publishes the total number of shares 

outstanding as of the end of each month in a fact sheet provided on the Sponsor’s website at 
www.grayscale.co.   

9. Any past, pending or anticipated stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, merger, 

acquisition, spin-off, or reorganization. 

There are no past or pending stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations, mergers, acquisitions, 

spin-offs, or reorganizations within the last three years.  

10. Any delisting of the issuer’s securities by any securities exchange or deletion from the 

OTC Bulletin Board. 

There has not been any delisting of the Trust’s securities by any securities exchange or deletion 

from the OTC Bulletin Board.  

11. Any current, past, pending or threatened legal proceedings or administrative actions 

either by or against the issuer that could have a material effect on the issuer’s business, 

financial condition, or operations and any current, past or pending trading suspensions by a 

securities regulator. State the names of the principal parties, the nature and current status 

of the matters, and the amounts involved. 

There are no current, past, pending or threatened legal proceedings or administrative actions either 

by or against the Trust or the Sponsor that could have a material effect on the Trust’s or the 

Sponsor’s business, financial condition, or operations and any current, past or pending trading 

suspensions by a securities regulator.   



 

15 

   

B. Business of Issuer.   

Bitcoin is a decentralized digital currency that enables instant transfers to anyone, anywhere in the 

world.  Managing transactions in bitcoins occurs via an open source, cryptographic protocol 

platform known as the Bitcoin Network, which uses peer-to-peer technology to operate with no 

central authority. The Bitcoin Network is an online, end-user-to-end-user network that hosts the 

public transaction ledger, known as the Blockchain, and the source code that comprises the basis 

for the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols governing the Bitcoin Network.  No single entity 

owns or operates the Bitcoin Network, the infrastructure of which is collectively maintained by a 

decentralized user base.  As the Bitcoin Network is decentralized, it does not rely on either 

governmental authorities or financial institutions to create, transmit or determine the value of 

bitcoins.  Rather, the value of bitcoins is determined by the supply of and demand for bitcoins in 

the Bitcoin Exchange Market, the prices set in transfers by mutual agreement or barter as well as 

the number of merchants that accept bitcoins.  Because bitcoins are digital files that can be 

transferred without the involvement of intermediaries or third parties, there are little or no 

transaction costs in direct end-user-to-end-user transactions.  Bitcoins can be used to pay for goods 

and services or can be converted to fiat currencies, such as the USD, at rates determined by the 

Bitcoin Exchanges.  Additionally, third party service providers such as Bitcoin Exchanges are also 

used for transfers but they may charge significant fees for processing transactions. 

On November 1, 2008 an individual (or possibly a group of individuals) published a research paper 

under the name of Satoshi Nakamoto describing the design for a new virtual currency called 

bitcoin.  Shortly thereafter, on January 3, 2009, Mr. Nakamoto mined the first 50 bitcoins, known 

as the genesis block, and with this, he set off a new era of digital currency.  While Mr. Nakamoto is 

considered to be the creator of bitcoins and the Bitcoin Network, no individual with that name has 

been reliably identified as the Bitcoin Network’s creator. Satoshi Nakamoto is apparently a 

pseudonym for the inventor or the group of inventors responsible for the creation of bitcoins.  

After the creation of the genesis block, the Bitcoin Network was initially formed mostly by a small 

group of early adopters.  It started to gain traction approximately a year later and was quickly 

adopted by a vast peer-to-peer network.  Mr. Nakamoto, or the individual or group which used the 

pseudonym, disappeared shortly after the creation of the Bitcoin Network, however, despite his 

anonymity and eventual disappearance from the web, the use of the Bitcoin Network among early 

adopters continued to grow, highlighting the strengths of the Bitcoin Network he created – a 

decentralized network with no single representative body.  Today the Bitcoin Network is sustained 

by a significant number of miners, programmers, bitcoin account holders and service providers 

that collectively provide the Bitcoin Network with more computer processing strength than the 

most powerful supercomputer in the world.  The Bitcoin Network is now, and for a while has been, 

under active, unofficial development by a group of engineers headed by Gavin Andresen, Chief 

Scientist at the Bitcoin Foundation, and Wladimir J. van der Laan, who was appointed to the role 

of lead developer in April 2014.  As an open source project, bitcoin is not represented by an official 

organization or authority, although groups including, most prominently, the Bitcoin Foundation 

work to organize the bitcoin community and to develop and protect the Bitcoin Network’s code. 
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The Bitcoin Network’s Operations 

In order to own, transfer or use bitcoins, a person generally must have Internet access to connect to 

the Bitcoin Network.  Bitcoin transactions between parties occur very rapidly (within several 

seconds) and may be made directly between end-users without the need for a third-party 

intermediary, although there are entities that provide third-party intermediary services. To prevent 

the possibility of double-spending a single bitcoin, each transaction is recorded, time stamped and 

publicly displayed in a “block” in the publicly available Blockchain. Thus, the Bitcoin Network 

provides confirmation against double-spending by memorializing every transaction in the 

Blockchain, which is publicly accessible and downloaded in part or in whole by all users’ Bitcoin 

Network software programs (described below). This memorialization and verification against 

double-spending is accomplished through the bitcoin mining process, which adds “blocks” of data, 

including recent transaction information, to the Blockchain. 

Bitcoin Transfers 

Prior to engaging in bitcoin transactions, a user must first obtain a digital bitcoin “wallet” 

(analogous to a bitcoin account) in which to store bitcoins. A “wallet” is an open-source software 

program that generates bitcoin addresses and enables users to engage in the transfer of bitcoins 

with other users.  A user may install a bitcoin software program on its computer or mobile device 

that will generate a bitcoin wallet or, alternatively, a user may retain a third party to create a digital 

wallet to be used for the same purpose. There is no limit on the number of digital wallets a user can 

have, and each such wallet includes one or more unique addresses and a verification system for 

each address consisting of a “public key” and a “private key,” which are mathematically related. 

In a typical bitcoin transaction, the bitcoin recipient creates a new bitcoin address and directs the 

payor to send the payment to the address by providing the address, or public key, which encodes 

the payment and serves as an address for the digital wallet, to the payor who will initiate the 

transfer. This activity is analogous to a recipient providing an address in wire instructions to the 

payor so that cash may be wired to the recipient’s account. The payor approves the transfer to the 

address provided by the recipient by “signing” the transaction request from the recipient with the 

private key of the address from where the payor is transferring the bitcoins. The recipient does not 

make public its related private key or provide it to the payor, because the private key authorizes 

access to, and transfer of, the funds from the recipient’s digital wallet to other users.  The process 

of signing the transaction is typically automated by the software that runs the payor and recipients 

digital wallet.  The transfer is made from the payor to the recipient’s wallet and this transaction is 

validated by the Bitcoin Network. 

“Off-Blockchain transactions” involve the transfer of control over or ownership of a specific 

digital wallet holding bitcoins or of the reallocation of ownership of certain bitcoins in a 

pooled-ownership digital wallet, such as a digital wallet owned by a Bitcoin Exchange. 

Information and data regarding Off-Blockchain transactions is generally not publicly available in 

contrast to true bitcoin transactions, which are publicly recorded on the Blockchain. 

Off-Blockchain transactions are not truly bitcoin transactions in that they do not involve the 

transfer of transaction data on the Bitcoin Network and do not reflect a movement of bitcoins 

between addresses recorded in the Blockchain. Off-Blockchain transactions are subject to risks as 
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any such transfer of bitcoin ownership is not protected by the protocol behind the Bitcoin Network 

or recorded in and validated through the Blockchain mechanism. 

Cryptographic Security Used in the Bitcoin Network 

Public and Private Keys 

All transactions on the Bitcoin Network are secured using public-key cryptography, a technique 

which underpins many online transactions. Public-key cryptography works by generating two 

mathematically related keys (one a public key and the other a private key) in such a way that the 

encrypting key cannot be used to decrypt a message and vice versa. One of these, the private key, 

is retained in the individual’s wallet and the other key is made public and serves as the address to 

which a bitcoin can be transferred and from which money can be transferred by the owner of the 

bitcoin wallet. In the case of bitcoin transactions the public key generates an address (a string of 

letters and numbers) that is used to encode payments, which can then only be retrieved with the 

associated private key that is used to authorize the transaction. In other words, the payer, uses his 

private key to approve any transfers to a recipient's account. Users on the Bitcoin Network can 

confirm that the user signed the transaction with the appropriate private key, but cannot reverse 

engineer the private key from the signature. 

Double-Spending and the Bitcoin Network Confirmation System 

To ensure the integrity of bitcoin transactions from the recipient’s side (i.e., to prevent 

double-spending by a payor), every bitcoin transaction is broadcast to the Bitcoin Network and 

recorded in the Blockchain through the “mining” process (defined below), which time-stamps the 

transaction and memorializes the change in the ownership of the bitcoin(s) transferred.  Adding a 

block to the Blockchain requires bitcoin “miners” (defined below) to exert significant 

computational effort to verify it is a valid transaction. Requiring this computational effort, or 

“proof of work,” prevents a malicious actor from either adding fraudulent blocks to generate 

bitcoins (i.e., counterfeit bitcoins) or overwriting existing valid blocks to reverse its prior 

transactions. 

A transaction in bitcoins between two parties is recorded in the Blockchain in a block only if that 

block is accepted as valid by a majority of the nodes on the Bitcoin Network. Validation of a block 

is achieved by confirming the cryptographic hash value included in the block’s solution and by the 

block’s addition to the longest confirmed Blockchain on the Bitcoin Network. For a transaction, 

inclusion in a block on the Blockchain constitutes a “confirmation” of the bitcoin transaction. As 

each block contains a reference to the immediately preceding block, additional blocks appended to 

and incorporated into the Blockchain constitute additional confirmations of the transactions in 

such prior blocks, and a transaction included in a block for the first time is confirmed once against 

double-spending. The layered confirmation process makes changing historical blocks (and 

reversing transactions) exponentially more difficult the further back one goes in the Blockchain. 

Bitcoin Exchanges and users can set their own threshold as to how many confirmations are 

required until funds from the transferor are considered valid. However, statistically speaking, a 

transaction is virtually final after six confirmations as it would be extremely difficult to challenge 

the validity of the transaction at that point. 
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At this point in the evolution of the Bitcoin Network, bitcoin transactions are considered 

irreversible.  Once a transaction appears in the Blockchain, no one has the authority to reverse it.  If 

someone were to attempt to undo a past transaction in a block recorded on the Blockchain, such 

individual would have to exert tremendous processing power in a series of complicated 

transactions that may not be achieved at this point in the Bitcoin Network’s development. 

Bitcoin Mining – Creation of New Bitcoins 

Mining Process 

The process by which bitcoins are created and bitcoin transactions are verified is called mining.  

To begin mining, a user, or “miner,” can download and run a mining client, which, like regular 

Bitcoin Network software programs, turns the user’s computer into a “node” on the Bitcoin 

Network that validates blocks. Each bitcoin transaction results in new blocks being added to the 

Blockchain and new bitcoins being issued to the miners. Miners, through the use of the bitcoin 

software program, engage in a set of prescribed complex mathematical calculations in order to add 

a block to the Blockchain and thereby confirm bitcoin transactions included in that block’s data.  

All bitcoin transactions are recorded in blocks added to the Blockchain. Each block contains the 

details of some or all of the most recent transactions that are not memorialized in prior blocks, as 

well as a record of the award of bitcoins to the miner who added the new block. In order to add 

blocks to the Blockchain, a miner must map an input data set (i.e., the Blockchain, plus a block of 

the most recent Bitcoin Network transactions and an arbitrary number called a “nonce”) to a 

desired output data set of a predetermined length (the “hash value”) using the SHA-256 

cryptographic hash algorithm. Each unique block can only be solved and added to the Blockchain 

by one miner; therefore, all individual miners and mining pools on the Bitcoin Network are 

engaged in a competitive process of constantly increasing their computing power to improve their 

likelihood of solving for new blocks. As more miners join the Bitcoin Network and its processing 

power increases, the Bitcoin Network adjusts the complexity of the block-solving equation to 

maintained a predetermined pace of adding a new block to the Blockchain approximately every ten 

minutes. 

A miner’s proposed block is added to the Blockchain once a majority of the nodes on the Bitcoin 

Network confirms the miner’s work.  Miners that are successful in adding a block to the 

Blockchain are automatically awarded a fixed number of bitcoins for their effort plus any 

transaction fees paid by transferors whose transactions are recorded in the block.  This reward 

system is the method by which new bitcoins enter into circulation to the public. 

Incentives for Mining 

As noted above, miners that are successful in adding a block to the Blockchain are automatically 

awarded a fixed number of bitcoins for their effort.  Given the increasing difficulty of the target 

established by the Bitcoin Network, current miners are required to invest in expensive mining 

devices with adequate processing power to hash at a competitive rate. The first wave of mining 

devices used central processing units (CPUs) used in standard home computers.  Miners soon 

discovered that graphic processing units (GPUs) provided them with more processing power and 

the second wave of miners entered the Bitcoin Network. Today, the Bitcoin Network is well into a 
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third wave of mining devices which consist of mining computers that are designed solely for 

mining purposes. Such devices include ASIC (application-specific integrated circuit) machines 

built specifically for bitcoin mining by specialized companies like Cointera and HashFast.  These 

new computers are significantly more expensive than standard home computers.  Miners also incur 

substantial electricity costs in order to continuously power and cool their devices while solving for 

a new block. 

Blockchain decreases over time and the production (and reward) of bitcoins will eventually cease. 

Once such incentive mechanism ceases to be profitable, miners will only have transaction fees to 

incentivize them and as a result, it is expected that miners will need to be better compensated with 

higher transaction fees to ensure that there is adequate incentive for them to continue mining. 

Mining Pools 

The significant increase in the number of miners and the increasing in mining capacity have 

radically increased the difficulty of finding a valid hash since the first block was mined. In some 

respects, hashing is akin to a mathematical lottery, and miners that have devices with greater 

processing power (i.e., the ability to make more hash calculations per second) are more likely to be 

successful miners.  Currently, the likelihood that an individual acting alone will be able to be 

awarded a bitcoin is extremely low.  As a result, mining “pools” have developed in which multiple 

miners act cohesively and combine their processing power to solve blocks. When a pool solves a 

new block, the pool operator receives the bitcoin and, after taking a nominal fee, splits the resulting 

reward among the pool participants based on the processing power they each contributed to solve 

for such block. Mining pools provide participants with access to smaller, but steadier and more 

frequent, bitcoin payouts.  According to blockchain.info, as of October 15, 2014, the largest three 

identifiable mining pools were Discus Fish, Ghash.io, and KnCMiner, which, when aggregated, 

represented approximately 55% of the processing power on the Bitcoin Network (as calculated by 

determining the percentage of blocks mined by each such pool over the prior four days). Also 

according to blockchain.info, on such date, the eight largest identifiable pools (Discus Fish, 

GHash.io, KnCMiner, Elgius, BTC Guild, two unnamed pools, and Slush) accounted for 74% of 

the mining processing power on the Bitcoin Network. In late May and early June 2014, reports 

indicated that GHash.io approached and, during a 24- to 48-hour period in early June, may have 

exceeded one-half of the processing power on the Bitcoin network, as measured by the 

self-reported processing power of the pool and by measuring the percentage of blocks mined by 

the pool. It has not been confirmed whether GHash.io exceeded one-half of the processing power 

on the Bitcoin Network for any period of time, and its percentage of the processing power on the 

Bitcoin Network has since fallen below 40 percent. As of October 16, 2014, GHash.io was 

determined to have found 22 percent of blocks over the prior four days by blockchain.info. 

Mathematically Controlled Supply 

The supply of new bitcoins is mathematically controlled in a manner so that the number of bitcoins 

grows at a limited rate pursuant to a pre-set pace. To achieve this, the bitcoin source code is 

designed to automatically halve the number of bitcoins awarded for solving a new block after 

every 210,000 blocks are added to the Blockchain. Currently, the fixed reward for solving a new 

block is 25 bitcoins per block and this is expected to decrease by half to become 12.5 bitcoins after 

the next 210,000 blocks have entered the Bitcoin Network.  This deliberately controlled rate of 
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bitcoin creation means that the number of bitcoins in existence will increase at a controlled rate 

until the number of bitcoins in existence reaches the pre-determined 21 million bitcoins.  As of 

December 31, 2014, over 13.67 million bitcoins have been mined and estimates of when the 21 

million bitcoin limitation will be reached range from 2022 to 2140. 

Modifications to the Bitcoin Protocol 

Bitcoin is an open source project (i.e., a product whose source code is freely available to the public 

and that utilizes crowdsourcing to identify possible issues, problems and defects) with no official 

developer or group of developers that controls the Bitcoin Network.  However, the Bitcoin 

Network’s development is overseen by a core group of developers at the Bitcoin Foundation (the 

“Core Developers”). The Core Developers are able to access and can alter the Bitcoin Network 

source code and, as a result, they are responsible for quasi-official releases of updates and other 

changes to the Bitcoin Network’s source code. The release of updates to the Bitcoin Network’s 

source code does not guarantee that the updated will be automatically adopted.  Users and miners 

must accept any changes made to the bitcoin source code by downloading the proposed 

modification of the Bitcoin Network’s source code. A modification of the Bitcoin Network’s 

source code is only effective with respect to the bitcoin users and miners that download it. If a 

modification is accepted only by a percentage of users and miners, a division in the Bitcoin 

Network will occur such that one network will run the pre-modification source code and the other 

network will run the modified source code; such a division is known as a “fork” in the Bitcoin 

Network. See “Risk Factors.” Consequently, as a practical matter, a modification to the source 

code (e.g., a proposal to increase the 21 million total limit on bitcoins or to reduce the average 

confirmation time target from 10 minutes per block) only becomes part of the Bitcoin Network if 

accepted by participants collectively having a majority of the processing power on the Bitcoin 

Network.  

Bitcoin Value 

Bitcoins are not a fiat currency (i.e., a currency that is backed by a central bank or a national, 

supra-national or quasi-national organization) and are not backed by hard assets or other credit. As 

a result, the value of bitcoins is currently determined by the value that various market participants 

place on bitcoins through their transactions.   

Exchange Valuation 

Due to the peer-to-peer framework of the Bitcoin Network and the protocols thereunder, 

transferors and recipients of bitcoins are able to determine the value of the bitcoins transferred by 

mutual agreement or barter with respect to their transactions. As a result, the most common means 

of determining the value of a bitcoin is by surveying one or more Bitcoin Exchanges where 

bitcoins are bought, sold and traded.  On each Bitcoin Exchange, bitcoins are traded with publicly 

disclosed valuations for each transaction, measured by one or more fiat currencies such as the USD 

or the Chinese Yuan. Bitcoin price indexes have also been developed by a number of service 

providers in the bitcoin space.  For example, Coindesk, a digital currency content provider, 

launched a proprietary bitcoin price index in September 2013 and bitcoinaverage.com provides an 

average of all bitcoin prices on several Bitcoin Exchanges.  The Sponsor uses the Index calculated 

by TradeBlock to determine the Bitcoin Market Price, as described under “Description of the 
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Trust– Bitcoin Market Price”. Additionally, the XBT designation as bitcoin’s ISO 4217 currency 

code is already accepted by some providers for data feeds and a number of data feeds and other 

trading platforms are contemplating adopting XBT for their trading platforms.  As the bitcoin price 

discovery and the adoption of XBT become main stream, the valuation of bitcoins will be more 

akin to the valuation of a fiat currency. 

Forms of Attack Against the Bitcoin Network 

Exploitation of Flaws in the Bitcoin Network’s Source Code 

As with any other computer code, flaws in the Bitcoin Network source code have been exposed by 

certain malicious actors. Several errors and defects have been found and corrected, including those 

that disabled some functionality for users, exposed users’ information, or allowed users to create 

multiple views of the Bitcoin Network. Discovery of flaws in or exploitations of the source code 

that allow malicious actors to take or create money in contravention of known Bitcoin Network 

rules have been relatively rare.  For example, in 2010, a hacker or group of hackers exploited a 

flaw in the Bitcoin Network source code that allowed them to generate 184 billion bitcoins in a 

transaction and send them to two digital wallet addresses. However, the bitcoin community and 

developers identified and reversed the manipulated transactions within approximately three hours, 

and the flaw was corrected with an updated version of the bitcoin protocol. 

The Core Developers, in conjunction with other developers and miners, work continuously in an 

attempt to ensure that flaws are quickly fixed or removed. Because open source codes rely on 

transparency to promote community-sourced identification and solution of problems within the 

code, such flaws have been discovered and quickly corrected by the Core Developers or the bitcoin 

community. 

Greater than Fifty Percent of Network Computational Power 

A malicious actor can structure an attack whereby such actor gains control of more than half of the 

Bitcoin Network’s processing power or “hashrate.” During May and June 2014, mining pool 

GHash.io’s hashing power approached 50 percent of the processing power on the Bitcoin 

Network. During a brief period in early June, the mining pool may have controlled in excess of 

one-half of the Bitcoin Network’s processing power. Although no malicious activity or abnormal 

transaction recording was observed, the incident establishes that it is possible that a substantial 

mining pool may accumulate close to or more than a majority of the processing power on the 

Bitcoin Network. 

If a malicious actor acquired sufficient computational power necessary to control the Bitcoin 

Network, among other things, it would be able to reverse transactions and possibly engage in 

double-spending, or prevent some or all transactions from being confirmed, and prevent some or 

all other miners from mining any valid new blocks.  A number of computer scientists and 

cryptographers believe that the immense collective processing power of the Bitcoin Network 

makes it impracticable for an actor to gain control of computers representing a majority of the 

processing power on the Bitcoin Network.  Some estimates indicate that it may currently require 

an investment of approximately $400 million dollars to be able to purchase the necessary hardware 

to control 51% of the Bitcoin Network. 
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Cancer Nodes  

Cancer nodes are fake internet protocols (IPs), which a malicious actor sets up to either place the 

user on a separate network or disconnect them from all networks.  This form of attack involves a 

malicious actor propagating “cancer nodes” to isolate certain users from the legitimate Bitcoin 

Network. A target user who is surrounded by such cancer nodes would be placed on a separate 

“network,” allowing the malicious actor to relay only blocks created by the separate network and 

thus opening the target user to double-spending attacks. By using cancer nodes, a malicious actor 

also can disconnect the target user from the bitcoin economy entirely by refusing to relay any 

blocks or transactions. Bitcoin software programs make these attacks more difficult by limiting the 

number of outbound connections through which users are connected to the Bitcoin Network. 

Double Spending Risks 

A malicious actor may attempt to double-spend bitcoins by manipulating the formation of the 

Blockchain rather than through control of the Bitcoin Network.  Variations of this form of attack 

include the “Finney attack,” “race attack,” and “vector76 attack.” In this type of attack, a miner 

creates a valid new block containing a double-spend transaction and schedules the release of such 

attack block so that it is added to the Blockchain before a target user’s legitimate transaction can be 

included in a block.  All double-spend attacks require that the miner sequence and execute the 

steps of its attack with sufficient speed and accuracy.  Typically, transactions that allow for a 

zero-confirmation acceptance tend to be prone to these types of attacks.  Users and merchants can 

reduce the risk of a double-spend attack by waiting for multiple confirmations from the Bitcoin 

Network before settling a transaction.  These attacks require extensive coordination and are very 

expensive.  Accordingly, traders and merchants may still execute instantaneous, low-value 

transactions without confirmation, because it is generally agreed that a malicious miner would be 

unwilling to carry out a double-spend attack for low-value transactions. Users and merchants can 

take additional precautions by adjusting their Bitcoin Network software programs to connect only 

to other well-connected nodes and to disable incoming connections. These precautions reduce the 

risk of double-spend attacks involving manipulation of a target’s connectivity to the Bitcoin 

Network (as is the case with vector76 and race attacks). 

Uses of Bitcoins  

Global Bitcoin Market  

Global trade in bitcoins consists of individual end-user-to-end-user transactions, together with 

facilitated exchange-based bitcoin trading. A limited market currently exists for bitcoin-based 

derivatives. 

There is currently no reliable data on the total number or demographic composition of users or 

miners on the Bitcoin Network. 

Bitcoin Exchange Market  

Online Bitcoin Exchanges represent a substantial percentage of bitcoin buying and selling activity 

and provide the most data with respect to prevailing valuations of bitcoins. Currently, there are 

several Bitcoin Exchanges servicing approximately 200 countries.  These exchanges include 
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established exchanges such as Bitstamp, BTC-e, and Bitfinex, which provide a number of options 

for buying and selling bitcoins. In addition to open online Bitcoin Exchanges, there are “dark 

pools” where market participants have the ability to execute large block trades without adversely 

impacting the price of bitcoins. Tradehill, which is no longer operating, was an example of one 

such dark pool.  

Goods and Services  

Bitcoins increasingly can be used to purchase goods and services, either online or at physical 

locations. While reliable data is not readily available on the retail and commercial market 

penetration of the Bitcoin Network, there are numerous indications of its increasing acceptance. 

For example, the bitcoin payment processors Bitpay and Coinbase publicly represent that over 

88,000 businesses and organizations (in approximately 200 countries) are now using those 

processors’ services to accept bitcoin payments. Additionally, PayPal recently announced that it 

would allow merchants that use its payment processing services to accept bitcoin. A wide range of 

industries now accept bitcoins as a form of payment, from newspapers such as The Chicago 

Sun-Times to national sports franchises such as the Sacramento Kings. There are also many 

real-world locations that accept bitcoin, several of which are located in New York City.  

Additionally, for-profit internet-based companies such as Microsoft, WordPress, Reddit, Zynga, 

Expedia, Dell, TigerDirect.com and Overstock.com, as well as non-profit institutions such as 

Khan Academy have received attention for accepting donations in bitcoins. 

End-User-to-End-User  

The bitcoin end-user-to-end-user ecosystem operates on a continuous, 24-hour per day basis. This 

is accomplished through decentralized peer-to-peer transactions between parties on a 

principal-to-principal basis. All risks and issues of credit are between the parties directly involved 

in the transaction. Liquidity can change from time to time during the course of a 24-hour trading 

day. The Bitcoin Network rules that require transaction fees are generally not enforced, therefore 

transaction costs, if any, are negotiable between the parties and may vary widely, although, where 

transaction fees are included, they are paid by the sending party in a bitcoin transaction. These 

transactions occur remotely through the Internet, in-person through forums such as 

localbitcoins.com (which offers both online and in-person opportunities to buy and sell bitcoins), 

Satoshi Squares (an open-air bitcoin trading market held in cities throughout the U.S. and 

overseas), or the Bitcoin Center NYC and physically through bulletin boards. There are currently 

no official designated market makers for bitcoins and hence no standard transaction sizes, 

bid-offer spreads or typical known cost per transaction. Marketplaces like localbitcoins.com and 

Satoshi Square are intended to create a market by bringing together counterparties trading in 

bitcoins but they do not provide any clearing or intermediary function. 

Anonymity and Illicit Use  

Bitcoins have a reputation for providing privacy to its users, but the Bitcoin Network was not 

designed to ensure the anonymity of users.  While the Blockchain records the unique addresses of 

individual bitcoin “wallets,” it does not contain anything about the people using them.  However, 

an analysis of the public log of all bitcoin transactions suggests that it may be easy for a law 

enforcement agency to identify a number of bitcoin users.  (Off-Blockchain transactions occurring 
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off the Bitcoin Network are not recorded and do not represent actual bitcoin transactions or the 

transfer of bitcoins from one digital wallet address to another, though information regarding 

participants in an Off-Blockchain transaction may be recorded by the parties facilitating such 

Off-Blockchain transactions). Nevertheless, users determined to maintain anonymity may take 

certain precautions to enhance the likelihood that they and their transactions remain anonymous. 

For instance, a user may send its bitcoins to different addresses multiple times to make tracking the 

bitcoins through the Blockchain more difficult or, more simply, engage a so-called “mixing” 

service to switch its bitcoins with those of other users. 

As with any other asset or medium of exchange, bitcoins can be used to purchase illegal goods, 

fund illicit activities or to launder money.  Bitcoins have been used for illicit gambling and making 

purchases of illegal goods.  For example, Silk Road, an anonymous online marketplace that sold 

illegal substances prior to its seizure and the arrest of its founder and operator in October 2013, 

accepted only bitcoins.  In November 2014, a number of U.S. and foreign law enforcement 

agencies seized Silk Road 2.0, Hydra and Cloud 9, among others, which were allegedly similar 

online marketplaces, although other similar websites remain operational. Additionally, Charlie 

Shrem, the founder of Bitinstant and a former vice chairman of the Bitcoin Foundation, was 

charged with money laundering and operating an unlicensed money transmitting business, and 

pleaded guilty in September 2014 to aiding and abetting an unlicensed money transmitting 

business.  The use of bitcoins for illicit purposes, however, is not promoted by the Bitcoin Network 

or the user community as a whole. 

Competition  

Bitcoins are not the only type of digital currencies founded on cryptography, although as of the 

date of this Annual Report it is considered the most prominent. Other cryptographic digital 

currencies have developed since the Bitcoin Network’s inception: Litecoin, Ripple, PPCoin and 

Terracoin are just a few examples of bitcoin alternatives. The Bitcoin Network, however, 

possesses the “first-to-market” advantage and has captured the majority of the industry’s market 

share. 

Government Oversight  

Digital currencies, such as bitcoin, are a recent technological innovation and the regulatory 

schemes to which bitcoins and the Bitcoin Network may be subject have not been fully explored or 

developed. For example, the SEC and CFTC are exploring ways to regulate bitcoins but have yet 

to issue official statements describing how each will treat bitcoins for a variety of regulatory 

purposes. 

On March 25, 2014, the IRS issued Notice 2014-21 containing guidance and frequently asked 

questions relating to virtual currencies such as bitcoins. The Notice concludes that, for U.S. federal 

tax purposes, virtual currency should be treated as property, and general tax principles applicable 

to property transactions should also apply to transactions using virtual currency. 

FinCEN has also released official guidance concerning bitcoins and the Bitcoin Network. On 

March 18, 2013, FinCEN issued interpretive guidance relating to the application of the Bank 

Secrecy Act to distributing, exchanging and transmitting “virtual currencies.” More specifically, it 
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determined that a user of bitcoins will not be considered a money services business or be required 

to register, report and perform recordkeeping; however, an administrator or exchanger of bitcoins 

must be a registered money services business under FinCEN’s money transmitter regulations. As a 

result, Bitcoin Exchanges that deal with U.S. residents or otherwise fall under U.S. jurisdiction are 

required to register with FinCEN and comply with FinCEN regulations. 

On January 30, 2014, FinCEN published two interpretive letters elaborating on the original 

guidance. One addresses bitcoin mining operations and confirms, among other things, that “so 

long as the user is undertaking the transaction solely for the user’s own purposes and not as a 

business service performed for the benefit of another,” the miner is not engaged in money 

transmission services through the sale of its own mined bitcoins and dividend of profits to 

investors. The other interpretation addresses certain bitcoin investment activities and provides that 

the investment in bitcoin for the benefit of the investor itself is not, under the circumstances 

described in the interpretation, money transmission for purposes of the FinCEN regulations. 

However, the interpretation also notes that the provision of investment-related or brokerage 

services in connection with such investment activity would require additional analysis. The 

interpretation further provides that the provision of software for bitcoin services is not considered 

money transmission under the circumstances described in the interpretation. On October 27, 2014, 

FinCEN published two more interpretive letters further elaborating on its March 2013 guidance. 

One letter indicated that a virtual currency exchange, even where it buys from customers for the 

exchange’s inventory and sells to customers out of its own inventory, acting as a dealer rather than 

a broker, is nevertheless engaged in money transmission, under the circumstances described in the 

interpretation. The other letter indicated that a company that provides payment processing services 

by taking legal tender payments from customers of merchants and providing those merchants with 

payments in bitcoin is engaged in money transmission, under the circumstances described in the 

interpretation. 

Similarly, U.S. states have begun to examine whether bitcoin activities require licensing under 

applicable state money services business, money transmitter, prepaid or stored value, or virtual 

currency business laws. A number of states, such as California, Idaho, New York, Virginia and 

Washington, are actively requiring bitcoin businesses to register on a state level as money 

transmitters or money service businesses. However, certain other state regulators, such as the 

Texas Department of Banking and the Kansas Office of the State Bank Commissioner, have found 

that bitcoins do not constitute money, and that transmission of bitcoin does not constitute money 

transmission requiring licensure. On June 28, 2014, the Governor of the State of California signed 

into law a bill that removed state-level prohibitions on the use of alternative forms of currency or 

value (including bitcoins).  

The New York Department of Financial Services (“NYDFS”) also held hearings on January 28, 

2014 and January 29, 2014 as part of an ongoing inquiry into the appropriate regulatory guidelines 

for virtual currencies. On March 14, 2014, NYDFS issued a public order that the department 

would consider formal proposals and applications in connection with the establishment of 

regulated virtual currency exchanges operating in New York. On July 17, 2014, the NYDFS 

published its proposed comprehensive regulatory scheme for virtual currency businesses, called 

the “BitLicense.” Prompted by concerns about the use of virtual currency in money laundering, 

consumer fraud and other criminal activity, the proposal represents one of the first attempts to 

comprehensively regulate bitcoin and other virtual currency activities. Under the proposed 
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regulations, most businesses involved in virtual currency transactions in or involving New York, 

excluding merchants (as well as consumers), would be required to apply for licenses from the 

NYDFS. The proposed regulations also have anti-money laundering, cyber security, consumer 

protection, and financial and reporting requirements, among others. Many commentators, 

including those who have published comment letters, have stated that if finalized as proposed, the 

regulations would profoundly impact the virtual currency industry, for example by creating 

significant compliance costs and high barriers to entry for new bitcoin and virtual currency 

businesses. Other states and countries are likely to look to the BitLicense regime when 

determining whether and how to regulate bitcoin-related activities. On February 4, 2015, the 

NYDFS made public a revised version of the “BitLicense” with certain changes that included the 

clarification that mere software developers and miners will not be required to be licensed, and the 

discretion to grant exemptions to startups and new businesses with tailored requirements and 

examinations, among other changes. A 30-day comment period began on February 25, 2015 and is 

set to expire on March 27, 2015. We cannot predict what changes the NYDFS will make to the 

proposal or when the BitLicense regime may become effective. The BitLicense framework when 

finalized and effective may adversely affect the ability of consumers or businesses in New York to 

use bitcoins and the ability of bitcoin businesses in New York and elsewhere to operate effectively, 

and therefore may adversely affect the price of bitcoins. 

The USD is currently one of the dominant currencies that are traded for bitcoins. Thus, the U.S. 

Federal, State and local government regulations may have the most significant impact on the 

Bitcoin Network and the price of bitcoins. In addition, various foreign jurisdictions may adopt 

laws, regulations or directives that affect bitcoin. While certain governments such as Germany – 

where the Ministry of Finance has declared bitcoins to be “Rechnungseinheiten” (a form of private 

money that is recognized as a unit of account, but not recognized in the same manner as fiat 

currency) – have issued guidance as to how to treat bitcoins, most regulatory bodies have not yet 

issued official statements regarding their intention to regulate or determinations on regulation of 

bitcoin, bitcoin users and the Bitcoin Network.  Among those for which preliminary guidance has 

been issued in some form, Canada, Taiwan and Spain have labeled bitcoin as a digital or virtual 

currency, distinct from fiat currency, while Sweden and Norway are among those to categorize 

bitcoin as a form of virtual asset or commodity. In July 2014, the European Court of Justice 

indicated it would determine what value-added tax treatment should be afforded to bitcoin 

transactions throughout the EU. In China, a recent government notice classified bitcoins as legal 

and “virtual commodities;” however, the same notice restricted the banking and payment 

industries from using bitcoin, creating uncertainty and limiting the ability of bitcoin exchanges to 

operate in the then-second-largest bitcoin market.  On August 20, 2014, the Australian Taxation 

Office released guidance stating that bitcoin transactions will be “treated like barter transactions 

with similar taxation consequences” and that “[i]ndividuals who use bitcoin as an investment may 

be subject to capital gains tax rules when they dispose of it, as they would for shares of similar 

assets,” while the Australian Senate has also recently launched an inquiry into the country’s tax 

treatment and regulation of bitcoins. The government of Israel and the Israel Tax Authority are 

reportedly looking into taxing the profits from bitcoin trading. Conversely, regulatory bodies in 

some countries such as India and Switzerland have declined to exercise regulatory authority when 

afforded the opportunity. In March 2014, after the collapse of Mt. Gox, Japan confirmed that under 

its laws bitcoin is not considered a currency and therefore not subject to regulation. At the other 

extreme, Russia’s Ministry of Finance has issued a draft bill, expected to pass in Spring 2015, that 

would ban bitcoin and other “money surrogates” and impose monetary penalties for its use or even 
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the advocacy of its use. In July 2014, Ecuador banned the use of bitcoin and other digital 

currencies and announced a plan to create a state digital currency backed by assets of the 

Ecuadorian central bank. In May 2014, the Central Bank of Bolivia banned the use as currency of 

digital assets including bitcoins.  
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BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

Description of the Trust 

The Trust was formed as a Delaware statutory trust on September 13, 2013. The Trust holds 

bitcoins and, from time to time, issues Creation Baskets in exchange for deposits of bitcoins and 

distributes bitcoins in connection with Redemption Baskets. The investment objective of the Trust 

is for the NAV per Share to track the Bitcoin Market Price per Share, less the Trust’s liabilities 

(including estimated accrued expenses).  

The Shares represent common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in, and ownership 

of, the Trust. The Trust is not managed like a business corporation or an active investment vehicle. 

In accordance with the Trust Agreement, during the life of the Trust, proceeds from the creation of 

Shares in Baskets will only be (1) owned by the Trust and held by the Custodian, (2) disbursed (or 

converted to USD, if necessary) to pay the Trust’s expenses, (3) distributed to Authorized 

Participants upon receipt of Redemption Baskets, (4) liquidated in the event that the Trust 

terminates, or (5) liquidated as otherwise required by law or regulation. The payment of expenses 

by the Trust will result in a taxable event to Shareholders. See “Certain United States Federal Tax 

Considerations — Taxation of U.S. Shareholders.”  

The Trust is not regulated as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. 

Non-GAAP Net Asset Value 

The net asset value (“NAV”) of the Trust is the aggregate value, expressed in USD, of the Trust’s 

assets, less its liabilities (which include estimated accrued but unpaid fees and expenses). The 

Sponsor or its delegate calculates and publishes the Trust’s NAV each business day as of 4:00 PM, 

New York time, or as soon thereafter as practicable. 

In order to calculate the NAV, the Sponsor: 

1. Determines the Bitcoin Market Price. 

2. Multiplies the Bitcoin Market Price by the Trust’s aggregate number of bitcoins owned as 

of 4:00PM, New York time on the immediately preceding day. 

3. Adds the dollar value of the bitcoins receivable under pending Creation Baskets. 

4. Adds the accrued but unpaid interest, if any and the value of other Trust assets, if any. 

5. Subtracts the accrued but unpaid Combined Fee (and Extraordinary Fee, if any). 

6. Subtracts the dollar value of the bitcoins payable under pending Redemption Baskets. 

7. Subtracts other Trust expenses and liabilities, if any.  

 

In the event that the Sponsor determines that the methodology used to determine the Bitcoin 

Market Price is not an appropriate basis for valuation of the Trust’s bitcoins, the Sponsor shall 

determine an alternative methodology. 
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The Sponsor or its delegate also calculates the NAV per Share, which equals the NAV of the Trust 

divided by the number of outstanding Shares. The Sponsor or its delegate publishes the NAV and 

NAV per Share each business day as of 4:00 PM, New York time, or as soon thereafter as 

practicable at the Sponsor’s website www.grayscale.co.  

Investors may obtain pricing information based on the spot price of bitcoins from various financial 

information service providers. Current spot prices are also generally available with bid/ask spreads 

from bitcoin exchanges. In addition, the Sponsor’s website, www.grayscale.co, provides pricing 

information for bitcoins and the Shares. 

Bitcoin Market Price 

 

In the ordinary course of business, the Trust values its bitcoins based on  the TradeBlock XBX 

Index (the “Index”), which takes into account prices set for bitcoins on certain bitcoin trading 

venues, or otherwise by looking to prices set for bitcoins on the major Bitcoin Exchanges, as 

described below. The Sponsor will use the following cascading set of rules to calculate the Bitcoin 

Market Price. For the avoidance of doubt, the Sponsor will employ the below rules sequentially 

and in the order as presented below, should one or more specific rule(s) fail: 

 

1. Bitcoin Market Price = The price set by the Index as of 4:00 PM, New York time, on the 

valuation date. The Index is a U.S. Dollar-denominated composite reference rate for the 

price of bitcoin based on the volume weighted price at trading venues selected by 

TradeBlock. Trading venues used to calculate the Index may include Bitcoin Exchanges, 

over-the-counter markets, or derivative platforms. TradeBlock uses its discretion to select 

trading venues that will be included in the Index based on guidelines such as depth of 

liquidity, compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, data availability, 

domicile in the United States and acceptance of U.S. Dollar deposits. TradeBlock may 

change these guidelines and the trading venues included in the Index at any time. To 

calculate the reference rate, trade data is cleansed and compiled in such a manner as to 

algorithmically reduce the impact of anomalistic or manipulative trading. This is 

accomplished by adjusting the weight of each data input based on price deviation relative 

to the observable set of data for the relevant trading venue, as well as recent and long-term 

trading volume at each venue relative to the observable set for the relevant trading venues. 

TradeBlock may change this weighting algorithm at any time at its discretion. To calculate 

volume weighted price, the weighting algorithm is applied to the price and volume of all 

inputs for the immediately preceding 24-hour period at 4:00:00 PM New York time on the 

valuation date. 

 

The description of the Index is based on information publicly available at TradeBlock’s 

website, https://tradeblock.com/blog/tradeblock-xbx-index-data-now-publicly-available, 

as of November 13, 2014. TradeBlock publishes the Index continuously on its website at 

ttp://tradeblock.com/markets/index.  

 

None of the information on TradeBlock’s websites is incorporated by reference into this 

Annual Report. TradeBlock may change the trading venues that are used to calculate the 

Index or otherwise change the way in which the Index is calculated at any time. The 
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Sponsor may not be aware of such changes that are material to the calculation of the 

Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

Subject to the next sentence, if the Index becomes unavailable, or if the Sponsor 

determines in good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the 

Sponsor will, on a best efforts basis, contact the Index provider in order to obtain the 

Bitcoin Market Price. If after such contact the Index remains unavailable or the Sponsor 

continues to believe in good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, 

then the Sponsor will employ the next rule to determine the Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the relationships between TradeBlock, the Sponsor, 

management of the Sponsor, and SecondMarket, Inc. that may create a conflict of interest. 

 

2. Bitcoin Market Price = The volume weighted average bitcoin price for the immediately 

preceding 24-hour period at 4:00:00 PM  on the valuation date as published by an 

alternative third party’s public data feed that is reasonably reliable, subject to the 

requirement that such data is calculated based upon a volume weighted average bitcoin 

price obtained from the major Bitcoin Exchanges (“Second Source”). Subject to the next 

sentence, if the Second Source becomes unavailable (e.g., data sources from the Second 

Source for bitcoin prices become unavailable, unwieldy or otherwise impractical for use), 

or if the Sponsor determines in good faith that the Second Source does not reflect an 

accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will, on a best efforts basis, contact the Second 

Source in an attempt to obtain the relevant data. If after such contact the Second Source 

remains unavailable or the Sponsor continues to believe in good faith that the Second 

Source does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will employ the next 

rule to determine the Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

3. Bitcoin Market Price = The 24-hour volume weighted average bitcoin price as calculated 

by dividing the sum of the total volume of bitcoin transactions in USD by the total volume 

of transactions in bitcoins, in each case for the 24 hour period from 4:00:00 PM (or as soon 

as practicable thereafter) on the business day prior to the valuation date to 4:00:00 PM (or 

as soon as practicable thereafter) on the valuation date as published by a third party’s 

public data feed that is reasonably reliable, subject to the requirement that such data is 

calculated based upon a volume weighted average bitcoin price obtained from the major 

Bitcoin Exchanges (“Third Source”). Subject to the next sentence, if the Third Source 

becomes unavailable (e.g., data sources from the Third Source become unavailable, 

unwieldy or otherwise impractical for use), or if the Sponsor determines in good faith that 

the Third Source does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will, on a best 

efforts basis, contact the Third Source in an attempt to obtain the relevant data. If after such 

contact the Third Source remains unavailable or the Sponsor continues to believe in good 

faith that the Third Source does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price then the Sponsor will 

employ the next rule to determine the Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

4. Bitcoin Market Price = The 24-hour volume weighted average bitcoin price as calculated 

by dividing the sum of the total volume of bitcoin transactions in USD by the total volume 

of transactions in bitcoins, in each case for the 24 hour period from 4:00:00 PM (or as soon 



 

31 

   

as practicable thereafter) on the business day prior to the valuation date to 4:00:00 PM (or 

as soon as practicable thereafter) on the valuation date on the Bitcoin Benchmark 

Exchanges. A “Bitcoin Benchmark Exchange” is a Bitcoin Exchange that represents at 

least 25% of the aggregate USD-denominated trading volume of the bitcoin market during 

the last 30 consecutive calendar days and that to the knowledge of the Sponsor is in 

substantial compliance with the laws, rules and regulations, including any anti-money 

laundering and know-your-customer procedures, of such Bitcoin Exchange’s applicable 

jurisdiction; provided that if there are fewer than three such Bitcoin Exchanges, then the 

Bitcoin Benchmark Exchanges will include such Bitcoin Exchange or Bitcoin Exchanges 

that meet the above-described requirements as well as one or more additional Bitcoin 

Exchanges, selected by the Sponsor, that have had monthly trading volume of at least 

50,000 bitcoins in during the last 30 consecutive calendar days and that to the knowledge 

of the Sponsor is in substantial compliance with the laws, rules and regulations, including 

any anti-money laundering and know-your-customer procedures, of such Bitcoin 

Exchange’s applicable jurisdiction. 

 

The Sponsor will review the composition of the exchanges that comprise the Bitcoin 

Benchmark Exchanges at the beginning of each month, or more frequently if necessary, in 

order to ensure the accuracy of such composition. 

 

Subject to the next sentence, if one or more of the Bitcoin Benchmark Exchanges become 

unavailable (e.g., data sources from the Bitcoin Benchmark Exchanges of bitcoin prices 

become unavailable, unwieldy or otherwise impractical for use), or if the Sponsor 

determines in good faith that the Bitcoin Benchmark Exchange does not reflect an accurate 

bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will, on a best efforts basis, contact the Bitcoin Benchmark 

Exchange that is experiencing the service outages in an attempt to obtain the relevant data. 

If after such contact one or more of the Bitcoin Benchmark Exchanges remain unavailable 

or the Sponsor continues to believe in good faith that the Bitcoin Benchmark Exchange 

does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, the Sponsor will employ the next rule to 

determine the Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

5. Bitcoin Market Price = The Sponsor will use its best judgment to determine a good faith 

estimate of the Bitcoin Market Price. 

 

Data used for the above calculation of the Bitcoin Market Price is gathered by the Sponsor or its 

delegate who calculates the Bitcoin Market Price each business day as of 4:00 PM, New York 

time, or as soon thereafter as practicable. The Sponsor or its delegate will disseminate the Bitcoin 

Market Price on each business day. 

Creation and Redemption of Shares 

The Trust creates and redeems the Shares on a continuous basis, but only upon the order of 

Authorized Participants and only in Baskets. A Basket is a block of 100 Shares. Initially, each 

Share represented 1/10
th

 of a bitcoin. 

The creation and redemption of Baskets requires the delivery to the Trust or the distribution by the 

Trust of the number of bitcoins represented by the Baskets being created or redeemed. The number 
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of bitcoins that will be required (“Basket Bitcoin Amount”) for each creation basket (“Creation 

Basket”) or redemption basket (“Redemption Basket”) will be determined from time to time by 

dividing the number of bitcoins owned by the Trust at such time by the number of Shares 

outstanding at such time (calculated to one one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying 

the quotient obtained by 100. The Basket Bitcoin Amount may gradually decrease over time if the 

Trust’s bitcoins are used to pay the Trust’s expenses. 

Authorized Participants are the only persons that may place orders to create and redeem Baskets. 

Each Authorized Participant (i) is a registered broker-dealer, (ii) has entered into a Participant 

Agreement with the Sponsor and the Trust, and (iii) has access to an Authorized Participant 

Self-Administered Account (as defined herein). The Participant Agreement provides the 

procedures for the creation and redemption of Baskets and for the delivery of bitcoins required for 

creations and redemptions. A list of the current Authorized Participants can be obtained from the 

Sponsor. The Participant Agreements may be amended by the Sponsor and the relevant 

Authorized Participant. 

Authorized Participants who make deposits of bitcoins with the Trust in exchange for Creation 

Baskets receive no fees, commissions or other form of compensation or inducement of any kind 

from either the Sponsor or the Trust. No Authorized Participant has any obligation or 

responsibility to the Sponsor or the Trust to affect any sale or resale of Shares. Authorized 

Participants may realize significant profits buying, selling, creating and redeeming Shares as a 

result of changes in the value of Shares or bitcoins. In particular, an Authorized Participant may 

profit from the “spread” (or difference) between the prices at which it purchases and sells Shares 

and bitcoins (or obtains Shares or bitcoins through the creation and redemption of Baskets). For 

example, when creating Shares, an Authorized Participant may deposit bitcoins with the Trust that 

it has acquired at a price that is lower than the current Bitcoin Market Price and thus receive Shares 

with a value greater than the Authorized Participant’s cost of acquiring the deposited bitcoins. 

Similarly, an Authorized Participant may sell Shares to a customer from its inventory at a price 

higher than the Authorized Participant’s cost in acquiring such Shares. As another example, when 

redeeming Shares, an Authorized Participant may receive bitcoins and then hold them for later 

resale at a profit if the price of bitcoins increases. The frequent and significant fluctuations in the 

price of bitcoins increases the extent to which an Authorized Participant may profit from its 

transactions in Shares and bitcoins. As of the date of this Annual Report, the only Authorized 

Participant is SecondMarket, Inc., an affiliate of the Sponsor. 

Each Authorized Participant will be registered as a broker-dealer under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended, and will be regulated by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, 

Inc., or, and will be qualified to act as a broker or dealer in the states or other jurisdictions where 

the nature of its business so requires. Certain Authorized Participants may be regulated under 

federal and state banking laws and regulations. Each Authorized Participant will have its own set 

of rules and procedures, internal controls and information barriers as it determines to be 

appropriate in light of its own regulatory regime.  

Authorized Participants may act for their own accounts or as agents for customers. As of the date 

of this Annual Report, SecondMarket, Inc. has signed a Participant Agreement with the Sponsor 

and the Trust and may create and redeem Baskets. 
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The following description of the procedures for the creation and redemption of Baskets is only a 

summary.  

Creation Procedures 

In order to create a Basket, the Authorized Participant deposits the Basket Bitcoin Amount with 

the Custodian and orders Creation Baskets from the Trust via notification to the Sponsor. 

Following receipt of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount, the Transfer Agent credits Creation 

Baskets to the Authorized Participant. The Authorized Participant will then be able to sell Shares 

to its customers directly. 

Determination of required deposits 

The Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount required for a Creation Basket will be determined by 

dividing the number of bitcoins owned by the Trust at such time by the number of Shares 

outstanding at such time (calculated to one one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying 

the quotient obtained by 100 and the number of Creation Baskets. 

The Sponsor has final determination of all questions as to the composition of the Creation Basket 

Bitcoin Amount. 

Delivery of required deposits 

An Authorized Participant who places a creation order is responsible for delivering the Creation 

Basket Bitcoin Amount to the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust 

Safekeeping Account, at the Custodian’s instruction. The Authorized Participant will initiate 

delivery of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount from a bitcoin wallet address previously known to 

the Custodian as belonging to the Authorized Participant (“Authorized Participant 

Self-Administered Account”). Deposits other than those received from an Authorized Participant 

Self-Administered Account will be rejected. The expense and risk of delivery, ownership and 

safekeeping of bitcoins, until such bitcoins have been received by the Trust, shall be borne solely 

by the Authorized Participant. Upon receipt of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount, the Custodian 

will transfer the Creation Bitcoin Basket Amount to the Trust Storage Account or the Trust 

Safekeeping Account, as applicable. The Sponsor will then direct the Transfer Agent to credit the 

number of Creation Baskets ordered to the Authorized Participant’s account on the next business 

day after the creation order date. 

The Custodian may accept delivery of bitcoins by such other means as the Sponsor, from time to 

time, may determine to be acceptable for the Trust. 

Rejection of creation orders 

The delivery of the Shares against deposit of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount may be 

suspended generally, or refused with respect to particular requested creations, during any period 

when the transfer books of the Sponsor are closed or if any such action is deemed necessary or 

advisable by the Sponsor for any reason at any time or from time to time. None of the Sponsor or 

the Custodian will be liable for the rejection or acceptance of any creation order or Creation Basket 

Bitcoin Amount. 
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Redemption Procedures 

At this time, the Sponsor is not accepting redemption requests from holders of Shares. 

In order to redeem Shares, an Authorized Participant must send the Sponsor a redemption order 

specifying the number of Redemption Baskets that the Authorized Participant wishes to redeem 

and confirming the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account information. The Sponsor 

or its delegates instructs the Custodian to send the Authorized Participant a number of bitcoins 

equal to the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount and directs the Transfer Agent to debit the 

number of Redemption Baskets redeemed from the Authorized Participant’s account on the next 

business day after the redemption order date. 

Determination of redemption distribution 

The Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount required for a Redemption Basket will be determined by 

dividing the number of bitcoins owned by the Trust at such time by the number of Shares 

outstanding at such time (calculated to one one-hundred-millionth of one bitcoin) and multiplying 

the quotient obtained by 100 and the number of Redemption Baskets. 

The Sponsor has final determination of all questions as to the composition of the Redemption 

Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

Delivery of redemption distribution 

The Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount due from the Trust is delivered to the Authorized 

Participant as directed in the Authorized Participant’s Participant Agreement. 

The Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount from the Trust is transferred by the Custodian from the 

Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, to the Authorized 

Participant Self-Administered Account, after giving effect to all estimated accrued but unpaid 

interest and expenses. The Authorized Participant and the Trust are each at risk in respect of 

bitcoins credited to their respective accounts in the event of the Custodian’s insolvency. The 

Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount is subject to the deduction of any applicable tax or other 

governmental charges that may be due. 

The Sponsor has final determination of all questions as to the composition of the Redemption 

Basket Bitcoin Amount.  

Suspension or rejection of redemption orders  

The Sponsor will reject a redemption order if the order is not in proper form as described in the 

Participant Agreement or if the fulfillment of the order, in the opinion of its counsel, might be 

unlawful. The Sponsor may suspend redemption orders if it determines, in its sole discretion, that a 

suspension is necessary or desirable. Suspension of redemption orders at any time and for any 

reason may have adverse effects on the market for, the market price and the NAV of the Shares.  

Tax Responsibility 

Authorized Participants are responsible for any transfer tax, sales or use tax, recording tax, value 

added tax or similar tax or governmental charge applicable to the creation of Creation Baskets or 

redemption of Redemption Baskets, regardless of whether or not such tax or charge is imposed 

directly on the Authorized Participant, and agree to indemnify the Sponsor, the Custodian and the 
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Trust if they are required by law to pay any such tax, together with any applicable penalties, 

additions to tax or interest thereon. 

Trust Expenses 

The Trust has agreed to pay the Sponsor a combined fee (“Combined Fee”), which accrues daily 

at an annual rate of 2% of the NAV of the Trust, at such times as determined in the Sponsor’s sole 

discretion, and generally expected to occur monthly in arrears.  

Although the Combined Fee is calculated in USD, the Combined Fee accrues daily and is 

generally paid monthly in arrears, in the equivalent number of bitcoins. The exchange rate that will 

be used to convert the Combined Fee from USD to the appropriate number of bitcoins will be 

calculated based upon the Bitcoin Market Price at 4:00 PM, New York time in the case of daily 

accruals and as of the day of each withdrawal and payment in arrears (“Combined Fee Exchange 

Rate”). The Combined Fee Exchange Rate does not include fees and expenses for converting USD 

into bitcoins. 

After converting the Combined Fee from USD into the required number of bitcoins based upon the 

Actual Exchange Rate (as defined below), the Sponsor, its delegates, or the Custodian will 

withdraw the corresponding number of bitcoins from the Trust Storage Account. 

In order to pay the Combined Fee in USD, the Sponsor may be required to convert the Combined 

Fee, as reflected by the appropriate number of bitcoins, into USD. The Sponsor will use its best 

efforts within a reasonable time frame in order to seek the highest exchange rate and lowest fees 

(“Actual Exchange Rate”). It is expected that the Combined Fee Exchange Rate and the Actual 

Exchange Rate may differ. 

At the Sponsor’s election, the Sponsor may elect to (i) direct its delegates or the Custodian to 

withdraw the bitcoin amount comprising the Combined Fee, (ii) convert the Combined Fee to USD 

and (iii) pay such dollar amount to the Sponsor, who will then pay itself as well as the relevant 

Constituent Fees and Assumed Fees (as defined below). Alternatively, at the Sponsor’s election, 

the Sponsor may elect to (i) direct its delegates or the Custodian to withdraw the bitcoin amount 

comprising the Combined Fee, (ii) convert the Combined Fee to USD and (iii) pay certain 

Constituent Fees and/or Assumed Fees from the Combined Fee and the remaining amount, if any, 

to the Sponsor. 

As consideration for its receipt of the Combined Fee, the Sponsor is obligated under the Trust 

Agreement to assume and pay the following fees and expenses of the Trust: the Marketing Fee, 

Custodian Fee and the Sponsor Fee (the “Constituent Fees”), the Shareholder Communications 

Hub fee, Transfer Agent fee, Trustee fee, OTCQX Fees and expenses related to public trading on 

OTCQX in an amount up to $600,000 annually (including legal and audit fees and expenses), any 

other legal and accounting fees, regulatory fees, printing and mailing costs, and applicable license 

fees (along with the Constituent Fees, the “Assumed Fees”). 

In certain extraordinary circumstances, the Trust may pay expenses in addition to the Combined 

Fee and the Assumed Fees, such as, but not limited to, taxes and governmental charges, expenses 

and costs of any extraordinary services performed by the Sponsor (or any other Service Provider) 

on behalf of the Trust to protect the Trust or the interests of Shareholders, indemnification 
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expenses, fees and expenses related to public trading on OTCQX in excess of $600,000 annually,  

and extraordinary legal fees and expenses, and extraordinary legal fees and expenses (collectively, 

“Extraordinary Fees”). If Extraordinary Fees are incurred, the Trust will be required to pay these 

Extraordinary Fees by selling bitcoins and, as a result, both the NAV of the Trust and the number 

of bitcoins represented by a Share will decline at such time. If the Trust were to incur 

Extraordinary Fees in USD, bitcoins will need to be converted to USD at the Actual Exchange 

Rate at the time of conversion to pay these Extraordinary Fees. Although the Sponsor cannot 

definitively state the frequency or magnitude of the Extraordinary Fees, the Sponsor expects that 

they may occur infrequently, if at all. 

Because the Trust incurs expenses in bitcoins each month, the Sponsor, its delegates or the 

Custodian will withdraw bitcoins as needed from the Trust Storage Account to pay the Combined 

Fees (as well as the Extraordinary Fee, if any). Shareholders do not have the option of choosing to 

pay their proportionate share of the excess expenses in lieu of having their share of expenses paid 

by the Trust’s sale of bitcoins. If the Trust were to incur expenses in USD, bitcoins will be 

converted to USD at the Actual Exchange Rate at the time of conversion to pay these expenses. 

Because the number of the Trust’s bitcoins will decrease (and the Trust will incur additional fees 

associated with converting bitcoins into USD), the number of bitcoins represented by a Share will 

decline at such time and the NAV of the Trust will also decrease. Accordingly, the Shareholders 

will bear the cost of these expenses. The payment of expenses by the Trust will result in a taxable 

event to Shareholders. See “Certain United States Federal Tax Considerations — Taxation of U.S. 

Shareholders.” 

The Trust will dissolve upon the occurrence of certain dissolution events listed in the Trust 

Agreement. See “Description of the Trust Agreement — Termination Events.” 
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RISK FACTORS 

You should consider carefully the risks described below before making an investment decision.  

You should also refer to the other information included in this Annual Report.  See “Glossary” for 

a description of certain terms used in this Annual Report.  

Risks Related to Our Business 

Regulatory Risks 

Regulatory changes or actions may alter the nature of an investment in the Shares or restrict 

the use of bitcoins or the operation of the Bitcoin Network or the Bitcoin Exchange Market 

in a manner that adversely affects an investment in the Shares. 

As bitcoins have grown in both popularity and market size, the U.S. Congress and a number of 

U.S. federal and state agencies (including FinCEN, the SEC, the CFTC, FINRA, the CFPB, the 

Department of Justice, the Department of Homeland Security, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, 

the IRS, and state financial institution regulators) have begun to examine the operations of the 

Bitcoin Network, bitcoin users and the Bitcoin Exchange Market, with particular focus (i) on the 

extent to which bitcoins can be used to launder the proceeds of illegal activities or fund criminal or 

terrorist enterprises, (ii) the safety and soundness of exchanges or other service-providers that hold 

bitcoins for users and (iii) other risks to investors and consumers who hold and use bitcoins.  

On-going and future regulatory actions may alter, perhaps to a materially adverse extent, the 

nature of an investment in the Shares or the ability of the Trust to continue to operate. 

Among other things, the IRS has stated, in a March 2014 notice, that virtual currency should be 

treated as “property” for U.S. federal tax purposes. In March 2013 guidance, FinCEN took the 

position that any administrator or exchanger of convertible virtual currencies, including bitcoins, 

must register with FinCEN as a money transmitter (a form of money services business) and must 

comply with the anti-money laundering regulations applicable to money transmitters.  FinCEN has 

also taken the position that mere “users” of bitcoin, as defined in its guidance, would not have to 

register as money transmitters.  The requirement that bitcoin exchangers that do business in the 

U.S. register with FinCEN and comply with anti-money laundering regulations may increase the 

cost of buying and selling bitcoins and therefore may adversely affect their price. 

On January 30, 2014, FinCEN published two interpretive letters elaborating on the original 

guidance. One addresses bitcoin mining operations and confirms, among other things, that “so 

long as the user is undertaking the transaction solely for the user’s own purposes and not as a 

business service performed for the benefit of another,” the miner is not engaged in money 

transmission services through the sale of its own mined bitcoins and dividend of profits to 

investors. The other interpretation addresses certain bitcoin investment activities and provides that 

the investment in bitcoin for the benefit of the investor itself is not, under the circumstances 

described in the interpretation, money transmission for purposes of the FinCEN regulations.  

However, the interpretation also notes that the provision of investment-related or brokerage 

services in connection with such investment activity would require additional analysis. The 

interpretation further provides that the provision of software for bitcoin services is not considered 

money transmission under the circumstances described in the interpretation. On October 27, 2014, 
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FinCEN published two more interpretive letters further elaborating on its March 2013 guidance. 

One letter indicated that a virtual currency exchange, even where it buys from customers for the 

exchange’s inventory and sells to customers out of its own inventory, acting as a dealer rather than 

a broker, is nevertheless engaged in money transmission, under the circumstances described in the 

interpretation. The other letter indicated that a company that provides payment processing services 

by taking legal tender payments from customers of merchants and providing those merchants with 

payments in bitcoin is engaged in money transmission, under the circumstances described in the 

interpretation. 

Similarly, local state regulators such as the California Department of Financial Institutions and the 

New York State Department of Financial Services have also initiated examinations of bitcoins and 

the Bitcoin Network.  A number of states, such as California, Idaho, New York, Virginia and 

Washington, are actively requiring bitcoin businesses to register on a state-level as money 

transmitters or money service businesses.  However, certain other state regulators, such as the 

Texas Department of Banking and Kansas Office of the State Bank Commissioner, have found that 

bitcoins do not constitute money, and that transmission of bitcoin does not constitute money 

transmission requiring licensure. The inconsistency in applying money transmitting licensure 

requirements to certain bitcoin businesses may make it more difficult for bitcoin businesses to 

provide services, which may affect consumer adoption of bitcoin and its price. On June 28, 2014, 

the Governor of the State of California signed into law a bill that removed state-level prohibitions 

on the use of alternative forms of currency or value (including bitcoins).  

On January 28 and 29, 2014, the NYDFS held hearings featuring investors, entrepreneurs and 

law-enforcement authorities. During the hearings, Department staff and panelists discussed the 

feasibility of implementing state-level regulation specific to the needs of cryptocurrencies. On 

March 14, 2014, NYDFS issued a public order stating that the department would consider formal 

proposals and applications in connection with the establishment of regulated virtual currency 

exchanges operating in New York. On July 17, 2014, the NYDFS published its proposed 

comprehensive regulatory scheme for virtual currency businesses, called the “BitLicense.” 

Prompted by concerns about the use of virtual currency in money laundering, consumer fraud and 

other criminal activity, the proposal represents one of the first attempts to comprehensively 

regulate bitcoin and other virtual currency activities. Under the proposed regulations, most 

businesses involved in virtual currency transactions in or involving New York, excluding 

merchants (as well as consumers), would be required to apply for licenses from the NYDFS. The 

proposed regulations also have anti-money laundering, cyber security, consumer protection, and 

financial and reporting requirements, among others. Many commentators, including those who 

have published comment letters, have stated that if finalized as proposed, the regulations would 

profoundly impact the virtual currency industry, for example by creating significant compliance 

costs and high barriers to entry for new bitcoin and virtual currency businesses. Other states and 

countries are likely to look to the BitLicense regime when determining whether and how to 

regulate bitcoin-related activities. On February 4, 2015, the NYDFS made public a revised version 

of the “BitLicense” with certain changes that included the clarification that mere software 

developers and miners will not be required to be licensed, and the discretion to grant exemptions to 

startups and new businesses with tailored requirements and examinations, among other changes. A 

30-day comment period began on February 25, 2015 and is set to expire on March 27, 2015. We 

cannot predict what changes the NYDFS will make to the proposal or when the BitLicense regime 

may become effective. We cannot predict what changes the NYDFS will make to the proposal or 
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when the BitLicense regime may become effective. The BitLicense framework when finalized and 

effective may adversely affect the ability of consumers or businesses in New York to use bitcoins 

and the ability of bitcoin businesses in New York and elsewhere to operate effectively, and 

therefore may adversely affect the price of bitcoins. 

A number of Federal Courts have ruled under various circumstances that bitcoins are forms of 

money. In August 2013, a ruling from a federal magistrate judge of the U.S. District Court for the 

Eastern District of Texas ruled that “Bitcoin is a form of currency or form of money,” to support a 

finding that interests sold in a ponzi scheme in return for bitcoins were “securities.” Similarly, two 

federal judges for the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York have found that 

bitcoins constitute money for purposes of federal criminal anti-money laundering laws. There is no 

indication yet that courts or regulators will reach a consensus on whether bitcoin is money, 

especially under differing regulations and statutes that have different underlying purposes.  

As of February 2014, committees in the U.S. Senate, a coordinating group of the Conference of 

State Bank Supervisors (“CSBS”), and the New York State Department of Financial Services in 

particular have initiated formal inquiries into cryptocurrencies, including bitcoins, and possible 

regulation thereof. On November 18 and 19, 2013, the U.S. Senate Committees on Homeland 

Security and Government Oversight and Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs held respective 

hearings featuring regulators including the director of FinCEN and representatives from the 

Department of Justice and Secret Service, as well as members of the private sector. During the 

hearings, members of the Senate and panelists emphasized the importance of tax guidance and 

asset classification in the U.S. regulatory landscape for bitcoin. On February 20, 2014, the CSBS 

announced the formation of a Task Force to study the changing landscape of payment systems and 

the regulation thereof, including virtual currencies.  In April 2014, the CSBS, together with the 

North American Securities Administrators Association released model consumer and investor 

guidance on virtual currencies (“Model Guidance”) that cautions consumer and investors about 

risks associated with acquiring, holding and using virtual currencies such as bitcoin, including 

volatility, risk of loss or theft, potential for criminal activities and the investigation of criminal 

activities to disrupt access to accounts, lack of regulation  of certain participants in the market, and 

potential tax consequences.  The warnings or others like them have been issued by a number of 

states, including Washington, Wisconsin, North Carolina, Nevada, Massachusetts, Michigan, New 

Hampshire, Alabama, Maryland, Maine, New Mexico, California, Florida and Hawaii. 

Currently, neither the SEC nor the CFTC has formally asserted regulatory authority over the 

Bitcoin Network or bitcoin trading and ownership. On May 7, 2014, the SEC published an investor 

alert that highlighted fraud and other concerns relating to certain investment opportunities 

denominated in bitcoins and fraudulent and unregistered investment schemes targeted at 

participants in online bitcoin forums. At a Senate Banking Committee hearing in September 2014, 

the chairman of the SEC stated that “at this stage we have not concluded that it is a security that 

would be subject to that kind of regulation by us, but it is something we’re still very focused on.” A 

CFTC Commissioner stated publicly that the CFTC should consider regulating bitcoins. On 

October 9, 2014, the CFTC held a hearing on bitcoin that focused on the benefits of the Bitcoin 

Network and on the launch of TeraExchange, a platform for bitcoin derivative contracts that was 

approved by the CFTC. Although the SEC has taken action indicating that it has jurisdiction over 

securities that relate to bitcoin (for example, with respect to the Shares in this Trust), and the CFTC 

has taken action indicating that it has jurisdiction over certain bitcoin derivatives with respect to 
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TeraExchange’s platform, as of the date of this Annual Report, the Sponsor is not aware of any 

rules that have been proposed to regulate bitcoins as a commodity or a security. To the extent that 

bitcoins are determined to be a security, commodity or other regulated asset, or to the extent that a 

U.S. or foreign government or quasi-governmental agency exerts regulatory authority over the 

Bitcoin Network, the Bitcoin Exchange Market or bitcoin trading and ownership, trading or 

ownership in bitcoins or the Shares may be adversely affected. 

FINRA issued an Investor Alert in March 2014 with respect to the speculative, regulatory and 

fraud related risks associated with bitcoins and virtual currencies.   

In a report released publicly on June 26, 2014, the U.S. Government Accountability Office 

released a Report to the Committee on Homeland Security and Government Affairs.  The report 

summarized regulatory, law enforcement and consumer protection assessments regarding the 

bitcoin economy and bitcoin in general.  The report recommended that the CFPB participate in 

inter-agency working groups on bitcoin to assess how the agency might address bitcoin-related 

consumer protection issues.  The report echoed, in part, the SEC investor alert mentioned above.  

In August 2014, the CFPB issued a consumer advisory regarding the risks posed by virtual 

currencies, including bitcoin. On November 13, 2014, the CFPB issued a proposed rule to regulate 

certain prepaid products, including certain mobile wallets and other emerging electronic payment 

technologies.  In the preamble to the proposed rule, the CFPB stated that “the proposed rule may 

have potential application to virtual currency,” but that the CFPB’s analysis of the applicability of 

existing regulations and the proposed rule to virtual currencies and related products and services is 

“ongoing,” and that the proposal is not intended to resolve those issues.  To the extent that the 

CFPB determines that bitcoins or elements of the Bitcoin Network are subject to either existing 

regulations or this proposed rule, the expense of transacting in bitcoins likely would increase, 

which could negatively affect the value of the Shares. 

To the extent that future regulatory actions or policies limit the ability to exchange bitcoins or 

utilize them for payments, the demand for bitcoins will be reduced and Authorized Participants 

may not seek to redeem Redemption Baskets in exchange for redemption proceeds in bitcoins.  

Furthermore, regulatory actions may limit the ability of end-users to convert bitcoins into fiat 

currency (e.g., USD) or use bitcoins to pay for goods and services.  Such regulatory actions or 

policies would result in a reduction of demand, and in turn, the Bitcoin Market Price and the price 

of the Shares. 

Bitcoins currently face an uncertain regulatory landscape not only in the United States but also in 

many foreign jurisdictions such as the European Union, China, Japan and Russia. While certain 

governments such as Germany – where the Ministry of Finance has declared bitcoins to be 

“Rechnungseinheiten” (a form of private money that is recognized as a unit of account, but not 

recognized in the same manner as fiat currency) – have issued guidance as to how to treat bitcoins, 

most regulatory bodies have not yet issued official statements regarding their intention to regulate 

or determinations on regulation of bitcoin, bitcoin users and the Bitcoin Network.  Among those 

for which preliminary guidance has been issued in some form, Canada, Taiwan and Spain have 

labeled bitcoin as a digital or virtual currency, distinct from fiat currency, while Sweden and 

Norway are among those to categorize bitcoin as a form of virtual asset or commodity. In July 

2014, the European Court of Justice indicated it would determine what value-added tax treatment 

should be afforded to bitcoin transactions throughout the EU. In China, a recent government notice 
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classified bitcoins as legal and “virtual commodities;” however, the same notice restricted the 

banking and payment industries from using bitcoin, creating uncertainty and limiting the ability of 

bitcoin exchanges to operate in the then-second-largest bitcoin market.  On August 20, 2014, the 

Australian Taxation Office released guidance stating that bitcoin transactions will be “treated like 

barter transactions with similar taxation consequences” and that “[i]ndividuals who use bitcoin as 

an investment may be subject to capital gains tax rules when they dispose of it, as they would for 

shares of similar assets,” while the Australian Senate has also recently launched an inquiry into the 

country’s tax treatment and regulation of bitcoins. The government of Israel and the Israel Tax 

Authority are reportedly looking into taxing the profits from bitcoin trading. Conversely, 

regulatory bodies in some countries such as India and Switzerland have declined to exercise 

regulatory authority when afforded the opportunity. In March 2014, after the collapse of Mt. Gox, 

Japan confirmed that under its laws bitcoin is not considered a currency and therefore not subject 

to regulation. At the other extreme, Russia’s Ministry of Finance has issued a draft bill, expected to 

pass in Spring 2015, that would ban bitcoin and other “money surrogates” and impose monetary 

penalties for its use or even the advocacy of its use. In July 2014, Ecuador banned the use of 

bitcoin and other digital currencies and announced a plan to create a state digital currency backed 

by assets of the Ecuadorian central bank. In May 2014, the Central Bank of Bolivia banned the use 

as currency of digital assets including bitcoins.  

Various foreign jurisdictions may, in the near future, adopt laws, regulations or directives that 

affect the Bitcoin Network, the Bitcoin Exchange Market, and their users, particularly Bitcoin 

Exchanges and service providers that fall within such jurisdictions’ regulatory scope. Such laws, 

regulations or directives may conflict with those of the United States and may negatively impact 

the acceptance of bitcoins by users, merchants and service providers outside the United States and 

may therefore impede the growth or sustainability of the bitcoin economy in the European Union, 

China, Japan, Russia and the United States and globally, or otherwise negatively affect the value of 

bitcoins. 

The effect of any future regulatory change on the Trust or bitcoins is impossible to predict, but 

such change could be substantial and adverse to the Trust and the value of the Shares.  

Countries, including the United States, may in the future curtail or outlaw, the acquisition, 

use or redemption of bitcoins.  Ownership of, holding or trading in Shares may then be 

considered illegal and subject to sanction. 

Countries may in the future take, regulatory actions that prohibit or severely restrict the right to 

acquire, own, hold, sell, use or trade bitcoins or to exchange bitcoins for fiat currency.  By 

extension, similar actions by other countries, including the United States, may result in the 

restriction of the acquisition, ownership, holding, selling, use or trading in the Shares.  Such a 

restriction could result in the termination and liquidation of the Trust at a time that is 

disadvantageous to Shareholders, or may adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

If regulatory changes or interpretations of the Trust’s activities require the regulation of the 

Trust as a money service business under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the 

authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, the Trust may be required to register and comply 

with such regulations.  To the extent that the Sponsor decides to continue the Trust, the 

required registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in extraordinary, 
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recurring and/or non-recurring expenses to the Trust.  The Sponsor may also decide to 

terminate the Trust.  Termination of the Trust in response to the changed regulatory 

circumstances may be at a time that is disadvantageous to investors.  

To the extent that the activities of the Trust cause it to be deemed a “money services business” 

under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, 

the Trust may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations, including those that would mandate 

the Trust to implement anti-money laundering programs, make certain reports to FinCEN and 

maintain certain records.  Such additional regulatory obligations may cause the Trust to incur 

extraordinary expenses, possibly affecting an investment in the Shares in a material and adverse 

manner.  If the Sponsor determines not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration 

requirements, the Sponsor will terminate the Trust.  Such termination could result in the 

liquidation of the Trust’s bitcoins at a time that is disadvantageous to an investor in the Shares. 

If regulatory changes or interpretations of the Trust’s activities require the regulation of the 

Trust as a money services business, money transmitter, provider of prepaid or stored value 

services, or virtual currency business under state regimes for the licensing of such 

businesses, the Trust may be required to obtain state licenses or registrations and comply 

with such regulations.  To the extent that Sponsor decides to continue the Trust, the 

required licenses or registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in 

extraordinary, recurring and/or non-recurring expenses to the Trust.  The Sponsor may 

also decide to terminate the Trust.  Termination of the Trust in response to the changed 

regulatory circumstances may be at a time that is disadvantageous to investors. 

To the extent that the activities of the Trust cause it to be deemed a “money services business,” 

“money transmitter,” provider of prepaid or stored value, or virtual currency business under state 

laws for the regulation of such (or similar) activities, the Trust may be required to apply for 

licenses and to comply with the regulations of multiple states, including those that would mandate 

the Trust to maintain specified amounts of capital, hold only specified types of assets, post bonding 

in specified amounts, and implement anti money-laundering and cybersecurity programs. Such 

applications and additional regulatory obligations may cause the Trust to incur extraordinary 

expenses, possibly affecting an investment in the Shares in a material and adverse manner.  If the 

Sponsor determines not to apply for licenses and comply with such additional regulatory and 

registration requirements, the Sponsor will terminate the Trust.  Such termination could result in 

the liquidation of the Trust’s bitcoins at a time that is disadvantageous to an investor in the Shares. 

If regulatory changes or interpretations of an Authorized Participant’s activities require the 

regulation of an Authorized Participant as a money service business under the regulations 

promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, an Authorized 

Participant may be required to register and comply with such regulations.  To the extent an 

Authorized Participant decides to continue in its capacity as an Authorized Participant, the 

required registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in extraordinary, 

recurring and/or non-recurring expenses to the Authorized Participant, and in turn may 

increase the commission that the Authorized Participant charges its clients.  The Authorized 

Participant may also decide to terminate its role as an Authorized Participant of the Trust.  

Such a termination may decrease the liquidity of the Trust.  
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To the extent that the activities of an Authorized Participant cause it to be deemed a “money 

services business” under the regulations promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. 

Bank Secrecy Act, an Authorized Participant may be required to comply with FinCEN regulations, 

including those that would mandate the Authorized Participant to implement anti-money 

laundering programs, make certain reports to FinCEN and maintain certain records.  Such 

additional regulatory obligations may cause the Authorized Participant to incur extraordinary 

expenses, possibly increasing the levels of the commissions that the Authorized Participant 

charges its clients in a material and adverse manner.  If the Authorized Participant determines not 

to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, the Authorized 

Participant will terminate its role as an Authorized Participant of the Trust.  Such a termination 

may decrease the liquidity of the Trust. 

If regulatory changes or interpretations of an Authorized Participant’s activities require the 

regulation of an Authorized Participant as a money services business, money transmitter, 

provider of prepaid or stored value services, or virtual currency business under state 

regimes for the licensing of such businesses, an Authorized Participant may be required to 

obtain state licenses or registrations and comply with such regulations.  To the extent that an 

Authorized Participant decides to continue in its capacity as an Authorized Participant, the 

required licenses or registrations and regulatory compliance steps may result in 

extraordinary, recurring and/or non-recurring expenses to the Authorized Participant, and 

in turn may increase the commission that the Authorized Participant charges its clients.  

The Authorized Participant may also decide to terminate its role as an Authorized 

Participant of the Trust.  Such a termination may decrease the liquidity of the Trust. 

To the extent that the activities of an Authorized Participant cause it to be deemed a “money 

services business,” “money transmitter,” provider of prepaid or stored value, or virtual currency 

business under state laws for the regulation of such (or similar) activities, an Authorized 

Participant may be required to apply for licenses and comply with the regulations of multiple 

states, including those that would mandate the Authorized Participant to maintain specified 

amounts of capital, hold only specified types of assets, post bonding in specified amounts, and 

implement anti money-laundering and cybersecurity programs. Such applications and additional 

regulatory obligations may cause the Authorized Participant to incur extraordinary expenses, 

possibly increasing the levels of the commissions that the Authorized Participant charges its 

clients in a material and adverse manner. If the Authorized Participant determines not to apply for 

licenses and comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, the Authorized 

Participant will terminate its role as an Authorized Participant of the Trust.  Such a termination 

may decrease the liquidity of the Trust. 

If regulatory changes require the regulation of bitcoins under the CEA by the CFTC and/or 

under the Securities Act and the Investment Company Act by the SEC, the Trust and the 

Sponsor may be required to register and comply with such regulations.  To the extent that 

the Sponsor decides to continue the Trust, the required registrations and regulatory 

compliance steps may result in extraordinary, recurring, and/or non-recurring expenses to 

the Trust.  The Sponsor may also decide to terminate the Trust.  Termination of the Trust in 

response to the changed regulatory circumstances may be at a time that is disadvantageous 

to investors. 
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Current and future legislation, CFTC and SEC rulemaking and other regulatory developments may 

impact the manner in which bitcoins are treated for classification and clearing purposes.  In 

particular, bitcoins may not be excluded from the definition of “commodity” for CFTC purposes or 

bitcoins may become a “security” for future SEC purposes. As of the date of this Annual Report, 

the Sponsor is not aware of any rules that have been proposed to regulate bitcoins as a commodity 

or a security.  Although several United States federal district courts have recently held for certain 

purposes that bitcoins are currency or a form of money, these rulings are not necessarily indicative 

of the characterization of bitcoins for other purposes and the Sponsor and the Trust cannot be 

certain as to how future regulatory developments will impact the treatment of bitcoins under the 

law. 

To the extent that bitcoins are deemed to fall within the definition of a “commodity” for CFTC 

purposes, the Trust and the Sponsor may be required to register and comply with additional 

regulation under the CEA.  Moreover, the Sponsor may be required to register as a commodity 

pool operator and to list the Trust as a pool with the CFTC through the National Futures 

Association.  Such additional compliance may result in extraordinary, recurring and/or 

non-recurring expenses of the Trust, thereby materially and adversely impacting the Shares.  If the 

Sponsor determines not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, 

the Sponsor will terminate the Trust.  Any such termination could result in the liquidation of the 

Trust’s bitcoins at a time that is disadvantageous to an investor in the Shares. 

To the extent that bitcoins are deemed to fall within the definition of a security for SEC purposes, 

the Trust and the Sponsor may be required to register and comply with additional regulation under 

the Investment Company Act of 1940. Moreover, the Sponsor may be required to register as an 

investment adviser under the Investment Adviser Act of 1940 and register the Trust as an 

investment company. Such additional registrations may result in extraordinary, recurring and/or 

non-recurring expenses of the Trust, thereby materially and adversely impacting the Shares. If the 

Sponsor determines not to comply with such additional regulatory and registration requirements, 

the Sponsor will terminate the Trust. Any such termination could result in the liquidation of the 

Trust’s bitcoins at a time that is disadvantageous to an investor in the Shares. 

Shareholders do not have the protections associated with ownership of shares in an 

investment company registered under the Investment Company Act.  

The Investment Company Act is designed to protect investors by preventing insiders from 

managing investment companies to their benefit and to the detriment of public investors, such as: 

the issuance of securities having inequitable or discriminatory provisions; the management of 

investment companies by irresponsible persons; the use of unsound or misleading methods of 

computing earnings and asset value; changes in the character of investment companies without the 

consent of investors; and investment companies from engaging in excessive leveraging.  To 

accomplish these ends, the Investment Company Act requires the safekeeping and proper 

valuation of fund assets, restricts greatly transactions with affiliates, limits leveraging, and 

imposes governance requirements as a check on fund management.  

The Trust is not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act.  

Consequently, Shareholders do not have the regulatory protections afforded to investors in 

registered investment companies.  
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Shareholders do not have the protections associated with ownership of interests in a pool 

that is regulated under the CEA. 

Because the Trust is not regulated under the CEA, the Sponsor is not required to, and will not, 

operate the Trust in compliance with the CEA or the regulations of the CFTC.  Neither the Sponsor 

nor the Trustee is subject to regulation by the CFTC as a commodity pool operator or a commodity 

trading advisor in connection with the operation of the Trust.  Consequently, Shareholders will not 

have the regulatory protections provided to investors in commodity pools that are regulated under 

the CEA.  

The Trust has suspended its redemption program, which could have a material adverse 

effect on an investment in the Shares. 

On April 1, 2014, the Trust launched a program pursuant to which Shareholders could request 

redemption subject to certain limitations. On September 23, 2014, the Distributor received a letter 

from the staff of the SEC’s Office of Compliance Inspections and Examinations summarizing the 

staff’s findings from an onsite review of the Distributor’s broker-dealer activities conducted in 

June 2014. In its exit report, the staff stated that it had concluded that the Trust’s redemption 

program, in which Shareholders were permitted to request the redemption of their Shares through 

the Authorized Participant, appears to violate Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act 

because such redemptions of Shares take place at the same time the Trust is in the process of 

creating Shares. The Distributor and the Trust are in discussions with the staff of the SEC in order 

to resolve the staff’s concerns, although the Distributor and the Trust cannot at this time predict 

whether the Trust will be permitted to reinstate the Share redemption program for the benefit of 

Shareholders or the impact such a resolution may have on their respective activities. Until such 

time as the Trust is able to reinitiate the Share redemption program for the benefit of Shareholders, 

if ever, investors will be unable to (or could be significantly impeded in attempting to) sell or 

otherwise liquidate their investment in the Shares, which could have a material adverse impact on 

an investment in the Shares. 

Valuation Risks 

The value of the Shares relates directly to the value of the bitcoins held by the Trust and 

fluctuations in the price of bitcoins could materially and adversely affect an investment in 

the Shares. 

The investment objective of the Trust is for the NAV per Share to track the Bitcoin Market Price 

per Share, less the Trust’s liabilities (including estimated accrued expenses).  The price of bitcoins 

has fluctuated widely and may continue to experience significant price fluctuations. 

Several factors may affect the price of bitcoins, including: 

 Total bitcoins in existence (estimated at 13.67 million as of December 31, 2014 according 

to blockchain.info); 

 Global bitcoin demand, which is influenced by such factors as purchases made by 

speculative investors, acceptance of bitcoins by online merchants as a payment 

mechanism, purchases of bitcoins made by individuals for transactional purposes, 
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expectations regarding the future value of bitcoins and the ability to easily buy, sell and use 

bitcoins without regulatory interference, and the reputation of bitcoins for illicit use; 

 Global bitcoin supply, which is influenced by similar factors as global bitcoin demand, in 

addition to fiat currency needs by miners (for example, to invest in equipment or pay 

electricity bills) and tax payers (who may liquidate bitcoin holdings around tax deadlines to 

meet tax obligations); 

 Investors’ expectations with respect to the rate of inflation of fiat currencies; 

 Currency exchange rates; 

 Interest rates; 

 Fiat currency withdrawal and deposit policies of Bitcoin Exchanges and liquidity of such 

Bitcoin Exchanges; 

 Interruptions in service from or failure of major Bitcoin Exchanges; 

 Cyber theft of bitcoins from online bitcoin wallet providers, or news of such theft from 

such providers, or from individuals’ bitcoin wallets; 

 Investment and trading activities of hedge funds and other large bitcoin investors; 

 Monetary policies of governments, trade restrictions, currency devaluations and 

revaluations; 

 Regulatory measures, if any, that restrict or facilitate the ability to buy, sell or hold bitcoins 

or use bitcoins as a form of payment; 

 The availability and popularity of businesses that provide bitcoin-related services; 

 The maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the Bitcoin 

Network; 

 Increased competition from other forms of cryptocurrency or payments services; and 

 Global or regional political, economic or financial events and situations. 

If bitcoin markets continue to be subject to sharp fluctuations, you may experience losses if you 

need to sell your Shares at a time when the price of bitcoins is lower than it was when you made 

your prior investment.  Even if you are able to hold Shares for the long-term, your Shares may 

never generate a profit, since bitcoin markets have historically experienced extended periods of 

flat or declining prices, in addition to sharp fluctuations. 

In addition, investors should be aware that there is no assurance that bitcoins will maintain their 

long-term value in terms of future purchasing power.  In the event that the price of bitcoins 

declines, the Sponsor expects the value of an investment in the Shares to decline. 

The market value of the Shares may diverge from NAV if the Trust is required to suspend 

redemptions. See “– Risks Related to Our Business – Regulatory Risks – The Trust may be 

required to suspend its redemption program, which could have a material adverse effect on trading 

prices for the Shares.” 

The value of bitcoins as represented by the Bitcoin Market Price may be subject to 

momentum pricing whereby the current Bitcoin Market Price may account for speculation 

regarding future appreciation in value.  Momentum pricing of bitcoins may subject the 

Bitcoin Market Price to greater volatility and adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 



 

47 

   

Momentum pricing typically is associated with growth stocks and other assets whose valuation, as 

determined by the investing public, accounts for anticipated future appreciation in value.  The 

Bitcoin Market Price is determined primarily using data from various Bitcoin Exchanges, 

over-the-counter markets, and derivative platforms. The Sponsor believes that momentum pricing 

of bitcoins has resulted, and may continue to result, in speculation regarding future appreciation in 

the value of bitcoins, inflating and making more volatile the Bitcoin Market Price.  As a result, 

bitcoins may be more likely to fluctuate in value due to changing investor confidence in future 

appreciation (or depreciation) in the Bitcoin Market Price, which could adversely affect an 

investment in the Shares. 

The Bitcoin Market Price is dependent, directly or indirectly, on the prices set for bitcoins 

on Bitcoin Exchanges and other bitcoin trading venues. Pricing on these Bitcoin Exchanges 

and other venues can be volatile and can adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

The Bitcoin Market Price is dependent, directly or indirectly, on the prices set for bitcoins on 

Bitcoin Exchanges and other bitcoin trading venues.  The price of bitcoins on all Bitcoin 

Exchanges and other bitcoin trading venues has a limited history.  During such history, bitcoin 

prices on the Bitcoin Exchange Market as a whole, and on the Bitcoin Exchanges individually, 

have been volatile and subject to influence by many factors including the levels of liquidity on the 

Bitcoin Exchanges specifically and on the Bitcoin Exchange Market generally.  Even the largest 

Bitcoin Exchanges have been subject to operational interruption (e.g., the announcement by 

Bitstamp in January 2015 that approximately 19,000 bitcoin had been stolen from its operational 

or “hot” wallets, and the suspension of trading on Mt. Gox and other exchanges due to distributed 

denial of service attacks (“DDoS Attacks”) by hackers and/or malware or Mt. Gox’s shutdown of 

USD conversion services and subsequent bankruptcy proceedings in early 2014), limiting the 

liquidity of bitcoins on the affected Bitcoin Exchange and resulting in volatile prices and a 

reduction in confidence in the Bitcoin Exchange Market generally.  

The price of bitcoins on public Bitcoin Exchanges may also be impacted by policies on or 

interruptions in the deposit or withdrawal of fiat currency into or out of larger Bitcoin Exchanges.  

On large Bitcoin Exchanges, users may buy or sell bitcoins for fiat currency or transfer bitcoins to 

other wallets.  Operational limits (including regulatory, exchange policy or technical or 

operational limits) on the size or settlement speed of fiat currency deposits by users into Bitcoin 

Exchanges may reduce demand on such Bitcoin Exchanges, resulting in a reduction in the bitcoin 

price on such Bitcoin Exchange.  Operational limits (including regulatory, exchange policy or 

technical or operational limits) on the size or settlement speed of fiat currency withdrawals by 

users into Bitcoin Exchanges may reduce supply on such Bitcoin Exchanges, potentially resulting 

in a temporary increase in the bitcoin price on such Bitcoin Exchange during the existence of such 

operational limits.  To the extent that fees for the transfer of bitcoins either directly or indirectly 

occur between Bitcoin Exchanges, the impact on bitcoin prices of operation limits on fiat currency 

deposits and withdrawals may be reduced by “exchange shopping” among Bitcoin Exchange 

users.  For example, a delay in U.S. Dollar withdrawals on one site may temporarily increase the 

price on such site by reducing supply (i.e., sellers transferring bitcoins to another exchange without 

operational limits in order to settle sales more rapidly), but the resulting increase in price will also 

reduce demand because bidders on bitcoins will follow increased supply on other Bitcoin 

Exchanges not experiencing operational limits.  To the extent that users are able or willing to 

utilize or arbitrage prices between more than one Bitcoin Exchange, exchange shopping may 
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mitigate the short term impact on and volatility of bitcoin prices due to operational limits on the 

deposit or withdrawal of fiat currency into or out of larger Bitcoin Exchanges. 

These risks also apply to other bitcoin trading venues, including over-the-counter markets and 

derivatives platforms, which may be used by the TradeBlock XBX Index in calculating the Bitcoin 

Market Price. 

The Bitcoin Market Price is designed to have limited exposure to individual trading venue 

interruptions by creating flexible rules to calculate the Bitcoin Market Price.  Despite efforts to 

ensure accurate pricing, the Bitcoin Market Price, and the price of bitcoins generally, remains 

subject to volatility experienced by the Bitcoin Exchanges and other bitcoin trading venues.  Such 

volatility can adversely affect an investment in the Shares.  

The TradeBlock XBX Index is a new index. TradeBlock retains substantial discretion to 

change the Bitcoin trading venues (exchanges, over-the-counter markets, or derivative 

platforms) that are used to calculate the Index and the methodology that is used to calculate 

the Index. The Index could be calculated in a way that adversely affects the Bitcoin Market 

Price, and therefore an investment in the Shares. 

The Index has a limited history. There is no guarantee that the methodology currently used by the 

Index will appropriately allow the Index to track the price of bitcoins in the future. Additionally, 

TradeBlock has discretion at any time to change the methodology used to calculate the Index, 

guidelines used to select trading venues from which bitcoin trading data is sourced for inclusion in 

the Index, and trading venues themselves.  TradeBlock does not have any obligation to take the 

needs of the Sponsor, the Trust, the shareholders, or anyone else into consideration in connection 

with such changes.  The Index is based on various inputs which may include spot currency 

exchange rates, over-the-counter trade data, derivative instrument pricing, or data from other 

related financial products. TradeBlock does not guarantee the validity of any of these inputs, 

which may be subject to technological error, manipulative activity, or fraudulent reporting from 

their initial source.  TradeBlock is not required to publicize or explain the changes, nor to alert the 

Sponsor to such changes.  The Sponsor may not be aware of what inputs TradeBlock uses to 

calculate the Index, when TradeBlock changes the inputs, or when TradeBlock changes the 

methodology to calculate the Index, even when material to the calculation of the Index. 

Furthermore, the Sponsor cannot influence the Index methodology. Since the Bitcoin Market Price 

will be set to the value of the Index (unless the other rules for calculating the Bitcoin Market Price 

apply), the Index could be calculated now or in the future in a way that adversely affects an 

investment in the Shares. 

The Sponsor and its affiliates have relationships with TradeBlock that could lead the 

Sponsor to favor the use of Index to calculate the Bitcoin Market Price. This may adversely 

affect the Bitcoin Market Price and therefore an investment in the Shares. 

The Sponsor and its affiliates rely on services provided by TradeBlock (aside from the calculation 

of the Index) or are otherwise interested in the success of TradeBlock. These relationships include: 
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 SecondMarket, Inc. licenses and uses a trading software platform provided by TradeBlock 

to operate its bitcoin trading desk. This platform also facilitates SecondMarket, Inc.’s 

acting as the Authorized Participant. 

 Barry E. Silbert, the founder of SecondMarket and an officer of the Sponsor, indirectly 

owns approximately 1.5% of TradeBlock’s voting equity and acts an advisor to 

TradeBlock. 

Under the rules governing the calculation of the Bitcoin Market Price, if the Sponsor determines in 

good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will employ an 

alternative method to determine the Bitcoin Market Price. Because such a determination could 

reflect negatively upon TradeBlock, lead to a decrease in TradeBlock’s revenue or otherwise 

adversely affect TradeBlock, and because of the relationships listed above the Sponsor has a 

conflict of inflict with respect to TradeBlock. 

The methodology for determining the Bitcoin Market Price is new and untested.  Such 

methodology may now or in the future contain inherent flaws that may adversely affect the 

Sponsor’s ability to determine the Bitcoin Market Price and may, in turn, adversely affect 

the price of the Shares. 

The methodology for determining the Bitcoin Market Price established by the Sponsor is new and 

untested.  Such methodology is based on a flexible set of rules that were designed by the Sponsor 

specifically for the operations of the Trust.  Certain assumptions included in the methodology may 

be flawed and may adversely impact the Trust’s ability to accurately determine the Bitcoin Market 

Price.  The failure of one or more of the assumptions built into the Bitcoin Market Price 

methodology could have an adverse effect on the Trust and on the value of the Shares. 

The Custodian will withdraw bitcoins from the Trust to pay ordinary and extraordinary 

expenses, thereby reducing the number of bitcoins represented by each Share and 

potentially resulting in adverse tax consequences for Shareholders. 

Each outstanding Share represents a common unit of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the 

bitcoins held by the Trust.  Investors should be aware that a gradual decline in the number of 

bitcoins represented by the Shares may occur regardless of whether the trading price of the Shares 

rises or falls in response to changes in the price of bitcoins.  The Custodian will withdraw bitcoins 

from the Trust to pay expenses, including extraordinary expenses, reducing the number of bitcoins 

represented by each Share.  The estimated ordinary operating expenses of the Trust, which accrue 

daily, are described in “Bitcoin Investment Trust — Trust Expenses.”  The payment of expenses 

by the Trust will result in a taxable event to Shareholders.  See “Certain United States Federal Tax 

Considerations — Taxation of U.S. Shareholders” for more information. 

The United States tax rules applicable to an investment in the Shares and the underlying 

bitcoins may be uncertain and the tax consequences to an investor of an investment in the 

Shares could differ from the investor’s expectations.  

The IRS recently issued Notice 2014-21 which concludes that virtual currency, including bitcoin, 

should be treated as property for U.S. federal tax purposes.  Notice 2014-21 further concludes that 

general tax principles that apply to property transactions apply to transactions using virtual 
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currency. Each Shareholder is urged to consult its tax advisor in determining the tax consequences 

in investing in Shares in its particular circumstances.   

The Trust is a passive investment vehicle.  This means that the value of the Shares may be 

adversely affected by Trust losses that, if the Trust had been actively managed, it might have 

been possible to avoid. 

The Sponsor will not actively manage the bitcoins held by the Trust.  This means that the Sponsor 

will not sell bitcoins at times when its price is high, or acquire bitcoins at low prices in the 

expectation of future price increases, or take any other action that may be available to bitcoin 

investors to attempt to reduce the risk of losses resulting from bitcoin price decreases.  Any losses 

sustained by the Trust will adversely affect the value of the Shares. 

The Trust is subject to risks due to its concentration in a single asset: bitcoins.  Any losses 

suffered as a result of a decrease in the value of individual bitcoins, the Bitcoin Market Price 

or the Bitcoin Exchange Market generally, can be expected to reduce the value of the Shares 

and will not be offset by other gains if the Trust were to invest in other assets. 

Unlike certain funds that may invest in diversified assets, the Trust’s investment strategy is 

concentrated in a single asset: bitcoins.  This concentration maximizes the degree of the Trust’s 

exposure to a variety of market risks associated with bitcoins and the Bitcoin Market.  By 

concentrating its investment strategy solely in bitcoins, any losses suffered as a result of a decrease 

in the value of individual bitcoins, the Bitcoin Market Price or the Bitcoin Exchange Market 

generally, can be expected to reduce the value of the Shares and will not be offset by other gains if 

the Trust were to invest in underlying assets that were diversified. 

If the Trust incurs expenses in USD, the Trust would be required to sell bitcoins to pay these 

expenses.  The sale of the Trust’s bitcoins to pay expenses in USD at a time of low bitcoin 

prices could adversely affect the value of the Shares.  

The Sponsor will sell bitcoins held by the Trust to pay Trust expenses, if any, incurred in USD, 

irrespective of then-current bitcoin prices.  The Trust is not actively managed and no attempt will 

be made to buy or sell bitcoins to protect against or to take advantage of fluctuations in the price of 

bitcoins.  Consequently, if the Trust incurs expenses in USD, the Trust’s bitcoins may be sold at a 

time when the bitcoin price is low, resulting in a negative effect on the value of the Shares.  

The bitcoins held by the Trust are commingled and Authorized Participants have no specific 

rights to any specific bitcoin.  In the event of the Custodian’s insolvency, its assets may be 

inadequate to satisfy a claim by the Trust or an Authorized Participant. 

Bitcoins deposited in the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping 

Account are commingled with bitcoins deposited by other Authorized Participants and are held by 

the Custodian in the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping 

Account, as applicable.  

In the event the Custodian becomes insolvent, the Custodian’s assets might not be adequate to 

satisfy a claim by the Trust or any Authorized Participant for the number of bitcoins deposited by 
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the Trust or the Authorized Participant and, in such event, the Trust and any Authorized Participant 

will generally have no right in or to assets other than those of the Custodian.  

In the case of insolvency of the Custodian, a liquidator may seek to freeze access to the bitcoins 

held in all accounts by the Custodian, including the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account 

and the Trust Safekeeping Account.  The Trust and the Authorized Participants could incur 

expenses and delays in connection with asserting their claims.  These problems would be 

exacerbated by the fact that the wallets holding the bitcoins may be physically held in various 

jurisdictions and thus would be subject to inconsistent insolvency laws and that there is a lack of 

precedents for the treatment of bitcoins in bankruptcy. 

Risks Related to the Sponsor 

The Shareholders’ limited rights of legal recourse against the Trust, the Trustee and the 

Sponsor and the Trust’s lack of insurance protection expose the Trust and its Shareholders 

to the risk of loss of the Trust’s bitcoins for which no person is liable.  

The Trust will not insure its bitcoins.  Further, Shareholders’ recourse against the Trust, the 

Trustee and the Sponsor is limited.  Consequently, a loss may be suffered with respect to the 

Trust’s bitcoins that is not covered by insurance and for which no entity or person is liable in 

damages.  

The Trust may not have adequate sources of recovery if its bitcoins are lost, stolen or 

destroyed.  

If the Trust’s bitcoins are lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party liable to 

the Trust, the responsible party may not have the financial resources sufficient to satisfy the 

Trust’s claim.  

The Bitcoin Exchanges and other trading venues on which bitcoins trade are relatively new 

and, in most cases, largely unregulated and may therefore be more exposed to fraud and 

failure than established, regulated exchanges for securities, derivatives and other 

currencies.  To the extent that the Bitcoin Exchanges or other bitcoin trading venues are 

involved in fraud or experience security failures or other operational issues, this could result 

in a reduction in the Bitcoin Market Price and adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

The Bitcoin Market Price is dependent, directly or indirectly, on the prices set for bitcoins on 

Bitcoin Exchanges and other bitcoin trading venues, which are new and, in most cases, largely 

unregulated.  

During the past three years, a number of Bitcoin Exchanges have been closed due to fraud, 

business failure or security breaches.  In many of these instances, the customers of the closed 

Bitcoin Exchanges were not compensated or made whole for the partial or complete losses of their 

account balances in such Bitcoin Exchanges. 

While smaller Bitcoin Exchanges are less likely to have the infrastructure and capitalization that 

provide larger Bitcoin Exchanges with additional stability, larger Bitcoin Exchanges may be more 

likely to be appealing targets for hackers and “malware” (i.e., software used or programmed by 
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attackers to disrupt computer operation, gather sensitive information or gain access to private 

computer systems) and may be more likely to be targets of regulatory enforcement action. For 

example, in early January 2015, Bitstamp announced that approximately 19,000 bitcoin had been 

stolen from its operational or “hot” wallets.  Further, the collapse of Mt. Gox, which filed for 

bankruptcy protection in Japan in late February 2014, indicated that even the largest Bitcoin 

Exchanges could be subject to abrupt failure with consequences for both users of a Bitcoin 

Exchange and the bitcoin industry as a whole.  

A risk exists with respect to previously unknown technical vulnerabilities, which may 

adversely affect the value of bitcoins. 

Instability in the Bitcoin Exchange market and the closure or temporary shutdown of Bitcoin 

Exchanges due to fraud, business failure, hackers, malware, or government-mandated regulation 

may reduce confidence in the Bitcoin Exchange Market and result in greater volatility in the 

Bitcoin Market Price.  Furthermore, the closure or temporary shutdown of a constituent Bitcoin 

Exchange used in calculating the Bitcoin Market Price may result in a loss of confidence in the 

Trust’s ability to determine a reasonably accurate NAV on a daily basis.  These potential 

consequences of one or more Bitcoin Exchange’s failure could adversely affect an investment in 

the Shares. 

All of these risks and vulnerabilities that apply to Bitcoin Exchanges also apply to 

over-the-counter markets and derivative platforms that may be included, at the discretion of 

TradeBlock, in the calculation of the Index. When the Index is used to calculate the Bitcoin Market 

Price, the failures, closure, or manipulation of over-the-counter markets or derivative platforms 

could adversely affect an investment in the Shares.   

Shareholders do not have the rights enjoyed by investors in certain other financial 

instruments.  

As interests in a Delaware statutory trust, the Shares have none of the statutory rights normally 

associated with the ownership of shares of a business corporation.  Apart from the rights afforded 

to them by federal and state securities laws, Shareholders have only those rights relative to the 

Trust, the Trust property and the Shares that are set forth in the Trust Agreement.  In this 

connection, the Shareholders have limited voting and distribution rights.  They do not have the 

right to elect directors.  See “Description of the Shares” for a description of the limited rights of the 

Shareholders.  

Banks may not provide banking services, or may cut off banking services, to businesses that 

provide bitcoin-related services or that accept bitcoin as payment, which could damage the 

public perception of bitcoin and the utility of bitcoin as a payment system and could 

decrease the price of bitcoins and adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

A number of companies that provide bitcoin-related services have been unable to find banks that 

are willing to provide them with bank accounts and banking services. Similarly, a number of such 

companies have had their existing bank accounts closed by their banks. Banks may refuse to 

provide bank accounts and other banking services to bitcoin-related companies or companies that 

accept bitcoin for a number of reasons, such as perceived compliance risks or costs. The difficulty 
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that many businesses that provide bitcoin-related services have and may continue to have in 

finding banks willing to provide them with bank accounts and other banking services may be 

currently decreasing the usefulness of bitcoin as a payment system and harming public perception 

of bitcoin or could decrease its usefulness and harm its public perception in the future. Similarly, 

the usefulness of bitcoin as a payment system and the public perception of bitcoin could be 

damaged if banks were to close the accounts of many or of a few key businesses providing 

bitcoin-related services. This could decrease the price of bitcoins and therefore adversely affect an 

investment in the Shares. 

Crises may motivate large-scale sales of bitcoins which could decrease the price of bitcoins 

and adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

The possibility of large-scale distress sale of bitcoins in times of crisis may have a short-term 

negative impact on the price of bitcoins and may adversely affect an investment in the Shares.  For 

example, in April 2013, a major bitcoin exchange, Mt. Gox, reported that it was experiencing a 

DDos Attack that disabled access to the Mt. Gox website for many users.  This event led to 

significant sales of bitcoins by individuals that depressed the price of bitcoins.  Similarly, the 

collapse of the Mt. Gox exchange in early 2014 also led to sales of bitcoins that depressed the price 

of bitcoins. Similar crises in the future may impair bitcoins’ price performance which would, in 

turn, adversely affect an investment in the Shares.  Additionally, the shutdown or failure of another 

bitcoin exchange or online wallet provider may also motivate large-scale distress sales of bitcoins 

and may have a short-term (or long-term) negative impact on the price of bitcoins and may 

adversely affect an investment in the Shares.     

Crises may motivate large-scale purchases of bitcoins which could increase the price of 

bitcoins rapidly.  This may increase the likelihood of a subsequent price decrease as 

crisis-driven purchasing behavior wanes, adversely affecting an investment in the Shares.   

The possibility of large-scale purchases of bitcoins in times of crisis may have a short-term 

positive impact on the price of bitcoins and cause the price of Shares to increase rapidly.  For 

example, in March 2013, a report of uncertainty in the economy of the Republic of Cyprus and the 

imposition of capital controls by Cypriot banks motivated individuals in Cyprus and other 

countries with similar economic situations to purchase bitcoins.  This resulted in a significant 

short-term positive impact on the price of bitcoins.  However, as the purchasing activity of 

individuals in this situation waned, speculative investors engaged in significant sales of bitcoins, 

which significantly decreased the price of bitcoins.  Crises of this nature in the future may erode 

investors’ confidence in the stability of bitcoins and may impair bitcoins’ price performance which 

would, in turn, adversely affect an investment in the Shares.   

The impact of geopolitical events on the supply and demand for bitcoins is uncertain. 

As an alternative to fiat currencies that are backed by central governments, digital assets such as 

bitcoins, which are relatively new, are subject to supply and demand forces based upon the 

desirability of an alternative, decentralized means of buying and selling goods and services, and it 

is unclear how such supply and demand will be impacted by geopolitical events.  Nevertheless, 

political or economic crises may motivate large-scale acquisitions or sales of bitcoins either 
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globally or locally.  Large-scale sales of bitcoins would result in a reduction in the Bitcoin Market 

Price and adversely affect an investment in the shares. 

The further development and acceptance of the cryptographic and algorithmic protocols 

governing the issuance of and transactions in bitcoins, which represents a new and rapidly 

changing industry, is subject to a variety of factors that are difficult to evaluate.  The 

slowing or stopping of the development or acceptance of these protocols may adversely 

affect an investment in the Shares. 

The use of bitcoins to, among other things, buy and sell goods and services, is part of a new and 

rapidly evolving industry that employs digital assets based upon a computer-generated 

mathematical and/or cryptographic protocol.  The growth of this industry in general, and the use of 

bitcoins in particular, is subject to a high degree of uncertainty.  The factors affecting the further 

development of the industry, include, but are not limited to: 

  •   Continued worldwide growth in the adoption and use of bitcoins; 

   

•   Governmental and quasi-governmental regulation of bitcoins and other digital assets and 

their use, or restrictions on or regulation of access to and operation of the Bitcoin Network 

or similar digital asset systems; 

   •   Changes in consumer demographics and public tastes and preferences; 

 
•  The maintenance and development of the open-source software protocol of the Bitcoin 

Network; 

  
•   The availability and popularity of other forms or methods of buying and selling goods and 

services, including new means of using fiat currencies;  

   •   General economic conditions and the regulatory environment relating to digital assets; and 

 
•  Negative consumer sentiment and perception of bitcoins specifically and cryptocurrencies 

generally. 

The Trust is not actively managed and will not have any strategy relating to the development of the 

Bitcoin Network.  Furthermore, the Sponsor cannot be certain as to the impact of the creation of 

the Trust and the expansion of its bitcoin holdings on the digital asset industry and the Bitcoin 

Network.  A decline in the popularity or acceptance of the Bitcoin Network would have an adverse 

impact on the Bitcoin Market Price, and in turn, the price of the Shares. 

Currently, there is relatively small use of bitcoins in the retail and commercial marketplace 

in comparison to relatively large use by speculators, thus contributing to price volatility that 

could adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

As relatively new products and technologies, bitcoins and the Bitcoin Network have not been 

widely adopted as a means of payment for goods and services by major retail and commercial 

outlets.  Conversely, a significant portion of bitcoin demand is generated by speculators and 

investors seeking to profit from the short-term or long-term holding of bitcoins.  The relative lack 

of acceptance of bitcoins in the retail and commercial marketplace limits the ability of end-users to 

pay for goods and services with bitcoins.  A lack of expansion by bitcoins into retail and 

commercial markets, or a contraction of such use, may result in increased volatility or a reduction 

in the Bitcoin Market Price, either of which could adversely impact an investment in the Shares. 
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Purchasing activity in the bitcoin market by market participants and those associated with 

the delivery of bitcoins to the Trust in exchange for Creation Baskets may cause a 

temporary increase in the price of bitcoins.  This increase may adversely affect an 

investment in the Shares. 

Purchasing activity associated with acquiring bitcoins that are transferred into the Trust in 

connection with Creation Baskets may temporarily increase the market price of bitcoins, which 

may result in higher prices for the Shares.  Temporary increases in the market price of bitcoins may 

also occur as a result of the purchasing activity of other market participants.  Other market 

participants may attempt to benefit from the temporary increase in the market price of bitcoins that 

may result from increased purchasing activity of bitcoins connected with the issuance Creation 

Baskets.  Consequently, the market price of bitcoins may decline immediately after Shares are 

created.  If the price of bitcoins declines, the net asset value of the Shares will also decline. 

An investment in the Shares may be adversely affected by competition from other methods 

of investing in bitcoins.  

The Trust competes with direct investments in bitcoins and other potential financial vehicles, 

possibly including securities backed by or linked to bitcoins through entities similar to the Trust.  

Market and financial conditions, and other conditions beyond the Sponsor’s control, may make it 

more attractive to invest in other financial vehicles or to invest in bitcoins directly, which could 

limit the market for the Shares and reduce the liquidity of the Shares.  

The Custodian owes no fiduciary duties to the Trust or the Shareholders, is not required to 

act in their best interest and could resign or be removed by the Sponsor, which would trigger 

early termination of the Trust. 

The Custodian is not a trustee for, and owes no fiduciary duties to, the Trust or the Shareholders.  

In addition, the Custodian has no duty to continue to act as the custodian of the Trust.  The 

Custodian can terminate its role as custodian for any reason whatsoever upon the notice period as 

provided under the Custodian Agreement.  If directed by the Sponsor, the Custodian may be 

terminated.  In the event that the Custodian was to resign or be removed, the Trust will be 

terminated. 

The Trust may be required to dissolve and liquidate at a time that is disadvantageous to 

Shareholders. 

If the Trust is required to terminate and liquidate, such dissolution and liquidation could occur at a 

time which is disadvantageous to Shareholders, such as when bitcoin prices are lower than the 

bitcoin prices at the time when Shareholders purchased their Shares.  In such a case, when the 

Trust’s bitcoins are sold as part of the Trust’s liquidation, the resulting proceeds distributed to 

Shareholders will be less than if the bitcoins’ prices were higher at the time of sale. 

Redemption of Shares is currently prohibited.  

At this time, Shareholders are not permitted to redeem their shares. If the Trust reintroduces a 

redemption program, redemptions will occur only upon the order of Authorized Participants and 

only in Baskets.   
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The Sponsor will reject a redemption order if the order is not in proper form as described in the 

Participant Agreement or if the fulfillment of the order might be unlawful.  Any such rejection 

could adversely affect a Shareholder seeking to redeem shares through the Authorized Participant.  

For example, the resulting delay could adversely affect the value of the Shareholder’s redemption 

distribution if the NAV were to decline during the delay.  See “Creation and Redemption of Shares 

— Redemption Procedures.”  The Sponsor disclaims any liability for any loss or damage that may 

result from any such rejection. 

The liquidity of the Shares may be affected by the withdrawal of Authorized Participants. 

In the event that one or more Authorized Participants which has substantial interests in the Shares 

withdraws from participation in the Trust, the liquidity of the Shares will likely decrease, which 

could adversely affect the market price of the Shares. 

Bitcoins held by the Trust are not subject to FDIC or SIPC protections.  

The Trust is not a banking institution or otherwise a member of the FDIC or SIPC and, therefore, 

deposits held with or assets held by the Trust are not subject to the protections enjoyed by 

depositors with FDIC or SIPC member institutions. The undivided interests in the Trust’s bitcoins 

represented by Shares in the Trust are not insured.  

The Trust’s bitcoins may be subject to loss, theft or restriction on access. 

There is a risk that some or all of the Trust’s bitcoins held by the Custodian on behalf of the Trust 

could be lost or stolen.  Access to the Trust’s bitcoins could also be restricted by cybercrime (such 

as a DDoS Attack) against a service at which the Custodian maintains a hosted online bitcoin 

wallet. Any of these events may adversely affect the operations of the Trust and, consequently, an 

investment in the Shares.  

The Trust may not have adequate sources of recovery if its bitcoins are lost, stolen or 

destroyed.  

If the Trust’s bitcoins are lost, stolen or destroyed under circumstances rendering a party liable to 

the Trust, the responsible party may not have the financial resources sufficient to satisfy the 

Trust’s claim. For example, as to a particular event of loss, the only source of recovery for the 

Trust might be limited to the Trustee or, to the extent identifiable, other responsible third parties 

(e.g., a thief or terrorist), any of which may not have the financial resources (including liability 

insurance coverage) to satisfy a valid claim of the Trust.  

The loss or destruction of a private key required to access bitcoins may be irreversible.  The 

Trust’s loss of access to its private keys or its experience of a data loss relating to the Trust’s 

bitcoins could adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

Bitcoins are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public and private keys relating 

to the local or online digital wallet in which the bitcoins are held, which wallet’s public key or 

address is reflected in the Bitcoin Network’s public Blockchain.  The Trust will publish the public 

key relating to digital wallets in use by the Trust when it verifies the receipt of bitcoin transfers and 

disseminates such information into the Bitcoin Network, but it will need to safeguard the private 



 

57 

   

keys relating to such digital wallets.  To the extent such private keys are lost, destroyed or 

otherwise compromised, the Trust will be unable to access its bitcoins and such private keys will 

not be capable of being restored by the Bitcoin Network.  Any loss of private keys relating to 

digital wallets used to store the Trust’s bitcoins could adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

Bitcoin transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred bitcoins may be 

irretrievable.  As a result, any incorrectly executed bitcoin transactions could adversely 

affect an investment in the Shares.  

Bitcoin transactions are not, from an administrative perspective, reversible without the consent 

and active participation of the recipient of the transaction. (In theory, bitcoin transactions may be 

reversible with the control or consent of a majority of processing power on the Bitcoin Network, 

which is practically impossible for the Trust).  Once a transaction has been verified and recorded in 

a Block that is added to the Blockchain, an incorrect transfer of bitcoins or a theft of bitcoins 

generally will not be reversible and the Trust may not be capable of seeking compensation for any 

such transfer or theft.  Although the Trust’s transfers of bitcoins will regularly be made to or from 

the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping Account (each of which 

are custodies and administered by the Custodian), it is possible that, through computer or human 

error, or through theft or criminal action, the Trust’s bitcoins could be transferred in incorrect 

amounts or to unauthorized third parties, or to uncontrolled accounts. For example, in September 

2014, the Chinese bitcoin exchange Huobi announced that it had sent approximately 900 bitcoins 

and 8000 litecoins (worth approximately $400,000 at the prevailing market prices at the time) to 

the wrong customers, although it claimed that many customers returned the bitcoins and litecoins.  

To the extent that the Trust is unable to seek a corrective transaction with such third party or is 

incapable of identifying the third party which has received the Trust’s bitcoins through error or 

theft, the Trust will be unable to revert or otherwise recover incorrectly transferred Trust bitcoins. 

The Trust will also be unable to convert or recover Trust bitcoins transferred to uncontrolled 

accounts.  To the extent that the Trust is unable to seek redress for such error or theft, such loss 

could adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

The administrators of the Bitcoin Network’s source code could propose amendments to the 

Bitcoin Network’s protocols and software that, if accepted and authorized by the Bitcoin 

Network’s community, could adversely affect an investment in the Shares. 

The Bitcoin Network is based on a cryptographic, algorithmic protocol that governs the 

end-user-to-end-user interactions between computers connected to the Bitcoin Network.  The 

source code that sets forth the protocol is managed by a development team that was originally 

informally appointed by the Bitcoin Network’s purported creator, Satoshi Nakamoto. The 

development team can propose amendments to the Bitcoin Network’s source code through one or 

more software upgrades that alter the protocols and software that govern the Bitcoin Network and 

the properties of bitcoins, including the irreversibility of transactions and limitations on the mining 

of new bitcoins. Proposals for upgrades and discussions relating thereto take place on online 

forums, including GitHub.com and Bitcointalk.org. To the extent that a significant majority of the 

users and miners on the Bitcoin Network install such software upgrade(s), the Bitcoin Network 

would be subject to new protocols and software that may adversely affect an investment in the 

Shares.  If less than a significant majority of the users and miners on the Bitcoin Network install 

such software upgrade(s), the Bitcoin Network could “fork,” and fundamentally different versions 
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of bitcoins may result.  Forking could materially and adversely affect the Bitcoin Market Price and 

thus the value of the Shares.   

The open-source structure of the Bitcoin Network protocol means that the Core Developers 

and other contributors to the protocol are generally not directly compensated for their 

contributions in maintaining and developing the protocol. A failure to properly monitor and 

upgrade the protocol could damage the Bitcoin Network and an investment in the Shares.  

The Bitcoin Network operates based on an open-source protocol maintained by the Core 

Developers and other contributors, largely on the GitHub resource section dedicated to bitcoin 

development. As the Bitcoin Network protocol is not sold and its use does not generate revenues 

for its development team, the Core Developers are generally not compensated for maintaining and 

updating the Bitcoin Network protocol. The Bitcoin Foundation pays, through donations and 

member dues, a stipend to Chief Scientist Gavin Andresen and Lead Developer Wladimir J. van 

der Laan. Mike Hearn, a former member of the Core Developers, has criticized the lack of 

financial incentive for developers to maintain or develop the Bitcoin Network and indicated that 

the Core Developers may lack the resources to adequately address emerging issues with the 

Bitcoin Network protocol. According to its 2013 tax return filing on Form 990, the Bitcoin 

Foundation reported approximately $4.7 million in assets as of December 31, 2013. To the extent 

that material issues arise with the Bitcoin Network protocol, and the Core Developers and 

open-source contributor community are unable to address the issues adequately or in a timely 

manner, the Bitcoin Network and an investment in the Shares may be adversely affected. 

If a malicious actor or botnet obtains control in excess of 50 percent of the processing power 

active on the Bitcoin Network, such actor or botnet could manipulate the source code of the 

Bitcoin Network or the Blockchain in a manner that adversely affects an investment in the 

Shares or the ability of the Trust to operate. 

If a malicious actor or botnet (a volunteer or hacked collection of computers controlled by 

networked software coordinating the actions of the computers) obtains a majority of the processing 

power dedicated to mining on the Bitcoin Network, it may be able to alter the Blockchain on which 

the Bitcoin Network and all bitcoin transactions rely by constructing alternate blocks if it is able to 

solve for such blocks faster than the remainder of the miners on the Bitcoin Network can add valid 

blocks.  In such alternate blocks, the malicious actor or botnet could control, exclude or modify the 

ordering of transactions, though it could not generate new bitcoins or transactions using such 

control.  Using alternate blocks, the malicious actor could “double spend” its own bitcoins (i.e., 

spend the same bitcoins in more than one transaction) and prevent the confirmation of other users’ 

transactions for so long as it maintains control.  To the extent that such malicious actor or botnet 

does not yield its majority control of the processing power on the Bitcoin Network or the bitcoin 

community does not reject the fraudulent blocks as malicious, reversing any changes made to the 

Blockchain may not be possible.  Such changes could adversely affect an investment in the Shares 

or the ability of the Trust to operate. 

In late May and early June 2014, a mining pool known as GHash.io approached and, during a 24- 

to 48-hour period in early June may have exceeded, the threshold of 50 percent of the processing 

power on the Bitcoin Network. To the extent that GHash.io did exceed 50 percent of the 

processing power on the network, reports indicate that such threshold was surpassed for only a 
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short period, and there are no reports of any malicious activity or control of the Blockchain 

performed by GHash.io. Furthermore, the processing power in the mining pool appears to have 

been redirected to other pools on a voluntary basis by participants in the GHash.io pool, as had 

been done in prior instances when a mining pool exceeded 40 percent of the processing power on 

the Bitcoin Network. The approach to and possible crossing of the 50 percent threshold indicate a 

greater risk that a single mining pool could exert authority over the validation of bitcoin 

transactions. To the extent that the bitcoin ecosystem, including the Core Developers and the 

administrators of mining pools, do not act to ensure greater decentralization of bitcoin mining 

processing power, the feasibility of a malicious actor obtaining in excess of 50 percent of the 

processing power on the Bitcoin Network (e.g., through control of a large mining pool or through 

hacking such a mining pool) will increase, which may adversely impact an investment in the 

Shares. 

As the number of bitcoins awarded for solving a block in the Blockchain decreases, the 

incentive for miners to continue to contribute processing power to the Bitcoin Network will 

transition from a set reward to transaction fees. Either the requirement from miners of 

higher transaction fees in exchange for recording transactions in the Blockchain or a 

software upgrade that automatically charges fees for all transactions may decrease demand 

for bitcoins and prevent the expansion of the Bitcoin Network to retail merchants and 

commercial businesses, resulting in a reduction in the price of bitcoins that could adversely 

impact an investment in the Shares. 

In order to incentivize miners to continue to contribute processing power to the Bitcoin Network, 

the Bitcoin Network may either formally or informally transition from a set reward to transaction 

fees earned upon solving for a block. This transition could be accomplished either by miners 

independently electing to record on the blocks they solve only those transactions that include 

payment of a transaction fee or by the Bitcoin Network adopting software upgrades that require the 

payment of a minimum transaction fee for all transactions.  If transaction fees paid for the 

recording of transactions in the Blockchain become too high, the marketplace may be reluctant to 

accept bitcoins as a means of payment and existing users may be motivated to switch from bitcoins 

to another digital asset or back to fiat currency.  Decreased use and demand for bitcoins may 

adversely affect their value and result in a reduction in the Bitcoin Market Price. 

If the award of bitcoins for solving blocks and transaction fees for recording transactions 

are not sufficiently high to incentivize miners, miners may cease expending processing 

power to solve blocks and confirmations of transactions on the Blockchain could be slowed 

temporarily.  A reduction in the processing power expended by miners on the Bitcoin 

Network could increase the likelihood of a malicious actor or botnet obtaining control in 

excess of 50 percent of the processing power active on the Bitcoin Network or the 

Blockchain, potentially permitting such actor or botnet to manipulate the Blockchain in a 

manner that adversely affects an investment in the Shares or the ability of the Trust to 

operate. 

If the award of bitcoins for solving blocks and transaction fees are not sufficiently high, miners 

may not have an adequate incentive to continue mining and may cease their mining operations.  

Miners ceasing operations would reduce the collective processing power on the Bitcoin Network, 

which would adversely affect the confirmation process for transactions (i.e., decreasing the speed 
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at which blocks are added to the Blockchain until the next scheduled adjustment in difficulty for 

block solutions) and make the Bitcoin Network more vulnerable to a malicious actor or botnet 

obtaining control in excess of 50 percent of the processing power on the Bitcoin Network.  Any 

reduction in confidence in the confirmation process or processing power of the Bitcoin Network 

may adversely impact an investment in the Shares. 

To the extent that any miners cease to record transactions in solved blocks, transactions that 

do not include the payment of a transaction fee will not be recorded on the Blockchain until 

a block is solved by a miner who does not require the payment of transaction fees.  Any 

widespread delays in the recording of transactions could result in a loss of confidence in the 

Bitcoin Network, which could adversely impact an investment in the Shares. 

To the extent that any miners cease to record transactions in solved blocks, such transactions will 

not be recorded on the Blockchain.  Currently, there are no known incentives for miners to elect to 

exclude the recording of transactions in solved blocks; however, to the extent that any such 

incentives arise (e.g., a collective movement among miners or one or more mining pools forcing 

Bitcoin users to pay transaction fees as a substitute for or in addition to the award of new bitcoins 

upon the solving of a block), actions of miners solving a significant number of blocks could delay 

the recording and confirmation of transactions on the Blockchain.  Any systemic delays in the 

recording and confirmation of transactions on the Blockchain could result in greater exposure to 

double-spending transactions and a loss of confidence in the Bitcoin Network, which could 

adversely impact an investment in the Shares. 

The acceptance of Bitcoin Network software patches or upgrades by a significant, but not 

overwhelming, percentage of the users and miners in the Bitcoin Network could result in a 

“fork” in the Blockchain, resulting in the operation of two separate networks until such time 

as the forked Blockchains are merged.  The temporary or permanent existence of forked 

Blockchains could adversely impact an investment in the Shares. 

Bitcoin is an open source project and, although there is an influential group of leaders in the 

Bitcoin Network community including developers, there is no official developer or group of 

developers that formally controls the Bitcoin Network.  Any individual can download the Bitcoin 

Network software and make any desired modifications, which are proposed to users and miners on 

the Bitcoin Network through software downloads and upgrades, which are typically posted to the 

bitcoin development forum on GitHub.com. A substantial majority of miners and bitcoin users 

must consent to those software modifications by downloading the altered software or upgrade that 

implements the changes; otherwise, the changes do not become a part of the Bitcoin Network.  

Since the Bitcoin Network’s inception, changes to the Bitcoin Network have been accepted by the 

vast majority of users and miners, ensuring that the Bitcoin Network remains a coherent economic 

system.  However, a developer or group of developers could potentially propose a modification to 

the Bitcoin Network that is not accepted by a vast majority of miners and users, but that is 

nonetheless accepted by a substantial population of participants in the Bitcoin Network.  In such a 

case, and if the modification is material and/or not backwards compatible with the prior version of 

Bitcoin Network software, a fork in the Blockchain could develop and two separate Bitcoin 

Networks could result, one running the pre-modification software program and the other running 

the modified version (i.e., a second “bitcoin” network).  Such a fork in the Blockchain typically 

would be addressed by community-led efforts to merge the forked Blockchains, and several prior 
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forks have been so merged.  This type of split in the Bitcoin Network could materially and 

adversely affect the Bitcoin Market Price (and thus the value of the Shares) and, in the worst case 

scenario, harm the sustainability of the Bitcoin Network’s economy. 

Intellectual property rights claims may adversely affect the operation of the Bitcoin 

Network and could cause termination of the Trust. 

Third parties may assert intellectual property claims relating to the operation of virtual currencies 

and their source code relating to the holding and transfer of such assets.  Regardless of the merit of 

any intellectual property or other legal action, any threatened action that reduces confidence in the 

Bitcoin Network’s long-term viability or the ability of end-users to hold and transfer bitcoins may 

adversely affect an investment in the Shares.  Additionally, a meritorious intellectual property 

claim could prevent the Trust and other end-users from accessing the Bitcoin Network or holding 

or transferring their bitcoins, which could force the Sponsor to terminate the Trust and liquidate 

the Trust’s bitcoins (if such liquidation of the Trust’s bitcoins is possible).   

The price of bitcoins may be affected by the sale of bitcoins by other vehicles investing in 

bitcoins or tracking bitcoin markets. 

To the extent that other vehicles investing in bitcoins or tracking bitcoin markets form and come to 

represent a significant proportion of the demand for bitcoins, large redemptions of the securities of 

those vehicles and the subsequent sale of bitcoins by such vehicles could negatively affect bitcoin 

prices and the price and NAV of the Shares. 

The liability of the Sponsor and the Trustee under the Trust Agreement is limited and, 

except as set forth in the Trust Agreement, they are not obligated to prosecute any action, 

suit or other proceeding in respect of any Trust property. 

The Trust Agreement provides that neither the Sponsor nor the Trustee assumes any obligation or 

is subject to any liability under the Trust Agreement to any Shareholder, except that they each 

agree to perform their respective obligations specifically set forth in the Trust Agreement without 

fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.  Additionally, the Sponsor is not obligated 

to, although it may in its discretion, prosecute any action, suit or other proceeding in respect of any 

Trust property.  The Trust Agreement does not confer upon the Trustee or Shareholders the right to 

prosecute any such action, suit or other proceeding. 

As the Sponsor and its management have no meaningful history of operating an investment 

vehicle like the Trust, their experience may be inadequate or unsuitable to manage the 

Trust. 

The Sponsor was formed to be the Sponsor of the Trust and has no meaningful history of past 

performance in managing investment vehicles like the Trust.  The past performances of the 

Sponsor’s management in other investment vehicles, including their experiences in the bitcoin 

industry, are no indication of their ability to manage an investment vehicle such as the Trust.  If the 

experience of the Sponsor and its management is inadequate or unsuitable to manage an 

investment vehicle such as the Trust, the operations of the Trust may be adversely affected. 

The value of the Shares could decrease if unanticipated operational problems arise.  
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The mechanisms and procedures governing the creation, redemption and offering of the Shares 

and storage of the bitcoins have been developed specifically for this product.  There may be 

unanticipated problems or issues with respect to the mechanics of the Trust’s operations that could 

have an adverse effect on an investment in the Shares.  In addition, although the Trust is not 

actively “managed” by traditional methods, to the extent that unanticipated operational problems 

or issues arise, the Sponsor’s past experience and qualifications may not be suitable for solving 

these problems or issues. 

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor and/or its affiliates and the 

Trust, which may be detrimental to the Trust and its Shareholders.  

The Sponsor will manage the business and affairs of the Trust.  We refer to the Custodian, 

Distributor, Marketer, and Shareholder Communications Hub collectively as the “Affiliated 

Service Providers.” 

Because the Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers are affiliates of each other, a number of 

conflicts of interest may arise among the Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers, on the one 

hand, and the Trust and its Shareholders, on the other hand.  As a result of these conflicts, the 

Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers may favor their own interests over the interests of the 

Trust and its Shareholders.  These potential conflicts include, among others, the following:  

• The Sponsor has a disincentive to replace the Affiliated Service Providers because 

of the affiliation with the Sponsor; and 

• The Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers may, from time-to-time, have 

conflicting demands in respect of their obligations to the Trust and, in the future, to 

other clients. 

Please review the section “Conflicts of Interest” for additional information regarding the conflicts 

of interest, including the conflict of interest between the Sponsor and TradeBlock. 

The Trust Agreement includes a provision that restricts the right of a beneficial owner of a 

statutory trust from bringing a derivative action. 

Under Delaware law, the right of a beneficial owner of a statutory trust (such as a Shareholder of 

the Trust) to bring a derivative action (i.e., to initiate a lawsuit in the name of a the statutory trust in 

order to assert a claim belonging to the statutory trust against a fiduciary of the statutory trust or 

against a third-party when the statutory trust’s management has refused to do so) may be restricted 

by the terms of the governing instrument of the statutory trust.  The Trust Agreement of the Trust 

provides that in addition to any other requirements of applicable law, no Shareholder shall have the 

right, power or authority to bring or maintain a derivative action, suit or other proceeding on behalf 

of the Trust unless two or more Shareholders who (i) are not affiliates of one another and (ii) 

collectively hold at least 10% of the outstanding Shares join in the bringing or maintaining of such 

action, suit or other proceeding.  Therefore, the terms of the Trust Agreement decreases the 

likelihood that a beneficial owner of the Trust will successfully assert a derivative action. 

Risks Related to the Shares 
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An active public market for the Shares may not develop or be sustained, and the Shares may 

have a volatile public trading price. 

The Shares have been qualified for public trading on the OTCQX U.S. Premier marketplace. 

While the Sponsor hopes to establish an active public market for the Shares, such a market may not 

develop or be sustained. As a result, investors may not be able to sell their Shares quickly or at the 

market price if trading in the Shares is not active. If a public market does develop, the number of 

Shares available for sale is, at least initially, anticipated to be limited. Therefore, the price of the 

Shares may be volatile. 

The Sponsor will incur significant costs as a result of the Trust’s qualification on the 

OTCQX U.S. Premier marketplace, and those costs will increase proportionately higher if 

the Trust becomes a fully reporting issuer under the Securities Exchange Act, and the 

Sponsor’s management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance 

requirements.  

As the sponsor of a trust quoted on the OTCQX U.S. Premier marketplace, the Sponsor will incur 

significant legal, accounting and other expenses that it did not incur previously.  In addition, the 

OTCQX Alternative Reporting Standards impose various requirements on issuers that require the 

Sponsor’s management and other personnel to devote a substantial amount of time to compliance 

initiatives. These costs will further increase if, as and when the Trust becomes a fully reporting 

issuer under the Securities Exchange Act.  The Sponsor intends to pay a maximum of $600,000 

towards the annual costs associated with public trading of the Shares on the OTCQX U.S. Premier 

marketplace.  Any costs in excess of $600,000 will be deemed Extraordinary Costs that will be 

payable by the Trust. 

Restrictions on transfer and restrictions on redemption may result in losses on an 

investment in the Shares. 

The Shares may not be resold except in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities 

Act and state securities laws and any such transaction, other than a sale of Shares on the OTCQX 

U.S. Premier marketplace, must be approved in advance by the Sponsor. Any attempt to sell 

Shares without the approval of the Sponsor in its sole discretion will be void ab initio. 

Furthermore, at this time, the Sponsor is not accepting redemption requests from Shareholders. As 

such, until an active secondary market develops, and a holder has held its Shares for at least one 

year, or the Trust is permitted to, and does, reinstate a Share redemption program, investors will be 

unable to (or could be significantly impeded in attempting to) sell or otherwise liquidate 

investments in the Shares, which could have a material adverse impact on an investment in the 

Shares. 

Investors should consider an investment in the Shares to be an illiquid investment and should 

invest only if prepared to hold the Shares indefinitely.  
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TRADEBLOCK XBX INDEX 

In the ordinary course of business, the Trust primarily values its bitcoins by looking to the 

proprietary TradeBlock XBX Index (the “Index”), which takes into account prices set for bitcoins 

on certain bitcoin trading venues. Subject to the next sentence, if the Index becomes unavailable, 

or if the Sponsor determines in good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, 

then the Sponsor will, on a best efforts basis, contact the Index provider in order to obtain the 

Bitcoin Market Price. If after such contact the Index remains unavailable or the Sponsor continues 

to believe in good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor 

will employ one of the other rules available to determine the Bitcoin Market Price, as discussed 

above under “Description of the Trust — Bitcoin Market Price”.  

Description of the Index 

The Index is a U.S. Dollar-denominated composite reference rate for the price of bitcoin based on 

the volume weighted price at trading venues selected by TradeBlock. Trading venues used to 

calculate the Index may include Bitcoin Exchanges, over-the-counter markets, or derivative 

platforms. TradeBlock uses its discretion to select trading venues that will be included in the Index 

based on guidelines such as depth of liquidity, compliance with applicable legal and regulatory 

requirements, data availability, domicile in the United States and acceptance of U.S. Dollar 

deposits. TradeBlock may change these guidelines and the trading venues included in the Index at 

any time. To calculate the reference rate, trade data is cleansed and compiled in such a manner as 

to algorithmically reduce the impact of anomalistic or manipulative trading. This is accomplished 

by adjusting the weight of each data input based on price deviation relative to the observable set of 

data for the relevant trading venue, as well as recent and long-term trading volume at each venue 

relative to the observable set for the relevant trading venues. TradeBlock may change this 

weighting algorithm at any time at its discretion. To calculate volume weighted price, the 

weighting algorithm is applied to the price and volume of all inputs for the immediately preceding 

24-hour period at 4:00:00 PM, New York time on the valuation date. 

The description of the Index is based on information publicly available at TradeBlock’s website, 

https://tradeblock.com/blog/tradeblock-xbx-index-data-now-publicly-available, as of November 

13, 2014. TradeBlock publishes the Index continuously on its website at 

http://tradeblock.com/markets/index. None of the information on TradeBlock’s websites is 

incorporated by reference into this Annual Report. 

Changes to the Index 

TradeBlock may change the trading venues that are used to calculate the Index, or otherwise 

change the way in which the Index is calculated at any time.  TradeBlock does not have any 

obligation to take the needs of the Sponsor, the Trust, the shareholders, or anyone else into 

consideration in connection with such changes.  TradeBlock is not required to publicize or explain 

the changes, nor to alert the Sponsor to such changes. The Sponsor may not be aware of such 

changes that are material to the calculation of the Bitcoin Market Price. 

The TradeBlock XBX Index has a limited history. There is no guarantee that the methodology 

currently used by the Index will appropriately allow the Index to track the price of bitcoins in the 
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future. Additionally, TradeBlock has discretion at any time to change the methodology, the criteria 

used to select trading venues from which bitcoin trading data is sourced for inclusion in the Index, 

and the trading venues themselves. The Index is based on various inputs which may include spot 

currency exchange rates, over-the-counter trade data, derivative instrument pricing, or data from 

other related financial products. TradeBlock does not guarantee the validity of any of these inputs, 

which may be subject to technological error, manipulative activity, or fraudulent reporting from 

their initial source. Since the Bitcoin Market Price will be set to the value of the Index (unless the 

other rules for calculating the Bitcoin Market Price apply), the Index could be calculated now or in 

the future in a way that adversely affects an investment in the Shares. 

Certain Relationships 

TradeBlock and the Sponsor have entered into an index license agreement governing the 

Sponsor’s use of the Index for calculation of the Bitcoin Market Price. TradeBlock may adjust the 

calculation methodology for the Index without notice to or consent of the Trust or its Shareholders. 

The Sponsor pays a monthly fee and a fee based on the NAV of the Trust to TradeBlock in 

consideration of its license to the Sponsor of Index-related intellectual property.  

TradeBlock has licensed on a fee basis its over-the-counter market platform software to 

SecondMarket, Inc., which serves as the Distributor, Marketer, Initial Purchaser, and sole 

Authorized Participant of the Trust. SecondMarket, Inc., uses the software to operate its bitcoin 

trading desk, which SecondMarket, Inc., relies upon to act as the Authorized Participant. Under 

this platform license agreement, SecondMarket, Inc., has agreed to provide its bitcoin trade data to 

TradeBlock. Consequently, TradeBlock may or may not decide to include SecondMarket, Inc.’s 

over-the-counter trading desk as a trading venue that is included in the TradeBlock XBX Index. 

Under this agreement, TradeBlock also provides the Index to SecondMarket, Inc. 

Barry Silbert, the founder of SecondMarket and an officer of the Sponsor, indirectly owns 

approximately 1.5% of TradeBlock’s voting equity and acts as an advisor to that company. 
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Certain United States Federal Tax Considerations 

The following is a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations that generally 

apply to the purchase, ownership and disposition of Shares by a U.S. Shareholder (as defined 

below), and certain U.S. federal income that may apply to an investment in Shares by a Non-U.S. 

Shareholder (as defined below). The discussion below is based on the Internal Revenue Code, 

Treasury Regulations promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code and judicial and 

administrative interpretations of the Internal Revenue Code, all as in effect on the date of this 

Annual Report and all of which are subject to change either prospectively or retroactively. The tax 

treatment of Shareholders may vary depending upon their own particular circumstances. Certain 

Shareholders (including broker-dealers, traders, banks and other financial institutions, insurance 

companies, real estate investment trusts, tax-exempt entities, Shareholders whose functional 

currency is not the USD or other investors with special circumstances) may be subject to special 

rules not discussed below. In addition, the following discussion applies only to investors who will 

hold Shares as “capital assets” within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code section 1221 and not 

as part of a straddle, hedging transaction or a conversion or constructive sale transaction.  

Moreover, the discussion below does not address the effect of any state, local or foreign tax law on 

an owner of Shares. Purchasers of Shares are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect 

to all federal, state, local and foreign tax law considerations potentially applicable to their 

investment in Shares.  

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Shareholder” is a Shareholder that is:  

 

•  An individual who is treated as a citizen or resident of the United States for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes;  

•  A corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) 

created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision 

thereof;  

•  An estate, the income of which is includible in gross income for U.S. federal income tax 

purposes regardless of its source; or  

•  A trust, if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the 

administration of the trust and one or more United States persons (within the meaning of 

Internal Revenue Code section 7701(a)(30)) have the authority to control all substantial 

decisions of the trust, or if the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury 

regulations to be treated as a United States person.  

 

For purposes of this discussion, a “Non-U.S. Shareholder” is a Shareholder that is not a U.S. 

Shareholder as defined above and that is classified for U.S. federal income tax purposes as being 

neither a partnership nor a “disregarded entity.” For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the 

treatment of any beneficial owner of an interest in an entity classified as a partnership for U.S. 

federal income tax purposes will generally depend upon the status of the partner and upon the 

activities of the partnership. Partnerships and partners in partnerships should consult their tax 

advisors about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and disposing of 

Shares. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the assets held by any entity that is classified as a 

“disregarded entity” and that has a single member are generally deemed to be held directly by such 

member.  
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Taxation of the Trust 

The Trust will be classified as a grantor trust and the Shareholders will be treated as owning 

proportionate interests in the Trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes.  The Trust, therefore, will 

not be subject to U.S. federal income tax.  Instead, each Shareholder will be deemed to acquire and 

hold a proportionate interest in the Trust’s assets and will be required to report its proportionate 

share of the Trust’s gains, income, losses and expenses on its U.S. federal income tax returns in 

accordance with the Shareholder’s method of accounting.  However, there can be no assurance that 

the IRS will agree with this conclusion and it is possible that the IRS could assert a position to the 

contrary to one or all of those conclusions and that a court could sustain that contrary conclusion.  

The following discussion assumes that the Trust will be classified as a grantor trust for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes.   

Taxation of U.S. Shareholders 

Characterization of Bitcoin.  The IRS recently issued Notice 2014-21 containing guidance and 

frequently asked questions relating to virtual currencies such as bitcoins.  Under this Notice, a 

bitcoin will be treated as property (which may qualify for treatment as a capital asset) and not as 

“currency.”  The Notice also provides that general tax principles applicable to property 

transactions will apply to transactions using bitcoins. 

Basis of Shares.  In the case of Shares acquired for cash, the Shareholder’s initial tax basis in its 

proportionate share of the Trust’s assets will be equal to the cost of acquiring the Shares and the 

Shareholder’s holding period in such assets will begin on the day following purchase. The 

acquisition of Shares for cash should not be a taxable event for the Shareholder.  For purposes of 

this discussion, it is assumed that all of a Shareholder’s shares are acquired on the same date and at 

the same price.  Shareholders that acquire shares at different times and at different price are 

encouraged to consult their tax advisers concerning their bases and holding periods in the Trust’s 

underlying assets.  

Sale of Bitcoins by the Trust.  When the Trust sells bitcoins, including the sale of bitcoins to pay 

the Trust’s expenses, a Shareholder will recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference 

between (a) the Shareholder’s proportionate share of the amount realized by the Trust from the sale 

and (b) the Shareholder’s tax basis for its proportionate share of the bitcoins sold, which gain or 

loss will generally be long-term or short-term capital gain or loss.  In general, a Shareholder’s tax 

basis in bitcoins sold by the Trust will equal (a) the Shareholder’s basis in all of the bitcoins held 

by the Trust immediately prior to the sale multiplied by (b) a fraction the numerator of which is the 

number of bitcoins sold and the denominator of which is the total number of the bitcoins held by 

the Trust immediately prior to the sale.  After any sale, a Shareholder’s tax basis in its pro-rata 

share of the bitcoins remaining in the Trust will equal (a) the Shareholder’s tax basis in the bitcoins 

held by the Trust immediately prior to the sale, less (b) the portion of the Shareholder’s basis 

allocable to the bitcoins sold. The Trust does not anticipate that it will make cash or in-kind 

distributions and, thus, Shareholders should have alternative means to pay taxes on the gain from 

the sale of bitcoins by the Trust. 

Sale of Shares.  Upon the sale of a Share, a Shareholder will be deemed to sell the portion of the 

Trust’s bitcoins attributable to the Share.  Accordingly, the Shareholder generally will recognize 
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gain or loss on the sale in an amount equal to the difference between (a) the amount realized from 

the sale of the Share, and (b) the Shareholder’s tax basis in the portion of the Trust’s bitcoins 

attributable to the Share, determined in the manner described above.  After a sale of less than all of 

a Shareholder’s Shares, the Shareholder’s tax basis in its share of the bitcoins held by the Trust will 

be equal to (a) the Shareholder’s tax basis in its pro-rata share of the Trust’s bitcoins immediately 

prior to the sale, less (b) the portion of the Shareholder’s basis attributable to the bitcoins sold. 

Tax on Net Investment Income.  A 3.8% tax will be imposed on some or all of the net investment 

income of certain individuals with modified adjusted gross income of over $200,000 ($250,000 in 

the case of joint filers) and the undistributed net investment income of certain estates and trusts.  

For these purposes, it is expected that all or a substantial portion of a U.S. Shareholder’s share of 

Trust income will be net investment income.  In addition, certain Trust expenses may not be 

deducted in calculating a U.S. Shareholder’s net investment income.  Furthermore, because of 

certain netting rules, the tax on net investment income may be imposed on an amount of income 

that exceeds a U.S. Shareholder’s economic income from its investment in the Trust. 

Brokerage Fees.  Any brokerage or other transaction fee incurred by a Shareholder in purchasing 

Shares will be treated as part of the Shareholder’s tax basis in the underlying assets of the Trust. 

Similarly, any brokerage fee incurred by a Shareholder in selling Shares will reduce the amount 

realized by the Shareholder with respect to the sale. 

Nondeductible Expenses.  U.S. Shareholders who are individuals, estates or trusts may be required 

to treat some or all of the expenses of the Trust as miscellaneous itemized deductions.  Individuals 

may deduct certain miscellaneous itemized deductions only to the extent they exceed 2% of 

adjusted gross income. In addition, such deductions may be subject to phase-outs and other 

limitations under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.  Consequently, in the case of 

bitcoins sold to pay expenses, an individual Shareholder may have to include income from the sale 

without having the benefit of an offsetting deduction.   

Legislation has been introduced that would change the tax considerations of an investment 

in bitcoins and in the Shares. Based on this pending legislation, a bitcoin may be treated as 

currency for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may produce less favorable U.S. 

federal income tax consequences than the consequences described above. Accordingly, each 

Shareholder is urged to consult its tax advisor in determining the tax consequences of 

investing in Shares in its particular circumstances. 

Taxation of Non-U.S. Shareholders 

The Trust does not expect to generate taxable income except for gain (if any) upon the sale of 

bitcoins.  A Non-U.S. Shareholder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax with 

respect to gain recognized upon the sale or other disposition of Shares, or upon the sale of bitcoins 

by the Trust, unless: (1) the Non-U.S. Shareholder is an individual and is physically present in the 

United States for: (x) 31 days during the taxable year of the sale or other disposition, and (y) 183 

days or more during the three-year period that includes the taxable year of the sale or other 

disposition and the two years before, calculated as follows: all of the days such shareholder was 

present in the taxable year of the sale or other disposition, and one-third of the such shareholder 

was present in the first year before the taxable year of the sale or other disposition, and one-sixth of 
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the days such shareholder was present in the second year before the taxable year of the sale or other 

disposition, and (z) the gain is treated as being from United States sources; or (2) the gain is 

effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Shareholder of a trade or business in the 

United States.  

United States Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

A U.S. Shareholder may be subject to United States backup withholding tax in certain 

circumstances unless it provides its taxpayer identification number and complies with certain 

certification procedures. Non-U.S. Shareholders may have to comply with certification procedures 

to establish that they are not a United States person in order to avoid the information reporting and 

backup withholding tax requirements.  Backup withholding is not an additional tax.  The amount 

of any backup withholding will be allowed as a credit against a Shareholder’s U.S. federal income 

tax liability and may entitle such a Shareholder to a refund, provided that the required information 

is furnished to the IRS.   
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1. The issuer’s primary and secondary SIC Codes. 

The Trust’s primary SIC Code is 6221. The Trust’s secondary SIC code is 6199.    

2. If the issuer has never conducted operations, is in the development stage, or is currently 

conducting operations. 

The Sponsor is currently conducting operations on behalf of the Trust as described in “Description 

of the Trust.” 

3. Whether the issuer has at any time been a “shell company.” 

The Trust has not at any time been a “shell company.” 

4. The names of any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate of the issuer, and its business purpose, its 

method of operation, its ownership, and whether it is included in the financial statements 

attached to this Annual Report. 

The Sponsor of the Trust is Grayscale Investments, LLC. SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. is the 

Custodian of the Trust. SecondMarket, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of SecondMarket 

Holdings, Inc. and a registered broker dealer, is the Marketer, and Distributor of the Trust.  

SecondMarket, Inc. was also the Initial Purchaser and an Authorized Participant. The financial 

results of these entities are not included in the Trust’s financial statements.  

 

The Sponsor 

Grayscale Investments, LLC (formerly known as Alternative Currency Asset Management, LLC), 

the Sponsor, is organized as a Delaware limited liability company and established the Trust. 

The Sponsor was formed on May 29, 2013 and is wholly-owned by its sole member, 

SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. The Sponsor is not registered with either the Securities and 

Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission in any capacity. The 

Sponsor’s principal place of business is 636 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 

10011, and telephone number: 212.668.5920. 

As wholly-owned by its sole member, SecondMarket Holdings, Inc., the Sponsor is also an 

affiliate of SecondMarket, Inc. and SM Systems, Inc.  The Sponsor monitors the overall 

performance of the Trust. The Sponsor is responsible for preparing and providing periodic reports 

on behalf of the Trust to investors. The Sponsor is responsible for selecting and monitoring the 

Trust’s Service Providers and may from time to time engage additional, successor or replacement 

Service Providers. The Sponsor or its delegate calculates and publishes the Trust’s and each 

Share’s NAV each business day as of 4:00 PM, New York time, or as soon thereafter as 

practicable. At the request of the Sponsor, the Custodian will withdraw bitcoins as needed to pay 

Trust expenses. The Sponsor will process orders for Creation and Redemption Baskets. 

The Sponsor maintains a public website, www.grayscale.co, which contains information about the 

Trust and the Shares, and provides certain Shareholder services, such as a call center. 



 

71 

   

The Sponsor may transfer all or substantially all of its assets to an entity which carries on the 

business of the Sponsor if at the time of the transfer the successor assumes all of the obligations of 

the Sponsor under the Trust Agreement. In such an event, the Sponsor will then be relieved of all 

further liability under the Trust Agreement. 

Fees are paid by the Trust to the Sponsor as compensation for services performed under the Trust 

Agreement. From the Combined Fee, the Sponsor is paid the Sponsor Fee as described in the 

section “Bitcoin Investment Trust —- Trust Expenses.” 

The Custodian 

 

SecondMarket Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is Custodian of the Trust and in that 

capacity, has entered into a Custodian Agreement with the Trust and the Sponsor. 

 

The Custodian withdraws from the Trust Storage Account the number of bitcoins necessary to pay 

the Trust expenses provided for in the Trust Agreement and any otherwise unpaid expenses 

thereunder. In the event that the Combined Fee, and the Extraordinary Fee, if any, plus other Trust 

expenses, if any, exceed the bitcoin balance of the Trust Storage Account, the Custodian will 

withdraw additional bitcoins to pay the excess.  

 

The Custodian stores the Trust’s bitcoin holdings in the Trust Storage Account and in the Trust 

Safekeeping Account. The Custodian deposits in the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account 

or the Trust Safekeeping Account, at the Custodian’s instruction, the bitcoins contributed with 

respect to the Creation Baskets. The Custodian transfers bitcoins from the Bitcoin Account or the 

Trust Storage Account to the applicable Authorized Participant with respect to Redemption 

Baskets. The Custodian is responsible for administering the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage 

Account and the Trust Safekeeping Account. 

 

As provided under the Custodian Agreement, the Trust is the primary obligor and will indemnify 

the Custodian and each of its officers, directors, employees, subsidiaries and affiliates against any 

and all cost and expenses, damages, claims, liabilities and losses (“Losses”) sustained or incurred 

by or asserted against Custodian by reason of or as a result of any action or inaction, or arising out 

of Custodian’s performance thereunder, including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel 

incurred by Custodian in a successful defense of claims by Trust; provided however, the Trust 

shall not indemnify Custodian for those Losses arising out of Custodian’s fraud, gross negligence, 

bad faith or willful misconduct or by reason of Custodian’s reckless disregard of its obligations 

and duties under this Agreement. If the Trust shall have insufficient assets or improperly refuses to 

pay its indemnification obligations set forth herein within 60 days of a request for payment owed 

thereunder, Sponsor shall, as secondary obligor, indemnify Custodian and each of its officer, 

directors, employees, subsidiaries and affiliates against any and all Losses sustained or incurred by 

or asserted against Custodian by reason of or as a result of any action or inaction, or arising out of 

Custodian’s performance thereunder, including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel incurred 

by Custodian in a successful defense of claims by Trust; provided however, the Sponsor shall not 

indemnify Custodian for those Losses arising out of Custodian’s fraud, gross negligence, bad faith 

or willful misconduct or by reason of Custodian’s reckless disregard of its obligations and duties 

under this Agreement. This indemnity shall be a continuing obligation of Trust as primary obligor 
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(and Sponsor, as secondary obligor), its successors and assigns, notwithstanding the termination of 

this Agreement. 

From the Combined Fee, the Custodian is paid the Custodian Fee as described in the section 

“Bitcoin Investment Trust —-Trust Expenses.” 

The Initial Purchaser and Authorized Participant 

 

SecondMarket, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was the Initial Purchaser and the Authorized 

Participant.  The Initial Purchaser and the Authorized Participant entered into the Initial Purchaser 

Agreement and a Participant Agreement, respectively. 

 

Authorized Participants who make deposits of bitcoins with the Trust in exchange for Creation 

Baskets receive no fees, commissions or other form of compensation or inducement of any kind 

from either the Sponsor or the Trust. No Authorized Participant has any obligation or 

responsibility to the Sponsor or the Trust to effect any sale or resale of Shares. Authorized 

Participants may realize significant profits buying, selling, creating and redeeming Shares as a 

result of changes in the value of Shares or bitcoins. In particular, an Authorized Participant may 

profit from the “spread” (or difference) between the prices at which it purchases and sells Shares 

and bitcoins (or obtains Shares or bitcoins through the creation and redemption of Baskets). For 

example, when creating Shares, an Authorized Participant may deposit bitcoins with the Trust that 

it has acquired at a price that is lower than the current Bitcoin Market Price and thus receive Shares 

with a value greater than the Authorized Participant’s cost of acquiring the deposited bitcoins. 

Similarly, an Authorized Participant may sell Shares to a customer from its inventory at a price 

higher than the Authorized Participant’s cost in acquiring such Shares. As another example, when 

redeeming Shares, an Authorized Participant may receive bitcoins and then hold them for later 

resale at a profit if the price of bitcoins increases. The frequent and significant fluctuations in the 

price of bitcoins increases the extent to which an Authorized Participant may profit from its 

transactions in Shares and bitcoins. As of the date of this Annual Report, the only Authorized 

Participant is SecondMarket, Inc., an affiliate of the Sponsor. 

The Distributor and Marketer 

SecondMarket, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is the Distributor and the Marketer for both 

distribution transactions and secondary market transactions in the Shares. 

The Distributor and Marketer is a registered broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of the 

Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.  

The Distributor and Marketer assists the Sponsor in developing an ongoing marketing plan for the 

Trust, preparing marketing materials regarding the Shares, including the content on the Sponsor’s 

website, www.grayscale.co, executing the marketing plan for the Trust, and providing strategic 

and tactical research on the global bitcoin market. The Distributor and Marketer and the Sponsor 

are affiliates of one another. For more information about the distribution of the Shares, see “Plan of 

Distribution.”  

The Sponsor has entered into a Distribution and Marketing Agreement with the Distributor and 

Marketer. 



 

73 

   

The Sponsor may determine to engage additional or successor Distributors and Marketers. 

The Shareholder Communications Hub 

SM Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation, serves as the Trust’s Shareholder Communications 

Hub. The Shareholder Communications Hub provides Shareholder communications and access for 

Shareholders to view their account statements.  

The Sponsor has entered into a Service Agreement to provide access to the Shareholder 

Communications Hub. 

The Sponsor is obligated under the Trust Agreement to assume and pay the Shareholder 

Communications Hub fee. 

Conflicts of Interest 

General 

 

The Sponsor has not established formal procedures to resolve all potential conflicts of interest. 

Consequently, investors may be dependent on the good faith of the respective parties subject to 

such conflicts to resolve them equitably. Although the Sponsor attempts to monitor these conflicts, 

it is extremely difficult, if not impossible, for the Sponsor to ensure that these conflicts do not, in 

fact, result in adverse consequences to the Trust. 

 

Prospective investors should be aware that the Sponsor presently intends to assert that 

Shareholders have, by subscribing for Shares of the Trust, consented to the following conflicts of 

interest in the event of any proceeding alleging that such conflicts violated any duty owed by the 

Sponsor to investors. 

 

The Sponsor 

 

The Sponsor has a conflict of interest in allocating its own limited resources among, when 

applicable, different clients and potential future business ventures, to each of which it owes 

fiduciary duties. Additionally, the professional staff of the Sponsor also services other affiliates of 

the Sponsor and their respective clients. Although the Sponsor and its professional staff cannot and 

will not devote all of its or their respective time or resources to the management of the business and 

affairs of the Trust, the Sponsor intends to devote, and to cause its professional staff to devote, 

sufficient time and resources to manage properly the business and affairs of the Trust consistent 

with its or their respective fiduciary duties to the Trust and others. 

 

Relationship of the Sponsor to the Custodian, Distributor, Marketer and Shareholder 

Communications Hub. 

 

We refer to the Custodian, Distributor, Marketer and Shareholder Communications Hub 

collectively as the “Affiliated Service Providers.” 

 

The Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers are affiliates of each other.  
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The Sponsor has a disincentive to replace the Affiliated Service Providers because of the 

affiliation with the Sponsor. In connection with this conflict of interest, Shareholders should 

understand that the Affiliated Service Providers receive fees for providing services to the Trust. 

Clients of the Affiliated Service Providers may pay commissions at negotiated rates which are 

greater or less than the rate paid by the Trust. 

 

The Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers may, from time-to-time, have conflicting 

demands in respect of their obligations to the Trust and, in the future, to other clients. It is possible 

that future business ventures of the Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers may generate 

larger fees, resulting in increased payments to employees, and therefore, incentivizing the Sponsor 

and/or the Affiliated Service Providers to allocate it/their limited resources accordingly to the 

potential detriment of the Trust. 

 

There is an absence of arm’s length negotiation with respect to some of the terms of this offering, 

and, where applicable, there has been no independent due diligence conducted with respect to this 

offering. The Sponsor will, however, not retain any Affiliated Servicer Provider for the Trust 

which the Sponsor has reason to believe would knowingly or deliberately favor any other client 

over the Trust. 

 

Affiliated Authorized Participant 

 

As of the date of this Annual Report, the only Authorized Participant is SecondMarket, Inc., an 

affiliate of the Sponsor and the Affiliated Service Providers. As a result of this affiliation, the 

Sponsor has an incentive to resolve questions between an affiliated Authorized Participant, on the 

one hand, and the Trust and Shareholders, on the other hand, in favor of the affiliated Authorized 

Participant (including, but not limited to, questions as to the composition of the Creation Basket 

Bitcoin Amount and the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount). 

 

Proprietary Trading/Other Clients 

 

Because the officers of the Sponsor may trade bitcoins for their own personal trading accounts 

(subject to certain internal trading policies and procedures) at the same time that they are managing 

the account of the Trust, prospective investors should be aware that the activities of the officers of 

the Sponsor, subject to their fiduciary duties, may, from time-to-time, result in taking positions in 

their personal trading accounts which are opposite of the positions taken for the Trust. Records of 

the Sponsor officers’ personal trading accounts will not be available for inspection by 

Shareholders. 

 

Relationships of TradeBlock, which calculates the Index, with the Sponsor, Distributor, Marketer, 

Initial Purchaser, Authorized Participant, and management of the Sponsor 

The Sponsor and its affiliates rely on services provided by TradeBlock (aside from the calculation 

of the Index) or are otherwise interested in the success of TradeBlock. These relationships include: 

 Barry E. Silbert, the founder of SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. and an officer of the Sponsor, 

indirectly owns approximately 1.5% of TradeBlock’s voting equity and acts as an advisor 

to that company. 
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 SecondMarket, Inc. licenses and uses a trading software platform provided by TradeBlock 

to operate its bitcoin trading desk. This platform also facilitates SecondMarket, Inc.’s 

acting as the Authorized Participant. 

Under the rules governing the calculation of the Bitcoin Market Price, if the Sponsor determines in 

good faith that the Index does not reflect an accurate bitcoin price, then the Sponsor will employ an 

alternative method to determine the Bitcoin Market Price. Because such a determination could 

reflect negatively upon TradeBlock, lead to a decrease in TradeBlock’s revenue or otherwise 

adversely affect TradeBlock, and because of the relationships listed above the Sponsor has a 

conflict of interest with respect to TradeBlock.   

5. The effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the business. 

Please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors – Risks relating to Our Business – Regulatory 

Risks” for a discussion of the effect of existing or probable governmental regulations on the 

Trust’s business. 

6. An estimate of the amount spent during each of the last two fiscal years on research and 

development activities, and, if applicable, the extent to which the cost of such activities are 

borne directly by customers. 

Not applicable.  

7. Costs and effects of compliance with environmental laws (federal, state and local). 

Not applicable. 

8. The number of total employees and number of full-time employees. 

The Trust has no employees. The Sponsor has four employees.  

Item 9.  The nature of products and services offered. 

A. Principal products or services, and their markets.  

Not applicable. 

B. Distribution methods of the products or services. 

Not applicable. 

C. Status of any publicly announced new product or service. 

Not applicable.  

D. Competitive business conditions, the issuer’s competitive position in the industries, and 

methods of competition. 

Not applicable.  
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E. Sources and availability of raw materials and the names of principal suppliers. 

Not applicable. 

F. Dependence on one or a few major customers. 

Not applicable. 

G. Patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises, concessions, royalty agreements or labor 

contracts, including their duration. 

Not applicable. 

H. The need for any government approval of principal products or services and the status of 

any requested government approvals. 

See the discussion set forth under the heading “The effect of existing or probable governmental 

regulations on the business” above.  

Item 10. The nature and extent of the issuer’s facilities. 

The principal office of the Sponsor is located at 636 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New 

York 10011. The Sponsor utilizes a portion of approximately 17,314 square feet leased by 

SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. The lease expires on June 30, 2022. 
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PART D. MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 11. The name of the chief executive officer, members of the board of directors, as 

well as control persons. 

Management of the Sponsor 

The following individuals are the officers of the Sponsor responsible for overseeing the business 

and operations of the Trust: 

Barry E. Silbert, Chief Executive Officer 

Barry Silbert is the Chairman and CEO of Grayscale Investments, LLC and the creator of the 

Bitcoin Investment Trust, a private open ended trust that is invested exclusively in bitcoin and 

derives its value solely from the price of bitcoin.  Mr. Silbert is also the Chairman, CEO and 

founder of SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. and SecondMarket, Inc.  Mr. Silbert is one of the most 

active and prolific angel investors in the bitcoin space via his personal investment vehicle, the 

Bitcoin Opportunity Corp, with investments in over 40 bitcoin related companies including 

BitPay, Coinbase, Gyft, BitPremier, Coinsetter, Ripple Labs, Korbit and BitPagos. Mr. Silbert has 

received numerous individual honors, including being named Metro New York Emerging 

Entrepreneur of the Year by Ernst & Young and Crain’s, and being selected to Fortune’s 

prestigious “40 Under 40” list.  

Simcha Wurtzel, VP, Finance and Controller 

As Vice President of Finance and Controller of Grayscale Investments, LLC, Mr. Wurtzel is 

responsible for the accounting, treasury and financial reporting of the Sponsor and the Trust. Mr. 

Wurtzel is also the CFO and Financial and Operations Principal (FINOP Series 27) of 

SecondMarket Inc., a registered broker dealer that serves as authorized participant of the Bitcoin 

Investment Trust.  Mr. Wurtzel holds a B.S. degree in accounting from Touro College, New York, 

and is a Certified Public Accountant.  

Executive Compensation 

The Trust has no employees or directors and is managed by the Sponsor. None of the officers or 

members of the Sponsor receive compensation from the Trust. The Sponsor receives a Combined 

Fee, which accrues daily at an annual rate of 2% of the NAV of the Trust, at such times as 

determined in the Sponsor’s sole discretion and is generally expected to occur monthly in arrears. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Sponsor earned $1,044,505 in management fees from 

the Trust.  

Compensation of Directors 

Not applicable.  

Business Address 

The business address for each of the Sponsor’s officers is c/o Grayscale Investments, LLC, 636 

Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10011.  
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B. Legal/Disciplinary History 

None. 

C. Disclosure of Family Relationships 

None. 

D. Disclosure of Related Party Transactions 

See the discussion set forth under the heading “Conflicts of Interest” above.  

Item 12. Financial information for the issuer’s most recent fiscal period. 

The Trust’s audited financial statements as of and for the periods ended December 31, 2014 and as 

of and for the period beginning September 25, 2013 (the commencement of the Trust’s operations) 

to December 31, 2013 are attached as exhibits to this Annual Report. The historical results 

presented herein are not necessarily indicative of financial results to be achieved in future periods. 

The Trust’s audited financial statements attached as exhibits to this Annual Report are 

incorporated herein by reference and are considered as part of this Annual Report. 

Item 13. Similar financial information for such part of the two preceding fiscal years as 

the issuer or its predecessor has been in existence. 

See the discussion set forth under “Financial information for the issuer’s most recent fiscal period” 

above.  

Item 14. Beneficial Owners. 

Not applicable. 

Item 15.  The name, address, telephone number, and email address of each of the 

following outside providers that provide services to the issuer on matters relating to 

operations, business development and disclosure. 

1. Counsel 

 

Andrew D. Thorpe, Esq. 

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP 

The Orrick Building 

405 Howard Street 

San Francisco, California 94105 

Telephone: (415) 773-5970 

Facsimilie: (415) 773-5759 

Email: athorpe@orrick.com 
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2. Independent Auditor 

 

Ernst & Young LLP 

5 Times Square  

New York, New York 10036 

Telephone: (212) 773-3000 

 

3. Any other advisor(s) that assisted, advised, prepared or provided information with 

respect to this Annual Report - the information shall include the telephone number and 

email address of each advisor. 

 

Not applicable.  
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Item 16.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (unaudited).  

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should 

be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere 

in this Annual Report. The discussion may contain forward-looking statements based on current 

expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from 

those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including 

those set forth under “Risk Factors” or in other sections of this Annual Report. 

The Trust is a Delaware statutory trust that was formed on September 13, 2013. The Trust is a 

passive entity that does not have any officers, directors, or employees, and is managed and 

administered by the Sponsor. The Trust holds bitcoins and, from time to time, issues Creation 

Baskets in exchange for deposits of bitcoins and distributes bitcoins in connection with 

Redemption Baskets. As a passive investment vehicle, the investment objective of the Trust is for 

the Shares to reflect the performance of the price of bitcoins, less the liabilities of the Trust, 

including estimated accrued expenses. The Shares are designed to provide investors with a cost 

effective and convenient way to invest in bitcoin. The Trust is not managed like a business 

corporation or an active investment vehicle.  

Investing in the Shares does not insulate the investor from certain risks, including price volatility. 

The following table illustrates the movement in the non-GAAP NAV of the Shares since 

September 25, 2013 through December 31, 2014:  

 

For more information about how we determine the non-GAAP NAV of the Shares, see 

“Description of the Trust  — non-GAAP Net Asset Value” above.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

Valuation of Bitcoin  
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Bitcoins are held by the Custodian on behalf of the Trust and are carried, for financial statement 

purposes, at fair value. Unlike the non-GAAP procedure used for determining NAV and Bitcoin 

Market Price which are calculated using a weighted average calculated across multiple bitcoin 

exchanges, the fair value of bitcoin presented in the financial statements is calculated in 

accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles based on the price provided by 

the bitcoin exchange the Trust considers its primary market at the close of business at 4:00 PM, 

New York time. The cost basis of the investment in bitcoin recorded by the Trust is the fair value 

of bitcoin at the time of transfer. The cost basis recorded by the Trust may differ from proceeds 

collected by the Authorized Participant from the sale of each Share to investors.  

 

Investment Company Considerations 

 

The Trust is an investment company for GAAP purposes and follows accounting and reporting 

guidance in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards 

Codification Topic 946. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates. 

 

Review of Financial Results  

Financial Highlights  

(All amounts in the following table and the 

subsequent paragraphs, except per share, are in 000s 

of US$) 
For the year ended 

December 31, 2014 

For the period 

September 25, 2013 

through December 

31, 2013 

Net realized and change in unrealized gains (loss) .... (40,795) 26,542 

Net increase/(decrease) in net assets resulting from 

operations ................................................................... (41,840) 26,396 

Net assets ................................................................... 42,796 51,046 

 

Net realized and change in unrealized loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $40,795, 

which includes a realized gain of $522 on the sale of bitcoins to pay expenses and bitcoins 

distributed on the redemption of Shares. Net assets decreased to $42,796 at December 31, 2014, a 

16% decrease for the period. The decrease in net assets resulted primarily from bitcoin price 

decline. 

Net realized and change in unrealized gain for the period beginning with the commencement of 

operations on September 25, 2013 through December 31, 2013 was $26,542, which includes a 

realized gain of $204 on the sale of bitcoins to pay expenses and on bitcoins distributed on the 

redemption of Shares. Net assets increased to $51,046 at December 31, 2013. The increase in net 

assets resulted primarily from bitcoin price appreciation and capital raised from investors.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

The Trust is not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements.  
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Cash Resources and Liquidity  

The Trust has not had a cash balance at any time since inception. When selling bitcoins to pay 

expenses, the Sponsor endeavors to sell the exact number of bitcoins needed to pay expenses in 

order to minimize the Trust’s holdings of assets other than bitcoin. As a consequence, we expect 

that the Trust will not record any cash flow from its operations and that its cash balance will be 

zero at the end of each reporting period.  

In exchange for a fee, the Sponsor has agreed to assume most of the expenses incurred by the 

Trust. As a result, the only ordinary expense of the Trust during the periods covered by this Annual 

Report was the Sponsor’s fee. The Trust’s only source of liquidity is its sales of bitcoins. The Trust 

is not aware of any trends, demands, conditions or events that are reasonably likely to result in 

material changes to its liquidity needs. 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk  

The Trust Agreement does not authorize the Trustee to borrow for payment of the Trust’s ordinary 

expenses. The Trust does not engage in transactions in foreign currencies which could expose the 

Trust or holders of Shares to any foreign currency related market risk. The Trust invests in no 

derivative financial instruments and has no foreign operations or long-term debt instruments.  
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Selected Non-GAAP Supplemental Data  

 

For the year 

ended December 

31, 2014 

For the period 

September 25, 

2013 through 

December 31, 

2013 

Bitcoins:   

Opening balance ............................................................................................................  69,735 0 

Creations ........................................................................................................................  75,942 70,239 

Redemptions ..................................................................................................................  (8,840) (259) 

Expense Payouts ............................................................................................................  (2,060) (246) 

Closing balance ..............................................................................................................  134,777 69,735 

Bitcoin Market Price ......................................................................................................  $312.58 $765.34 

non-GAAP NAV ...........................................................................................................  $42,128,728 $53,370,821 

Number of Shares:   

Opening balance ............................................................................................................  701,100 0 

Creations ........................................................................................................................  770,900 703,700 

Redemptions ..................................................................................................................  (89,600) (2,600) 

Closing balance ..............................................................................................................  1,382,400 701,100 

 

On September 25, 2013, SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. contributed 17,800 Bitcoins to the Trust via 

SecondMarket, Inc. as Authorized Participant in exchange for 178,000 Shares.  The ratio of Shares 

to bitcoins was determined by the Sponsor inasmuch as the Shares had no inherent value prior to 

the commencement of the Trust’s operations. In the year ended December 31, 2014, an additional 

770,900 Shares, (7,709 Baskets), were created in exchange for 75,942 bitcoins, 89,600 Shares 

(896 Baskets) were redeemed in exchange for 8,840 bitcoins, and 2,060 bitcoins were deducted 

from the Trust’s holdings and used by the Sponsor to settle expenses. For accounting purposes the 

Trust reflects creations and the bitcoin receivable with respect to such creations on the date of 

receipt of a notification of a creation, but does not issue Shares until the requisite number of 

bitcoins is received. In connection with Share redemptions, the Trust delivers bitcoins upon receipt 

of Shares.  

As of December 31, 2014, the Trust owned 134,777 bitcoins, with a market value of approximately 

$42,128,728, based on the non-GAAP Bitcoin Market Price on December 31, 2014.  
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Historical Bitcoin Prices 

As movements in the price of bitcoins are expected to directly affect the price of the Shares, 

investors should understand recent movements in the price of bitcoin. Investors, however, should 

also be aware that past movements in the bitcoin price are not indicators of future movements. 

The following chart provides historical background on the price of bitcoins. The chart illustrates 

movements in the price of bitcoin over the period from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014, and 

is based on the price reported by Bitstamp as of 4:00 pm ET on the applicable date. 

During the period between inception and December 31, 2014, the bitcoin price, based on the price 

reported by Bitstamp as of 4:00 pm ET, traded between $110.83 per bitcoin (10/2/2013) and 

$1,138.29 (11/30/2013) and the average was $504.15.  

The quarterly and annual average, high, low and end-of-period bitcoin prices for the three years 

ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and for the period from the inception of the Trust until 

December 31, 2014, based on the price reported by Bitstamp as of 4:00 pm ET on the applicable 

date were:  

Period Average High Date Low Date End of period 

Last business 

day 

Three months to  

March 31, 2012 ..................  $5.50 $7.15 1/15/2012 $4.38 2/18/2012 $4.92 $4.88 

Three months to  

June 30, 2012 .....................  $5.33 $6.65 6/20/2012 $4.70 4/7/2012 $6.54 $6.57 

Three months to  

September 30, 2012 ...........  $10.04 $13.42 8/16/2012 $6.47 7/3/2012 $12.17 $12.26 

Three months to  

December 31, 2012 ............  $12.04 $13.52 12/13/2012 $9.81 10/26/2012 $13.12 $13.12 

Three months to  

March 31, 2013 ..................  $33.38 $94.50 3/28/2013 $12.83 1/1/2013 $94.08 $90.22 

Three months to  

June 30, 2013 .....................  $115.67 $229.50 4/9/2013 $60.01 4/11/2013 $89.00 $89.97 

Three months to  

September 30, 2013 ...........  $104.48 $131.24 8/31/2013 $65.65 7/6/2013 $126.24 $126.24 

Three months to  

December 31, 2013 ............  $493.45 $1,138.29 11/30/2013 $110.83 10/2/2013 $733.98 $733.98 

Three months to  

March 31, 2014 ..................  $692.83 $932.82 1/6/2014 $452.74 3/30/2014 $454.00 $454.00 

Three months to  

June 30, 2014 .....................  $520.41 $666.10 6/3/2014 $393.30 4/10/2014 $643.41 $643.41 

Three months to  

September 30, 2014 ...........  $534.81 $653.90 7/1/2014 $374.83 9/29/2014 $392.73 $392.73 

Three months to  

December 31, 2014 ............  $357.63 $424.94 11/12/2014 $310.00 12/30/2014 $317.53 $317.53 

Twelve months ended 

December 31, 2012 ............  $8.24 $13.52 12/13/2012 $4.38 2/18/2012 $13.12 $13.12 

Twelve months ended 

December 31, 2013 ............  187.78 $1,138.29 11/30/2013 $12.83 1/1/2013 $733.98 $733.98 

Twelve months ended 

December 31, 2014 ............  $525.53 $932.82 1/6/2014 $310.00 12/30/2014 $317.53 $317.53 

September 13, 2013 (the 

inception of the Trust) to 

December 31, 2014 ............  $504.15 $1,138.29 11/30/2013 $110.83 10/2/2013 $317.53 $317.53 
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PART E. ISSUANCE HISTORY 

Item 17. List of securities offerings and shares issued for services in the past two years. 

Information regarding securities offerings and shares issued for services in the past two years can 

be located on the Sponsor’s website at www.grayscale.co.  

 

PART F. EXHIBITS 

Item 18. Material Contracts. 

Custodian Agreement 

The Custodian Agreement between the Trust, the Sponsor and the Custodian, governed by the 

laws of New York, establishes the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust 

Safekeeping Account.  The Custodian, as instructed by the Sponsor or its delegates, is authorized 

to accept bitcoin deposits for and make bitcoin distributions from the Bitcoin Account, the Trust 

Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable.  The Custodian is not a trustee 

for the Trust or the Shareholders.  The Custodian is obligated to return the bitcoins to the Trust on 

demand and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Custodian Agreement.  The 

following is a description of certain material terms of the Custodian Agreement.  

Reports 

The Custodian provides the Sponsor with reports and account statements identifying the credits 

and debits of bitcoins to the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping 

Account.  The Sponsor is required to examine the reports and account statements it receives from 

the Custodian within a reasonable time of receipt and promptly notify the Custodian of any 

discrepancy of which it becomes aware. 

The Custodian’s records of all deposits and withdrawals of bitcoins to and from the Bitcoin 

Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust Safekeeping Account are stated as of the close 

of the Custodian’s business (usually 4:00 PM, New York time) on that business day.  

Fees and Expenses 

Under the Custodian Agreement, the Custodian is entitled to invoice the Sponsor for out-of-pocket 

expenses.  As provided under the Custodian Agreement, the Trust has agreed to reimburse the 

Custodian for any taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, stamp, transaction and other duties 

and withholdings in connection with the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account and the Trust 

Safekeeping Account.   

Bitcoin Account Balances 

The bitcoins received by the Trust upon the issuance of Creation Baskets are initially deposited 

into the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, at the 

Custodian’s instruction. The Sponsor does not have the power or authority to deposit the Trust’s 

bitcoins with respect to Creation Baskets with any other person, entity or account.  Resignation or 
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removal of the Custodian for any reason will cause termination of the Trust.  See “Description of 

the Trust Agreement.”  

Exclusion of Liability 

The Custodian will be responsible only for direct loss or damage that the Trust suffers resulting 

from the Custodian’s fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.  Unless such loss or 

damages are due to the Custodian’s fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct, the 

Custodian will not be liable for loss of business, profits or goodwill or any indirect, consequential, 

punitive or special damages, whether or not reasonably foreseeable, even if the Custodian has been 

advised of the likelihood of such loss and even if such loss is the result of negligence, breach of 

contract or otherwise.  

Indemnity 

The Trust will, solely out of the Trust’s assets, indemnify the Custodian and each of its officers, 

directors, employees, subsidiaries and affiliates on demand against all costs and expenses, 

damages, claims, liabilities and losses (including legal fees) which the Custodian or any such 

officer, director, employee, subsidiary or affiliate may suffer or incur directly or indirectly because 

of the Trust’s breach of the Custodian Agreement, because the Custodian acted on what it believed 

(in good faith and without fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct) to be the 

Trustee’s communication or because of anything done under or as contemplated by the Custodian 

Agreement, provided that such costs and expenses, damages, claims, liabilities and losses did not 

result from the fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of the Custodian or any 

such officer, director, employee, subsidiary or affiliate of the Custodian.  

Force Majeure 

The Custodian is not liable for any damage, loss, expense or liability caused by acts of God, fire, 

flood, civil or labor disturbance, war or terrorism, act of any governmental authority or other act or 

threat of any authority, legal constraint, fraud or forgery (other than on the part of the Custodian or 

any of its directors, officers or employees), malfunction of equipment (including any computer or 

related software), failure of or the effect of rules or operations of any funds transfer system, 

inability to obtain or interruption of communications facilities, or any cause beyond the reasonable 

control of the Custodian.  

Termination 

The Custodian may terminate the Custodian Agreement for any reason whatsoever upon 120 

business days’ prior notice.  Before the expiration of such notice, the Custodian will transfer any 

cleared balance in the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping 

Account, as applicable, in accordance with the Sponsor’s reasonable instructions.  Any 

termination of the Custodian Agreement will cause the termination of the Trust.  
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Governing Law; Jurisdiction 

The Custodian Agreement is governed by the laws of New York and the Custodian is subject to the 

laws of Delaware.  The Trust and the Custodian consent to the jurisdiction of the courts of New 

York to settle any dispute relating to the Custodian Agreement. 

Trust Agreement 

The following summary describes in brief certain aspects of the operation of the Trust and the 

respective responsibilities of the Trustee and the Sponsor concerning the Trust and the material 

terms of the Trust Agreement.  Please see the above section “Description of the Shares” regarding 

the Shares.  Prospective investors should carefully review the Trust Agreement and consult with 

their own advisers concerning the implications to such prospective subscribers of investing in a 

Delaware statutory trust.  Capitalized terms used in this section and not otherwise defined shall 

have such meanings assigned to them under the Trust Agreement. 

Principal Office 

The Trust is organized as a statutory trust under the Delaware Statutory Trust Act.  The Trust is 

managed by the Sponsor, whose office is located at 636 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New 

York 10011, and telephone number: (212) 668-5920. 

The Trustee 

Delaware Trust Company (formerly known as CSC Trust Company of Delaware), a Delaware 

corporation, is the sole Trustee of the Trust. The Trustee’s principal offices are located at 2711 

Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, DE 19808. The Trustee is unaffiliated with the Sponsor. 

The Trustee’s duties and liabilities with respect to the offering of the Shares and the management 

of the Trust are limited to its express obligations under the Trust Agreement.  

The rights and duties of the Trustee, the Sponsor and the Shareholders are governed by the 

provisions of the Delaware Statutory Trust Act and by the Trust Agreement.  

The Trustee serves as the sole trustee of the Trust in the State of Delaware. The Trustee will accept 

service of legal process on the Trust in the State of Delaware and will make certain filings under 

the Delaware Statutory Trust Act. The Trustee does not owe any other express duties to the Trust, 

the Sponsor or the Shareholders. The Trustee is permitted to resign upon at least one hundred 

eighty (180) days’ notice to the Sponsor. The Trust Agreement provides that the Trustee is 

indemnified by the Trust against certain expenses subject to such losses not being caused by the 

Trustee’s willful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence. The Sponsor has the discretion to 

replace the Trustee.  

The Trustee’s liability in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares and with respect to its 

role as Trustee is limited solely to the express obligations of the Trustee set forth in the Trust 

Agreement. The Trustee is both indemnified and exculpated as provided in the Trust Agreement. 

Under the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor has the exclusive management, authority and control of 

all aspects of the business of the Trust. The Trustee has no duty or liability to supervise or monitor 

the performance of the Sponsor, nor does the Trustee have any liability for the acts or omissions of 
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the Sponsor. The Shareholders have no voice in the day-to-day management of the business and 

operations of the Trust, other than certain limited voting rights as set forth in the Trust Agreement. 

In the course of its management of the business and affairs of the Trust, the Sponsor may, in its 

sole and absolute discretion, delegate its duties under the Trust Agreement to an affiliate or 

affiliates of the Sponsor and retain such persons, including affiliates of the Sponsor, as it deems 

necessary for the efficient operation of the Trust. 

The existence of a trustee should not be taken as an indication of any additional level of 

management or supervision over the Trust. The Trustee’s only duties are to satisfy the 

requirements of the Delaware Statutory Trust Act that a Delaware statutory trust have at least one 

trustee with its principal place of business in Delaware. The Trust Agreement provides that the 

management authority with respect to the Trust is vested directly in the Sponsor. 

The Trustee has not prepared or verified, and shall not be responsible or liable for, any 

information, disclosure or other statement in this Annual Report or in any other document issued 

or delivered in connection with the sale or transfer of the Shares. The Trust Agreement will 

provide that the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for the genuineness, enforceability, 

collectability, value, sufficiency, location or existence of any of the bitcoins or other assets of the 

Trust. 

The Sponsor is obligated under the Trust Agreement to assume and pay the Trustee’s fee. 

Fiduciary and Regulatory Duties of the Sponsor 

An investor should be aware that the Sponsor has a fiduciary responsibility to the Shareholders to 

exercise good faith and fairness in all dealings affecting the Trust. 

As Sponsor of the Trust, the Sponsor effectively is subject to the duties and restrictions imposed on 

“fiduciaries” under both statutory and common law.  The general fiduciary duties which would 

otherwise be imposed on the Sponsor (which would make the operation of the Trust as described 

herein impracticable due to the strict prohibition imposed by such duties on, for example, conflicts 

of interest on behalf of a fiduciary in its dealings with its beneficiaries), are defined and limited in 

scope by the disclosure of the business terms of the Trust, as set forth herein and in the Trust 

Agreement (to which terms all Shareholders, by subscribing to the Shares, are deemed to consent). 

The Trust Agreement provides that the Sponsor and its affiliates (“Covered Person”), will have 

no liability to the Trust or to any Shareholder for any loss suffered by the Trust arising out of any 

action or inaction of the Covered Person if the Covered Person, in good faith, determined that such 

course of conduct was in the best interests of the Trust and such course of conduct did not 

constitute fraud, gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct by the Covered Person.  The 

Trust has agreed to indemnify the Covered Person against any losses, judgments, liabilities, 

expenses and amounts paid in settlement of any claims sustained by it in connection with the 

Covered Person’s activities for the Trust, provided that the Covered Person was acting on behalf of 

or performing services for the Trust and has determined, in good faith, that such course of conduct 

was in the best interests of the Trust and such liability or loss was not the result of fraud, gross 

negligence, bad faith, willful misconduct, or a material breach of the Trust Agreement on the part 

of the Sponsor and any such indemnification will only be recoverable from the Trust estate. 
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Under Delaware law, the right of a beneficial owner of a statutory trust (such as a Shareholder of 

the Trust) to bring a derivative action (i.e., to initiate a lawsuit in the name of a the statutory trust in 

order to assert a claim belonging to the statutory trust against a fiduciary of the statutory trust or 

against a third-party when the statutory trust’s management has refused to do so) may be restricted 

by the terms of the governing instrument of the statutory trust.  The Trust Agreement of the Trust 

provides that in addition to any other requirements of applicable law, no Shareholder shall have the 

right, power or authority to bring or maintain a derivative action, suit or other proceeding on behalf 

of the Trust unless two or more Shareholders who (i) are not affiliates of one another and (ii) 

collectively hold at least 10% of the outstanding Shares join in the bringing or maintaining of such 

action, suit or other proceeding.   

Beneficial owners may have the right, subject to certain legal requirements, to bring class actions 

in federal court to enforce their rights under the federal securities laws and the rules and 

regulations promulgated thereunder by SEC.  Beneficial owners who have suffered losses in 

connection with the purchase or sale of their beneficial interests may be able to recover such losses 

from the Sponsor where the losses result from a violation by the Sponsor of the anti-fraud 

provisions of the federal securities laws. 

There are substantial and inherent conflicts of interest in the structure of the Trust which are, on 

their face, inconsistent with the Sponsor’s fiduciary duties.  One of the purposes underlying the 

disclosures set forth in this Annual Report is to disclose to all prospective Shareholders these 

conflicts of interest so that the Sponsor may have the opportunity to obtain investors’ informed 

consent to such conflicts.  Prospective investors who are not willing to consent to the various 

conflicts of interest described under the section “Conflicts of Interest” and elsewhere should not 

invest in the Trust.  The Sponsor currently intends to raise such disclosures and consent as a 

defense in any proceeding brought seeking relief based on the existence of such conflicts of 

interest. 

The foregoing summary describing in general terms the remedies available to Shareholders under 

applicable law is based on statutes, rules and decisions as of the date of this Annual Report.  This is 

a rapidly developing and changing area of the law.  Therefore, Shareholders who believe that they 

may have a legal cause of action against any of the foregoing parties should consult their own 

counsel as to their evaluation of the status of the applicable law at such time. 

Recognition of the Trust in Certain States 

A number of states do not have “statutory trust” statutes such as that under which the Trust has 

been formed in the State of Delaware.  It is possible, although unlikely, that a court in such a state 

could hold that, due to the absence of any statutory provision to the contrary in such jurisdiction, 

the Shareholders, although entitled under Delaware law to similar limitations on personal liability 

as stockholders in a private corporation for profit organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware, are not so entitled in such state.  To protect Shareholders against any loss of limited 

liability, the Trust Agreement provides that no written obligation may be undertaken by the Trust 

unless such obligation is explicitly limited so as not to be enforceable against any Shareholder 

personally.  Furthermore, the Trust indemnifies all its Shareholders against any liability that such 

Shareholders might incur in addition to that of a beneficial owner. 
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Possible Repayment of Distributions Received by Shareholders; Indemnification by Shareholders 

The Shares are limited liability investments.  Investors may not lose more than the amount that 

they invest plus any profits recognized on their investment.  Although it is unlikely, the Sponsor 

may, from time-to-time, make distributions to the Shareholders.  However, Shareholders could be 

required, as a matter of bankruptcy law, to return to the estate of the Trust any distribution they 

received at a time when the Trust was in fact insolvent or in violation of its Trust Agreement.  In 

addition, Shareholders agree in the Trust Agreement that they will indemnify the Trust for any 

harm suffered by it as a result of: 

• Shareholders’ actions unrelated to the business of the Trust, or 

• taxes imposed on the Shares by any state, local or foreign taxing authority in which such 

Shareholders reside. 

The foregoing repayment of distributions and indemnity provisions (other than the provision for 

Shareholders indemnifying the Trust for taxes imposed upon it by a state, local or foreign taxing 

authority, which is included only as a formality due to the fact that many states do not have 

statutory trust statutes so that the tax status of the Trust in such states might, theoretically, be 

challenged — although the Sponsor is unaware of any instance in which this has actually occurred) 

are commonplace in statutory trusts and limited partnerships. 

Reports to Shareholders 

The Sponsor will furnish Shareholders with an annual report of the Trust within 180 calendar days 

after the Trust’s fiscal year (or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter) including, but not 

limited to, annual audited financial statements (including a statement of income and statement of 

financial condition), prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting 

principles (“GAAP”) and accompanied by a report of the independent Auditor that audited such 

statements. 

Payment of Expenses 

See “Bitcoin Investment Trust — Trust Expenses” for information regarding the payment of the 

Trust’s monthly expenses. 

Actions taken to Protect the Trust 

The Sponsor may, in its own discretion, undertake any action that it considers necessary or 

desirable to protect the Trust or the interests of the Shareholders.  The expenses incurred by the 

Sponsor in connection therewith (including the fees and disbursements of legal counsel) will be 

expenses of the Trust and are deemed to be Extraordinary Fees.  The Sponsor will be entitled to be 

reimbursed for the Extraordinary Fees. 
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Termination Events 

The Trust will dissolve if any of the following events occur: 

• a United States federal or state regulator requires the Trust to shut down or forces the Trust 

to liquidate its bitcoins or seizes, impounds or otherwise restricts access to Trust assets;  

• the Trust is determined to be a “money service business” under the regulations 

promulgated by FinCEN under the authority of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act and is required 

to comply with certain FinCEN regulations thereunder, and the Sponsor has made the 

determination that dissolution of the Trust is advisable; 

• the Trust is required to obtain a license or make a registration under any state law 

regulating money transmitters, money services business, providers of prepaid or stored 

value, virtual currency business or similar entities, and the Sponsor has made the 

determination that dissolution of the Trust is advisable; 

• any ongoing event exists that either prevents the Trust from making or makes impractical 

the Trust’s reasonable efforts to make a fair determination of the Bitcoin Market Price; 

• any ongoing event exists that either prevents the Trust from converting or makes 

impractical the Trust’s reasonable efforts to convert bitcoins to USD; 

• the filing of a certificate of dissolution or revocation of the Sponsor’s charter (and the 

expiration of 90 days after the date of notice to the Sponsor of revocation without a 

reinstatement of its charter) or upon the withdrawal, removal, adjudication or admission of 

bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sponsor, or an event of withdrawal unless (i) at the time 

there is at least one remaining Sponsor and that remaining Sponsor carries on the business 

of the Trust or (ii) within 90 days of such event of withdrawal all the remaining 

Shareholders agree in writing to continue the business of the Trust and to select, effective 

as of the date of such event, one or more successor Sponsors;  

• Shareholders holding at least 75% of the outstanding Shares notify the Sponsor that they 

elect to dissolve the Trust, notice of which is sent to the Sponsor not less than ninety (90) 

business days prior to the effective date of dissolution; or 

• the Custodian resigns or is removed without replacement. 

 The Sponsor may, in its sole discretion, dissolve the Trust if any of the following events 

occur:  

• the SEC determines that the Trust is an investment company required to be registered 

under the Investment Company Act of 1940;  

• the CFTC determines that the Trust is a commodity pool under the CEA; 

• the Trust becomes insolvent or bankrupt;  
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• all of the Trust’s assets are sold; 

• the determination of the Sponsor that the aggregate net assets of the Trust in relation to the 

operating expenses of the Trust make it unreasonable or imprudent to continue the business 

of the Trust; or 

• the Sponsor receives notice from the IRS or from counsel for the Trust or the Sponsor that 

the Trust fails to qualify for treatment, or will not be treated, as a grantor trust under the 

Code. 

If the Trustee notifies the Sponsor of the Trustee’s election to resign and the Sponsor does not 

appoint a successor trustee within 180 days, the Trust will dissolve.  

Upon dissolution of the Trust and surrender of Shares by the Shareholders, Shareholders will 

receive a distribution in USD or in bitcoins, at the sole discretion of the Sponsor, after the Sponsor 

has sold the Trust’s bitcoins and has paid or made provision for the Trust’s claims and obligations. 

Item 19. Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. 

Attached as an exhibit hereto is a copy of the Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust 

and Trust Agreement of Bitcoin Investment Trust dated as of December 26, 2014. 

Item 20. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers. 

Information regarding purchases of equity securities by the Trust and affiliated purchasers can be 

located on the Sponsor’s website at www.grayscale.co.  
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Item 21. Issuer’s Certifications. 

Certification 

I, Barry E. Silbert, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed the Annual Report, exhibits, and all notes thereto of Bitcoin Investment Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material 

fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covered by this Annual Report; and  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included or 

incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in 

this Annual Report. 

  

Dated April 1, 2015 

/s/ Barry E. Silbert                       

By: Barry E. Silbert 

Title: Chief Executive Officer of  

Grayscale Investments, LLC 
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Certification 

I, Simcha Wurtzel, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed the Annual Report, exhibits, and all notes thereto of Bitcoin Investment 

Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light 

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 

to the period covered by this Annual Report; and  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information 

included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the issuer as of, and 

for, the periods presented in this Annual Report. 

  

Dated April 1, 2015 

/s/ Simcha Wurtzel                  

By: Simcha Wurtzel 

Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of  

Grayscale Investments, LLC 
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Report of Independent Auditors 

 
The Sponsor of 
Bitcoin Investment Trust 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bitcoin Investment Trust (the “Trust”), 
which comprise the statements of assets and liabilities, including the schedules of investments, as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash 
flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 and for the period from September 25, 2013 
(commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013, and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Bitcoin Investment Trust at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its 
operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 and for 
the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

 
Emphasis of Matter – Investments in Bitcoin 

In forming our opinion we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures included in Note 7 to the 
financial statements concerning among other things the risks and uncertainties related to the Trust's 
investments in bitcoin.  The risks and rewards to be recognized by the Trust associated with its 
investments in bitcoin will be dependent on many factors outside of the Trust’s control. The currently 
unregulated and immature nature of the bitcoin market, including clearing, settlement, custody and 
trading mechanisms, the dependency on information technology to sustain bitcoin continuity,  as well 
as valuation and volume volatility all subject bitcoin to unique risks of theft, loss, or other 
misappropriation. Furthermore, these factors also contribute to the significant uncertainty with respect 
to the future viability and value of bitcoin. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter. 

 
 

 
 
  
April 1, 2015 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust 

    

 

Statements of Assets and Liabilities 

    

   

December 31, 

 

December 31, 

      2014   2013 

 

(Amounts in U.S. Dollars, except share amounts) 

    

      

 

Assets: 

    

 

Investments in bitcoin, at fair value (cost $57,774,772 and 

$24,708,070 as of 12/31/14 and 12/31/13 respectively)
(1)

 

 

$42,795,876  

 

$51,045,863  

  Total assets   $42,795,876    $51,045,863  

      

 

Liabilities: 

    

 

Fees payable 

 

$           - 

 

$           - 

  Total liabilities                -  

 

             -   

  Net assets   $42,795,876    $51,045,863  

      

  

Shares issued and outstanding, no par value (unlimited 

shares authorized)   1,382,400    701,100  

  Net asset value per share   $        30.96    $          72.81  

      

 

(1) – December 31, 2013 cost information has been restated to reflect the impact of a change in accounting 

principle. See “Investment Transactions and Revenue Recognition” in Footnote No. 2.  

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust 
 

 

 

 

 

Schedules of Investments 
 

  

 

 

 

 

        

December 31, 2014 
  

 
    

 

Number of 

Bitcoin  
Cost 

 
Fair Value 

 

% of Net 

Assets 

        
Investments in bitcoin 134,777.42574934 

 
$57,774,772  

 
$42,795,876  

 
100% 

Total investments 
  

$57,774,772  
 

$42,795,876  
 

100% 

 

December 31, 2013 
       

 

Number of 

Bitcoin  
Cost

1
 

 
Fair Value 

 

% of Net 

Assets 

        
Investments in bitcoin 69,734.78569231  $24,708,070   $51,045,863  100% 

Total investments   $24,708,070  $51,045,863   100% 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 (1) – December 31, 2013 cost information has been restated to reflect the impact of a change in accounting 

principle. See “Investment Transactions and Revenue Recognition” in Footnote No. 2.  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust 
  

 Statements of Operations 

     

   

 

Year ended 

 

For the period 

from September 

25, 2013 

(commencement 

of operations) to 

 

December 31, 

 

December 31, 

  2014   2013 

(Amounts in U.S. Dollars) 

   

    Investment income: 

   Investment income $                -    $                -  

    Expenses: 

   Management fees 1,044,505    146,520  

    Net investment loss (1,044,505) 

 

(146,520) 

    Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on 

investments in bitcoin: 

   Net realized gain on investments in bitcoin
(1)

 521,669  

 

204,297  

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments in 

bitcoin
(1)

 (41,316,689)   26,337,793  

Net realized and change in unrealized gain (loss) on 

investments in bitcoin: (40,795,020)   26,542,090  

 

      

Net (decrease) increase in net assets resulting from 

operations $ (41,839,525)   $26,395,570  

    (1) – Information for the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 

2013 has been restated to reflect the impact of a change in accounting principle. See “Investment 

Transactions and Revenue Recognition” in Footnote No. 2. 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust 
   

Statements of Changes in Net Assets 

   

 

Year ended 

 

For the period 

from September 

25, 2013 

(commencement 

of operations) to 

 

December 31, 

 

December 31, 

  2014   2013 

(Amounts in U.S. Dollars, except change in shares 

outstanding) 

       Increase (decrease) in net assets from operations: 

   Net investment loss  $    (1,044,505) 

 

 $       (146,520) 

Net realized gain on investments in bitcoin
(1)

 521,669   204,297  

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments 

in bitcoin
(1)

 (41,316,689)   26,337,793  

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from 

operations        (41,839,525)            26,395,570  

Increase in net assets from capital share transactions: 

  Shares issued         37,893,930  

 

        24,848,189  

Shares redeemed        (4,304,392) 

 

          (197,896) 

Net increase in net assets resulting from capital share 

transactions          33,589,538             24,650,293  

    Net increase (decrease) in net assets from operations 

and capital share transactions (8,249,987)    51,045,863  

    Net assets: 

      Beginning of period         51,045,863  

 

                      -    

   End of period  $    42,795,876     $    51,045,863  

    Change in shares outstanding 

   Shares outstanding at beginning of period 701,100  - 

Shares issued 770,900  

 

703,700  

Shares redeemed (89,600) 

 

(2,600) 

Net increase in shares 681,300    701,100  

Shares outstanding at end of period 1,382,400  701,100 

    (1) – Information for the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 

31, 2013 has been restated to reflect the impact of a change in accounting principle. See “Investment 

Transactions and Revenue Recognition” in Footnote No. 2. 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust   
 Statements of Cash Flows 

     
   

 

Year ended 
 

For the period 

from September 

25, 2013 

(commencement 

of operations) to 

 

December 31, 
 

December 31, 

  2014   2013 

(Amounts in U.S. Dollars) 
   

    Cash flows from operating activities $                -  
 

$                -  

Cash flows from investing activities  -  
 

 -  

Cash flows from financing activities  -  
 

 -  

Increase (decrease) in cash  -  
 

 -  

 
   Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  -  

 
 -  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $                - 
 

$                -  

  
 

 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities: 

 
 

 
Bitcoin received for creation of shares $37,893,930  

 
$24,848,189  

Bitcoin distributed for redemption of shares $  4,304,392  
 

$     197,896  

    
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Bitcoin Investment Trust 

Notes to Financial Statements 

 

December 31, 2014 

1. Organization 

The Bitcoin Investment Trust (the “Trust” or “BIT”), a Delaware Trust that commenced operations on 

September 25, 2013, is an open-ended trust that is invested exclusively in bitcoin. The Trust holds bitcoin 

and, from time to time, issues shares (“Shares”) (in minimum denominations of 100, referred to as 

“Baskets”) in exchange for deposits of bitcoin and distributes bitcoin in connection with redemptions of 

Baskets. Shares of the Trust represent common units of fractional undivided beneficial interests in the 

Trust. The investment objective of the Trust is for the Shares to reflect the performance of the market 

price of bitcoin, less the Trust’s expenses.  

Grayscale Investments LLC (“Grayscale” or the “Sponsor”) (formerly known as Alternative Currency 

Asset Management, LLC) acts as the sponsor of the Trust and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 

SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. The Sponsor monitors the overall performance of the Trust.  Grayscale is 

responsible for preparing and providing periodic reports on behalf of the BIT to investors. Grayscale is 

also responsible for selecting and monitoring the BIT’s service providers. As payment for its services, 

Grayscale charges the Trust a management fee as discussed in Note 6. 

Authorized Participants of the Trust are the only persons who may place orders to create or redeem 

Baskets. SecondMarket, Inc., (the “Authorized Participant” or “SMI”) a registered broker dealer and 

wholly owned subsidiary of SecondMarket Holdings, Inc., serves as the BIT’s Authorized Participant and 

is party to a participant agreement with the Sponsor and the Trust. The participant agreement provides the 

procedures for the creation and redemption of Baskets and for the delivery of bitcoins required for 

creation or redemption. 

The custodian of the Trust is SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. (the “Custodian” or “SecondMarket”). The 

Custodian is responsible for safeguarding the bitcoin held by the Trust. SecondMarket was also the 

administrator of the trust through December 2, 2014. The responsibilities of the administrator included 

facilitating the creations and redemptions of Baskets as well as other responsibilities. As of December 2, 

2014, the role of the administrator of the BIT was terminated. The Sponsor assumed all responsibilities 

previously performed by the administrator. 

The transfer agent for the Trust is Continental Stock Transfer Corporation. The responsibilities of the 

transfer agent are to maintain creations, redemptions, and transfers of the Trust’s shares in book form.  

  



Bitcoin Investment Trust 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Trust: 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The BIT qualifies as an investment company for accounting purposes pursuant 

to the accounting and reporting guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 

Standards Codification Topic 946. The BIT is not registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940. 

U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in 

the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

The BIT conducts its transactions in bitcoin, including receiving bitcoin for the creation of shares, 

payment of bitcoin for the redemption of shares, as well as paying its management fees. Since its 

inception, the Trust has not held cash or cash equivalents. 

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. 

Investment Transactions and Revenue Recognition 

The Trust considers its investment transactions to be the receipt of bitcoin for share creations and the 

payment of bitcoin for share redemptions or payment of expenses in bitcoin. The Trust records its 

investment transactions on a trade date basis and changes in fair value are reflected as net change in 

unrealized gains or losses on investments. Realized gains and losses are calculated using an average cost 

method.  Realized gains and losses are recognized in connection with transactions including settling 

obligations in bitcoin and share redemptions. 

Effective January 1, 2014, the Trust elected to change its method of accounting for the cost basis of 

bitcoin from the specific identification method to the average cost method. In the prior period from 

September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 the specific identification 

method was used to record the cost basis of the bitcoin held, and to calculate the realized gains and losses. 

The Trust believes that the average cost method is preferable because (1) the average cost method 

corresponds with the substance of the transactions, and (2) the average cost method is the method used by 

similar investment trusts. The amounts previously reported for the period from September 25, 2013 

(commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 have been adjusted for the change in accounting 

principle.  

The cost basis of the investments in bitcoin as of December 31, 2013 included in the Statements of Assets 

and Liabilities was adjusted from $24,650,293 under the specific identification method to $24,708,070 

under the average cost method. Total assets, Net assets, and the Net asset value per share were not 

impacted by this change. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

The following line items within the Statement of Operations for the period from September 25, 2013 

(commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 were affected by the change in accounting method: 

 

For the period from September 25, 2013 

(commencement of operations)   

to December 31, 2013 

 

 

As reported under 

average cost 

method 

As reported under 

the specific 

identification 

method 

Change: 

(Decrease) 

/Increase 

Net realized and change in unrealized gain: 

  Net realized gain on investments in bitcoin 204,297  59,870      144,427  

Net change in unrealized gain on investments in 

bitcoin 26,337,793  26,482,220   (144,427) 

Net realized and change in unrealized gain on 

investments in bitcoin: 26,542,090  26,542,090  

                   

-      

Net increase in net assets resulting from 

operations $26,395,570  $26,395,570  

                    

-    

 

Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., 

the ‘exit price’) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

U.S. GAAP utilizes a fair value hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use 

of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable 

inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing 

the asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Trust. Unobservable 

inputs reflect the Trust’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset 

or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The fair value 

hierarchy is categorized into three levels based on the inputs as follows: 

• Level 1 – Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the Trust has the ability to access. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that 

are readily and regularly available in an active market, these valuations do not entail a significant 

degree of judgment. 

• Level 2 – Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which significant 

inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

• Level 3 – Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 

measurement. 

The availability of valuation techniques and observable inputs can vary by investment. To the extent that 

valuations are based on sources that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination 

of fair value requires more judgment. Fair value estimates do not necessarily represent the amounts that 

may be ultimately realized by the Trust.  

 

3. Fair Value of Bitcoin 

 

Bitcoin is held by the Custodian on behalf of the Trust and is carried at fair value. As of December 31, 

2014, and December 31, 2013 the Trust held 134,777.42574934 and 69,734.78569231 bitcoin 

respectively. The Trust determined the fair value per bitcoin to be $317.53 on December 31, 2014, and 

$732.00 on December 31, 2013, using the price provided at 4:00 PM in New York by the bitcoin 

exchange considered to be the Trust’s primary market for bitcoin. 

 

 December 31, 2014 

  

Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical 

Assets 

(Level 1) 

Significant 

Other 

Observable 

inputs 

(Level 2) 

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs 

(Level 3) 

Balance 

as of 

December 31, 

2014 

Assets 
    Investments in bitcoin $ - $42,795,876 $ -   $42,795,876  

 

 

 

 December 31, 2013 

 Quoted Prices 

in Active 

Markets for 

Identical 

Assets 

(Level 1) 

Significant 

Other 

Observable 

inputs 

(Level 2) 

Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs 

(Level 3) 

Balance 

as of 

December 31, 

2013 

Assets 
    Investments in bitcoin $  - $51,045,863 $ - $51,045,863 

  



Bitcoin Investment Trust 

Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

 

12 

 

4. Creations and Redemptions of Shares 

 

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, there was an unlimited number of Shares authorized by the Trust. The 

Trust creates and redeems Shares from time to time, but only in one or more Baskets. The creation and 

redemption of Baskets on behalf of investors are made by the Authorized Participant in exchange for the 

delivery of bitcoin to the Trust or the distribution of bitcoin by the Trust. The number of bitcoins required 

for each creation basket or redemption basket is determined by dividing the number of bitcoins owned by 

the Trust at such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time and multiplying the quotient 

obtained by 100. 

 

The cost basis of investments in bitcoin recorded by the Trust is the fair value of bitcoin, as determined by 

the Trust, at 4:00 PM New York time on the date of transfer to the Trust by the Authorized Participant. 

The cost basis recorded by the Trust may differ from proceeds collected by the Authorized Participant 

from the sale of each Share to investors. The Authorized Participant may realize significant profits 

buying, selling, creating and redeeming Shares as a result of changes in the value of Shares or bitcoins. 

Effective October 28, 2014 the BIT suspended its redemption program, in which Shareholders were 

permitted to request the redemption of their Shares through the Authorized Participant.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014, 770,900 Trust shares were created and 89,600 shares were 

redeemed. During the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 

2013, 703,700 Trust shares were created and 2,600 shares were redeemed. Realized gains or losses on 

investments in bitcoin related to these redemptions are recorded using the average cost method.  

 

5. Income Taxes 

 

The Trust is treated as a grantor trust and the shareholders will be treated as owning proportionate 

interests in the Trust for U.S. Federal income tax purposes. The Trust, therefore, will not be subject to 

U.S. Federal income tax. Instead, each shareholder will be deemed to acquire and hold a proportionate 

interest in the Trust’s assets and will be required to report its proportionate share of the Trust’s gains, 

income, losses and expenses on its U.S. Federal income tax returns in accordance with the shareholder’s 

method of accounting. However, there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with this conclusion 

and it is possible that the IRS could assert a position to the contrary to one or all of those conclusions and 

that a court could sustain that contrary conclusion. The Sponsor of the Trust has evaluated whether or not 

there are uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition and has determined that no 

reserves for uncertain tax positions are required as of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. 
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6. Related Parties 

 

The Trust considers the following entities and their directors to be related parties of the Trust: 

SecondMarket, SMI, and Grayscale. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 202,210 and 200,892 shares of 

the Trust were held by related parties of the Trust. 

 

In accordance with the Trust Agreement of the BIT, the Trust pays a management fee to the Sponsor, 

calculated as 2% of the aggregate value, expressed in U.S. Dollars, of the Trust’s assets, less its liabilities 

(which include accrued but unpaid expenses), as calculated and published by the Sponsor or its delegates 

(the “Combined Fee”). The Combined Fee accrues daily, and is payable to the Sponsor in bitcoin monthly 

in arrears. As consideration for its receipt of the Combined Fee, the Sponsor is obligated under the Trust 

Agreement of the BIT to assume and pay the following fees and expenses of the Trust: marketing fees, 

custodian fees, administrator fees and sponsor fees (the “Constituent Fees”), the shareholder 

communications hub fee, transfer agent fee, trustee fee, expenses related to public trading on OTCQX in 

an amount up to $600,000 annually (including legal and audit fees and expenses), any other legal and 

accounting fees, regulatory fees, printing and mailing costs, and applicable license fees (along with the 

Constituent Fees, the “Assumed Fees”).  

 

The Trust may pay expenses in addition to the Combined Fee and the Assumed Fees, such as, but not 

limited to, taxes and governmental charges, expenses and costs of any services performed by the Sponsor 

(or any other service provider) on behalf of the Trust to protect the Trust or the interests of Shareholders, 

indemnification expenses, fees and expenses related to public trading on OTCQX in excess of $600,000 

annually, and legal fees and expenses (collectively, “Extraordinary Fees”).  For the year ended December 

31, 2014 and for the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 

2013, the Trust incurred management fees in bitcoin, with a value of $1,044,505 and $146,520 

respectively. There were no accrued or unpaid management fees as of December 31, 2014 and December 

31, 2013, and no Extraordinary Fees have been incurred by the Trust since its inception. 

 

 

7. Risk Factors 

 

The Trust is subject to various risks including market risk, liquidity risk, and other risks related to its 

concentration in a single asset, bitcoin. Investing in bitcoin is currently unregulated, highly speculative, 

and volatile. 

 

The net asset value of the Trust relates directly to the value of the bitcoin held by the Trust, and 

fluctuations in the price of bitcoin could materially and adversely affect an investment in the shares of the 

Trust. The price of bitcoin has a limited history.  During such history, bitcoin prices have been volatile 

and subject to influence by many factors including the levels of liquidity. If bitcoin markets continue to 

experience significant price fluctuations, the Trust may experience losses. Several factors may affect the 

price of bitcoin, including, but not limited to, global bitcoin supply and demand, and competition from 

other forms of digital currency or payments services. 
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7. Risk Factors (continued) 

 

The bitcoin held by the Trust are commingled and the Trust’s shareholders have no specific rights to any 

specific bitcoin.  In the event of the insolvency of the Trust, its assets may be inadequate to satisfy a claim 

by its shareholders. 
 

There is currently no clearing house for bitcoin, nor is there a central or major depository for the custody 

of bitcoin. There is a risk that some or all of the Trust’s bitcoins could be lost or stolen. The Trust does 

not have insurance protection on its bitcoin which exposes the Trust and its shareholders to the risk of loss 

of the Trust’s bitcoin. Further, bitcoin transactions are irrevocable and stolen or incorrectly transferred 

bitcoin may be irretrievable.  As a result, any incorrectly executed bitcoin transactions could adversely 

affect an investment in the Trust.  

 

To the extent private keys for bitcoin addresses are lost, destroyed or otherwise compromised and no 

backup of the private keys are accessible, the Trust may be unable to access the bitcoin held in the 

associated address and the private key will not be capable of being restored by the bitcoin network. The 

processes by which bitcoin transactions are settled are dependent on the bitcoin peer-to-peer network, and 

as such, the Trust is subject to operational risk. A risk also exists with respect to previously unknown 

technical vulnerabilities, which may adversely affect the value of bitcoin. 

 

As of the close of business on March 31, 2015 the fair value of bitcoin determined in accordance with the 

Company’s accounting policy was $242.92 per bitcoin. 
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8. Financial Highlights 

 

Year ended 

 

For the period 

from September 

25, 2013 

(commencement 

of operations) to 

 
December 31, 

 
December 31, 

 
2014 

 
2013 

Per Share Data:       

Net asset value, beginning of period $72.81    $12.33  

Net increase (decrease) in net assets from investment 

operations 
   

Net investment loss                    (0.97) 
 

                   (0.28) 

Net realized and unrealized gains (losses)                  (40.88) 
 

                    60.76  

Net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from 

operations 
                 (41.85)                       60.48  

    
Net asset value, end of period $30.96    $72.81  

    
Total return -57.48%   490.51% 

    
Ratios to Average Net Assets: 

   
Net investment loss -2.03%   -1.36% 

Expenses -2.03% 
 

-1.36% 

 

Ratios of net investment loss and expenses to average net assets for the period from September 25, 2013 

(commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 have been annualized. 

An individual shareholder’s return, ratios, and per share performance may vary from those presented 

above based on the timing of share transactions. Total return presented in the table above has not been 

annualized for the period from September 25, 2013 (commencement of operations) to December 31, 

2013. 

Total return is calculated assuming an initial investment made at the net asset value at the beginning of the 

year and redemption on the last day of the year.  Total return for the period from September 25, 2013 

(commencement of operations) to December 31, 2013 has been corrected as compared to the previously 

reported amount, and has not been annualized. 
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9. Indemnifications 

 

In the normal course of business, the Trust enters into certain contracts that provide a variety of 

indemnities, including contracts with the Sponsor and affiliates of the Sponsor, the Custodian and each of 

the Custodian’s officers, directors, employees, subsidiaries and affiliates, as well as others relating to 

services provided to the Trust.  

 

The Trust’s maximum exposure under these and its other indemnities is unknown. However, no liabilities 

have arisen under these indemnities in the past and, while there can be no assurances in this regard, there 

is no expectation that any will occur in the future. Therefore, the Sponsor does not consider it necessary to 

record a liability in this regard. 

 

10. Subsequent Events 

The Sponsor has performed an evaluation of the Trust’s subsequent events through April 1, 2015, which 

is the date the financial statements were available to be issued. As of January 15, 2015 the Trust’s Private 

Placement Memorandum has been updated. On March 25, 2015 the Trust received notice that its shares 

have been qualified for public trading on the OTCQX U.S. Premier Marketplace of the OTC Markets 

Group Inc. (“OTCQX”). The Trust’s trading symbol on OTCQX is “GBTC” and the CUSIP number for 

its shares is 09173T108. There are no other known events that have occurred that require disclosure other 

than that which has already been disclosed in these notes to the financial statements. 
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GRAYSCALE INVESTMENTS, LLC 

(formerly known as Alternative Currency Asset Management, LLC) 
 

DELAWARE TRUST COMPANY 
(formerly known as CSC Trust Company of Delaware) 

 
and 

 
THE UNITHOLDERS 

 

from time to time hereunder 

 

 



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; THE TRUST 

SECTION 1.1  Definitions. ...............................................................................................1 
SECTION 1.2  Name. .......................................................................................................7 
SECTION 1.3  Delaware Trustee; Business Offices. .......................................................7 
SECTION 1.4  Declaration of Trust. ................................................................................7 
SECTION 1.5  Purposes and Powers. ..............................................................................7 
SECTION 1.6  Tax Treatment. .........................................................................................8 
SECTION 1.7  Legal Title. ...............................................................................................8 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE TRUSTEE 

SECTION 2.1  Term; Resignation. ...................................................................................8 
SECTION 2.2  Powers......................................................................................................8 
SECTION 2.3  Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee. ...........................................9 
SECTION 2.4  Indemnification. .......................................................................................9 
SECTION 2.5  Successor Trustee.....................................................................................9 
SECTION 2.6  Liability of Trustee. ................................................................................10 
SECTION 2.7  Reliance; Advice of Counsel. .................................................................11 
SECTION 2.8  Payments to the Trustee. ........................................................................12 

ARTICLE III 
 

UNITS; CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS; CREATIONS AND ISSUANCE OF CREATION 
BASKETS 

SECTION 3.1  General. .................................................................................................12 
SECTION 3.2  Offer of Units; Procedures for Creation and Issuance of 

Creation Baskets. ..................................................................................12 
SECTION 3.3  Book-Entry-Only System ........................................................................14 
SECTION 3.4  Assets of the Trust. .................................................................................14 
SECTION 3.5  Liabilities of the Trust. ...........................................................................14 
SECTION 3.6  Distributions. .........................................................................................14 
SECTION 3.7  Voting Rights. .........................................................................................14 
SECTION 3.8  Equality. .................................................................................................15 

ARTICLE IV 
 

THE SPONSOR 

SECTION 4.1  Management of the Trust. ......................................................................15 
SECTION 4.2  Authority of Sponsor. .............................................................................15 



 

ii 

SECTION 4.3  Obligations of the Sponsor. ...................................................................16 
SECTION 4.4  General Prohibitions. ............................................................................18 
SECTION 4.5  Liability of Covered Persons. ................................................................19 
SECTION 4.6  Fiduciary Duty. ......................................................................................19 
SECTION 4.7  Indemnification of the Sponsor. .............................................................20 
SECTION 4.8  Expenses and Limitations Thereon. .......................................................21 
SECTION 4.9  Other Business of Unitholders. ..............................................................23 
SECTION 4.10  Voluntary Withdrawal of the Sponsor. ..................................................23 
SECTION 4.11  Authorization of Memorandum. .............................................................23 
SECTION 4.12  Litigation. ...............................................................................................23 

ARTICLE V 
 

TRANSFERS OF UNITS 
SECTION 5.1  General Prohibition. ..............................................................................24 
SECTION 5.2  Transfer of Sponsor’s Units. ..................................................................24 
SECTION 5.3  Transfer of Units. ...................................................................................24 

ARTICLE VI 

REDEMPTIONS 
SECTION 6.1  Redemption of Redemption Baskets. ......................................................24 
SECTION 6.2  Other Redemption Procedures. ..............................................................26 

ARTICLE VII 
 

THE LIMITED OWNERS 
SECTION 7.1  No Management or Control; Limited Liability; Exercise of 

Rights through a Participant. ................................................................26 
SECTION 7.2  Rights and Duties. ..................................................................................26 
SECTION 7.3  Limitation of Liability. ...........................................................................27 
SECTION 7.4  Derivative Actions. .................................................................................27 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

BOOKS OF ACCOUNT AND REPORTS 
SECTION 8.1  Books of Account. ...................................................................................28 
SECTION 8.2  Quarterly Updates, Annual Updates and Account Statements. .............28 
SECTION 8.3  Tax Information. ....................................................................................28 
SECTION 8.4  Calculation of Net Asset Value. .............................................................28 
SECTION 8.5  Maintenance of Records. .......................................................................29 

ARTICLE IX 
 

FISCAL YEAR 

SECTION 9.1  Fiscal Year. ............................................................................................29 



 

iii 

ARTICLE X 
 

AMENDMENT OF TRUST AGREEMENT; MEETINGS 
SECTION 10.1  Amendments to the Trust Agreement. ....................................................29 
SECTION 10.2  Meetings of the Trust. ............................................................................30 
SECTION 10.3  Action Without a Meeting. .....................................................................30 

ARTICLE XI 
 

TERM 

SECTION 11.1  Term. ......................................................................................................31 

ARTICLE XII 
 

TERMINATION 

SECTION 12.1  Events Requiring Dissolution of the Trust. ............................................31 
SECTION 12.2  Distributions on Dissolution. .................................................................33 
SECTION 12.3  Termination; Certificate of Cancellation...............................................33 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
SECTION 13.1  Governing Law.......................................................................................33 
SECTION 13.2  Provisions In Conflict With Law or Regulations. ..................................34 
SECTION 13.3  Merger and Consolidation. ....................................................................34 
SECTION 13.4  Construction. ..........................................................................................35 
SECTION 13.5  Notices....................................................................................................35 
SECTION 13.6  Counterparts. .........................................................................................35 
SECTION 13.7  Binding Nature of Trust Agreement. ......................................................36 
SECTION 13.8  No Legal Title to Trust Estate. ...............................................................36 
SECTION 13.9  Creditors. ...............................................................................................36 
SECTION 13.10 Integration..............................................................................................36 
SECTION 13.11 Goodwill; Use of Name. .........................................................................36 

EXHIBIT A 
Form of Certificate of Trust of Bitcoin Investment Trust............................................... A-1 

EXHIBIT B 
Form of Participant Agreement .......................................................................................B-1 

 



 

 1 

 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED 
DECLARATION OF TRUST 
AND TRUST AGREEMENT 

This SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED DECLARATION OF TRUST AND TRUST  
AGREEMENT of BITCOIN INVESTM ENT TRUST i s made and entered into as of  the 26  
day of Decem ber, 2014, by and am ong GRAYSCALE INVEST MENTS, L LC (formerly 
known as Alternative Currency Asset Management, LLC), a Delaware limited liability company, 
DELAWARE TRUST COMPANY (formerly known as CSC Trust Company of Delaware), a 
Delaware corporation, as trustee, and the UNITHOLDERS from time to time hereunder. 

*          *          * 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor and the Trustee entered into the Amended and Restated 
Declaration of Trust and Trust Agreem ent dated as of Septem ber 25, 2013 (the “ Existing 
Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor and the T rustee wish to amend the Existing Agreement 
pursuant to Section 10.3 thereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE , pursuant to Section 10.3 of the Exi sting Agreement, the  
Trustee and the Sponsor hereby am end and restate the Existing Agreem ent in its entirety as set 
forth below. 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS; THE TRUST 

SECTION 1.1 Definitions. As used in this Trust Agreement, the following terms shall 
have the following meanings unless the context otherwise requires: 

“Actual Exchange Rate ” means the highes t exchange rate and lowest f ees the Spo nsor 
can find within a reasonable time frame in order to pay the Combined Fee in USD. 

“Affiliate” – An “Af filiate” of  a Person m eans (i ) any P erson d irectly or indire ctly 
owning, controlling or holding with power to vote 10% or m ore of th e outstanding voting 
securities of such Person, (ii) any Person 10% or more of whose outstanding voting securities are 
directly or indirectly owned, controlled or he ld with power to vote by such Person, (iii) any 
Person, directly or indirectly, controlling, controlled by or under common control of such Person, 
(iv) any employee, officer, direct or, member, manager or partner of  such Person, or (v) if such 
Person is an employee, officer, director, member, manager or partner, any Person for which such 
Person acts in any such capacity. 
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“Annual Update”  means the annu al report that is prepared pursuant to the Alte rnative 
Reporting Standard of the OTCQX U.S. Disclosure Guidelines. 

“Assumed Fee” means the Constituent Fees, the Sh areholder Communications Hub fee, 
Transfer Agent fee, Trustee fee, OTCQX Fees and expenses related to public trading on OTCQX 
in an a mount up to $600,000 annually (including le gal and audit fees and expenses), any other 
legal and accounting fees, regulatory fees, printing and mailing costs, and applicable license fees.   

“Basket” means a block of 100 Units. 

“Basket Bitcoin Amount ” means the num ber of Bitcoins that will be required for each  
Creation Basket or Redemption Basket, as determ ined from time to time by dividing the number 
of Bitcoins owned by the Trust at such tim e by the num ber of Units outstanding at such tim e 
(calculated to one one-h undred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying the quo tient obtained 
by 100. 

“Bitcoin”— means a type of a virtual currency  based on an open source cryptographic 
protocol existing on the Bitcoin Network, and the assets underlying the Trust’s Units. 

“Bitcoin Account” means a hot wallet which is online and connected to the internet.  The 
Bitcoin Account is used along with the T rust Storage Account and the T rust Safekeeping 
Account, as applicable,  to receive Creation Bask et deposits from  Participants.  Shortly after 
receipt of the appropriate num ber of Bitcoins, th e Bitcoin s are then transferred to the Trust 
Storage Account and/or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable. 

“Bitcoin Benchmark E xchanges” shall hav e the m eaning assigned to such term as 
provided in the currently effective Memorandum. 

“Bitcoin Market Price” shall have the meaning assigned to such term as provided in the 
currently effective Memorandum. 

“Business Day” means each weekday on which banks are open in New York, New York.  

“Capital C ontributions” means the a mounts of Bitcoins contributed and agreed to be  
contributed to the Trust by any Pa rticipant or by the Sponsor, as applicable, in accordance with 
Article III hereof.   

“Certificate of Trust ” m eans the Certif icate of  Trust of  the Trust, includ ing all 
amendments thereto, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, filed with the Secretary of State of 
the State of Delaware pursuant to Section 3810 of the Delaware Trust Statute. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Combined Fee” means a fee that accrues daily at an  annual rate of 2% of the NAV of 
the Trust and is payable to the Sponsor by the Trus t monthly in arrears.  Calculated in USD but 
paid in the equivalent number of Bitcoins. 
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“Combined Fee Exchange Rate ” means the exchange rate that  will be used to convert 
the Combined Fee from USD to the appropriate nu mber of Bitcoins.  It is calculated based upon 
the Bitcoin Market Price at 4:00 p.m., Eastern time in the case of daily accruals and as of the last 
day of each m onth for withdrawal and paym ent in arrears.  The Com bined Fee Exchange Rate 
does not include fees and expenses for converting USD into Bitcoins. 

“Constituent Fee” means the Marketing Fee, Custodian Fee and the Sponsor Fee which 
collectively constitute the Combined Fee. 

“Continuous Offering ” m eans the continuous offering during which additional U nits 
may be sold in Baskets pursuant to this Trust Agreement. 

“Corporate Trust Office ” means the principal office at wh ich at any particular tim e the 
corporate trust business of the Trustee is adm inistered, which office at the date hereof is located 
at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, DE 19808. 

“Covered Person ” means the Spon sor and its Aff iliates and their resp ective members, 
managers, directors, officers employees, agents and controlling persons. 

“Creation Basket ” means Baskets  issued by the Trust in exchange for deposits of the 
Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

“Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount ” means the number of Bitcoins that will be required 
for each Creation Bask et, as determ ined from tim e to time by dividin g the num ber of Bitcoins 
owned by the Trust at such tim e by the num ber of Units outstanding at such tim e (calculated to 
one one-hundred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying the quotient obtained by 100. 

“Creation Order” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.2(a)(i). 

“Creation Order Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 3.2(a)(i). 

“Custodian” means SecondMarket Holdings, Inc., or  any other Person from time to time 
engaged to provide custodian services or related services to the Trust pursuant to authority 
delegated by the Sponsor.  

“Custodian Fee” means the paid b y the Sponsor to the Cu stodian from the Constituent 
Fee.  

“Delaware Trust Statute ” m eans the Delaware Statuto ry Trust Act, Chapter 38 of 
Title 12 of the Delaware Code, 12 Del. C. § 3801 et seq., as the sam e may be  a mended from 
time-to-time. 

“Distributor” means SecondMarket, Inc. or any other Person fr om time to time engaged 
to provide distribution services or related services to the Trust pursuant to authority delegated by 
the Sponsor. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. 
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“Event of Withdrawal” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 12.1(f) hereof. 

“Extraordinary Fee ” means, in certain extraordinary circum stances, the expens es paid 
by the Trust in addition to the Combined Fee and the Assumed Fees, such as, but not lim ited to, 
taxes and governmental charges, expenses and co sts of any extraordinary services perform ed by 
the Sponsor (or any other Service P rovider) on beha lf of the Trust to protect the T rust or the 
interests of Unitholders, indemnification expenses, and extraordinary legal fees and expenses. 

“Fiscal Year” shall have the meaning set forth in Article IX hereof. 

“Indemnified Parties” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.4. 

“Internal Revenue Service ” or “ IRS” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Service o r any 
successor thereto. 

“Limited Owner” means any person or entity who is or becomes an owner of  Units of  
the Trust. 

“Liquidating Trustee” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 12.2. 

“Marketer” means SecondMarket, Inc. or any other Person from time to time engaged to 
provide marketing services or related services to the Trust pursuant to authority delegated by the 
Sponsor. 

“Marketing Fee” means a fee paid by the Sponsor to  the Marketer from the Constitu ent 
Fee. 

“Memorandum” means the Confidential Priv ate Placement Memorandum, as the s ame 
may at any time and from time to time be amended or supplemented. 

“Net Asset Value ” means the aggregate value, expresse d in USD, of  the Trust’s as sets, 
less its liabilities (which include es timated accrued but unpaid fees and e xpenses).  The Sponsor 
or its delegate shall calculate and publish th e Trust’s NAV each business day as of 4:00 p. m., 
Eastern time, or as soon thereafter as practicable. 

In order to calculate the NAV, the Sponsor shall: 

1. Determine the Bitcoin Market Price. 

2. Multiply th e Bitcoin Ma rket Pr ice b y the Trus t’s aggrega te number of  Bitcoins  
owned as of 4:00 p.m., Eastern time on the immediately preceding day. 

3. Add the dollar value of the Bitcoins receivable under pending Creation Baskets. 

4. Add the accrued but unpaid interest, if any and the value of other Trust assets, if 
any. 

5. Subtract the accrued but unpaid Combined Fee (and Extraordinary Fee, if any). 
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6. Subtract the dollar value of the B itcoins payable under pending Redem ption 
Baskets. 

7. Subtract other Trust expenses and liabilities, if any. 

In the event that the Sponsor determ ines that the m ethodology used to determ ine 
the Bitcoin Market Price is not an appropriate basis for valuation of th e Trust’s Bitcoins, the 
Sponsor shall determine an alternative methodology. 

“Net Asset Value Per Basket ” means the product obtained by multiplying the Net Asset 
Value Per Unit by the number of Units comprising a Basket at such time. 

“Net Asset Value Per Unit ” means the Net Asset Value divided by the num ber of Units 
outstanding on the date of calculation. 

“OTCQX” means the OTCQX tier of the OTC Markets Group Inc. 

“OTCQX Application” means the application that is  required by the OTCQX which, if 
approved, will then enable the Units to be traded on the OTCQX. 

“OTCQX Fees”  m eans the f ees outlined  by  Part  5 of  the OTCQX Rules f or U.S. 
Companies, as amended from time to time. 

“Participant” means a Person that (i) is a registered  broker-dealer, (ii) has entered into a 
Participant Agreement with the Sponsor and the Trust, and (iii) has access to an Participant Self-
Administered Account. 

“Participant Agreement ” m eans an agreem ent am ong t he Trust, the Sponsor and a 
Participant, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, as it may be amended or supplemented 
from time to time in accordance with its terms. 

“Participant Self-Administered Account ” m eans a Bitcoin  wallet add ress previou sly 
known to the Custodian as belonging to the Participant. 

“Percentage Interest” shall be a fraction, the num erator of which is the num ber of any 
Unitholder’s Units and the denom inator of whic h is the total num ber of  Units of  the Trust 
outstanding as of the date of determination. 

“Person” means any natural person, partnershi p, lim ited liability com pany, statutory 
trust, corporation, association, or other legal entity. 

“Quarterly Update”  m eans the quarte rly re port th at is  prepared pursuant to  the 
Alternative Reporting Standard of the OTCQX U.S. Disclosure Guidelines. 

“Redemption Basket” means Baskets of Units  redeemed in exchange for Bitcoins in an 
amount equal to the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount. 
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“Redemption Basket Bitcoin A mount” m eans the  nu mber of  Bitcoins that will be 
required for each Redemption Basket, as determined from time to time by dividing the number of 
Bitcoins ow ned by the Trust at such tim e by t he num ber of Units outstanding at such tim e 
(calculated to one one-h undred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying the quo tient obtained 
by 100. 

“Redemption Order” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(a). 

“Redemption Order Date” shall have the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6.1(a). 

“Shareholder Communications Hub ” m eans SM Systems, Inc. or a ny other Perso n 
from time to time engaged to provide such services or related services to the Trust pursuant to 
authority delegated by the Sponsor. 

“Sponsor” means Grayscale Investments, LLC (formerly known as Alternative Currency 
Asset Management, LLC), or any substitute therefor as provided herein, or any successor thereto 
by merger or operation of law. 

“Sponsor F ee” m eans the rem aining a mount, if any, paid to the Sponsor after the 
Constituent Fees and/or Assumed Fees from the Combined Fee have been paid first.  

“Transfer Agent ” m eans Continen tal S tock Transfer Corporation or any other Person 
from time to time engaged to provide such services or related services to the Trust pursuant to 
authority delegated by the Sponsor.  

“Trust” means Bitcoin Investm ent Trust, a Dela ware statutory trust form ed pursuant to 
the Certificate of Trust, the business and affairs of which are governed by this Trust Agreement. 

“Trust Agreement” means this Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust and 
Trust Agreement, as it may at any time or from time-to-time be amended. 

“Trust Storage Account ” m eans a wallet that is not online and not co nnected to the 
internet, used for storage of the Trust’s Bitcoins where they are readily accessib le and available 
to pay Redemption Baskets and Trust expenses. 

“Trust Safekeeping Account” means a wallet that is not online and not connected to the 
internet, us ed for “deep” cold sto rage of the Trust’s Bitcoins where they are not readily  
accessible and can only be accessed as provided by the rules of the Custodian. 

“Trustee” means Delaware Trust Com pany (formerly known as CSC Trust Com pany of 
Delaware), its successors and assigns, or any substitute therefor as provided herein, acting no t in 
its individual capacity but solely as trustee of the Trust. 

“Trust Estate ” means the all the Bitcoins (and all the funds, if any) on deposit in the 
Trust’s accounts, and any other property held by th e Trust, and all proceeds therefrom, including 
any rights of the Trust pursuant to any other agreements to which the Trust is a party. 
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“Unitholders” means the Sponsor and all L imited Owners, as holders of Units, where no 
distinction is required by the context in which the term is used. 

“Units” means the common units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the profits, 
losses, distributions, capital and a ssets of, and ownership of, the Trust.  Units m ay be owned by 
the Sponsor or a Limited Owner. 

SECTION 1.2 Name. 

(a) The na me of the Trust is “Bitcoin Investm ent Trust” in which nam e the  
Trustee and the Sponsor m ay engage in the busin ess of the Trust, m ake and execute contracts 
and other instruments in the na me and on behalf of the Trust and sue and be sued in the na me 
and on behalf of the Trust. 

SECTION 1.3 Delaware Trustee; Business Offices. 

(a) The sole Trustee of the Trust is Delaware T rust Com pany, which is 
located at th e Corporate Trust Office or at such  other address in the State of Delaware as the 
Trustee m ay designate in writi ng to the Unitholders.  T he Trus tee shall receiv e serv ice of 
process on the Trust in the State of Delaware at the forego ing address.  In th e event Delaware 
Trust Company resigns or is rem oved as the Trus tee, the T rustee of  the Trust in the State of 
Delaware shall be the successor Trustee, subject to Section 2.1. 

(b) The princ ipal of fice of  the Tru st, and such  addition al o ffices as th e 
Sponsor may estab lish, shall b e located at such  place o r places in side or outside the State o f 
Delaware as  the Sponsor m ay designate from tim e to ti me in writing to the Trustee and the 
Unitholders.  Initially, the principal office of th e Tr ust shall  be at  c/ o Grayscale Investments, 
LLC, 636 Avenue of the Americas, 6th Floor, New York, New York 10011. 

SECTION 1.4 Declaration of Trust.  The Sponsor has assigned, transferred, conveyed 
and set over to the Tru st the sum  of $1, which am ount shall cons titute the in itial Trust Es tate.  
The Trust Estate shall be held in trust for the Unitholders.  It is the intention of the parties hereto 
that the Trust shall be a statut ory trust, under the Delaware Trus t Statute and that this Trust  
Agreement shall constitute the govern ing instrument of the Trust.  It is not the intention of the 
parties hereto to create a general partnership, li mited partnership, limited liability company, joint 
stock association, corporation, ba ilment or any form  of legal re lationship other than a Delaware  
statutory trust except to the extent  that the T rust is deemed to constitute a partnership under the 
Code and applicable state and local tax laws.  Eff ective as of the date hereof, the Trustee and the  
Sponsor shall have all of the rights, powers and duties set forth herein and in the Delaware Trust  
Statute with  respect to accom plishing the purp oses of th e Trust.   Th e Trustee h as filed  th e 
certificate of trust required by Section 3810 of the Delaware Trust Statute in connection with the 
formation of the Trust under the Delaware Trust Statute. 

SECTION 1.5 Purposes and Powers.  The purposes of the Trust shall be:  (a) to enter 
into any lawful transaction and engage in any lawf ul activities in furtherance of or incidental to 
the foregoing; and (b) as determined from time to time by the Sponsor, to engage in any other 
lawful business or activity for which a statutory trust may be organized under the Delaware Trust 
Statute.  The Trust shall not engage in any other business or activity and shall not acquire or own 
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any other assets or take any of the actions set forth in Section 4.4.  The Trust shall have all of the 
powers specified in Section 14.1 hereof, includi ng, without lim itation, all of the powers which 
may be exercised by a Sponsor on behalf of the Trust under this Trust Agreement. 

SECTION 1.6 Tax Treatment.  

Each of  the  par ties her eto, by  entering  into  this Tru st A greement, (i) exp resses its  
intention that the Units  will qualify under applicable tax law as in terests in a grantor trust which 
holds the T rust Esta te, ( ii) agrees that it will f ile its own U .S. federal, state and lo cal income, 
franchise and other tax  returns in a m anner that is  consistent with the classification of the Trus t 
as a grantor trust, and (iii) agrees to use reasonable efforts to notify the Sponsor promptly upon a 
receipt of any notice from  any taxing authority  having jurisdiction over such ho lders of Units  
with respect to the treatment of the Units as anything other than interests in a grantor trust.  

SECTION 1.7 Legal Title.  Legal title to all of  the Trust Estate  shall be ves ted in the 
Trust as a separate legal entity; provided, however, that where applicable law in any ju risdiction 
requires any part of the Trust Estate to be vested  otherwise, the Sponsor may cause legal title to 
the Trust Estate or any portion thereof to be held  by or in the nam e of the Sponsor or any other 
Person (other than a Unitholder) as nominee. 

ARTICLE II 
 

THE TRUSTEE 

SECTION 2.1 Term; Resignation. 

(a) Delaware Trust Com pany has been a ppointed and hereby agrees to serve 
as the Trustee of the Trust.  The Trust shall have only one Trustee unle ss otherwise determined 
by the Spon sor.  The T rustee shall serve un til such  tim e as the Trus t is te rminated or if  the  
Sponsor removes the Trustee or th e Trustee resigns.  The Trustee is appointed to  serve as the  
trustee of th e Trust in  the State of Delaware for the purpose of satisf ying the requirem ent of 
Section 3807(a) of the Delaware T rust S tatute th at the T rust have at least on e tru stee with a  
principal place of business in Dela ware.  It is understood and agre ed by the parties hereto that 
the Trustee shall have none of the duties or liabiliti es of the Sponsor and shall have no 
obligation to supervise or monitor the Sponsor or otherwise manage the Trust. 

(b) The Trustee is perm itted to resign  upon at least one hu ndred eighty 
(180) days’ notice to the Sponsor upon which date such resignation shall be effective. 

SECTION 2.2 Powers.  Except to the extent expressly set forth in Section 1.3 and this 
Article, the duty and authority to manage the busi ness and af fairs of  the Trust is v ested in th e 
Sponsor, which duty and authority the Sponsor m ay further delegate as provided herein, all 
pursuant to Section 3806(b)(7) of the Delaware Trust Statu te.  The duties of the Trustee shall be 
limited to ( i) acc epting legal pro cess served o n the Trust in the Sta te of  Delaware, ( ii) the  
execution of any certificates required to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of  
Delaware which the Trustee is required to ex ecute under Section 3811 of the De laware Trust 
Statute, and (iii) any o ther duties s pecifically allocated to the Truste e in this Tru st Agreement.  
The Trustee shall provide prom pt notice to th e Sponsor of its perfor mance of any of the 
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foregoing.  The Sponsor shall reasonably keep th e Trustee informed of any actions taken by the  
Sponsor with respect to the Tr ust that would reasonably be e xpected to affect the rights, 
obligations or liabilities of the Trustee hereunder or under the Delaware Trust Statute. 

SECTION 2.3 Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee . The Trustee shall be 
entitled to receive from  the Sponso r reasonable com pensation for its services hereu nder as set 
forth in a separate fee agreem ent and shall be entitled to be reim bursed by the Trust for 
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by it  in the perform ance of  its duties hereunder, 
including without lim itation, the reasonable com pensation, out-of-pocket expenses and 
disbursements of counsel and such other agents  as the Trustee m ay employ in connection with 
the exercise and performance of its rights and duties hereunder. 

SECTION 2.4 Indemnification. 

(a) The Trust hereby agrees to be primary obligor and shall (i) compensate the 
Trustee in accordance w ith a separate fee agreem ent with the Trustee, (ii) reim burse the Trustee 
for all reasonable expenses (including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel and other experts) 
and (iii) indem nify, defend and hold harm less the Trustee and any of the officers, directors, 
employees and agents of the Trustee (the “ Indemnified Persons”) from and against any and all 
losses, damages, liabilities, claim s, actions,  suits, costs, expenses, disb ursements (including the  
reasonable fees and expenses of counsel), taxes and penalties of any kind and nature whatsoever 
(collectively, “Expenses”), to the extent that such Expenses  arise out of or are im posed upon or 
asserted at any tim e against such Indem nified Pe rsons with respe ct to  the performance of this 
Trust Agreem ent, the  creation, operation or term ination of the Trust or the transactions 
contemplated hereby; provided, however, that the Trust shall not be req uired to ind emnify any 
Indemnified Person for any Expenses which are a result of the willful m isconduct, bad faith or 
gross negligence of an Indem nified Person.  If the Trust shall have insufficient assets or 
improperly refuses to pay an Indem nified Person within 60 days of a request for paym ent owed 
hereunder, SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. shall, as  secondary obligor, com pensate or reim burse 
the Trustee or indem nify, defend and hold harm less an Indem nified Person as if  it were th e 
primary obligor hereunder; provided, however, that  SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. shall not be 
required to indemnify any Indemnified Person for any Expenses which ar e a result of  the willful 
misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence of  an Indemnified Person.  To the fullest exte nt 
permitted by law, Expenses to be inc urred by an Indemnified Person shall, from time to time, be 
advanced by, or on behalf of, SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. prior to the final disposition of any 
matter upon receipt by SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. of  an undertaking by, or  on behalf of, such 
Indemnified Person to repay such amount if it sha ll be determined that the Indemnified Person is 
not entitled to be indemnified under this Agreement. 

(b) As security for any a mounts owing to the Trustee hereunder, the Trustee 
shall have a lien against the Trust property, which lien shall be prior to the rights of the Sponsor, 
SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. or any other benefici al owner of the Trust.  The obligations of 
SecondMarket Holdings, Inc. and the Trust to indemnify the Indem nified Persons under this 
Section 3 shall survive the termination of this Trust Agreement. 

SECTION 2.5 Successor T rustee.  Upon the resignation or removal of the Trustee, 
the Sponsor shall appoin t a successor Trustee by delivering a written instrum ent to the outgoing 
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Trustee.  A ny successor Trustee must satisfy th e requirements of Section 3807 of the Delaware 
Trust Statute.  The successor T rustee shall becom e fully vested with a ll of  the rig hts, powers, 
duties and obligations of the outgoing Trustee under this Trust Agreement, with like  effect as if  
originally nam ed as Trustee, and the outgoing Trustee sh all be d ischarged of its duties and 
obligations under this Trust Agreem ent.  Any business entity in to which the Trustee m ay be 
merged or converted or with which it m ay be c onsolidated, or any entity resulting from  any 
merger, conversion or consolida tion to which the Truste e shall be a party, or  any entity  
succeeding to all or sub stantially all of the corpor ate trust b usiness of the Trustee, shall be the  
successor of the Trustee hereunder, to the fulles t extent permitted by law without the executio n 
or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto. 

SECTION 2.6 Liability of Trustee . Ex cept as o therwise prov ided in this Article, in 
accepting the trust created hereby, Delaware Trust Company acts solely as Trustee hereunder and 
not in its individual capacity, and all Persons having any claim against Delaware Trust Company 
by reason of the transactions contem plated by this Trust Agreement and any other agreement to 
which the Trust is a part y shall look only to the Tr ust Estate for paym ent or satisfaction thereof.  
The Trustee shall not be liable or accountable hereunder to the Trust or to any other Person or 
under any other agreem ent to which the T rust is a party, except for the Trustee’s own fraud, 
gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct.  In particular, but not by way of limitation: 

(a) The Trustee  shall h ave no liab ility or respon sibility f or th e valid ity o r 
sufficiency of this Trust Agreem ent or for th e form, character, genuineness, sufficiency, value 
or validity of the Trust Estate; 

(b) The Trustee has not prepared or verifi ed, and shall not be responsible or 
liable for, any inform ation, disclosure or other stat ement in the Mem orandum or in any other 
document issued or delivered in connection with the sale or transfer of the Shares; 

(c) The Trustee shall not be responsibl e or liable for the genuineness, 
enforceability, collectability, value, sufficiency, location or existence of any of the Bitcoins o r 
other assets of the Trust; 

(d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any actions taken or omitted to be taken 
by it in accordance with the instructions of the Sponsor or the Liquidating Trustee; 

(e) The Trustee  shall no t h ave any liab ility for the acts or om issions of the 
Sponsor, the Custodian or their respective delegates; 

(f) The Trustee shall have no duty or oblig ation to supervise the performance 
of any obligations of the Sponsor, the Custodian or their respective delegates or any Participant; 

(g) No provision of  this Trust Agreement shall re quire the T rustee to a ct or 
expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur a ny financial liability in the performance of any 
of its rights or powers hereunder; 

(h) Under no circum stances shall the Trustee be liable for indebtedness 
evidenced by or other obligations of the Trust arising under this Trust Agreem ent or any other 
agreements to which the Trust is a party; 
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(i) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or 
powers vested in it by this Trust A greement, or  to institute, conduct or defend any litigation 
under this Trust Agreement or any other agreements to which the Trust is a party, at the request, 
order or direction of the Sponsor unless the Sponsor has offered to Delaware Trust Company (in 
its capacity as Trustee and individually) security or indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, 
expenses and liabilities that m ay be incurred by Delaware Trust Com pany (including, without 
limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of its counsel) therein or thereby; 

(j) Notwithstanding anything contained here in to  the contr ary, the Truste e 
shall not be required to take any action in any jurisdiction other than in the State of Delaware if 
the taking of such action will ( i) require the consent or approval or authorization or order of  or 
the giving of notice to, or  the registration with or taking of any action in respect of, any state or 
other governm ental author ity or ag ency of  any  jur isdiction other  than  the Sta te of  Delaware, 
(ii) result in any fee, tax or other governmental charge under the laws of any jurisdiction or any 
political subdivision thereof in exis tence as of  the date hereof other than  the Sta te of Delaware 
becoming payable by the Trustee or (iii) subject the Trustee to personal jurisdiction, other than 
in the State of Delaware, for cau ses of actio n arising from  personal acts unr elated t o t he 
consummation of the transactions by the Trustee, as the case may be, contemplated hereby; and 

(k) To the exte nt that, a t law or in e quity, the Trustee has duties (including 
fiduciary du ties) and lia bilities relating ther eto to  the Trust, the Unitholders or to any other 
Person, the Trustee acting under this  Trust Agreem ent shall not be  liable to the Trust, the 
Unitholders or to any other Person for its good fa ith reliance on the provisions of this Trust 
Agreement.  The provisions of this Trust Agreem ent, to the extent that they restrict or eliminate 
the duties and liabilities of the Trustee otherwise existing at law or in eq uity are agreed by the  
parties hereto to replace such other duties and liabilities of the Trustee. 

(l) The Trustee  shall not b e liable f or punitive, ex emplary, consequential or 
similar damages for a breach of the Trust Agreement under any circumstances. 

SECTION 2.7 Reliance; Advice of Counsel .  In the absence of  bad faith, the Trustee 
may conclusively rely upon certificates or opinio ns furnished to the Trustee and conform ing to 
the require ments of  this Trust Agr eement in determ ining the truth of  the sta tements and the  
correctness of the opinions contai ned therein, and shall incur no lia bility to anyone in acting or 
not acting on any signature, instrument, notice, re solution, request, consent,  order, certificate, 
report, opinion, bond or other document or paper believed by it to be genuine and believed by it 
to be signed by the proper party or  parties and need not investigate any fact or matter pertaining 
to or in any such docum ent; provided, however, that the Trus tee sh all h ave ex amined any 
certificates or opinions so as  to r easonably d etermine compliance of  the sam e with th e 
requirements of this Tru st Agreement.  The Tru stee may accept a certified copy of a resolu tion 
of the board of directors or ot her governing body of any corporat e party as conclusive evidence 
that such resolution has been duly adopted by su ch body and that the sam e is in full force and 
effect.  As to any fact or m atter the m ethod of  the determ ination of wh ich is not specifically 
prescribed herein, the Trustee m ay for all purp oses hereof rely on a certificate, signed by the 
president or any vice president or b y the treasu rer or other authorized officers of the relevant 
party, as to such fact or matter, and such certificate shall constitute full protection to the Trustee 
for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in reliance thereon. 
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(b) In the exercise or adm inistration of the Tr ust hereunder and in the 
performance of its duties and obligations under this T rust Agreem ent, the Trus tee, at the  
expense of the Trust (i) may act directly or through its agents, attorneys, custodians or nominees 
pursuant to agreements entered into with any of them, and the Trustee shall not be liable for the 
conduct or m isconduct of such a gents, attorneys,  custodians or nom inees if s uch agents, 
attorneys, custodians or nom inees shall have be en selected by the Trustee with reas onable care 
and (ii) may consult with couns el, accountants and other s killed professionals to be selected 
with reasonable care by it.  The Trustee shall not be liabl e for anything done, suffered or 
omitted in good faith by it in accordance with th e opinion or advice of any such counsel,  
accountant or other such Persons. 

SECTION 2.8 Payments to the Trustee.  Any amounts paid to the Trustee pursuant to 
this Article shall be deem ed not to be a part of the Trust Estate immediately after such payment.  
Any amounts owing to the Trustee under this Trus t Agreement shall co nstitute a claim  against  
the Trust Estate. 

ARTICLE III 
 

UNITS; CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS; CREATIONS AND ISSUANCE OF CREATION 
BASKETS 

SECTION 3.1 General.  T he Sponsor shall have th e power and authority, without 
Limited Owner approval, to issue U nits from time to time as it d eems necessary or desirable.  
The num ber of Units authorized shall be un limited, and  the Units so author ized m ay be 
represented in part by  fractional Units, calculated to one one-hundred-millionth of one Bitcoin.  
From time to time, the Sponsor may divide or combine the Units into a greater or lesser number 
without thereby changing the proportionate benefi cial interests.  The Sponsor m ay issue Units 
for such consideration and on such term s as it m ay determ ine (or for no consideration if 
pursuant to a Unit dividend or sp lit-up), all without action or a pproval of the Lim ited Owners.  
All Units when so issued on the term s determined by the Sponsor shall be fully paid and non-
assessable.  Every Unitholder, by virtue of having purchased or  otherwise acquired a Unit, shall 
be deem ed to have expressly consented and agreed to be bound by the term s of this Trust 
Agreement. 

SECTION 3.2 Offer of Units; Procedures for Creation and Issuance of Creation 
Baskets. 

(a) General.  The following procedures, as supplemented by the more detailed 
procedures specified in the Exhibits, annexes, attachm ents and procedures, as applicable, to the 
Participant Agreem ent, which m ay be am ended from  tim e to tim e in accorda nce with th e 
provisions of  the Participant Agre ement (and any such am endment will not c onstitute an  
amendment of this Trus t Agreem ent), will gov ern the Tru st with r espect to the c reation and 
issuance of Creation Baskets.  Subject to the lim itations upon and requirem ents for issuance of  
Creation Baskets stated herein and in such pr ocedures, the num ber of Creation Baskets which 
may be issued by the Trust is unlimited. 
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(i) On any Business Day, a Participant may deposit the Basket Bitcoin 
Amount with the Custodian and submit an order to create a Basket (a “Creation Order”) 
for Creation Baskets from  the Trust via notificat ion to the S ponsor or its delegate in the 
manner provided in the Participant Agreem ent.  Creation Orders m ust be received by 
6:00 p.m., Eastern time on a Business Day (the “ Creation Order Date ”).  The Spo nsor 
or its delegate will process Creation Orders only from  Participants with respect to which 
the Participant Agreement is in full force a nd effect.  The  Sponsor or its delegate will 
maintain and make available at the Trust’s principal offices during normal business hours 
a current list of the Participants with respect to which the Participant Agreement is in full 
force and effect. 

(ii) Any Creation Order is subject to rejection by the Sponsor or its 
delegate pursuant to Section 3.2(b). 

(iii) After receiving the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount and accepting  
a Participant’s Creation Order, the S ponsor or its delegate will have the Transfer Agent 
credit the Creation Baskets to f ill the Partic ipant’s Crea tion Order within one Business  
Day immediately following the Creation Order Date. 

(iv) Determination of required deposits.   The Cre ation Basket B itcoin 
Amount required for a Creation Basket will be determ ined by dividing the num ber of  
Bitcoins owned by the Trust at such time by the number of Units outstanding at such time 
(calculated to one one-hundred-m illionth of one Bitcoin) an d m ultiplying the quotient 
obtained by 100 and the num ber of Creation Ba skets.  The Sponsor or its delegate has 
final determination of all questions as to the composition of the Creation Basket Bitcoin 
Amount. 

(v) Delivery of required deposits.  A Participant who places a Creation 
Order shall deliver the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount to the Bitcoin Account, the Trust 
Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Acco unt, at the Custodian’s instruction, by no 
later than 6:00 p.m ., Eastern tim e on the Cr eation Order  Day.  The Partic ipant shall 
initiate delivery of the Cr eation Basket Bitcoin Am ount from the Participant Self-
Administered Account.  Depos its other than those receive d from  a Participant Self-
Administered Account shall be  rejected.  The expense and risk of delivery, ownership 
and safekeeping of Bitcoins, until such Bitcoins have been received by the Trust, sh all be 
borne solely by the Participant.  Upon receipt of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount, the 
Custodian shall transfer the Creation Bitc oin Basket Amount to the Trust Storage 
Account or the Trust Safekeep ing Account, as applicable.  The Sponsor or its delegate 
shall then direct the Transfer Agent to cred it the num ber of Crea tion Baskets ordered to 
the Participant’s account on the next Business Day after the Creation Order Date. 

(vi) The Custodian m ay ac cept delivery of Bitcoins by such other 
means as the Sponsor, from time to time, may determine to be acceptable for the Trust. 

(b) Rejection.  The delivery of the Bask ets against deposit of the Creation 
Basket Bitcoin Am ount m ay be suspended genera lly, or refused with re spect to particular 
requested creations, during any period when the transfer books of the Sponsor or its delegate are 
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closed or if any such action is deem ed necessary or advisable by the Spons or or its delegate or 
for any reason at any tim e or from tim e to time.  None of the Sponsor, its delegates, or the 
Custodian s hall be liable for the rejection or accep tance o f any Creation Order or Creation  
Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

SECTION 3.3 Book-Entry-Only System 

(a) Units shall be held in book-entry fo rm by the Transfer Agent.  The  
Sponsor or its delegate shall direct the Transfer  Agent to credit or debit the num ber of Creation 
or Redemption Baskets to the applic able Participant.  The Transf er Agent shall is sue or cancel 
each Participant’s Creation Basket or Redemption Basket, as applicable. 

(b) Successor Custodian.  If  a successor to th e Custodian shall be em ployed, 
the Trust and the Sponsor shall establish procedures acceptable to such successor with respect to 
the matters addressed in this Section. 

SECTION 3.4 Assets of the Trust .  All conside ration receiv ed by the Tru st f or the 
issue or sale of Units together with all of the Trust Estate in which such consideration is held, all 
income, earnings, profits, and proceeds thereof, including any proceeds derived from  the sale, 
exchange or liquidation of such assets, and any funds or payments derived from such proceeds in 
whatever form the sa me may be, shall irrevocably belong to the Trust for all purposes, subject 
only to the rights of creditors of  the Trust and except as may otherwise be required by applicable 
tax laws, and shall be so recorded upon the books of account of the Trust. 

SECTION 3.5 Liabilities o f the Trust.  The Trust Estate shall be charged  with the  
liabilities of  the Trust; and all expe nses, costs, charges and  reserves attributab le to the Trust.   
The Sponsor shall have full discre tion, to the extent not inconsiste nt with applicable law, to 
determine which item s shall be tre ated as incom e and which  items as ca pital, and e ach such 
determination and allocation shall be conclusive and binding upon the Unitholders. 

SECTION 3.6 Distributions.  Distributions on Units, if any, may be paid with such 
frequency as the Sponsor m ay determine, which may be daily or otherwise, to the Unitholders, 
from such of the income and capital gains, acc rued or realized, from  the Trust Estate, after 
providing f or actual and accrued  liabilities.   A ll distributions on Units thereof shall be 
distributed pro rata to the Unith olders in proportion to the total outstanding Units held by such 
Unitholders at the date and tim e of record esta blished for the paym ent of such distribution.  
Such distributions m ay be m ade in cash or Units  as determ ined by the Sponsor or pursuant to 
any program that the Sponsor may have in effect at the time for the election by each Unitholder 
of the mode of the making of such distribution to that Unitholder. 

(b) The Units shall rep resent units of  benef icial in terest in the  Trust Estate.  
Each Unith older shall be entitled to receiv e its pro rata s hare of  distributions of incom e and 
capital gains in accordance with Section 3.6(a).  

SECTION 3.7 Voting Rights .  Notwithstanding any othe r provision hereof, on each 
matter submitted to a vote of the Unitholders, each Unitholder shall be entitled to a proportionate 
vote based upon the product of the Net Asset Va lue Per Unit multiplied by the number of Units, 
or fraction thereof, standing in its name on the books of the Trust in accordance with Section 3.3. 
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SECTION 3.8 Equality.  Except as provided herein, all Units shall represent an equal 
proportionate beneficial interest in  the assets of the Trust subject to the liabilities of the Trust, 
and each Unit shall be equal to each other Unit.  The Sponsor m ay from tim e to tim e divide or 
combine the Units in to a greater or less er number of  Units witho ut thereby changing the  
proportionate beneficial interest in  the assets of  the Trust or in any way affecting the rights of 
Unitholders. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

THE SPONSOR 

SECTION 4.1 Management of the Trust . Pursuant to Section 3806(b)(7) of the 
Delaware Trust Statute, the Trust shall be managed by the Sponsor and the conduct of the Trust’s 
business shall be controlled and conducted solely by the Sponsor in accordance with this Trust 
Agreement.  The Sponsor may delegate as provided herein, the duty and authority to m anage the 
business and affairs of the Trus t.  Any determinatio n as to  what is in the inte rests of the Trust 
made by the Sponsor in good faith shall be conclu sive.  In constructing the provisions of this 
Trust Agr eement, the pr esumption shall b e in f avor of a grant of power to the Sponsor.  The 
enumeration of any specific power in this Trust Agreement shall not be construed as lim iting the 
aforesaid power. 

SECTION 4.2 Authority of Sponsor . In addition to and not in  limitation of any rights 
and powers conferred by law or other provisions of this Trust Agreement, and except as lim ited, 
restricted or prohibited by the ex press provisions of this Trust Agreement or the De laware Trust 
Statute, the Sponsor shall have and may exercise on behalf of the Trust, all powers and rights 
necessary, proper, convenient or advisable to e ffectuate and carry out the purposes, business and 
objectives of the Trust, which shall include, without limitation, the following: 

(a) To enter in to, execute, deliver and  m aintain, and to cause the T rust to 
perform its obligations under, contracts, agre ements and any or all other docum ents and 
instruments, and to do and perform all such things as may be in furtherance of Trust purposes or 
necessary or appropriate for the  offer and  sale o f the Units and the  conduct of Trust activities, 
including, but not lim ited to, contracts with thir d parties various services, provided, however, 
that such services m ay be performed by an Affili ate or Affiliates of th e Sponsor so long as the 
Sponsor has made a good faith determination that:  (A) the Affiliate which it proposes to engage 
to perform such services is qualif ied to do so (consider ing the prior exp erience of the Aff iliate 
or the individuals employed thereby); (B) the terms and conditions of the agreement pursuant to 
which such Aff iliate is to perform services for the Trust are  no less favorable to the  Trust than  
could be obtained from equally-qualified unaffiliated third parties; and (C) the maximum period 
covered by the agreem ent pursuant to which su ch Affiliate is to pe rform services f or the Trus t 
shall not ex ceed one year, and such  agreement shall be term inable without penalty  upon one 
hundred twenty (120) days’ prior written notice by the Trust; 

(b) To establish , m aintain, deposit into , sign checks and/or otherwise draw 
upon accou nts on behalf of the Trust with ap propriate banking and savings in stitutions, an d 
execute and /or accep t any instrum ent or agreem ent incidental to the Trust’s bus iness and in 
furtherance of its purposes, any such instrum ent or agreement so  executed or accepted by the 
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Sponsor in the Sponsor’s name shall be deemed executed and accepted on behalf of the Trust by 
the Sponsor; 

(c) To deposit, withdraw, pay, retain and distribute the Trust Estate or any 
portion thereof in any manner consistent with the provisions of this Trust Agreement; 

(d) To supervise the preparation of the Mem orandum and supplem ents and 
amendments thereto; 

(e) To pay or authorize the paym ent of distributions to the Unitholders and 
expenses of the Trust;  

(f) To prepare,  or caus e to be prepare d, and file, or cause to be filed, an 
application to enable the Units to be traded on the OTCQX and to take any other action and 
execute and  deliver an y certificate or docum ents that m ay be necessary to effectuate such  
trading; and 

(g) In the sole and absolu te discretion of the Sponsor, to admit an Affiliate o r 
Affiliates of the Sponso r as  additional Sponsors.  Notwith standing the foregoing, the Sponso r 
may not admit Affiliate(s) of the Sponsor as an additional Sponsor if it has received notice of its 
removal as a Sponsor, pursuant to Section 7.2(d). 

SECTION 4.3 Obligations of the Sponsor .  In addition to the obligations expressly 
provided by the Delaware Trust Statute or this Trust Agreement, the Sponsor shall: 

(a) Devote such of its time to the busin ess and af fairs of the Trust as it sh all, 
in its discretion exercised in good faith, determ ine to be necessary to conduct the business and 
affairs of the Trust for the benefit of the Trust and the Limited Owners; 

(b) Execute, file, reco rd an d/or pub lish all certificates, s tatements and  oth er 
documents and do any and all other things as may be appropriate for the formation, qualification 
and operation of the Trust and for the conduct of its business in all appropriate jurisdictions; 

(c) Retain independent public accountants to audit the accounts of the Trust; 

(d) Employ attorneys to represent the Sponsor and as necessary, the Trust; 

(e) Select and enter into ag reements w ith the Trust’s Trustee and any other 
service provider; 

(f) Use its best efforts to maintain the status of the Trust as a gr antor trust for 
U.S. federal income tax purposes under Subpart E, Part I of Subchapter J of the Code; 

(g) Monitor all f ees charge d to the Tr ust, and the services rendered by the 
service providers to the Trust, to determine whether the fees paid by, and the services rendered 
to, th e Trus t are at co mpetitive rates and are the best p rice an d serv ices av ailable under the 
circumstances, and if necessary,  renegotiate the fee structure to obtain such rates and services 
for the Trust; 
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(h) Have fiduciary responsibility for th e safekeeping and use of the T rust 
Estate, whether or not in the Sponsor’s immediate possession or control, and the Sponsor will 
not employ or permit others to employ such funds or assets in any manner except for the benefit 
of the Trust, including, among other things, the util ization of any portion of the Trust Estate as 
compensating balances for the exclusive benefit of  the Sponsor.  The Sponsor shall at all tim es 
act with integrity and good faith and exercise due diligence in all activities re lating to the 
conduct of the business of the Trust and in resolving conflicts of interest; 

(i) Enter into a Participant Agreement with each Participant and discharge the 
duties and responsibilities of the Trust and the Sponsor thereunder; 

(j) Receive directly o r through its delega tes from Participants and process 
properly submitted Creation Orders, as described in Section 3.2(a); 

(k) In connection with Creation Orders , receive directly or through its 
delegates the num ber of Bitcoins in an am ount equal to the Creation B asket Bitcoin Am ount 
from Participants; 

(l) In connection with Creation Orders, after receiving the Creation Bask et 
Bitcoin Amount and accepting a Par ticipant’s Creation Order, the S ponsor or its delegate will  
direct the Transfer Agent to c redit the Creation Baskets to  fill the Pa rticipant’s Creation Order 
within one Business Day immediately following the Creation Order Date; 

(m) Receive directly o r through its delega tes from Participants and process 
properly submitted Redemption Orders, as des cribed in Section 6.1(a), o r as m ay from ti me to 
time be permitted by Section 6.2; 

(n) In connection with Redem ption Orders, after receiv ing th e Redem ption 
Order specifying the number of Redem ption Baskets that the Participant wishes to redeem and 
confirming the Participant Self-Administered Account information, the Sponsor or its delegates 
instructs the  Custodian to send the Partic ipant a number of Bitcoins equal to the Redem ption 
Basket Bitcoin Am ount and directs the Transfer  Agent to debit the num ber of Redem ption 
Baskets redeemed from the Particip ant’s account on the next business day after the redem ption 
order date; 

(o) Interact with the Custodian and any other party as required; 

(p) If the OTCQX Application is approved by OTCQX, then the Sponsor, on 
behalf of the Trust, shall cause the Trust to co mply with all rules, orders and regulations of the 
OTCQX to which the Trust is subject as a result of the approval of the OTCQX Application and 
the Sponsor will take all such other actions which may reasonably be taken which are necessary 
for the Units to rem ain traded on the OTCQX until the Trust is either terminated or if the Units 
are no longer traded on the OTCQX.  In addition,  the Sponsor is authorized and shall take, all 
actions to prepare and, to the ex tent required by this Agreement or by law, m ail to Unitholders 
any reports, press releases or statements, financial or otherwise, that the Sponsor determines are 
required to be provided to Unitholders by app licable law or governm ental regulation or the 
requirements of OTCQX, as applicable; 
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(q) Delegate those of  its duties he reunder as it sh all dete rmine f rom time to 
time to one  or m ore Distributors, add any a dditional service prov iders, if needed and as 
applicable; 

(r) Perform suc h other services as the Sponsor believes that the Trust m ay 
from time to time require; and 

(s) In general, to carry on any other busin ess in connection with or incidental 
to any of the foregoing powers, to do everyt hing necessary, suitable or proper for the  
accomplishment of any purpose or the attainm ent of any object or the furtherance of any power 
herein set forth, either alone or in association with others, and to do every other act or thing 
incidental or appurtenant to or  growing out of or connected with the aforesaid business or 
purposes, objects or powers. 

The foregoing clauses shall be construe d both as objects and powers, and the 
foregoing enumeration of specific powers shall not be  held to lim it or restrict in any manner the 
general powers of the Sponsor.  Any action by th e Sponsor hereunder shall be deem ed an action 
on behalf of the Trust, and not an action in an individual capacity. 

SECTION 4.4 General Prohibitions. The Trust shall not: 

(a) Redeem the Units other than to fund a redemption request from a 
Participant; 

(b) Borrow m oney from  or loan m oney to any Unitholder (including the 
Sponsor) or other Person, except that the forego ing is not intended to prohibit the deposit on 
margin with respect to the initia tion and maintenance of investment positions, if any, provided, 
however, that the Trust is prohibited from incurring any indebtedness on a non-recourse basis; 

(c) Create, incur, assum e or suffer to exist any lien, m ortgage, pledge 
conditional sales  or o ther title r etention ag reement, charge, secu rity interes t o r e ncumbrance, 
except (i) liens for taxes not delinquent or be ing contested in good faith and by a ppropriate 
proceedings and for which appropriate reserves have been established, (ii) deposits or pledges to 
secure obligations under workm en’s com pensation, social security or similar laws or under 
unemployment insurance, (iii) deposits or pledges to secure contracts (other th an contracts for 
the paym ent of m oney), leases, statutory ob ligations, surety and appeal bonds and other 
obligations of  like na ture ar ising in th e ord inary course of business, or (iv) mechanic’s, 
warehousemen’s, carrier’s, workmen’s, materialmen’s or other like liens arising in the ordinary 
course of business with respect to obligations which are not due or which are being contested in 
good faith, and for whi ch appropriate reserves ha ve been established if required by generally 
accepted accounting principles, and liens arising under ERISA; 

(d) Commingle its assets with those of a ny other Person, except to the extent 
as permitted under applicable law and the regulation; 

(e) Permit rebates to b e received by  th e Sponsor or any Affiliate of th e 
Sponsor, or perm it the Sponsor or any Affiliate of the Sponsor to en gage in any recipro cal 
business arrangements which would circumvent the foregoing prohibition; 
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(f) Enter into any contract with the Sp onsor or an  Affiliate of  the Sponso r 
(except for selling agreements for the sale of Units) which has a term of more than one year and 
which does not provide that it m ay be canceled by the T rust without penalty on sixty (60) days 
prior written notice or for the provision of goods a nd services, except at ra tes and terms at least 
as favorable as those which may be obtained from third parties in arm’s length negotiations; or 

(g) Enter into any exclusive brokerage contract. 

SECTION 4.5 Liability of Covered Persons. A Covered Person shall have no liability 
to the Trust or to any Unitholder or other Co vered Person for any loss suffered by the Trust 
which arises out of any action or inaction of such Covered Person if such Covered Person, in 
good faith, determined that such course of conduct was in the best interest  of the Trust and such 
course of co nduct did not constitute fraud, gros s negligence, bad faith o r willful m isconduct of 
such Covered Person.  Subject to the foregoin g, neither the Sponsor nor any other Covered 
Person shall be personally liable for the return or repayment of all or any portion of the capital or 
profits of any Li mited Owner or assignee thereof , it being expressly agreed that any such return 
of capital or  profits made pursuant to this T rust Agreement shall be made solely from the assets  
of the Trust without any rights of contribution from the Sponsor or any other Covered Person.  A 
Covered Person shall not be liable for the conduct or misconduct of any delegatee selected by the 
Sponsor with reasonable care. 

SECTION 4.6 Fiduciary Duty. 

(a) To the exte nt that, at la w or in equ ity, the Spo nsor has duties ( including 
fiduciary du ties) and lia bilities relating ther eto to  the Trust, the Unitholders or to any other 
Person, the Sponsor acting under this Trust Agreem ent shall not be liabl e to the Trust, the 
Unitholders or to any other Person for its good fa ith reliance on the provisions of this Trust 
Agreement subject to th e standard of care in  Section 4.5 herein.  The pr ovisions of this Trust 
Agreement, to the extent that th ey restrict or elim inate the du ties and liabilities of the Sponsor  
otherwise e xisting at la w or in equ ity a re ag reed by the parties hereto to rep lace such other 
duties and liabilities  of the Sponso r.  To the fu llest ex tent permitted by law, no  person o ther 
than the Sponsor and the Trustee shall have any duties (including fiduciary duties) or liabilities 
at law or in equity to the Trust and the Limited Owners or any other person. 

(b) Unless otherwise expressly provided herein: 

(i) whenever a conflict of interest exists or arises between the Sponsor 
or any of its Affiliates,  on the one hand, an d the Trust or any Un itholder or any  other 
Person, on the other hand; or 

(ii) whenever this Trust Agreem ent or any  other ag reement 
contemplated herein or therein provides that the Sponsor shall act in a manner that is, or  
provides term s that are, fair  and reasonable to the Trust,  any Unitholder or any other 
Person, 

the Sponsor shall resolve such c onflict of interest, take such action or provide such term s, 
considering in each  case the relativ e interes t of each party (includi ng its  own interes t) to such  
conflict, ag reement, transaction or  situation and the benefits and burdens relating to such 
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interests, any customary or accep ted industry  prac tices, and  any applicable generally accepted  
accounting practices or principles .  In the absence of bad fa ith by the S ponsor, the resolution, 
action or terms so made, taken or p rovided by the Sponsor shall no t constitute a b reach of thi s 
Trust Agreement or any other agreement contemplated herein or of any duty or obligation of the 
Sponsor at law or in equity or otherwise. 

(c) The Sponsor and any Affiliate of the Sponsor may engage in or possess an 
interest in other profit-seeking or business ventur es of any nature or de scription, independently 
or with o thers, whether or not such ventures  are competitive with the Trust and the doctrin e of 
corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine, shall not apply to the Sponsor.  If the Sponsor 
acquires knowledge of a potential transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may 
be an opportunity for the Trust, it shall have no dut y to communicate or offer such opportunity 
to the Trust, and the Spo nsor shall not be liable to the Trust or to  the Unitholders for breach of 
any fiduciary or other duty by reason of the fact  that the S ponsor pursues or acquires for, or 
directs such opportunity to another Person or  does not communicate such opportunity or 
information to the T rust.  Ne ither the T rust nor any Un itholder sh all hav e any  righ ts o r 
obligations by virtue of this T rust Agreement or  the trus t rela tionship created hereby in or to 
such independent ventures or the incom e or profits or losses derived th erefrom, and the pursuit 
of such ventures, even if  com petitive with th e activities o f the Trust, shall not b e deem ed 
wrongful or improper.  Except to the extent expr essly provided herein, the Sponsor may engage 
or be interested in any financial or other tran saction with the Trust, the Unithold ers or any  
Affiliate of the Trust or the Unitholders. 

(d) To the f ullest exten t p ermitted by law and notwithstanding any other  
provision of this Agreem ent or in any agreem ent contemplated herein or applicable provisions 
of law or e quity or  oth erwise, whe never in  th is Trust Agr eement a Person is pe rmitted or 
required to make a decision (a) in its "sole discretion" or "discretion" or under a grant of similar 
authority or latitude, the Person sh all be entitled to consider o nly such interests and factors a s it 
desires, including its own interests, and sha ll have no duty or obligation to give any 
consideration to any  in terest of  or  f actors a ffecting the  Trust, the Unitholder s or any  oth er 
Person, or (b) in its "good faith" or under anothe r express standard, the Person shall act under 
such express standard and shall not be subject to any other or different standard.  The ter m 
"good faith" as used in this Trust Agreem ent shall mean subjective good fa ith as such term  is 
understood and interpreted under Delaware law. 

SECTION 4.7 Indemnification of the Sponsor. 

(a) The Sponsor shall be indem nified by the Trust against any losses, 
judgments, liabilities, expenses and amounts paid in settlem ent of any claims sustained by it in 
connection with its activities for the Trust, provided that (i) the Sponsor was acting on behalf of 
or perform ing services for the Trust and has de termined, in good faith, that such course of 
conduct was in the best interests of the Trust a nd such liability or loss  was not the result of  
fraud, gross  negligence,  bad faith, willful m isconduct, o r a m aterial breach of this Trus t 
Agreement on the part of the Sponsor and (ii) any such indemnification will only be recoverable 
from the Trust Estate.  All rights to indemnification permitted herein and payment of associated 
expenses shall not be affected by the dissolution or other cessati on to exist of the Sponsor, or 
the withdrawal, adjudication of bankruptcy or in solvency of  the Spo nsor, or  the  f iling of  a  
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voluntary or involuntary petition in bankruptcy under Title 11 of the Code by or against the  
Sponsor. 

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.7(a) above, the Sponsor and 
any Person acting as broker-dealer for the Trus t shall not be indemnified for  any losses, 
liabilities or expenses arising from or out of an alleged violation of U.S. federal or state 
securities laws unless (i) there has been a successful adjudicati on on the m erits of each count 
involving alleged securities law violations as to the particular indemnitee and the court approves 
the indemnification of such expenses (including , without lim itation, litiga tion costs), (ii) such 
claims have been dismissed with prejudice on the merits by a court of competent ju risdiction as 
to the particular indemnitee and the court ap proves the indem nification of such expenses 
(including, without limitation, litigation costs) or (iii) a court of competent jurisdiction approves 
a settlement of the claim s against a particular indem nitee and fi nds that indem nification of the 
settlement and related costs should be made. 

(c) The Trust shall not inc ur the cost of  that portion of any insurance which 
insures any party against any liability, the indemnification of which is herein prohibited. 

(d) Expenses incurred in defending a threatened or pending civil, 
administrative or crim inal action suit or proc eeding against the Sponsor shall be paid by the 
Trust in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, if  (i) the legal action 
relates to the perform ance of duties or services  by the Sponsor on behalf of the Trust; (ii) the 
legal action  is initia ted by a th ird party who is not a Lim ited Owner or the legal action is  
initiated by a Lim ited Owner and a  court of  competent jurisdiction specifically approves such 
advance; and (iii) the Sponsor undertakes to repay the advanced funds with interest to the Trust 
in cases in which it is not entitled to indemnification under this Section 4.7. 

(e) The term “Sponsor” as used only in this Section 4.7 shall include, in 
addition to the Sponsor,  any other Covered Pers on performing serv ices on behalf of the Trus t 
and acting within the scope of the Sponsor’s authority as set forth in this Trust Agreement. 

(f) In the event the Trust is m ade a pa rty to any claim , dispute, de mand or 
litigation or otherwise incurs a ny loss, liability, da mage, cost or  expense as a result of or i n 
connection with any Limited Owner’s (or assignee’s) obligations or liabilities unrelated to Trust 
business, such Li mited Owner (or assignees  cum ulatively) shall indem nify, de fend, hold 
harmless, and reimburse the Trust for all such loss, liability, damage, cost and expense incurred, 
including attorneys’ and accountants’ fees. 

SECTION 4.8 Expenses and Limitations Thereon.  

(a ) Combined Fee. 

(i) The Trust shall pay a com bined fee (“ Combined Fee ”) which  
accrues daily at an annual rate of 2% of th e NAV of the  Trust and is payable to  the 
Sponsor monthly in arrears.   

(ii) Although the Com bined Fee is calculated in U SD, the Combined 
Fee shall be paid in the equivalent number of Bitcoins monthly in arrears.  The exchange  
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rate that shall be used to convert the Combined Fee from USD to the appropriate number 
of Bitcoins shall be calcul ated based upon the Bitcoin Mark et Price at 4:00 p.m ., Eastern 
time in the case of daily accruals and  as of the last day of each month for withdrawal and 
payment in arrears (“ Combined Fee Exchange Rate ”).  Th e Combined Fee Exchange 
Rate does not include fees and expenses for converting USD into Bitcoins. 

(iii) After converting the Combined Fe e from  USD into the required 
number of Bitcoins based upon the Actual Exchange Rate (as defined below), the 
Sponsor, its delegates, or the Custodian shall withdraw the co rresponding num ber of 
Bitcoins from the Trust Storage Account. 

(iv) In order to pay the Combined Fee in USD, the Sponsor m ay be 
required to convert the Com bined Fee, as  reflected by the appropriate num ber of 
Bitcoins, into USD.  The Sponsor shall use its best efforts within a reasonable time frame 
in order to seek the highest exchange rate and lowest fees (“Actual Exchange Rate”).  It 
is expected that the Combined Fee Exchange  Rate and  the Actual Ex change Rate  may 
differ. 

(v) At the Sponsor’s election and upon agreem ent from the 
Administrator, the Sponsor m ay elect to (i) direct its delegates or the Custodian to 
withdraw the Bitcoin amount co mprising the Com bined Fee, (ii) convert the Combined 
Fee to USD and (iii) pay such  dollar am ount to the Sponsor,  who will th en pay itself as 
well as th e relev ant Constituen t Fees and  Assum ed Fees (as  def ined below).   
Alternatively, the Spon sor m ay elect to ( i) direct its delegates or the Custodian to 
withdraw the Bitcoin amount co mprising the Com bined Fee, (ii) convert the Combined 
Fee to USD and (iii)  pay cer tain Constitue nt Fees an d/or Assumed Fees f rom the 
Combined Fee and the remaining amount, if any, to the Sponsor. 

(vi) As consideration for receipt of the Com bined Fee, the Sponsor 
shall assume and pay the following fees and expenses of the Trust:  the Marketing Fee, 
Custodian Fee and the Sponsor Fee (the “ Constituent Fees ”), the Shareholder 
Communications Hub fee, Transfer Agent fee,  Trustee fee,  OTCQX Fees and expenses  
related to public tradin g on OTCQX in an am ount up to $600,000 annually (including 
legal and au dit fees and expenses),  any ot her legal and accounting fees, regulatory fees, 
printing and mailing costs, and app licable license fees (along with the Constituen t Fees, 
the “Assumed Fees”). 

(b) Extraordinary Fee. 

(i) In certain extraordinary circumstances, the Trust may pay expenses 
in addition to the Combined Fee and the Assumed Fees, such as, but not lim ited to, taxes 
and governmental charges, expenses and cost s of any extraordinary services perform ed 
by the Sponsor (or any other Service Provider) on behalf of the Trust to protect the Trust 
or the inte rests of  Unitholders, ind emnification expenses, f ees and expenses related to 
public trading on OTCQX in ex cess of $600,000 annually, and extraordinary legal fees  
and expenses (collectively, “Extraordinary Fees”). 
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(c) The Sponsor, its delegates or the Cust odian shall withdraw Bitcoins as 
needed from the Trust Storage Account to pay the Combined Fees (as well as the Extraordinary  
Fees, if any). 

(d) The Sponsor or any Affiliate of th e Sponsor m ay only be reim bursed for 
the actual cost to th e Sponsor or su ch Affiliate of  any expenses which it advances o n behalf of 
the Trust for which paym ent the Trust is responsi ble.  In addition, paym ent to the Sponsor or 
such Affiliate for indirect expenses incurred in performing services for the Trust in its capa city 
as the Sponsor of the Trust, such as salaries and fringe benefits of  officers and directors, rent or 
depreciation, utilities and other administrative items generally falling within the category of the 
Sponsor’s “overhead,” is prohibited. 

SECTION 4.9 Other Business of Unitholders .  Except as  otherwise s pecifically 
provided herein, any of the Unithol ders and any shareholder, offi cer, director, employee or other 
person holding a legal or  beneficial interest in an entity which is a Unitholder, m ay engage in or 
possess an interest in other business ventures of  every nature and description, independently or 
with others, and the purs uit of such ventures, eve n if competitive with the business of the Trust,  
shall not be deemed wrongful or improper. 

SECTION 4.10 Voluntary Withdrawal of the Sponsor .  The Sponsor m ay withdraw 
voluntarily as the Sponsor of the Trust only upon one hundred and twenty (120) days’ prior 
written no tice to all L imited Owners and the Trust ee.  If the withdrawing Sponsor is the las t 
remaining Sponsor, Limited Owners holding Units equa l to at least a m ajority (over 50%) of the 
Shares (not including Units held  by the Sponsor) m ay vote to elect and appoint, effective as of a 
date on or prior to the withdr awal, a successor Sponsor who shal l carry on the bu siness of the 
Trust.  In the event of its removal or withdrawal, the Sponsor shall be entitled to a redemption of 
its Units at the Net Asset Value.  If the Sponsor withdraws and a successor Sponsor is named, the 
withdrawing Sponsor shall pay all expenses as a result of its withdrawal. 

SECTION 4.11 Authorization of Memorandum .  Each Lim ited Owner (o r any  
permitted assignee thereof) hereby  agrees that  the Tru st, the Spons or and the Trustee are 
authorized to execute,  deliver and  perform  th e agreem ents, acts, transactions and m atters 
contemplated hereby or described in or contemplated by the Memorandum on behalf of the Trust 
without any further act, approval or vote of the Lim ited Owners, notwithstanding any other 
provision of  this T rust Agreem ent, the Delawar e Trust S tatute or any applicable law, rule or 
regulation. 

SECTION 4.12 Litigation.  The Sponsor is hereby aut horized to prosecute, defend, 
settle or co mpromise actions o r claim s at law or in equity as m ay be necess ary or prope r to 
enforce or protect the Trust’s in terests.  The Sponsor shall sa tisfy any judgm ent, decree or 
decision of any court, board or authority having  jurisdic tion or any se ttlement of any suit or 
claim prior to judgm ent or final decision thereon , first, out o f any insurance proceed s available 
therefor, next, out of the Trust’s assets and, thereafter, out of the assets (to the extent that it is 
permitted to do so under the various other provisions of this Agreement) of the Sponsor. 
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ARTICLE V 
 

TRANSFERS OF UNITS 

SECTION 5.1 General Prohibition . A Li mited Owner m ay not sell, assign, transfer 
or otherwise dispose of, or pledge, hypothecate or  in any m anner enc umber any or all of his 
Units or any part of his right, title and interest in the capital or profits in the Trust except as  
permitted in  this Article and any act in violatio n of this Article shall n ot be bindin g upon or 
recognized by the Trust (regardless of whether the Sponsor shall have knowledge thereof), unless 
approved in writing by the Sponsor. 

SECTION 5.2 Transfer of Sponsor’s Units .  U pon an Event of W ithdrawal (as 
defined in Section 12.1(f)), the Sponsor’s Units shall be purchased by the Trust for a purchase 
price in cash equal to th e Net Asset Value thereo f.  The Sponsor will no t cease to be a Sponsor 
of the Trust merely upon the occurrence of its making an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
filing a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, f iling a petition or answer s eeking f or itself  any 
reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief 
under any statute, law o r regulation, filing an answer or other pleading adm itting or failing to 
contest m aterial allegations of a p etition filed  agains t it in a ny proceeding of this nature or 
seeking, consenting to or acquiescing in the appo intment of a trustee, re ceiver or liquidator for 
itself or of all or any substantial part of its properties. 

(b) To the f ull extent perm itted by law, and on s ixty (60) days’ prior written 
notice to the Limited Owners, of their right to vote thereon, if the transaction is other than with 
an Affiliated entity, nothing in this Trust Agree ment shall be deem ed to prevent the  merger of 
the Sponsor with ano ther corporation or oth er entity, the reorganization  of the Spon sor into or 
with any other corporation or other entity, the tran sfer of all the capital st ock of the Sponsor or 
the assumption of the rights, dut ies and liabilities of the Spons or by, in the case of a m erger, 
reorganization or consolidation, the surviving corporation or othe r entity by operation of law or  
the transfer of the Sp onsor’s Units to  an  A ffiliate of th e Sponsor.   W ithout lim iting the 
foregoing, none of the transactions referenced in the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be a 
voluntary withdrawal for purposes of Section 4.10 or an Event of  Withdrawal for purposes of  
Section 5.2(a).  

SECTION 5.3 Transfer of Units .  The Units are “restricted securities” that cannot be 
resold without registration under the Securities Act and state s ecurities laws or exem ption 
therefrom and may not be transfer red or resold without the prior written consent of the Sponsor, 
which it may withhold in its sole discretion for any reason or for no reason. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

REDEMPTIONS 

SECTION 6.1 Redemption of Redemption Baskets . The following procedures, as 
supplemented by the more detailed procedures specified in the attachm ent to the Participant 
Agreement, which m ay be am ended from time to time in accordance with the prov isions of the 
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Participant Agreement (and any such am endment will not constitute an amendment of this Trust 
Agreement), will govern the Trust with respect to the redemption of Redemption Baskets. 

(a) On any Business Day, a Participant may subm it an orde r to redeem  a  
Basket (a “ Redemption Order ”) for Redemption Baskets f rom the Trust tha t the  Partic ipant 
wishes to redeem and also confirm s the Participant Self-Administered Account inform ation via 
notification to the Sponsor  or its delegate in the m anner provided in the Participant Agreem ent.  
Redemption Orders m ust be received by 6:00 p.m., Eastern tim e on a Business Day (the 
“Redemption Order Date”).  The Sponsor or its delegate will process Redemption Orders only 
from Participants with respect to which the Participant Agreement is in full force and effect. 

(b) If the Redemption Order is accep ted, then the Sponsor or its delegate s 
shall instru ct the  Custodian to se nd the Par ticipant a n umber of  Bitcoins eq ual to the 
Redemption Basket Bitcoin Am ount and shall al so dire ct the Transf er Agent to  debit the  
number of Redem ption Baskets red eemed from the Participant’s account on the next business  
day after the Redemption Order Date. 

(c) Determination of rede mption am ounts.  The Redem ption Basket Bitcoin 
Amount required for a Rede mption Basket shall be determ ined by divi ding the num ber of 
Bitcoins owned by the Trust at such tim e by the num ber of Units  outstanding at such tim e 
(calculated to one one-h undred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying the quotient obtained  
by 100 and the num ber of Rede mption Baskets.  The Sponsor or its delegate has final 
determination of all questions as to the composition of the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

(d) Delivery of  redem ption am ounts.  The Redem ption Basket Bitcoin 
Amount due from  the Trust is delivered to the Participant as directed in the Participant’s 
Participant Agreement.   

(i) The Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount from the Trust shall be 
transferred by the Custodian from  the Trust Storage Account or the T rust Safekeeping 
Account, as applicable, to the Participant Self-Administered Account, after giving effec t 
to all estimated accru ed but unpaid interest and expenses by no later than 6:00 p.m ., 
Eastern time on the next Business Day af ter the Creatio n Order Date.  Redemption  
amounts of Bitcoins shall only be delivered to the Participant Self-Administered Account.  
The Participant and the Trust shall each be at ri sk in respect of Bitcoins credited to their 
respective accounts in the event of the Cust odian’s insolvency.  The Redemption Basket 
Bitcoin Amount shall be subj ect to the deduction of a ny applicable tax or other 
governmental charges that may be due.  

(ii) The Sponsor or its delegate sha ll direct the Transfer Agent to 
cancel the n umber of Redem ption Baskets red eemed by the Participan t’s account on the 
next Business Day after the Creation Order Date. 

(iii) The Sponsor or its delegate has fi nal determination of all questions 
as to the composition of the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

(e) Rejection.  The Sponsor or its delega tes will reject a Re demption Order if 
the Redemption Order is not in pro per form as described in the Participant Agreement or if  the 
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fulfillment of the Redemption Ord er, in  the o pinion of its counsel, m ight be unlawful.  Th e 
Sponsor or its delegate m ay suspend Redempti on Orders if the Spons or or its delegates 
determines, in its sole discretion, that a suspension is necessary or desirable. 

SECTION 6.2 Other Redemption Procedures .  The Sponsor or its delegates from 
time to ti me m ay, but shall have no obligation to, establish procedur es with  respect to  
redemption of  Units in lot s izes sm aller th an the Red emption Basket and p ermitting th e 
redemption distribution to be in a form , and de livered in a m anner, other than that specified in  
Section 6.1. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

THE LIMITED OWNERS 

SECTION 7.1 No Management or Control; Limite d Liability; Exercise of Rights 
through a P articipant.  The Lim ited Owners sha ll not participate in the m anagement or control 
of the Trust’s business nor shall th ey transact any business for the Trust or have the power to 
sign for or bind the Trust, said power being vested solely and exclusively in the Sponsor.  Except 
as provided in Section 7.3 hereof, no Li mited Owner shall be bound by, or be personally liable 
for, the expenses, liabilities or obligations of the Trust in excess of his Capital Contribution plus 
his share of any Trust Estate in which such Lim ited Owner owns a Unit and profits rem aining, if 
any.  Except as provided in Section  7.3 hereof, each Unit o wned by a Lim ited Owner shall be 
fully paid and no assessm ent shall be made against any Limited Owner.  No salary s hall be paid 
to any Li mited Owner in his capacity as a Li mited Owner, nor shall any Lim ited Owner have a 
drawing account or earn interest on its Capital Contribu tion.  By the purchase and acceptance or 
other lawful deliv ery an d accep tance of Units, each  owner shall be d eemed to be a Lim ited 
Owner and beneficiary of the Trust and vested with benef icial undivided interest in the Trust to 
the extent of the Units owned beneficially by such Lim ited Owner, subject to the  term s and 
conditions of this Trust Agreement. 

SECTION 7.2 Rights and Duties.The Limited Owners shall have the following rights, 
powers, privileges, duties and liabilities: 

(a) The Lim ited Owners shall have the right to obtain from the Sponsor  
information on all thin gs af fecting the Trus t, pr ovided that such is f or a purpose reasonably 
related to the Limited Owner’s interest as a beneficial owner of the Trust. 

(b) The Limited Owners shall receiv e the share of the dis tributions provided 
for in this Trust Agreement in the manner and at the times provided for in this Trust Agreement. 

(c) Except for the Lim ited Owners’ r edemption rights set forth in Ar ticle VI 
hereof, Limited Owners shall have  the right to dem and the return of their cap ital only upon the 
dissolution and winding up of the Trust and only to  the extent of funds availab le therefor as  
provided in Section 12.2.  In no event shall a Li mited Owner be entitled to de mand or receive 
property other than cash upon the dissolution and winding up of the Trust.  No Li mited Owner 
shall have priority over any other Lim ited Owner e ither a s to the re turn of  capital or as to 
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profits, losses or distributions.  The Lim ited Owner shall n ot have any  right to bring an action 
for partition against the Trust. 

(d) Limited Owners holding Units represen ting (i) at leas t a majority (ove r 
50%) of the Shares (no t including Units held by the Sponsor and its Affiliates) m ay vote to 
continue the Trust as provided in Section 12.1(f), (ii) at least 75% of the Shares may remove the 
Sponsor on 90 days’ prior written notice to the Sponsor, and (vii) at least 75% of the Shares 
may terminate the Trust as provided in Section 12.1. 

Except as set forth abov e, the Lim ited Owners shall have no voting or  other rights with 
respect to the Trust. 

SECTION 7.3 Limitation of Liability. 

(a) Except as provided in Section 4.7(f) hereof, and as otherwise provided 
under Delaware law, the Lim ited Owners shall be  entitled to the sam e limitation of personal 
liability extended to stockholders  of private corporations for profit organized under the general 
corporation law of Delaware and no Lim ited Owner shall be liable for claims against, or deb ts 
of the Trust in excess of his Capital Contri bution and his share of the Trust Estate and 
undistributed profits, except in the event that the liability is founded upon m isstatements or 
omissions contained in such Lim ited Owner’s Participant Agreem ent delive red in  connectio n 
with his purchase of Units.  In addition, and subject to the exceptions set forth in the 
immediately preceding sentence, the Trust shall not make a claim against a Limited Owner with 
respect to  amounts distributed  to  such Lim ited Owner or am ounts received by  su ch Lim ited 
Owner upon redem ption unless, under Delaware la w, such Lim ited Owner is liable to repay 
such amount. 

(b) The Trust shall indemnify to the full extent permitted by law and the other 
provisions of  this Agreem ent, and to the extent  of the appl icable Trust Estate, each Li mited 
Owner against any claim s of liability asserted against such Limited Owner solely because he is 
a beneficial owner of one or more Units as a Limited Owner. 

(c) Every written note, bond, contract, instrument, cer tificate or undertaking 
made or issued by the Sponsor shall give notice to the effect that the sam e was executed or 
made by or on behalf of the Trus t and that the obligations of  such instrument are not binding 
upon the Limited Owners individually but are bi nding only upon the assets and property of the 
Trust, and no resort shall be had to the Lim ited Owners’ personal property for satisfaction of  
any obligation or claim thereunder, and appropria te references m ay be m ade to t his Trust 
Agreement and m ay contain any further recital which the S ponsor deems appropriate, but the 
omission thereof shall not opera te to bind  th e Lim ited Owner s individually or otherwise 
invalidate any such note, bond, c ontract, instrum ent, certificat e or undertaking.  Nothing 
contained in this Section 7.3 sh all dim inish the lim itation on the liability of the Trust to the 
extent set forth in Section 3.4 and 3.5 hereof. 

SECTION 7.4 Derivative Actions. 

In addition to any other requirem ents of applicable law including Section 3816 of 
the Delaware Trust Statute, no Un itholder shall have the right, pow er or  a uthority t o br ing or  
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maintain a derivative action, suit or other procee ding on behalf of the Trust unless two or m ore 
Unitholders who (i) are not af filiates of one another and (ii) collectively hold at least 10% of the 
outstanding Units join in the bringing or maintaining of such action, suit or other proceeding.   

ARTICLE VIII 
 

BOOKS OF ACCOUNT AND REPORTS 

SECTION 8.1 Books of Account.  Proper books of account fo r the Trust shall be kept 
and shall be audited annually by an independent certified public accounting firm selected by the 
Sponsor in its sole disc retion, and there shall be entered th erein all transactions, m atters and 
things relating to the  Trust’s business as a re required by the  applicable law and regu lations and 
as are u sually entered into books o f account k ept by Persons engaged in a business of like 
character.  The books of account shall be kept at the p rincipal office of the Trust and each 
Limited Owner (or any duly constituted designee of a Li mited Owner) shall have, at all tim es 
during normal business hours, free access to and  the right to inspect and  copy the sam e for any 
purpose reasonably related to the L imited Owner’s in terest as a b eneficial owner of the Trust.  
Such books of account shall be kept, and the Tr ust shall report its profits and lo sses on, the 
accrual m ethod of accounting for financial accoun ting p urposes on  a Fiscal Year basis as  
described in Article X. 

SECTION 8.2 Quarterly Updates, Annual Updates and Account Statem ents.  The 
Sponsor will prepare and publish the Trust’s Quarterly Updates and Annual Updates as required 
by the OT CQX’s Alternative Re porting Sta ndards and any other applicable rules and 
regulations of the OTCQX, as applicable. 

(b) The Limited Owners will have access to the Shareholder Communications 
Hub, which enables the Lim ited Owners to vi ew their unaudited account statem ents, as  
available. 

SECTION 8.3 Tax Information .  Appropriate tax inform ation (adequate to enable 
each Limited Owner to com plete and file its U.S. federal tax return) sh all be deliv ered to each 
Limited Owner as soon  as prac ticable following the end o f each Fiscal Year but generally no 
later than March 15.  U nless otherwise specified in the Trust Agreem ent, such tax returns and 
information will be filed in a manner consistent with the treatment of the Trust as a grantor trust.  
The Trust’s taxable year shall be  the calend ar year.  The Tru stee shall co mply with all United  
States federal withholding requirem ents respecti ng distributions to, or receipts of a mounts on 
behalf of, Unitholders that the Trustee reasonably believes are applicable under the Code.  The 
consent of Unitholders shall not be required for such withholding.  In th e event the Trustee does  
withhold any a mount from dividends, interest or or iginal issue discount di stributions thereof to 
any Unitholder pursuant to United States federa l withholding requirem ents, the Trustee shall 
indicate in the statement required pursuant to this section the amount so withheld. 

SECTION 8.4 Calculation of Net Asset Value .Net Asset Value  shall be calculated a t 
such times as the Sponsor shall determine from time to time. 
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SECTION 8.5 Maintenance of Records.  The Sponsor shall maintain:  (a) for a period 
of at least six Fiscal Years all books of acco unt required by Section 8.1 hereof; a list of the 
names and last known address of, and number of Units ow ned by, al l Unitholders, a copy of the  
Certificate of Trust and all ce rtificates of am endment thereto, t ogether with executed copies of 
any powers of attorney pursuant to which any certificate has been executed; copies of the Trust’s 
U.S. federal, state and local income tax returns and reports, if any; and (b) for a period of at least  
six Fiscal Years copies of a ny effective written Trust Agreem ents, Participant Agreem ents, 
including any amendments thereto, and any financial statements of  the Trust.  The Sponsor m ay 
keep and maintain the books and records of the Trust in paper,  m agnetic, electronic or other  
format at the Sponsor may determine in its sole discretion, provided the Sponsor uses reasonable 
care to prevent the loss or destruct ion of such records.  If there is a conflict between this Section 
8.5 and the rules and regulations of  the OTCQX with respect to th e maintenance of records, the 
records will be maintained pursuant to the rules and regulations of the OTCQX. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

FISCAL YEAR 

SECTION 9.1 Fiscal Year.  The Fiscal Year shall b egin on the 1st day of January and 
end on the 31st day of December of each year.  The firs t Fiscal Year of the Trust co mmenced on 
the 13 th day of Septe mber 2013 and shall end on the 31 st day of Dece mber 2013.  The Fiscal 
Year in which the Trust shall terminate shall end on the date of such termination. 

ARTICLE X 
 

AMENDMENT OF TRUST AGREEMENT; MEETINGS 

SECTION 10.1 Amendments to the Trust Agreement. 

(a) The Sponsor may, without the approval of the Limited Owners, make such 
amendments to this T rust Agreem ent which (i) are necessa ry to add to the rep resentations, 
duties or obligations of the Sponsor or surre nder any right or power granted to the Sponsor 
herein, for the benefit of the Li mited Owners, (ii) are necessary to cure any ambiguity, to 
correct or supplement any provision herein which may be inconsistent with any other provision 
herein or in the Mem orandum, or to m ake any other provisions with respect to m atters or 
questions arising  under this Trus t Agreem ent or the Mem orandum which will not be 
inconsistent with the provisions of the Trus t Agreem ent or the M emorandum, or (iii) the 
Sponsor deems advisable, provide d, however, that no am endment shall be adopted pursuant to 
this clause 10.1(a) unless the adoption thereof (A ) is not adverse to the interests of the Lim ited 
Owners; (B) is consistent with Section 4.1 hereof; (C)  does not affect the allocation of profits 
and losses among the Lim ited Owners or betw een the Lim ited Owners and the Sponsor; and 
(D) does not adversely affect the limitations on liab ility of the Limited Owners, as described in 
Article VII hereof or the status of the Trust as a grantor trust f or U.S. federal in come tax 
purposes.  Am endments to this docum ent whic h adversely affect (i) the rights of Li mited 
Owners, (ii) the appointm ent of a  new Sponsor pursuant to Section 4.2(f) above, (iii) the 
dissolution of the Trus t pursuant to Section 12.1(f) below and (iv)  any material changes in the  
Trust’s basic investm ent policies or structur e shall occur only upon th e written approval or 



 

30 

affirmative vote of Limited Owners holding Units equal to at leas t a majority (over 50%) of the 
Shares. 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision to  the contrary contained in 
Sections 10.1(a) hereof, the S ponsor may, without the approval of the L imited Owners, am end 
the prov isions of  this Trust Agre ement if  the Trust is a dvised a t a ny tim e by the Tru st’s 
accountants or legal counsel that the a mendments made are necessary to ensure that the Trust’s 
status as a grantor trust will be respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

(c) Upon a mendment of this Trust Agreem ent, the Certificate of Trust shall 
also be am ended, if required by the Delaware Tr ust Statute, to reflect such ch ange.  At the 
expense of the Sponsor, the Trust ee shall execute and file any am endment to the Certificate of 
Trust if so directed by the Sponsor. 

(d) No am endment affecting the righ ts or duties of the Trustee shall be 
binding upon or effective against the Trustee unless consented to by the Trustee in writing.  No 
amendment shall be m ade to this Trust Agreem ent without the consent of the Trustee if it 
reasonably believes that such amendment adversely affects any of the rights, duties or liabilities 
of the Trustee.  The Trustee shall be under no ob ligation to execute any amendment to the Trust 
Agreement or to any ag reement to which the T rust is a party until it has received an instruction 
letter from the Sponsor, in form and subs tance reasonably satisf actory to the Trustee 
(i) directing the Trus tee to execu te such am endment, (ii) representing and warranting to the 
Trustee that such execu tion is au thorized and permitted by the term s of  the Trust Agreem ent 
and (if applicable) such other agreement to which the Trust is a party and does not conflict with 
or violate any other agreem ent to which the  Trust is a p arty and (iii) confirming that such 
execution and acts related thereto  are covere d by the indem nity provisions of the Trust 
Agreement in favor of the Trustee and do not adversely affect the Trustee. 

(e) To the f ullest ex tent perm itted b y law, no provision  o f this Trus t 
Agreement m ay be amended, waived or other wise m odified orally b ut only by  a writte n 
instrument adopted in accordance with this Section. 

SECTION 10.2 Meetings of the Trust .  Meetings of the Unitholders m ay be called by 
the Sponsor and will be called by it upon the wr itten request of Lim ited Owners holding Units 
equal to at least 30% of the Shares.  Such call for a m eeting shall be deemed to have been m ade 
upon the receipt by the Sponsor of a written re quest from Li mited Owners representing th e 
requisite percentage of Shares .  The Sponsor shall deposit in the United States m ails, within 
15 days after receipt of said reques t, written notice to all Unitholders thereof of the meeting and 
the purpose of the meeting, which shall be held on a date, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days 
after the date of m ailing of said notice, at a reasonable time and place.   Any notice of m eeting 
shall be accompanied by a description of the acti on to be taken at the m eeting and an opinion of 
independent counsel as to the effect of such proposed action on the liability of Lim ited Owners 
for the debts of the Trust.  Unitholders may vote in person or by proxy at any such meeting. 

SECTION 10.3 Action Without a Meeting . Any action required  or perm itted to be  
taken by Unitholders by vote may be taken without a meeting by written consent setting forth the 
actions so taken.  Such written consents shall be treated for all purposes as votes at a meeting.  If 



 

31 

the vote or consent of  any Unitholder to any action of  the Trust or any Unitholder, as  
contemplated by this Trust Agreem ent, is solic ited by the Sponsor, the solicitation shall be 
effected by notice to each Unitholder given in th e manner provided in Section 13.5.  The vote or 
consent of each Unitho lder so so licited sh all be deemed conclusiv ely to have been cast or 
granted as requested in the notic e of solicitation, whether or no t the notice of solicitation is 
actually re ceived by th at Unithold er, unles s th e Unithold er expre sses written ob jection to th e 
vote or consent by notice given in the m anner provided in Section 13.5 below and actually 
received by  the Trust within 20 days after th e notice of solic itation is affected.  The Covered 
Persons dealing with the Trust shall be entitled to act in reliance on any vote or consent which is 
deemed cast or granted pursuant to this Section a nd shall be fully indemnified by the Trust in so 
doing.  Any action taken or om itted in reliance on any such  deemed vote or consen t of one or 
more Unitholders shall not be void or voidabl e by reason of tim ely communication m ade by or  
on behalf of all or any of such Uni tholders in  any m anner other than as expressly provided in 
Section 13.5. 

ARTICLE XI 
 

TERM 

SECTION 11.1 Term. The term for which the Trus t is to ex ist shall commence on the  
date of the filing of the Certificate of Trust and shall be p erpetual, unless terminated pursuant to 
the provisions of Article XII hereof or as otherwise provided by law. 

ARTICLE XII 
 

TERMINATION 

SECTION 12.1 Events Requiring Dissolution of the Trust .  The Trust sha ll dissolve at 
any time upon the happening of any of the following events: 

(a) a United States federal or state regulator requires the Trust to shut down or 
forces the T rust to liquidate its Bitcoins or seizes, im pounds or otherw ise restricts access to 
Trust assets; 

(b) the Trust is determ ined to be a “money service business” under the 
regulations prom ulgated by FinCEN under the au thority of the US Bank Secrecy Act and is 
required to comply with certain FinCEN regula tions thereunder, and the Sponsor has m ade the 
determination that dissolution of the Trust is advisable; 

(c) the Trust is required to obtain a license or m ake a registration under any 
state law regulating money transmitters, money services business, providers of prepaid or stored 
value or similar entities , virtual currency business, and the Sponsor has made the determination 
that dissolution of the Trust is advisable; 

(d) any ongoing event exists that either prevents the Trust from  making or 
makes im practical the  Trust’s  r easonable ef forts to  m ake a f air dete rmination of  the  Bitco in 
Market Price; 



 

32 

(e) any ongoing event exists th at either prevents the Trust from  converting or 
makes impractical the Trust’s reasonable efforts to convert Bitcoins to USD; 

(f) the filing of a certificate of dissolu tion or revocation of the Sponsor’s 
charter (and the expiration of 90 days after the date of noti ce to the Sponsor of revocation 
without a reinstatem ent of its charter) or upon the withdrawal, rem oval, adjudication or 
admission of bankruptcy or insolvency of the Spons or, or an event of w ithdrawal (each of the 
foregoing events an “ Event of Withdraw al”) un less (i) at the tim e there is  at least on e 
remaining Sponsor and that remaining Sponsor carries on the business of the Trust or (ii) within 
90 days of such Event of W ithdrawal all the remaining Unitholders agree in writing to continue 
the busin ess of  the Tru st and to select, effective as of the date of such event, on e or m ore 
successor Sponsors; 

(g) Unitholders holding at least 75% of  the outstanding Units notify the 
Sponsor that they elect to dissolve the Trust, notice of which is sent to the Sponsor not less than 
ninety (90) Business Days prior to the effective date of dissolution; or 

(h) the Custodian resigns or is removed without replacement. 

The Sponsor may, in its sole discretion, dissolv e the Trust if any of the following events 
occur: 

(a) the SEC determines that the Trust is an investment company required to be 
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940; 

(b) the CFTC determ ines that the T rust is a commodity pool under the 
Commodity Exchange Act; 

(c) the Trust becomes insolvent or bankrupt; 

(d) all of the Trust’s assets are sold; 

(e) the determination of the Sponsor that the aggregate net assets of the Trust 
in relation to the operating expenses of the Trus t make it unreasonable or imprudent to continue 
the business of the Trust; 

(f) the Sponsor receives notice from the IRS or from counsel for the Tru st or 
the Sponsor that the Trust fails to qualify for trea tment, or will not be treated, as a grantor trust 
under the Code; and 

(g) if the Trustee notifies the Sponsor of  the Trustee’s election to resign and 
the Sponsor does not appoint a successor trustee within 180 days, the Trust will dissolve. 

The death, legal disability, bankruptcy, in solvency, dissolution, or  withdrawal of any 
Limited Owner (as long as such Limited Owner is not the sole Limited Owner of the Trust) shall 
not result in the term ination of  the Trust, an d such Li mited Owner, his estate, custodian or 
personal representative shall have no right to w ithdraw o r value such  Li mited Owner’s Units.  
Each Limited Owner (and any ass ignee thereof) expr essly agrees that in  the ev ent of his death , 
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he waives on behalf of himself and his estate, and he directs the le gal representative of his estate  
and any person interested therein to waive th e furnishing of any inventory, accounting or 
appraisal of the ass ets of the Tr ust and any right to an  audit or exam ination of the books of the 
Trust, except for such rights as are set forth in Article VIII hereof re lating to the Books of 
Account and reports of the Trust. 

SECTION 12.2 Distributions on Dissolution .  Upo n the d issolution of  the  Trust, th e 
Sponsor (or in the event there is no Sponsor, such person (the “ Liquidating Trustee ”) as th e 
majority in interest of the Limited Owners may propose and approve) shall take full charge of the 
Trust Estate.  Any Liquidating Trustee so appointed shall have and may exercise, without further 
authorization or approval of any of the parties hereto, all of the powers conferred upon the 
Sponsor under the term s of this Trust Agreem ent, subject to all of the applicable lim itations, 
contractual and otherwise, upon th e exercise of such powers, a nd provided that the Liquidating 
Trustee shall not have  general liability f or the acts, omissions, obligations and expenses of the 
Trust.  Thereafter, in accordance with Sectio n 3808(e) o f the Delaware Trust Statute, th e 
business and affairs of the Trust shall be wound up and all assets shall be liquidated as prom ptly 
as is consistent with obtaining the fair value th ereof, and the proceeds therefrom shall be applied 
and distributed in the following order of prio rity: (a ) to the expe nses of liquidation and 
termination and to cred itors, in cluding Unitholders who are cred itors, to the exten t otherwise 
permitted by law, in satisfaction of liabilities of the Trust (whether by payment or the making of 
reasonable provision for paym ent thereof) other than  liabilities for distributions to Unitholders, 
and (b) to the Sponsor and each L imited Owne r pro rata in  accordance with his po sitive book  
capital acco unt balance,  less any amount owing by su ch Unitholder, after giving  effect to all 
adjustments made pursuant to Article V and all distributions theretofore made to the Unitholders 
pursuant to Article V. 

SECTION 12.3 Termination; Certifica te of Cancellation.  Following the dissolution 
and distribution of the assets of  the Trust, the T rust shall term inate and Sponsor or Liquidating 
Trustee, as the case m ay be, shall in struct the Trustee to execute and cause such certificate of 
cancellation of the Certificate of Trust to be filed in accordance with the Delaware Trust Statute 
at the expense of the Sponsor.  Notwithstanding a nything to the contrary contained in this Trust  
Agreement, the existence of the Trust as a separ ate legal entity shall continue until the f iling of 
such certificate of cancellation. 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 13.1 Governing Law. The validity and construction of this Trust Agreement 
and all amendments hereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and the rights 
of all pa rties here to and  the ef fect of e very provision he reof shall be subject to and construed 
according to the laws of  the S tate of Delaware w ithout regard to  the conflict of laws provisions 
thereof; provided, however, that causes of action for violations of U.S. federal or state securities 
laws shall not be governed by this Section 13.1, and provided, further, that the parties hereto 
intend that the provisions hereof shall control over any contrary or limiting statutory or common 
law of the State of  Delaware (other than the De laware Trust Statute) and that, to the m aximum 
extent pe rmitted by app licable law, there sha ll not be applicable to th e Trust, the Trustee, th e 
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Sponsor, the Unitholders or this Trust Agreem ent any provision of the laws (statutory or 
common) of the State o f Delaware (other than th e Delaware Trust Statute) pertaining to trusts  
which relate to or regulate in a manner inconsistent with the terms hereof:  (a) the filing with any 
court or go vernmental body or agency of trustee accoun ts or sched ules of trustee fees and 
charges, (b) affirmative requirements to post bonds for trustees, officers, agents, or employees of 
a trust, (c) the necessity for obtaining court or other governm ental approval concerning the 
acquisition, holding or disposition of real or personal property, (d) fees or other sums payable to 
trustees, officers, agents or employees of a trust, (e) the allocation of receipts and expenditures to 
income or principal, (f) restrictions or li mitations on the perm issible nature, am ount or  
concentration of trust investments or requirements relating to the titling, storage or other m anner 
of holding of trust assets, or  (g) the es tablishment of  f iduciary or other standards or 
responsibilities or limitations on the acts or pow ers of trustees or m anagers that are inconsistent 
with the limitations on liability or authorities and powers of the Trustee or the Sponsor set forth 
or referenced in this Trust Agreem ent.  Section 3540 of Title 12 of the Delaware Code shall not 
apply to the  Trust.  The Trust shall be of  the type commonly called a “statu tory trust,” and  
without lim iting the pro visions hereof, the Trus t may exercise all pow ers that are ordinarily  
exercised by such a statutory trust under Delaware law.  The Trust spec ifically reserves the right 
to exercise any of the powers or p rivileges affo rded to statutory trusts  and the absence of a 
specific reference herein to any such power, priv ilege or a ction sha ll not im ply that the Tru st 
may not exercise such power or privilege or take such actions. 

SECTION 13.2 Provisions In Conflict With Law or Regulations. 

(a) The provisions of this Trust Agreem ent are severable, and if the Sponsor 
shall determ ine, with the advice of counsel, th at any one or m ore of such provisions (the  
“Conflicting Provision s”) a re in c onflict with  the  Code, th e Delaware Trust Statute or other 
applicable U.S. federal or state laws or the ru les and regulations of the OTCQX, the Conflicting 
Provisions s hall be  dee med never to have cons tituted a p art of  this T rust Agre ement, even 
without any am endment of this Trust Agreem ent pursuant to this T rust Agreement; provided, 
however, that such determination by the Sponsor shall not affect or  impair any of the remaining 
provisions of this Trus t Agreement or rend er invalid or improper any a ction taken or om itted 
prior to such determination.  No Sponsor or Trustee shall be liable for making or failing to make 
such a determination. 

(b) If any provision of this Trust Agr eement shall be he ld invalid or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, su ch holding shall not in any m anner affect or render invalid  
or unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction or a ny other provision of this Trust 
Agreement in any jurisdiction. 

SECTION 13.3 Merger and Consolidation.  The Sponsor may cause (i) the Trust to 
be merged into or consolidated with, converted to or  to sell all or substantially all of its assets to, 
another trust or entity; (ii) the Units of a class to be converted into another class of Units; (iii) the 
Units of the Trust to be converted  into beneficial interests in a nother statutory trust (or series 
thereof); or (iv) the Units of  the Tru st to be  exchanged for units in an other trust or com pany 
under or pu rsuant to an y U.S. state or federal statute to th e exten t permitted by law.  For th e 
avoidance of doubt, the Sponsor, with written no tice to the Unitholders, m ay approve and effect  
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any of the transactions contem plated under (i) – (iv) above without any vote or other action of 
the Unitholders. 

SECTION 13.4 Construction.  In this Trust Agreem ent, unles s the context otherwise 
requires, words used in the singu lar or in the plural include both the plural and singular and 
words denoting any gender include all gender s.  The title and heading s of  dif ferent parts are 
inserted for convenience and shal l not affect the m eaning, construc tion or effect of this Trust 
Agreement. 

SECTION 13.5 Notices.  All notices or communicati ons under this Trust A greement 
(other than notices of pledge or encumbrance of Units, and reports and notices by the Sponsor to 
the Limited Owners) shall be in writing and shall be effective upon personal delivery, or if sent 
by m ail, postage prepaid, or if sent electronically, by facsim ile or by overnight courier; and 
addressed, in each such  case, to the address se t forth in the books and records of the Trust o r 
such other address as m ay be specif ied in writi ng, of the party to whom such notice is to be 
given, upon the deposit of such notice in the United States m ail, upon transm ission and 
electronic confirmation thereof or upon deposit with a representative of an overnight courier, as 
the case m ay be.  Notices of pledge or encu mbrance of Units shall be effective upon tim ely 
receipt by the Sponsor in writing. 

All notices that are required to be provided to the Trustee shall be sent to: 

Delaware Trust Company 
Attention: Corporate Trust Administration 
2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400 
Wilmington, DE 19808 

All notices that the Trustee is required to provide shall be sent to: 

if to the Trust, at 

Bitcoin Investment Trust 
 636 Avenue of the Americas, 6th Floor 
 New York, New York 10011 
 Attention: General Counsel of Grayscale Investments, LLC 

if to the Sponsor, at 

Grayscale Investments, LLC 
 636 Avenue of the Americas, 6th Floor 
 New York, New York 10011 
 Attention: General Counsel 

SECTION 13.6 Counterparts. This Tru st Agreem ent m ay be executed  in severa l 
counterparts, and all so execute d shall constitute one agreem ent, binding on all of the parties 
hereto, no twithstanding that a ll the parties ar e not signatory to the original or the same  
counterpart. 
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SECTION 13.7 Binding Nature of Trust Agreement .  The term s and provisions of this 
Trust Agreem ent shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of th e heirs, custodians, 
executors, estates, administrators, personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns of  
the respective Unitholders.  For purposes of dete rmining the rights of any Unitholder or assignee 
hereunder, the Trust and the Sponsor m ay rely upon the Trust records as to who are Unitholders 
and permitted assignees, and all Un itholders and assignees ag ree that the Trust and th e Sponsor, 
in determ ining such rights, shall rely on such  records and that Lim ited Owners an d assign ees 
shall be bound by such determination. 

SECTION 13.8 No Legal Title to Trus t Estate. Subject to the provi sions of Section 1.7 
in the  cas e of  the Spon sor, th e Unitholder s sha ll not have  legal title  to  any part of  the T rust 
Estate. 

SECTION 13.9 Creditors. No creditors of any Unitholde rs shall have any right to 
obtain possession of, or otherwise ex ercise legal or equitable rem edies with respect to the Trus t 
Estate. 

SECTION 13.10 Integration. This Trust Agreem ent constitu tes the entir e agreem ent 
among the parties hereto pertaining to the s ubject m atter hereof and supersedes all prior 
agreements and understandings pertaining thereto. 

SECTION 13.11 Goodwill; Use of Name . No value shall be placed on the nam e or 
goodwill of the Trust, which shall belong exclusively to Grayscale Investments, LLC. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the undersigned have duly executed this Second Amended 
and Restated Declaration of Tr ust and Trust Agreem ent as of the day and year first above 
written. 

DELAWARE TRUST COMPANY, 
as Trustee 
 
By:   
      Name:   
      Title:   
 
GRAYSCALE INVESTME NTS, LLC , as 
Sponsor 
 
By:   

Name:   
Title:     

 
SECONDMARKET H OLDINGS, INC. , solely 
with respect to Section 2.4 
 
By:   

Name:   
Title:     
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FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF TRUST 
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CERTIFICATE OF TRUST 
OF  

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

THIS Certificate of Trust of Bitcoin Investment Trust (the “Trust”) is being duly 
executed and filed on behalf of th e Trust by the undersigned, as trust ee, to form a statutory trust 
under the Delaware Statutory Trust Act (12 Del. C. § 3801 et seq.) (the "Act"). 

1. Name.  The nam e of the statutory trust f ormed hereby is Bitcoi n 
Investment Trust.   

2. Delaware T rustee.  The nam e and bus iness ad dress of  the  trus tee of  the  
Trust in th e State of Delaware are CSC Trus t Company of Delaware, 2711 Centerville Road, 
Suite 210, Wilmington, DE 19808. 

3. Effective Date.  This Certificate of Trust shall be effective upon filing. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned ha s duly executed this Certificate of 
Trust in accordance with Section 3811(a)(1) of the Act. 

 
CSC T RUST COMP ANY OF DELAWARE , 
not in its individual cap acity bu t sole ly a s 
Trustee of the Trust 

 
By:_______________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 
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EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF PARTICIPANT AGREEMENT 
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FORM OF 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST PARTICIPANT AGREEMENT 

This Participant Agreement (the “Agreement”), dated as of September___, 2013, is 
entered into by and among [_________] (the “Authorized Participant”), Bitcoin Investment 
Trust, a Delaware statutory trust (the “Trust”), and Alternative Currency Asset Management, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as sponsor of the Trust (the “Sponsor”). 

SUMMARY 

As provided in the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust and Trust Agreement of the 
Trust, as amended from time to time (the “Trust Agreement”), as currently in effect and 
described in the Confidential Private Placement Memorandum (the “Memorandum”), common 
units of fractional undivided beneficial interest in the Trust (the “Shares”) may be created or 
redeemed by the Trust for the Authorized Participant, in aggregations of 100 Shares (each 
aggregation, a “Basket”).  Baskets are offered only pursuant to the Memorandum of the Trust as 
the same may be amended from time to time thereafter or any successor Memorandum in respect 
of Shares of the Trust. Under the Trust Agreement, the Sponsor is authorized to issue Baskets or 
delegate authority to issue Baskets, to, and accept redemptions of Baskets from, Authorized 
Participants.  The Authorized Participant may purchase Baskets for its own account or as agent for 
its customers but it does not have any obligation or responsibility to the Sponsor or the Trust to 
affect any sale or resale of Shares.  This Agreement sets forth the specific procedures by which an 
Authorized Participant may create or redeem Baskets. 

Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings assigned 
to such terms in the Trust Agreement.  To the extent there is a conflict between any provision of 
this Agreement and the provisions of the Trust Agreement, the provisions of the Trust Agreement 
shall control.  To the extent there is a conflict between any provision of this Agreement and the 
provisions of the Memorandum, the Memorandum shall control.  For the avoidance of doubt, any 
action which is referred to herein as an action being taken by the Sponsor may be taken by a party 
whom the Sponsor has duly authorized to take such action, provided, however, that if there is a 
conflict between the Procedures (defined below) and any provision of the Trust Agreement or the 
Memorandum, the Procedures shall control.  Additionally, any amendments to the Procedures will 
not require any amendments to the Trust Agreement.   

To give effect to the foregoing premises and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 
agreements set forth below, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

Section 1. Order Placement.  To place orders to create or redeem one or more Baskets, 
the Authorized Participant must follow the procedures for creation and redemption referred to in 
Section 3 of this Agreement and the procedures described in Attachment A hereto (the 
“Procedures”), as each may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time. 

Section 2. Status of Authorized Participant.  The Authorized Participant represents 
and warrants and covenants the following: 

(a) The Authorized Participant is registered as a broker-dealer under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“1934 Act”), and is a member in good 
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standing of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”).  The Authorized 
Participant will maintain any such registrations, qualifications and membership in good 
standing, or, if applicable, exempt status, in full force and effect throughout the term of this 
Agreement.  The Authorized Participant will comply with all applicable United States 
federal laws, the laws of the states or other jurisdictions concerned, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder, and with the Constitution, By-Laws and Conduct 
Rules of FINRA and shall not offer or sell Shares in any state or jurisdiction where they 
may not lawfully be offered and/or sold. 

(b) The Authorized Participant hereby represents, covenants and warrants that 
it maintains a Bitcoin wallet from a reputable Bitcoin wallet software provider or with a 
third party provider of Bitcoin wallets.  If there is any change in the foregoing, the 
Authorized Participant shall give immediate notice to the Sponsor of such event. 

(c) The Authorized Participant understands and acknowledges that some 
activities on its part, depending on the circumstances and under certain possible 
interpretations of applicable law, could be interpreted as resulting in its being deemed a 
Money Services Business by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, a bureau of the 
United States Department of Treasury responsible for the federal regulation of virtual 
currency market participants.  The Authorized Participant agrees to consult its own counsel 
in connection with entering into this Agreement and transacting in Bitcoins. 

(d) The Authorized Participant is in compliance with the money laundering and 
related provisions of the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate 
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (the “USA PATRIOT 

Act”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder, if the Authorized Participant is subject 
to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act. 

(e) The Authorized Participant shall act in a manner consistent with all 
applicable laws concerning money laundering and similar activities.  In furtherance of such 
efforts, the Authorized Participant shall not mention or send any materials related to the 
Trust to any prospective investor, unless the Authorized Participant, on the basis of the 
Authorized Participant’s prior relationship with the prospective investor, has no reason to 
believe that: (i) any of the Bitcoins, cash or property that would be paid to the Authorized 
Participant in connection with an investment in the Trust, would be derived from, or related 
to, any activity that is deemed criminal under the United States law or any other applicable 
law, including anti-corruption laws, anti-bribery laws, OFAC regulations or otherwise; and 
(ii) any contribution or payment to the Authorized Participant in connection with an 
investment in the Trust by such prospective investor would cause the Trust or the Sponsor 
to be in violation of the United States Bank Secrecy Act, the United States Money 
Laundering Control Act of 1986 or the United States International Money Laundering 
Abatement and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act of 2001. 

(f) The Authorized Participant hereby represents and warrants to the Trust that 
the Authorized Participant: (I) has exercised reasonable care to identify each covered 
person of the Trust set forth in paragraph (d)(1) of Rule 506 of Regulation D under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), that is an officer of the 
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Authorized Participant participating in the offering of the securities that is the subject of 
this Agreement or a financial advisor or registered representative/agent soliciting investors 
in connection with such offering; (ii) has exercised reasonable care to ascertain whether 
(A) a disqualification exists under clauses (i) through (viii) of paragraph (d)(1) of such 
Rule 506 with respect to each such covered person, as well as the Authorized Participant’s 
[general partner(s)], [managing members,] [directors,] and executive officers and (B) 
whether any disclosure is required to be made pursuant to paragraph (e) of such Rule 506 in 
respect of any matter experienced by any such person; and (iii) does not know of (A) any 
disqualification that exists under  paragraph (d)(1) of such Rule 506 in respect of any such 
person or (B) of any disclosure required to be made pursuant to paragraph (e) of such Rule 
506 in respect of any matter experienced by any such person.  The Authorized Participant 
further represents and warrants to the Trust that the Authorized Participant has in place 
policies, procedures and controls reasonably designed to detect the occurrence of any event 
that could reasonably be expected to lead to any disqualification under paragraph (d)(1) of 
Rule 506 in respect of any such covered person.  The Authorized Participant covenants to 
the Trust that the Authorized Participant will inform the Trust as promptly as reasonably 
practical of the occurrence of any event in respect of any such covered person that could 
reasonably be expected to give rise to a disqualification under such paragraph, including 
any pending or threatened litigation or regulatory actions, as well as the occurrence of any 
event that does, in fact, give rise to a disqualification under paragraph (d)(1) of Rule 506. 

(g) The Authorized Participant hereby confirms to the Trust that the Authorized 
Participant, within three months of submission of any order to create one or more Baskets, 
will have taken reasonable steps to verify that any customer of the Authorized Participant 
for whom the Authorized Participant is acting as agent in connection with such creation 
order is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under 
the Securities Act, and will have determined that such customer of the Authorized 
Participant is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of such Rule 501(a).  The 
Authorized Participant hereby represents and warrants to the Trust that the Authorized 
Participant will have verified the “accredited investor” status of each such customer that is 
a natural person within such time period by means of one of the non-exclusive and 
non-mandatory methods set forth in clauses (A) or (B) of Rule 506(c)(2)(ii) of Regulation 
D under the Securities Act.  Each submission of a creation order by the Authorized 
Participant shall be deemed to bring down this representation to such date and to make such 
representation on and as of such date with respect to each such customer of the Authorized 
Person who is participating in such creation order.  The Authorized Participant understands 
that the Shares of the Trust are being offered by means of a general solicitation or general 
advertising, that the Trust relies upon Rule 506(c) of Regulation D under the Securities Act 
for exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for offerings not 
subject to limitation on the manner of offering, and that the Trust is relying on the 
foregoing representations from the Authorized Participant for exemption from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act in respect of the shares being created in any 
creation transaction by the Authorized Participant. 

(h) The Authorized Participant hereby represents, covenants and warrants that 
it has all requisite authority, whether arising under applicable federal or state law, the rules 
and regulations of any self-regulatory organization to which it is subject, or its certificate of 
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incorporation, formation or limited liability company operating agreement or other 
organizational document, as the case may be, to enter into this Agreement and to discharge 
the duties and obligations apportioned to it in accordance with the terms hereof. 

(i) The Authorized Participant hereby represents, covenants and warrants that 
there are no actions, grievances, proceedings (including, without limitation, arbitration 
proceedings), orders, inquiries or claims pending, or to the Authorized Participant’s 
knowledge, threatened against or affecting it or any broker or employee (in his or her 
capacity as such) by the Securities and Exchange Commission, FINRA or any other 
self-regulatory organization that would affect the Authorized Participant’s ability to fulfill 
its obligations hereunder. 

(j) The Authorized Participant hereby represents, covenants and warrants that 
each prospective investor shall be required to make the usual and customary 
representations made in private placements undertaken pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation 
D, including: 

1. that they have had an opportunity as a reasonable time prior the date that a 
creation order is processed to ask questions and receive answers concerning 
the terms and conditions of the offering of Shares and to obtain any 
additional information which the Sponsor possesses or can acquire without 
unreasonable effort or expense that is necessary to verify the accuracy of 
the information in the Memorandum; and  

2. that they understand that the Shares are “restricted securities” that cannot be 
resold without registration under the Securities Act and state securities laws 
or exemption therefrom, and that they are purchasing the securities for 
investment purposes only and not with a view to resale.   

(k) The Authorized Participant understands and agrees that the submission of a 
creation order also will be deemed to bring down representations made by the Authorized 
Participant in the Participant Agreement between the Authorized Participant and the Trust 
that no general partner, managing member, director, executive officer or other officer of 
the Authorized Participant participating in the offering of the Shares has experienced any 
disqualifying event set forth in clauses (d)(1)(i) through (d)(1)(viii) of Rule 506 of 
Regulation D. 

(l) The Authorized Participant understands that the Sponsor intends to restrict 
the aggregate investment by “benefit plan investors” (as defined in the Memorandum) in 
the Trust to under 25% of the total value of each class of equity interests of the Trust to 
ensure that the assets of the Trust will not be deemed to be “plan assets” for purposes of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or Section 4975 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  Accordingly, the Authorized Participant 
represents covenants and agrees that (1) the Authorized Participant is not a benefit plan 
investor and (2) that it has ascertained, through the appropriate subscription 
documentation, and communicated to the Sponsor and Trust, whether any prospective 
investor in the Trust is a plan benefit investor. 
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Section 3. Orders.  (a)  All orders to create or redeem Baskets shall be made in 
accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, this Agreement and the Procedures (as 
provided in Attachment A to this Agreement).  Each party shall comply with such foregoing terms 
and procedures to the extent applicable to it.  The Authorized Participant hereby consents to the 
use of recorded telephone lines whether or not such use is reflected in the Procedures and the 
Sponsor shall take reasonable steps to cause the appropriate party to provide the Authorized 
Participant with copies of such recordings upon reasonable request.  The Sponsor may issue 
additional or other procedures from time to time relating to the manner of creating or redeeming 
Baskets which are not related to the Procedures, and the Authorized Participant shall comply with 
such procedures of which it has been notified in accordance with this Agreement. 

(b) The Authorized Participant acknowledges and agrees on behalf of itself and 
any party for which it is acting (whether such party is a customer or otherwise) that each 
order to create a Basket (a “Creation Order”) and each order to redeem a Basket (a 
“Redemption Order”, and, together with the Creation Order, an “Order”) may not be 
revoked by the Authorized Participant upon its delivery to the Administrator (as defined in 
the Procedures).  A form of Creation Order is attached hereto as Exhibit B and a form of 
Redemption Order is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

(c) The Sponsor or its delegate shall have the absolute right, but shall have no 
obligation, to reject any Creation Order or Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount (as defined in 
the Trust Agreement) if circumstances outside the control of the Sponsor, its delegates or 
the Administrator make it for all practical purposes not feasible to process Creation 
Baskets.  The Sponsor, its delegates and the Administrator shall not be liable to any person 
by reason of the rejection of any Creation Order or Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

(d) The Sponsor or its delegate shall have the absolute right, but shall have no 
obligation, to reject any Redemption Order or Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount (as 
defined in the Trust Agreement) if circumstances outside the control of the Sponsor, its 
delegates or the Administrator make it for all practical purposes not feasible to process 
Redemption Baskets.  The Sponsor, its delegates and the Administrator shall not be liable 
to any person by reason of the rejection of any Redemption Order or Redemption Basket 
Bitcoin Amount. 

(e) The crediting of the Shares by the Transfer Agent against deposit of the 
Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount shall be suspended generally, or refused with respect to a 
particular Creation Order, during any period when the transfer books of the Transfer Agent 
are closed or if any such action is deemed necessary or advisable by the Sponsor or its 
delegates for any reason at any time or from time to time.  None of the Sponsor or its 
delegates (including, but not limited to, Administrator, Custodian, Transfer Agent) shall be 
liable to any person or in any way for any loss or damages that may result from any such 
suspension or refusal or for the rejection or acceptance of any creation order or Creation 
Basket Bitcoin Amount. 

Section 4. Authorized Persons.  Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement 
and from time to time thereafter, the Authorized Participant shall deliver to the Administrator  
notarized and duly certified as appropriate by its secretary or other duly authorized official, a 
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certificate in the form of Exhibit A setting forth (i) the names and signatures of all persons 
authorized to give instructions relating to activity contemplated hereby or by any other notice, 
request or instruction given on behalf of the Authorized Participant (each, an “Authorized 

Person”) and (ii) one or more email addresses from which notices regarding Creation or 
Redemption will be generated and to which notices regarding a Creation or Redemption can be 
sent (a “Participant email”).  The Administrator may accept and rely upon such certificate as 
conclusive evidence of the facts set forth therein and shall consider such certificate to be in full 
force and effect until the Administrator receives a superseding certificate bearing a subsequent 
date.  Upon the elimination of any of the Participant emails, the Authorized Participant shall give 
immediate written notice of such fact to the Administrator and such notice shall be effective upon 
receipt by the Administrator.  Upon the termination or revocation of authority of any Authorized 
Person by the Authorized Participant, the Authorized Participant shall give immediate written 
notice of such fact to the Administrator and such notice shall be effective upon receipt by the 
Administrator. The Administrator may issue to each Authorized Person a unique personal 
identification number (the “PIN Number”) by which such Authorized Person may be identified 
and by which instructions issued by the Authorized Participant hereunder may be authenticated.  
The PIN Number shall be kept confidential by the Authorized Participant and shall only be 
provided to the Authorized Person.  If, after issuance, the Authorized Person’s PIN Number is 
changed, the new PIN Number shall become effective on a date mutually agreed upon by the 
Authorized Participant and the Transfer Agent. If the Authorized Person’s PIN Number is 
compromised in any way, the Authorized Participant shall contact the Transfer Agent immediately 
in order for a new one to be issued and for the Transfer Agent to immediately cancel the old one. 

Section 5. Redemption. 

(a) The Authorized Participant represents and warrants that it will not obtain a 
Confirmation Number (as described in the Procedures) from the Administrator for the 
purpose of redeeming a Basket unless it first ascertains that (i) it or its customer, as the case 
may be, owns outright or has full legal authority and legal and beneficial right to tender for 
redemption the Baskets to be redeemed and to receive the Redemption Basket Bitcoin 
Amount associated with such redemption, and (ii) such Baskets have not been loaned or 
pledged to another party and are not the subject of any arrangement which would preclude 
the unfettered delivery of such Baskets to the Sponsor as required pursuant to the 
Procedures. 

(b) The Authorized Participant represents and warrants that prior to submitting 
a Redemption Order to the Administrator, the Authorized Participant will first ascertain (i) 
that the Bitcoin wallet to be used  in connection with the Redemption Order is owned 
outright by the Authorized Participant or it has full legal authority and legal and beneficial 
right to any Bitcoins transferred to such Bitcoin wallet address and (ii) that the Authorized 
Participant Self-Administered Account is appropriately designated for delivery of Bitcoins 
in the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount by the Trust. 

Section 6. Role of Authorized Participant.  (a)   The Authorized Participant 
acknowledges that, for all purposes of this Agreement and the Trust Agreement, the Authorized 
Participant is and shall be deemed to be an independent contractor, and not an employee, director, 
officer, constituent partner, manager, member or affiliate of the Trust.  The Authorized Participant 
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has no authority to represent that it or any person affiliated with it is anything other than an 
independent contractor of the Trust, and such representation, if made, shall not bind the Trust or 
any affiliate thereof, and must not be relied upon by any person.  The Authorized Participant 
agrees that neither it nor any of its affiliates is authorized to make any representation concerning 
the Trust. 

(b) The Authorized Participant shall act in a manner consistent with the 
instructions of the Trust and materially comply with all applicable laws, including, without 
limitation, securities laws of each jurisdiction in which the Authorized Participant 
proposes to carry on the business contemplated by this Agreement.  Without limitation on 
the foregoing, the Authorized Participant shall not knowingly take any action or omit to 
take any action that would cause the Authorized Participant, the Trust, or the Sponsor to be 
in violation of, or to lose any applicable exemption from registration under the 1933 Act, 
the 1934 Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the Investment 
Company Act or the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder.  The Authorized Participant represents and warrants 
that is has sufficient familiarity with the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, the Investment Company 
Act, and the Advisers Act to carry out its duties under this Agreement in compliance with 
the preceding sentence.  The Authorized Participant’s responsibility to the Trust is solely 
contractual in nature, the Authorized Participant has been retained solely to act as a 
placement agent and no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between the Trust and 
the Authorized Participant has been created. 

(c) Before mentioning or sending any material related to the Trust to any 
potential investor, the Authorized Participant shall, on the basis of the Authorized 
Participant’s prior relationship with the potential investor, reasonably believe that the 
potential investor is: (x) an “accredited investor,” as defined in Regulation D of the 1933 
Act, (y) so sophisticated and knowledgeable in business and financial matters as to be 
capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Trust, and (z) a customer 
of the marketplace conducted by SecondMarket, Inc. (the “Marketplace”) eligible to 
participate in an investment in the Trust. 

(d) The Authorized Participant shall make itself and its employees available, 
upon request, during normal business hours to consult with the Sponsor or its designees 
concerning the performance of the Authorized Participant’s responsibilities under this 
Agreement. 

(e) The Authorized Participant acknowledges that each submission of a 
creation order by the Authorized Participant shall be deemed to bring down the 
representations made in Section 2 above to such date. 

Section 7. Bitcoin Transactions.  EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO 
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE 
IRREVERSIBLE.   

(a) The Authorized Participant shall provide the Sponsor or its delegates with 
one or more Bitcoin wallet addresses that will be dedicated exclusively for Creation and 
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Redemption transactions with the Trust.  The Bitcoin wallet addresses that (i) are 
previously known to the Custodian (or the Sponsor or its delegates) and (ii) are currently 
active at the time of a Creation or Redemption transaction with the Trust are each an 
Authorized Participant self-administered account (the “Authorized Participant 

Self-Administered Account”).  If the Authorized Participant becomes unable to continue 
to provide the Trust with at least one Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account, 
the Authorized Participant shall give immediate notice to the Sponsor of such event. 

(b) Any Bitcoins to be transferred in connection with any Creation Order or 
Redemption Order shall be transferred between an Authorized Participant 
Self-Administered Account and the Bitcoin Account, Trust Storage Account or the Trust 
Safekeeping Account, as applicable, in accordance with the Procedures. 

(c) Each of the Parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that (i) it has the 
computer hardware, software and technological knowhow required to transact in Bitcoins; 
(ii) it is responsible for confirming the accuracy of all Bitcoin wallet addresses it is 
provided and that it provides in connection with any Creation Order or Redemption Order 
pursuant to this Agreement; and (iii) it is responsible for and bears the risk of loss for all 
Bitcoins transferred to a Bitcoin wallet address. 

(d) The Authorized Participants will receive no fees, commissions or other 
form of compensation or inducement of any kind from either the Sponsor or the Trust in 
connection with a Creation Orders and Redemption Orders.  

Section 8. Indemnification. 

(a) The Authorized Participant hereby indemnifies and holds harmless the 
Trust and the Sponsor, their respective direct or indirect affiliates (as defined below) and 
their respective directors, trustees, sponsors, partners, members, managers, officers, 
employees and agents (each, an “AP Indemnified Party”) from and against any losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and the 
reasonable cost of investigation, including reasonable cost involved in defending itself in 
connection with an investigation) incurred by such AP Indemnified Party as a result of or in 
connection with: (i) any breach by the Authorized Participant of any provisions of this 
Agreement; (ii) any failure on the part of the Authorized Participant to perform any of its 
obligations set forth in this Agreement; (iii) any failure by the Authorized Participant to 
comply with applicable laws and the rules and regulations of self-regulatory organizations 
in connection with this Agreement; or (iv) any actions of such AP Indemnified Party in 
reliance upon any instructions issued in accordance with the Procedures believed by the AP 
Indemnified Party to be genuine and to have been given by the Authorized Participant; or 
(v) any representation by the Authorized Participant, its employees or its agents or other 
representatives about the Shares, any AP Indemnified Party or the Trust that is not 
consistent with the Trust’s then-current Memorandum made in connection with the offer or 
the solicitation of an offer to buy or sell Shares. 

(b) The Sponsor hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Authorized 
Participant, its respective subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, officers, employees and agents, 
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and each person, if any (each, a “Sponsor Indemnified Party”) from and against any 
losses (other than de minimus losses), liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and the reasonable cost of investigation, including reasonable 
costs involved in defending itself in connection with an investigation) incurred by such 
Sponsor Indemnified Party as a result of or in connection with: (i) any breach by the 
Sponsor of any provision of this Agreement; (ii) any failure on the part of the Sponsor to 
perform any obligation of the Sponsor set forth in this Agreement; (iii) any failure by the 
Sponsor to comply with applicable laws and regulations in connection with this 
Agreement, except that the Sponsor shall not be required to indemnify a Sponsor 
Indemnified Party to the extent that such failure was caused by the reasonable reliance on 
instructions given or representations made by one or more Sponsor Indemnified Parties or 
the negligence or willful malfeasance of any Sponsor Indemnified Party; or (iv) any untrue 
statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in a Memorandum or 
arising out of or based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact 
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except those statements in the 
Memorandum based on information furnished in writing by or on behalf of the Authorized 
Participant expressly for use in such Memorandum. 

(c) This Section 8 shall not apply to the extent any such losses, liabilities, 
damages, costs and expenses are incurred as a result of or in connection with any fraud, 
gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct on the part of the AP Indemnified Party 
or the Sponsor Indemnified Party, as the case may be. The term “affiliate” in this Section 8 
shall include, with respect to any person, entity or organization, any other person, entity or 
organization which directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is 
controlled by or is under common control with such person, entity or organization. 

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 8 is unavailable to an 
indemnified party under Sections 8(a) or 8(b) or insufficient to hold an indemnified party 
harmless in respect of any losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses referred to 
therein, then each applicable indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or 
payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, liabilities, damages, costs and 
expenses (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by 
the Sponsor and the Trust, on the one hand, and by the Authorized Participant, on the other 
hand, from the services provided hereunder or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) 
above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not 
only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the 
Sponsor and the Trust, on the one hand, and of the Authorized Participant, on the other 
hand, in connection with, to the extent applicable, the statements or omissions which 
resulted in such losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, as well as any other 
relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Sponsor and the 
Trust, on the one hand, and the Authorized Participant, on the other hand, shall be deemed 
to be in the same respective proportions as the amount of Bitcoin transferred to the Trust 
under this Agreement on the one hand (expressed in dollars) bears to the amount of 
economic benefit received by the Authorized Participant in connection with this 
Agreement on the other hand. To the extent applicable, the relative fault of the Sponsor on 
the one hand and of the Authorized Participant on the other shall be determined by 
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reference to, among other things, whether the untrue statement or alleged untrue statement 
of a material fact or omission or alleged omission relates to information supplied by the 
Sponsor or by the Authorized Participant and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access 
to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The 
amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses, liabilities, damages, costs and 
expenses referred to in this Section 8(d) shall be deemed to include any legal or other fees 
or expenses reasonably incurred by such party in connection with investigating, preparing 
to defend or defending any action, suit or proceeding (each a “Proceeding”) related to such 
losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses. 

(e) The Sponsor and the Authorized Participant agree that it would not be just 
and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 8 were determined by pro rata 
allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable 
considerations referred to in Section 8(d) above. The Authorized Participant shall not be 
required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total price 
(expressed in dollars) at which the Shares created by the Authorized Participant (for 
avoidance of doubt, in an amount equal to the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount) exceeds 
the amount of any damages which the Authorized Participant has otherwise been required 
to pay by reason of such untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or 
alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of 
Section 11(f) of the 1933 Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was 
not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. 

(f) The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this Section 8 shall 
remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the 
Authorized Participant, its partners, stockholders, members, directors, officers, employees 
and shall survive any termination of this Agreement. The Sponsor and the Authorized 
Participant agree promptly to notify each other of the commencement of any Proceeding 
against it and, in the case of the Sponsor, against any of the Sponsor’s officers or directors, 
in connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares or in connection with the 
Memorandum. 

Section 9. (a)  Limitation of Liability. In the absence of fraud, gross negligence, bad 
faith or willful misconduct, neither the Sponsor nor the Authorized Participant shall be liable to 
each other or to any other person, including any party claiming by, through or on behalf of the 
Authorized Participant, for any losses, liabilities, damages, costs or expenses arising out of any 
mistake or error in data or other information provided to any of them by each other or any other 
person or out of any interruption or delay in the electronic means of communications used by 
them. 

(b) Tax Liability.  The Authorized Participant shall be responsible for the 
payment of any transfer tax, sales or use tax, stamp tax, recording tax, value added tax and 
any other similar tax or government charge applicable to the creation or redemption of any 
Basket made pursuant to this Agreement, regardless of whether or not such tax or charge is 
imposed directly on the Authorized Participant. To the extent the Sponsor or the Trust is 
required by law to pay any such tax or charge, the Authorized Participant agrees to 
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promptly indemnify such party for any such payment, together with any applicable 
penalties, additions to tax or interest thereon. 

Section 10. Obtaining a Copy of the Memorandum.  The Authorized Participant has 
obtained a copy of the Trust’s Memorandum. 

Section 11. Effectiveness and Termination.  Upon the execution of this Agreement by 
the parties hereto, this Agreement shall become effective in this form as of the date first set forth 
above, and may be terminated at any time by any party upon thirty (30) calendar days prior written 
notice to the other parties unless earlier terminated: (i) upon notice to the Authorized Participant by 
the Sponsor in the event of a breach by the Authorized Participant of this Agreement or the 
procedures described or incorporated herein; or (ii) at such time as the Trust is terminated pursuant 
to the Trust Agreement. 

Section 12. Certain Covenants of the Sponsor.  The Sponsor, on its own behalf and as 
sponsor of the Trust, covenants and agrees: 

(a) to notify the Authorized Participant promptly of the happening of any event 
during the term of this Agreement which could require the making of any change in the 
Memorandum then being used so that the Memorandum would not include an untrue 
statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, and, 
during such time, to promptly prepare and furnish, at the expense of the Trust, to the 
Authorized Participant such amendments or supplements to such Memorandum as may be 
necessary to reflect any such change; 

(b) The Trust hereby represents and warrants to the Authorized Participant that 
the Trust: (i) has exercised reasonable care to identify each covered person of the Trust set 
forth in paragraph (d)(1) of Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act (other than 
the Authorized Participant and its directors, the executive officers and other employees or 
officers who participate in the offering); (ii) has exercised reasonable care to ascertain 
whether (A) a disqualification exists under clauses (i) through (viii) of paragraph (d)(1) of 
Rule 506 with respect to each such covered person and (B) whether any disclosure is 
required to be made pursuant to paragraph (e) of such Rule 506 in respect of any matter 
experienced by any such covered person; and (iii) does not know of (A) any 
disqualification that exists under paragraph (d)(1) of Rule 506 in respect of any such 
covered person or (B) of any disclosure required to be made pursuant to paragraph (e) of 
such Rule 506 in respect of any matter experienced by any such covered person.  The Trust 
further represents and warrants to the Authorized Participant that the Trust has in place 
policies, procedures and controls reasonably designed to detect the occurrence of any event 
that could reasonably be expected to lead to any disqualification under paragraph (d)(1) of 
Rule 506 in respect of such covered person.  The Trust covenants to the Authorized 
Participant that the Trust will inform the Authorized Participant as promptly as reasonably 
practical of the occurrence of any event in respect of any such covered person that could 
reasonably be expected to give rise to a disqualification under such paragraph, including 
any pending or threatened litigation or regulatory actions, as well as the occurrence of any 
event that does, in fact, give rise to a disqualification under paragraph (d)(1) of Rule 506. 
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In addition, any certificate signed by any officer of the Sponsor and delivered to the 
Authorized Participant or counsel for the Authorized Participant pursuant hereto shall be deemed 
to be a representation and warranty by the Sponsor as to matters covered thereby to the Authorized 
Participant. 

Section 13. Third Party Beneficiaries.  Each AP Indemnified Party and Sponsor 
Indemnified Party, to the extent it is not a party to this Agreement, is a third-party beneficiary of 
this Agreement (each, a “Third Party Beneficiary”) and may proceed directly against any party 
hereto (including by bringing proceedings against the parties hereto in its own name) to enforce 
any obligation of such party under this Agreement which directly or indirectly benefits such Third 
Party Beneficiary. 

Section 14. Force Majeure.  No party to this Agreement shall incur any liability for any 
delay in performance, or for the non-performance, of any of its obligations under this Agreement 
by reason of any cause beyond its reasonable control. This includes any act of God or war or 
terrorism, any breakdown, malfunction or failure of transmission in connection with or other 
unavailability of any wire, communication or computer facilities, any transport, port, or airport 
disruption, industrial action, acts and regulations and rules of any governmental or supra-national 
bodies or authorities or regulatory or self-regulatory organization or failure of any such body, 
authority or organization for any reason, to perform its obligations. 

Section 15. Miscellaneous. 

(a) Amendment and Modification.  This Agreement, the Procedures attached as 
Attachment A and the Exhibits hereto may be amended, modified or supplemented by the 
Trust and the Sponsor, without consent of any beneficial owner or Authorized Participant 
from time to time by the following procedure. After the amendment, modification or 
supplement has been agreed to, the Sponsor will send a copy of the proposed amendment, 
modification or supplement to the Authorized Participant via email or regular mail. For the 
purposes of this Agreement, (i) an email will be deemed received by the recipient thereof 
on the day the notice is sent and (ii) mail will be deemed received by the recipient thereof 
on the third (3rd) day following the deposit of such mail into the United States postal 
system. Within ten (10) calendar days after its deemed receipt, the amendment, 
modification or supplement will become part of this Agreement, the Attachments or the 
Exhibits, as the case may be, in accordance with its terms. 

(b) Waiver of Compliance.  Any failure of any of the parties to comply with any 
obligation, covenant, agreement or condition herein may be waived by the party entitled to 
the benefits thereof only by a written instrument signed by the party granting such waiver, 
but any such written waiver, or the failure to insist upon strict compliance with any 
obligation, covenant, agreement or condition herein, shall not operate as a waiver of, or 
estoppel with respect to, any subsequent or other failure. 

(c) Notices.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all 
notices required or permitted to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be given in 
writing and delivered by personal delivery, by postage prepaid registered or certified 
United States first class mail, return receipt requested, by nationally recognized overnight 
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courier (delivery confirmation received) or by telex, telegram or telephonic facsimile or 
similar means of same day delivery (transmission confirmation received), with a 
confirming copy regular mail, postage prepaid. Unless otherwise notified in writing, all 
notices to the Trust shall be given or sent to the Sponsor. All notices shall be directed to the 
address or facsimile numbers indicated below the signature line of the parties on the 
signature page hereof. 

(d) Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof 
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors 
and permitted assigns. 

(e) Assignment.  Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or 
obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any party without the prior written consent of 
the other parties, except that any entity into which a party hereto may be merged or 
converted or with which it may be consolidated or any entity resulting from any merger, 
conversion, or consolidation to which such party hereunder shall be a party, or any entity 
succeeding to all or substantially all of the business of the party, shall be the successor of 
the party under this Agreement and except that the Sponsor may delegate its obligations 
hereunder to the Distributor and Marketer, the Administrator, the Transfer Agent or the 
Custodian by notice to the Authorized Participant. The party resulting from any such 
merger, conversion, consolidation or succession shall notify the other parties hereto of the 
change. Any purported assignment in violation of the provisions hereof shall be null and 
void.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement shall be automatically assigned to 
any successor trustee or Sponsor at such time such successor qualifies as a successor 
trustee or Sponsor under the terms of the Trust Agreement. 

(f) Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware 
(regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable Delaware conflict of 
laws principles) as to all matters, including matters of validity, construction, effect, 
performance and remedies. Each party hereto irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of the 
courts of the State of New York and of any federal court located in the Borough of 
Manhattan in such State in connection with any action, suit or other proceeding arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement or any action taken or omitted hereunder, and waives any 
claim of forum non conveniens and any objections as to laying of venue. Each party further 
waives personal service of any summons, complaint or other process and agrees that 
service thereof may be made by certified or registered mail directed to such party at such 
party’s address for purposes of notices hereunder. 

(g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all 
of which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement, 
and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement as to any party hereto to 
produce or account for more than one such counterpart executed and delivered by such 
party. 
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(h) Interpretation. The article and section headings contained in this Agreement 
are solely for the purpose of reference, are not part of the agreement of the parties and shall 
not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

(i) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Trust Agreement, along with 
any other agreement or instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement and the Trust 
Agreement, supersede all prior agreements and understandings between the parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof, provided, however, that the Authorized Participant 
shall not be deemed by this provision, or any other provision of this Agreement, to be a 
party to the Trust Agreement. 

(j) Severance. If any provision of this Agreement is held by any court or any 
act, regulation, rule or decision of any other governmental or supra national body or 
authority or regulatory or self-regulatory organization to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable for any reason, it shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable only to the extent 
so held and shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of the other provisions of 
this Agreement and this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable provision had never been contained herein, unless the Sponsor determines in 
its discretion that the provision of this Agreement that was held invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable does affect the validity, legality or enforceability of one or more other 
provisions of this Agreement, and that this Agreement should not be continued without the 
provision that was held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, and in that case, upon the 
Sponsor’s notification of the trustee of such a determination, this Agreement shall 
immediately terminate and the Sponsor will so notify the Authorized Participant 
immediately. 

(k) No Strict Construction. The language used in this Agreement will be 
deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule 
of strict construction will be applied against any party. 

(l) Survival. Sections 8 (Indemnification) and 13 (Third Party Beneficiaries) 
hereof shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

(m) Other Usages. The following usages shall apply in interpreting this 
Agreement: (i) references to a governmental or quasi-governmental agency, authority or 
instrumentality shall also refer to a regulatory body that succeeds to the functions of such 
agency, authority or instrumentality; and (ii) “including” means “including, but not limited 
to.” 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authorized Participant and the Sponsor, on behalf of 
itself and the Trust, have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 
representatives as of the date first set forth above. 

Alternative Currency Asset Management, 

LLC, Sponsor of the Bitcoin Investment Trust 
Bitcoin Investment Trust 

By: Alternative Currency Asset  Management,   
LLC 
            as Sponsor of  
            Bitcoin Investment Trust 

By:   By:   

Name:   Name:   

Title:   Title:   

  
Address: 636 Avenue of the Americas 
 New York, New York 10011 

Address: 636 Avenue of the Americas 
 New York, New York 10011 

Telephone: (212) 668-5920 Telephone: (212) 668-5920 

Facsimile: [                        ] Facsimile: [                          ] 

Email: [                        ] Email: [                          ] 

  

[Name of Authorized Participant]  

By:    

Name:    

Title:    

Address:    

Telephone:    

Facsimile:   

Email:   
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EXHIBIT A 

 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

 

FORM OF CERTIFIED AUTHORIZED PERSONS OF AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

The following are the names, titles and signatures of all persons (each an “Authorized 

Person”) authorized to give instructions relating to any activity contemplated by the Participant 
Agreement or any other notice, request or instruction on behalf of the Authorized Participant 
pursuant to the Bitcoin Investment Trust Participant Agreement. 

Authorized Participant:  _______________________ 

Name:  Name:  

Title:  Title:  

Signature:  Signature:  

Name:  Name:  

Title:  Title:  

Signature:  Signature:  

The following are email addresses (each a “Participant email”) where the Sponsor, or any 
party delegated by the Sponsor, may send and from which it may receive emails relating to any 
activity contemplated by the Participant Agreement or any other notice, request or instruction on 
behalf of the Trust pursuant to the Bitcoin Investment Trust Participant Agreement. 

email 1:  email 2:  

Confirm email 1:  
  

Confirm email 2:  
  

The undersigned, [name]____________________, [title]____________________ of 
[Authorized Participant], hereby certifies that the persons listed above have been duly elected to 
the offices set forth beneath their names, that they presently hold such offices, that they have been 
duly authorized to act as Authorized Persons pursuant to the Bitcoin Investment Trust Participant 
Agreement by and between [Authorized Participant], Bitcoin Investment Trust and Alternative 
Currency Asset Management, LLC, dated __________________, 20__,  (the “Participant 

Agreement”) and that their signatures set forth above are their own true and genuine signatures.  
The undersigned further certifies that the emails listed above are the correct email addresses where 
the Sponsor, or its delegate, may send emails relating to any activity contemplated by the 
Participant Agreement.  A receipt confirmation for correspondence sent to any of the emails listed 
above shall serve as conclusive evidence that the confirmation was provided pursuant to the 
Participant Agreement. 
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In Witness Whereof, the undersigned has hereby set his/her hand and the seal of 
[Authorized Participant] on the date set forth below. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 
this ___ day of _______, 2013 

By:  

Name:  

 Title:  

  
Notary Public 

Date:  
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EXHIBIT B 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

FORM OF CREATION ORDER 

  
Authorized Participant: ______________________ 

Order Date: ______________________________________ 

Order Number: ___________________________________ 

Number of Shares to be issued: ______________________ 

Number of Creation Baskets to be issued:_________________________ 

Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount: ___________________________ 

Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account*: ________________________ 

___________ 
* “Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account” means a Bitcoin wallet address provided and previously known to the Custodian as 
belonging to the Authorized Participant. 

All Creation Orders are subject to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Declaration of 
Trust and Trust Agreement, as amended from time to time (the “Trust Agreement”) of Bitcoin Investment 
Trust (the “Trust”) as currently in effect and the Bitcoin Investment Trust Participant Agreement among 
the Authorized Participant, the Trust and the Sponsor named therein (the “Participant Agreement”).  All 
representations and warranties of the Authorized Participant set forth in the Participant Agreement are 
incorporated herein by reference.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning given in 
the Trust Agreement. 

Listed below are the names of prospective investor that will beneficially own Shares obtained pursuant to 
this Creation Order, the number of Shares that each such investor will own and an indication of whether the 
prospective investor is a benefit plan investor (as defined in the Memorandum).   

Name:  Number of Shares:    benefit plan investor 

Name:  Number of Shares:    benefit plan investor 

Name:  Number of Shares:    benefit plan investor 

Name:  Number of Shares:    benefit plan investor 

Name:  Number of Shares:    benefit plan investor 

The Authorize Participant confirms to the Trust that it has, within the past three months, taken reasonable 
steps to verify that each such investor is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of 
Regulation D under the Securities Act, and has determined that such person is an accredited investor.  
Additionally, such investor(s) represent and warrant in its (their) Subscription Agreement (a form of which 
is available online at https://bitcoin-investment-trust.secondmarket.com) that, among other things, it has 
reviewed and understands the risks of an investment in the Trust, has the financial knowledge and 
experience to evaluate such investment, is able to bear the substantial risks of an investment in the Trust and 
is able to afford to lose its entire investment. 
 
The undersigned understands that by submitting this Creation Order he/she is making the representations 
and warranties set forth in the Annex to this Creation Order and is also granting an irrevocable Power of 
Attorney. 
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The undersigned hereby certifies as of the date set forth below that he/she is an Authorized Person under the 
Participant Agreement and that he/she is authorized to deliver this Creation Order to the Sponsor on behalf 
of the Authorized Participant. 

 _____________________________ 
(Please Print Name of Authorized 

Participant) 
Date:   
 By:  
Accepted by   Name: 
 

Bitcoin Investment Trust 
  Title: 

 
By:  Alternative Currency Asset Management, LLC, as 
Sponsor 

 

By:   
      Name: 
      Title: 
 

 

By:   
      Name: 
      Title: 
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ANNEX TO EXHIBIT B 

TO 

CREATION ORDER 
PURCHASER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES AND 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 
 

1. Bitcoin Wallet.  The Authorized Participant represents (i) that the Bitcoin wallet to be used  
in connection with the Creation Order is owned outright by the Authorized Participant or it has full 
legal authority and legal and beneficial right to any Bitcoins transferred from such Bitcoin wallet 
and (ii) that the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account is appropriately designated to 
deliver the number of Bitcoins equal to the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount to the Trust. 

2. THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT UNDERSTANDS THAT IT IS SOLELY 

RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OF THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT PROVIDED FOR THE TRANSFER OF THE 

CREATION BASKET BITCOIN AMOUNT PURSUANT TO THIS CREATION 

ORDER.   

3. Memorandum.  The Authorized Participant has obtained a copy of the Trust’s 
Memorandum. 

4. Power of Attorney.  In connection with the Authorized Participant’s acceptance of an 
interest in the Trust, the Authorized Participant does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint the 
Sponsor, and its successors and assigns, as its true and lawful Attorney-in-Fact, with full power of 
substitution, in its name, place and stead, in the execution, acknowledgment, filing and publishing 
of Trust documents, including, but not limited to, the following: (i) any certificates and other 
instruments, including but not limited to, any applications for authority to do business and 
amendments thereto, which the Sponsor deems appropriate to qualify or continue the Trust as a 
business or statutory trust in the jurisdictions in which the Trust may conduct business, so long as 
such qualifications and continuations are in accordance with the terms of the Amended and 
Restated Declaration of Trust  and Trust Agreement of the Trust, as amended from time to time 
(the “Trust Agreement”), or which may be required to be filed by the Trust or the Shareholders 
under the laws of any jurisdiction; (ii) any instrument which may be required to be filed by the 
Trust under the laws of any state or by any governmental agency, or which the Sponsor deems 
advisable to file; and (iii) the Trust Agreement and any documents which may be required to effect 
an amendment to the Trust Agreement approved under the terms of the Trust Agreement, and the 
continuation of the Trust, the admission of the signer of the Power of Attorney as a Limited Owner 
or of others as additional or substituted Limited Owners, or the termination of the Trust, provided 
such continuation, admission or termination is in accordance with the terms of the Trust 
Agreement.  The Power of Attorney granted hereby shall be deemed to be coupled with an interest 
and shall be irrevocable and shall survive, and shall not be affected by, the Authorized 
Participant’s subsequent insolvency or dissolution or any delivery by the Authorized Participant of 
an assignment of the whole or any portion of the Authorized Participant’s Shares. 
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EXHIBIT C 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

FORM OF REDEMPTION ORDER 

Authorized Participant: _________________________________ 
Date: ________________________________________________ 
Confirmation Number: __________________________________ 
PIN Number: ________________________________________ 
Number of Shares to be Redeemed: ________________________ 
Number of Redemption Baskets to be issued: ___________________________ 
Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account*: _____________________ 
___________ 
* “Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account” means a Bitcoin wallet address provided and previously known to the Custodian as 
belonging to the Authorized Participant. 

All Redemption Orders are subject to the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated 
Declaration of Trust and Trust Agreement of Bitcoin Investment Trust, as amended from time to 
time (the “Trust”) and the Bitcoin Investment Trust Participant Agreement among the Authorized 
Participant, the Trust and the Sponsor named therein (the “Participant Agreement”). All 
representations and warranties of the Authorized Participant set forth in such Participant 
Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. 

The undersigned represents and warrants that prior to submitting this Redemption Order, the 
Authorized Participant has ascertained that (i) the Bitcoin wallet to be used in connection with the 
Redemption Order is owned outright by the Authorized Participant or it has full legal authority and 
legal and beneficial right to any Bitcoins transferred to such Bitcoin wallet and (ii) the Authorized 
Participant Self-Administered Account is appropriately designated for receipt of the number of 
Bitcoins equal to the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount distributed by the Trust. 

THE UNDERSIGNED UNDERSTANDS THAT IT IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR 

THE ACCURACY OF THE PARTICIPANT SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT 

PROVIDED FOR THE TRANSFER OF THE BASKET BITCOIN AMOUNT PURSUANT 

TO THIS REDEMPTION ORDER.   

The undersigned does hereby certify as of the date set forth below that he/she is an Authorized 
Person under the Participant Agreement and that he/she is authorized to deliver this Redemption 
Order to the Sponsor on behalf of the Authorized Participant. 

 [NAME OF AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT] 
  
Date:  By:  
   Name: 
   Title: 
 



 

 

FORM OF 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST 

PARTICIPANT AGREEMENT 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST PROCEDURES 

CREATION AND REDEMPTION OF  

BITCOIN INVESTMENT TRUST SHARES 

Scope of Procedures and Overview 

This Attachment A to the Participant Agreement (the “Participant Agreement”) 
supplements the Participant Agreement, the Memorandum and the Trust Agreement (as 
defined below) with respect to the procedures (the “Procedures”) to be used in processing 
(1) a creation order for the creation of one or more Baskets (as defined below) (“Creation 

Order”) of Shares of Bitcoin Investment Trust (the “Trust”) and a (2) redemption order 
for the redemption of one or more Baskets (as defined below) (“Redemption Order”) of 
Shares of the Trust.  Shares may be created or redeemed only in blocks of 100 Shares (each 
such block, a “Basket”) for the Trust.  Because the creation and redemption of Baskets 
involve the transfer of Bitcoins between the Participant and the Trust, certain processes 
relating to the underlying Bitcoin transfers are described below. 

THE TRUST AND THE PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGE THAT 

BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE IRREVERSIBLE. 

Capitalized terms used in these Procedures without further definition shall have the 
meanings assigned to them in the Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust and Trust 
Agreement of the Trust (the “Trust Agreement”), dated as of September [   ], 2013, and as 
amended from time-to-time, between CSC Trust Company of Delaware, a Delaware 
corporation, as trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”), Alternative Currency Asset 
Management, LLC, as Sponsor (the “Sponsor”) or the Participant Agreement, as 
applicable. 

Baskets are created pursuant to the Memorandum and are issued and redeemed in 
accordance with the Trust Agreement and the Participant Agreement. 

Each Participant is responsible for ensuring that the number of Bitcoins that equal 
to the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount or Redemption Basket it intends to transfer to the 
Trust in exchange for Creation Baskets or redemption Bitcoins, respectively, is available to 
transfer to the Trust in the manner and at the times described in these Procedures. 



 

 

IMPORTANT NOTES: 

 Any Creation Order is subject to acceptance or rejection by the Administrator, 
in consultation with the Sponsor, for the reasons set forth in the Trust 
Agreement or the Participant Agreement. 

 Any Redemption Order is subject to acceptance or rejection by the 
Administrator, in consultation with the Sponsor, for the reasons set forth in the 
Trust Agreement or the Participant Agreement. 

 All Orders are subject to the provisions of the Trust Agreement and the 
Participant Agreement relating to unclear or ambiguous instructions. 



 

 

ANNEX I 

CREATION PROCEDURES 

In a Creation Basket transaction, the Trust, as the Bitcoin recipient, will provide a 
Bitcoin Account, Trust Storage Account or Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, to 
the Authorized Participant, as the party initiating the transfer of Bitcoins.  In the data 
packets distributed from Bitcoin software programs to confirm each transfer of Bitcoin, 
both the Trust and the Authorized Participant must “sign” transactions with a data code 
derived from entering the private key into a “hashing algorithm,” which signature serves as 
validation that the transaction has been authorized by the owner of the Bitcoins.  The 
signing process is facilitated by either a software program or a third party provider used to 
generate Bitcoin wallets and the related addresses for each of the Trust and the Authorized 
Participant.  An Authorized Participant who deposits Bitcoins with the Trust in exchange 
for Creation Baskets will receive no fees, commissions or other form of compensation or 
inducement of any kind from either the Sponsor or the Trust.  For the avoidance of doubt, it 
is understood that there may be transaction fees associated with the validation of the 
transfer of Bitcoins by the Bitcoin Network. 

THE TRUST AND THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

ACKNOWLEDGE THAT BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE IRREVERSIBLE. 

1. PLACING A CREATION ORDER. 

Authorized Participants may submit Creation Orders to the Administrator as 
provided by these Procedures. 

Creation Orders for Creation Baskets may be initiated only on Business Days.  
Creation Orders may only be made in whole Creation Baskets of the Trust.  A Creation 
Order to create one or more Creation Baskets placed by an Authorized Participant with the 
Administrator by 6:00 p.m. Eastern time (the “Order Cut-Off Time”) on a Business Day 
(the “Creation Order Date”) results in the following taking place:  

 The transfer of Bitcoins from the Authorized Participant Self-Administered 
Account to the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust 
Safekeeping Account, as applicable, in the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount 
corresponding to the Creation Baskets to be issued; and 

 Upon confirmation of receipt of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount in the 
Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, 
as applicable, the Administrator will direct the Transfer Agent to credit the 
number of Creation Baskets ordered to the Authorized Participant or its named 
customer as soon as possible thereafter, provided that the Transfer Agent shall 
credit the number of Creation Baskets to fill the Authorized Participant’s 
Creation Order by no later than the Order Cut-Off Time one Business Day 
immediately following the Creation Order Date, or as soon thereafter as 
practicable (the “Creation Order Settlement Time”). 



 

 

To begin a Creation Order, an Authorized Person of the Authorized Participant may 
email or telephone the Administrator at  
respectively, or such other email or telephone number as the Sponsor designates in writing 
to the Authorized Participant.  If the Creation Order is initiated via emailed, the Authorized 
Participant must follow up with a telephone call to confirm receipt of the email and the 
content of the Creation Order.  This telephone call must be made by an Authorized Person 
of the Authorized Participant and answered by the Administrator before the Order Cut-Off 
Time.  If the Creation Order was initiated by a telephone call, the Authorized Participant 
must follow-up with a confirmation email confirming the content of the Creation Order 
before the Order Cut-Off Time.  Upon verifying the authenticity of the Authorized Person 
(as determined by the use of the appropriate PIN Number, if applicable), the Administrator 
will read the Creation Order back to the Authorized Person.  The Authorized Person then 
must affirm that the Creation Order is correct.  If the Authorized Person affirms that the 
Creation Order is correct, the Administrator will issue a confirmation number (the 
“Confirmation Number”) via email to the Authorized Person.  The Administrator shall 
then call the Authorized Person to orally confirmed receipt of the Confirmation Number 
and the accuracy of the Confirmation Number. 

PLEASE NOTE:  ALL CREATION ORDERS REQUIRE BOTH A TELEPHONE 

CALL AND WRITTEN CONFIRMATION.  A CREATION ORDER REQUEST IS 

NOT COMPLETE UNTIL THE CONFIRMATION NUMBER IS ISSUED BY THE 

ADMINISTRATOR.  WITH RESPECT TO THE TRUST, A CREATION ORDER 

FOR CREATION BASKETS CANNOT BE CANCELED BY THE AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT AFTER THE CONFIRMATION NUMBER HAS BEEN ISSUED.  

INCOMING TELEPHONE CALLS ARE QUEUED AND WILL BE HANDLED IN 

THE SEQUENCE RECEIVED.  ACCORDINGLY, THE AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT SHOULD NOT HANG UP AND REDIAL.  CALLS THAT ARE IN 

PROGRESS AT THE ORDER CUT-OFF TIME ARE VALID AND THE 

CREATION ORDER WILL BE TAKEN.  PLEASE NOTE THAT “IN 

PROGRESS” IS DEFINED AS AN AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT ACTUALLY 

SPEAKING WITH THE ADMINISTRATOR.  CALLS WILL BE VERBALLY 

DENIED IF SUCH CALLS ARE PLACED (I) BEFORE THE ORDER CUT-OFF 

TIME THAT ARE NOT IN PROGRESS AT OR AFTER THE CUT-OFF TIME 

AND (II) AFTER THE ORDER CUT-OFF TIME.  INCOMING CALLS THAT 

ARE RECEIVED AFTER THE ORDER CUT-OFF TIME WILL NOT BE 

ANSWERED BY THE ADMINISTRATOR.  ALL TELEPHONE CALLS WILL BE 

RECORDED.  

2. RECEIPT OF CREATION ORDER CONFIRMATION. 

Subject to the conditions that a properly completed Creation Order has been placed 
by the Authorized Participant not later than the Order Cut-Off Time, and any other 
applicable provisions contained in these Procedures, the Sponsor or its delegate will accept 
the Creation Order on behalf of the Trust and will confirm in writing via email to the 
Authorized Participant that its Creation Order has been accepted within 60 minutes after 
the designated Order Cut-Off Time on the Creation Order Date, or as soon thereafter as 



 

 

practicable.  Once the Creation Order has been approved by the Sponsor, the Sponsor will 
sign or time-stamp the Creation Order and send that Creation Order to the Administrator. 

3. QUALITY ASSURANCE. 

After a Confirmation Number is issued by the Administrator to the Authorized 
Participant, the Authorized Participant shall email a PDF copy of the Creation Order to the 
Administrator.  Upon receipt, the Administrator shall immediately telephone the 
Authorized Participant if the Administrator believes that the Creation Order has not been 
completed correctly by the Authorized Participant.  In addition, the Administrator shall 
telephone the Authorized Participant if the Administrator has not received the Creation 
Order within 30 minutes after the Creation Order has been called into the Administrator, or 
as soon thereafter as practicable. 

4. REJECTING OR SUSPENDING CREATION ORDERS. 

The Sponsor or its delegate shall have the absolute right, but shall have no 
obligation, to reject any Creation Order or Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount (as defined in 
the Trust Agreement) if circumstances outside the control of the Sponsor, its delegates or 
the Administrator make it for all practical purposes not feasible to process Creation 
Baskets.  The Sponsor, its delegates and the Administrator shall not be liable to any person 
by reason of the rejection of any Creation Order or Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount. 
 
5.   DETERMINATION OF REQUIRED DEPOSIT. 

The Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount required for a Creation Basket shall be 
determined by the Administrator by dividing the number Bitcoins owned by the Trust at 
such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time (calculated to one 
one-hundred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying by quotient obtained by 100 and 
the number of Creation Baskets.  The Administrator has final determination of all 
questions as to the composition of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount. 
 
6. SETTLEMENT 

Upon issuance of the Confirmation Number, the following will occur: 
1. The Administrator will calculate the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount required to 

fulfill the Authorized Participant’s Creation Order.   
2. The Administrator will send an e-mail to the Authorized Participant providing the: 

a. Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount; and 
b. Bitcoin Account the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping 

Account, as applicable. 
3. The Administrator will telephone the Authorized Participant within 30 minutes 

after completing Step 2, or as soon thereafter as practicable, to orally confirm 
receipt of the e-mail and the information included in such e-mail. 



 

 

4. Upon receipt of such e-mail and telephonic confirmation as provided in Steps 2 and 
3, the Authorized Participant will initiate the transfer of the Creation Basket Bitcoin 
Amount from the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account to the Bitcoin 
Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as 
applicable, and will immediately notify the Administrator via e-mail of such 
transfer.  THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT IS SOLELY RESPONSIBLE 

FOR THE ACCURACY OF THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT USED IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

TRANSFER OF THE CREATION BASKET BITCOIN AMOUNT 

PURSUANT TO A CREATION ORDER. TRANSFERS OTHER THAN 

THOSE RECEIVED FROM AN AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT WILL NOT BE CREDITED TO ANY 

AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT.  THE CUSTODIAN SHALL NOT BE 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY TRANSFERS MADE FROM AN ACCOUNT 

OTHER THAN AN AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT. 
5. The Administrator will confirm with the Custodian deposit of the Creation Basket 

Bitcoin Amount from the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account to the 
Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as 
applicable, and the validation of such transfer by the Bitcoin Network. 

6. The Administrator will send a confirmation email to the Authorized Participant to 
evidence such deposit of the Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount in the Bitcoin 
Account, the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as 
applicable,. 

7. The Administrator will call the Authorized Participant to confirm deposit of the 
Creation Basket Bitcoin Amount in the Bitcoin Account. 

8. The expense and risk of delivery, ownership and safekeeping of Bitcoins, until such 
Bitcoins have deposited in the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account or the 
Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, shall be borne solely by the Authorized 
Participant. 

9. The Administrator will direct the Transfer Agent to credit the number of Creation 
Baskets ordered to the Authorized Participant in the transfer register as soon as 
possible thereafter, provided that the Transfer Agent shall credit the number of 
Creation Baskets to fill the Participant’s Creation Order by no later than the 
Creation Order Settlement Time. 

10. The Transfer Agent will issue a statement to the Sponsor and the Authorized 
Participant reflecting the number of Creation Baskets that have been credited to the 
Authorized Participant. 

The Custodian may accept delivery of Bitcoins by such other means as the Sponsor, from 
time to time, may determine to be acceptable for the Trust. 
 
BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE IRREVERSIBLE AND THERE IS NO 

RECOURSE AGAINST ANYONE FOR THE WRONGFUL DELIVERY OF 

BITCOINS TO AN INADVERTENT RECIPIENT, AN INACTIVE (DEAD) 



 

 

WALLET ADDRESS OR AN INVALID WALLET ADDRESS AND THERE IS 

CURRENTLY NO METHOD TO RETRIEVE THE BITCOINS FROM AN 

INADVERTENT RECIPIENT, AN INACTIVE (DEAD) WALLET ADDRESS OR 

AN INVALID ADDRESS.  THE EXPENSE AND RISK OF DELIVERY, 

OWNERSHIP AND SAFEKEEPING OF BITCOINS, UNTIL SUCH BITCOINS 

HAVE BEEN RECEIVED BY THE TRUST, SHALL BE BORNE SOLELY BY 

THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT.  THE TRUST, THE ADMINISTRATOR, 

ITS DELEGATES AND THE CUSTODIAN ARE NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR 

ERRANT TRANSFERS DUE TO TYPOGRAPHICAL, COMPUTER OR HUMAN 

ERROR ON THE PART OF THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT. 



 

 

REDEMPTION PROCEDURES 

In a Redemption Order transaction, the Authorized Participant, as the Bitcoin 
recipient, will provide an Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account, or its public 
key, to the Administrator, who will then coordinate with the Custodian who will initiate the 
transfer of Bitcoins on behalf of the Trust.  In the data packets distributed from Bitcoin 
software programs to confirm each transfer of Bitcoin, both the Trust, or its delegate, and 
the Authorized Participant must “sign” transactions with a data code derived from entering 
the private key into a “hashing algorithm,” which signature serves as validation that the 
transaction has been authorized by the owner of the Bitcoins.  The signing process is 
facilitated by either a software program or a third party provider used to generate Bitcoin 
wallets and the related addresses for each of the Trust and the Authorized Participant.  An 
Authorized Participant will not incur any fees or other form of expenses in connection with 
a Redemption transaction.  For the avoidance of doubt, it is understood that there may be 
transaction fees associated with the validation of the transfer of Bitcoins by the Bitcoin 
Network. 

THE TRUST AND THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT 

ACKNOWLEDGE THAT BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE IRREVERSIBLE. 

1. PLACING A REDEMPTION ORDER. 

Authorized Participants may submit Redemption Orders to the Administrator as 
provided by these Procedures. 

Redemption Orders may be initiated only on Business Days.  Redemption Orders 
may only be made in whole Redemption Baskets of the Trust.  A Redemption Order to 
redeem one or more Redemption Baskets placed by a Authorized Participant with the 
Administrator by 6:00 p.m. Eastern time (the “Order Cut-Off Time”) on a Business Day 
(the “Redemption Order Date”) results in the following taking place:  

 The Administrator will direct the Transfer Agent to debit the number of 
Redemption Baskets requested by the Authorized Participant as soon as 
possible, provided that the Transfer Agent shall debit the number of 
Redemption Baskets to fill the Authorized Participant’s Redemption Order by 
no later than the Order Cut-Off Time one Business Day immediately following 
the Redemption Order Date, or as soon thereafter as practicable (the 
“Redemption Order Settlement Time”); and 

 The Transfer of Bitcoins from the Bitcoin Account, the Trust Storage Account 
or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, to the Authorized Participant 
Self-Administered Account in the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount 
corresponding to the Redemption Baskets being redeemed by the Authorized 
Participant. 

To begin a Redemption Order, an Authorized Person of the Authorized Participant 
may email or telephone the Administrator at  



 

 

respectively, or such other email or telephone number as the Sponsor 
designates in writing to the Authorized Participant.  If the Redemption Order is initiated via 
emailed, the Authorized Participant must follow up with a telephone call to confirm receipt 
of the email and the content of the Redemption Order.  This telephone call must be made by 
an Authorized Person of the Authorized Participant and answered by the Administrator 
before the Order Cut-Off Time.  If the Redemption Order was initiated by a telephone call, 
the Authorized Participant must follow up with a confirmation email confirming the 
content of the Redemption Order before the Order Cut-Off Time.  Upon verifying the 
authenticity of the Authorized Person (as determined by the use of the appropriate PIN 
Number, if applicable) the Administrator will read the Redemption Order back to the 
Authorized Person.  The Authorized Person then must affirm that the Redemption Order is 
correct.  If the Authorized Person affirms that the Redemption Order is correct, the 
Administrator will issue a confirmation number (the “Confirmation Number”) via email 
to the Authorized Person.  The Administrator shall then call the Authorized Person to 
orally confirmed receipt of the Confirmation Number and the accuracy of the Confirmation 
Number. 

PLEASE NOTE:  ALL REDEMPTION ORDERS REQUIRE BOTH A 

TELEPHONE CALL AND WRITTEN CONFIRMATION.  A REDEMPTION 

ORDER REQUEST IS NOT COMPLETE UNTIL THE CONFIRMATION 

NUMBER IS ISSUED BY THE ADMINISTRATOR.  WITH RESPECT TO THE 

TRUST, A REDEMPTION ORDER FOR REDEMPTION BASKETS CANNOT BE 

CANCELED BY THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT AFTER THE 

CONFIRMATION NUMBER HAS BEEN ISSUED.  INCOMING TELEPHONE 

CALLS ARE QUEUED AND WILL BE HANDLED IN THE SEQUENCE 

RECEIVED.  ACCORDINGLY, THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT SHOULD 

NOT HANG UP AND REDIAL.  CALLS THAT ARE IN PROGRESS AT THE 

ORDER CUT-OFF TIME ARE VALID AND THE REDEMPTION ORDER WILL 

BE TAKEN.  PLEASE NOTE THAT “IN PROGRESS” IS DEFINED AS AN 

AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT ACTUALLY SPEAKING WITH THE 

ADMINISTRATOR.  CALLS WILL BE VERBALLY DENIED IF SUCH CALLS 

ARE PLACED (I) BEFORE THE ORDER CUT-OFF TIME THAT ARE NOT IN 

PROGRESS AT OR AFTER THE CUT-OFF TIME AND (II) AFTER THE ORDER 

CUT-OFF TIME.  INCOMING CALLS THAT ARE RECEIVED AFTER THE 

ORDER CUT-OFF TIME WILL NOT BE ANSWERED BY THE 

ADMINISTRATOR.  ALL TELEPHONE CALLS WILL BE RECORDED. 

2. RECEIPT OF REDEMPTION ORDER CONFIRMATION. 

Subject to the conditions that a properly completed Redemption Order has been 
placed by the Authorized Participant not later than the Order Cut-Off Time, and any other 
applicable provisions contained in these Procedures, the Sponsor or its delegate will accept 
the Redemption Order on behalf of the Trust and will confirm in writing via email to the 
Authorized Participant that its Redemption Order has been accepted within 60 minutes 
after the designated Order Cut-Off Time on the Redemption Order Date.  Once the 
Redemption Order has been approved by the Sponsor, the Sponsor will sign or time-stamp 
the Redemption Order and send that Redemption Order to the Administrator. 



 

 

3. QUALITY ASSURANCE. 

After a Confirmation Number is issued by the Administrator to the Authorized 
Participant, the Authorized Participant shall email a PDF copy of the Redemption Order to 
the Administrator.  Upon receipt, the Administrator shall immediately telephone the 
Authorized Participant if the Administrator believes that the Redemption Order has not 
been completed correctly by the Authorized Participant.  In addition, the Administrator 
shall telephone the Authorized Participant if the Administrator has not received the 
Redemption Order within 30 minutes after the Redemption Order has been called into the 
Administrator or as soon thereafter as practicable. 

4. REJECTING OR SUSPENDING REDEMPTION ORDERS. 

The Sponsor or its delegate shall have the absolute right, but shall have no 
obligation, to reject any Redemption Order or Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount (as 
defined in the Trust Agreement) if circumstances outside the control of the Sponsor, its 
delegates or the Administrator make it for all practical purposes not feasible to process 
Redemption Baskets.  The Sponsor, its delegates and the Administrator shall not be liable 
to any person by reason of the rejection of any Redemption Order or Redemption Basket 
Bitcoin Amount. 

5.   DETERMINATION OF REQUIRED DEPOSIT. 

The Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount required for a Redemption Basket shall be 
determined by the Administrator by dividing the number Bitcoins owned by the Trust at 
such time by the number of Shares outstanding at such time (calculated to one 
one-hundred-millionth of one Bitcoin) and multiplying by quotient obtained by 100 and 
the number of Redemption Baskets.  The Administrator has final determination of all 
questions as to the composition of the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount. 
 
6.  SETTLEMENT 

Upon issuance of the Confirmation Number, the following will occur: 
1. The Administrator will calculate the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount required 

to fulfill the Authorized Participant’s Redemption Order.   
2. The Administrator will send an e-mail to the Authorized Participant providing the 

Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount required for the Redemption Basket. 
3. The Authorized Participant will send an email to the Administrator: 

a. Acknowledging the receipt and the content of the Administrator’s email, as 
provided in Step 2; and 

b. Providing the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account. 
4. Upon receipt of the Authorized Participant’s email, the Administrator will 

telephone the Authorized Participant within 30 minutes, or as soon thereafter as 
practicable to orally confirm receipt of the e-mail and the information included in 



 

 

such e-mail generally, and the Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account 
specifically. 

5. The Administrator will direct the Transfer Agent to debit the number of 
Redemption Baskets as requested by the Authorized Participant in the transfer 
register as soon as possible thereafter. 

6. The Transfer Agent will e-mail and call the Administrator to confirm the debiting 
of the Redemption Baskets as requested by Authorized Participant in the transfer 
register. 

7. Upon receipt of such e-mail and telephonic confirmation, the Administrator will 
direct the Custodian to transfer the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount from the 
the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, to the 
Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account as soon as possible, provided 
that the Custodian shall transfer the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount from the 
the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping Account, as applicable, to the 
Authorized Participant Self-Administered Account by no later than the 
Redemption Order Settlement Time.  THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT IS 

SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OF THE AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT PROVIDED IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSFER OF THE REDEMPTION 

BASKET BITCOIN AMOUNT PURSUANT TO A REDEMPTION ORDER. 

TRANSFERS WILL ONLY BE MADE TO AN AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT AND ANY REQUEST 

FOR A TRANSFER TO AN ACCOUNT OTHER THAN AN AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT SELF-ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT WILL BE 

REJECTED. 
8. The Custodian will e-mail and call the Administrator after it receives confirmation 

of the transfer of the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount and the validation of such 
transfer by the Bitcoin Network. 

9. The Administrator will e-mail and call the Authorized Participant to confirm the 
deposit of the Redemption Basket Bitcoin Amount in the Authorized Participant 
Self-Administered Account. 

10. The expense and risk of delivery, ownership and safekeeping of Bitcoins, until such 
Bitcoins have deposited in the Trust Storage Account or the Trust Safekeeping 
Account, as applicable, shall be borne solely by the Custodian. 

11. The Transfer Agent will issue a statement to the Sponsor and the Authorized 
Participant reflecting the number of Redemption Baskets that have been debited 
from the Authorized Participant. 

BITCOIN TRANSFERS MAY BE IRREVERSIBLE AND THERE IS NO 

RECOURSE AGAINST ANYONE FOR THE WRONGFUL DELIVERY OF 

BITCOINS TO AN INADVERTENT RECIPIENT, AN INACTIVE (DEAD) 

WALLET ADDRESS OR AN INVALID WALLET ADDRESS AND THERE IS 

CURRENTLY NO METHOD TO RETRIEVE THE BITCOINS FROM AN 

INADVERTENT RECIPIENT, AN INACTIVE (DEAD) WALLET ADDRESS OR 



 

 

AN INVALID WALLET ADDRESS.  THE EXPENSE AND RISK OF DELIVERY, 

OWNERSHIP AND SAFEKEEPING OF BITCOINS, UNTIL SUCH BITCOINS 

HAVE BEEN RECEIVED BY THE AUTHORIZED PARTICIPANT, SHALL BE 

BORNE SOLELY BY THE CUSTODIAN.  THE TRUST, THE 

ADMINISTRATOR, ITS DELEGATES AND THE CUSTODIAN ARE NOT 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ERRANT TRANSFERS DUE TO TYPOGRAPHICAL, 

COMPUTER OR HUMAN ERROR ON THE PART OF THE AUTHORIZED 

PARTICIPANT. 




